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Key figures

in € millions 2012 2013 Change
in %

Orders received

 robotics 803.1 793.5 -1.2

systems 1,115.1 1,111.6 -0.3

group 1,889.6 1,881.9 -0.4

Sales revenues

 robotics 742.6 754.1 1.5

systems 1,025.3 1,045.9 2.0

group 1,739.2 1,774.5 2.0

Order backlog (Dec. 31) 909.4 991.6 9.0

EBIT

robotics 80.2 77.1 -3.9

systems 47.7 60.8 27.5

group 109.8 120.4 9.7

EBIT in % of sales

robotics 10.8 10.2 –

systems 4.7 5.8 –

group 6.3 6.8 –

Earnings after taxes 55.6 58.3 4.9

Financial situation

Free cash flow 77.1 95.4 23.7

Capital employed (annual average) 339.8 326.2 -4.0

roCe (eBit in % of capital employed) 32.3 36.9 –

Capital expenditure 42.8 74.7 74.5

employees (dec. 31) 7,264 7,990 10.0

Net worth

Balance sheet total 1,137.4 1,377.1 21.1

equity 297.5 379.1 27.4

in % of balance sheet total 26.2 27.5 –

Share

weighted average number of shares outstanding  
(in millions of shares) 33.9 33.9 –

earnings per share (in €) 1.64 1.72 4.9

dividend per share (in €) 0.20 0.30 * 50.0

market capitalization (dec. 31) 938.4 1,154.8 23.1

* subject to approval by shareholders at the annual general meeting
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kUka is a global company with sales of about euro 1.8 billion and approxi-
mately 8,000 employees worldwide. kUka offers its worldwide customers 
automation solutions comprising robots, software and assembly systems. 
the company is one of the world’s leading suppliers of robot technology and 
systems engineering. kUka’s technologies set standards the world over. kUka 
has its manufacturing and development headquarters in augsburg, Bavaria 
and 45 subsidiaries internationally.
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Japan
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KUKA Laboratories
kUka laboratories develops and markets 
products for the service robotics and 
health care sectors. the company is also 
responsible for the group’s research 
and development activities.

Industrial Robotics
kUka robotics is one of the world’s 
leading suppliers of industrial robots. 
kUka robotics’ core competence is in 
the development, production, sales and 
service of industrial robots suitable for 
any application and any industry sector, 
mobile platforms, control systems and 
software solutions.

kUka systems is the reliable special-
ist for innovative joining and forming 
processes using all kinds of materials 
and a provider of automated produc-
tion and assembly solutions for sustain-
able industrial manufacturing. as an 
international systems integrator for sys-
tems, tools and customized mechanical 
engineering, kUka systems is the tech-
nological leader in its segments and 
provides optimized, customer-oriented 
services and solutions.

kUka systems kUka roBotiCs

CreATiNg NeW DiMeNsiONs
kUka sets automation trends – trends that will shape the future. one such trend is the increasing  
sensitivity and safety of robots that are also mobile and can be used more universally than ever 
before. kUka combines its manufacturing and engineering expertise to make components and 
design sophisticated production plants, up to and including the associated control systems. 
the company's products and services are used by a wide range of industrial manufacturers, and 
even by other industries. For the longest time, kUka products have also been applied in non-
industrial sectors such as health care. kUka is developing a new control environment based on 
mainstream it technologies that will very soon open the door to entirely new applications. our 
employees’ solutions thus create new dimensions for our customers – across the globe.



eDiTOriAL

dr. till reUter
ChieF exeCUtive oFFiCer

kUka continued to perform successfully in 2013. orders received 

reached € 1,881.9 million and sales revenues were up two percent 

to € 1,774.5 million, building on last year’s results. eBit margin was 

6.8 percent. Free cash flow reached a record high of € 95.4 million.   

we hit all of our targets. Both divisions, robotics and systems, 

 contributed to this excellent growth. 

On the road to becoming a global automation company
kUka is evolving into a global automation company. Customers 

around the world trust our innovations and products. still, we can 

only secure our international success if the employees who supply 

our products and our services are close to our customers and under-

stand their needs. 

with the acquisition of UtiCa enterprises’ systems business, 

kUka systems became the number one car body manufacturer in 

north america and expanded our product portfolio enormously. But 

with 800 extremely well qualified employees, kUka north america’s 

success is not restricted to the automotive sector. kUka’s assembly 

systems expertise and our proven welding processes are increasingly 

sought after by general industry companies; for example, in the aero-

space sector. our customers greatly value kUka’s engineering exper-

tise, sound process knowledge and innovative technologies. kUka’s 

ability to supply total solutions has earned it new customers in the 

aerospace industry. 

kUka has also expanded its presence in the market of the 

future, asia. already today, China is the world’s second-largest robot 

market. according to estimates published by the iFr, the international 

Federation of robotics, demand in this region will continue to rise. 

now only european premium carmakers, but also more and more 

 Chinese automotive customers are turning to robots made by kUka. 

right on schedule, in december our colleagues in China were 

able to move into the new factory in shanghai and assemble the 

first robots. the factory has an annual output capacity of over 5,000 

robots, complete with control cubicles. the location serves as a base 

that enables us to offer local products and services to our customers 

throughout all of asia. 

 



Investing in innovation
we continuously invest in our innovation capabilities so that we may 

always offer our customers throughout the world the latest solutions. 

this also secures our long-term competitiveness. at hannover messe, 

we showcased the entire group’s products and services, which span 

from components to work cells and complete systems. we unveiled 

lBr iiwa, the first sensitive lightweight robot for industrial manu-

facturing, at the fair. the product’s sensitivity and integrated safety 

systems will bring an entirely new dimension to manufacturing. 

these days, the media is intensively discussing the many aspects 

of human-machine collaboration. For us, the key aspect is safety. our 

product’s integrated sensors and a highly sophisticated safety system 

are uncompromising. But the issue of safety becomes even more chal-

lenging when a robot is applied in a real world situation, because every 

application comes with a realm of new considerations. 

at kUka, an entire team is engaged in developing applications 

to ensure that robots designed to work with humans are also useful 

and safe – without protective barriers or external safety measures. 

the applications technologies team, in collaboration with our partner 

daimler, has come up with potential applications in the field of auto-

motive assembly.

But potential applications for our lightweight robot go far beyond 

that. For example, when mounted on a mobile platform, it can be used 

as an assistant in industrial plants. in other words, it can be moved to 

exactly where it is needed. 

mobile platforms enable customers that need to handle large 

parts to increase the flexibility of their manufacturing facility. kUka 

presented a conceptual study called “moiros” at hannover messe to 

demonstrate how this can be done. the company received the trade 

show organizer’s robotic award for the display. 

 

Presence in new sectors
the products and solutions i outlined above are only a few of the 

ones that kUka has developed so that it can grow in new sectors. 

For example, we also see a potential for using robots in conjunction 

with machine tools. only about two percent of the 500,000 machine 

tools sold annually come with robots. yet robots can be applied very 

efficiently in this sector. we are so sure of this that we have installed 

robots alongside the machine tools at our own facility in augsburg. 

they are used for machining or to unload parts. 

a further strategic initiative in this market is our collaboration 

with siemens drive technologies. the aim of the project is to integrate  

kUka robots and siemens machine tool control solutions. kUka 

robots   will be used for handling tasks, such as loading and unloading 

machine tools, as well as machining tasks. support will be provided for 

the entire process chain: from the planning and design of a workpiece, 

to simulating the machining and engineering, right through to fabrica-

tion at the factory. 

 

Captivating the future with our employees 
to progress along its path as a successful global automation com-

pany, kUka continues to need top employees. at hannover messe, 

we launched a comprehensive employer branding campaign under 

the heading “Captivating our future”, which aims to attract qualified, 

motivated people to our company. 

of course a campaign of this type can only be successful over 

the long term if we keep our promises. employees all have their own 

idea about what makes a good employer. after all, the needs of our 

employees are as diverse as the various phases of their lives at pre-

sent. at kUka, we want to accommodate these needs. in this con-

nection, i am particularly proud of the orange Care day care center 

that opened on kUka’s premises in augsburg. the aim is to enable 

parents to better reconcile their families and careers. after a success-

ful re-audit, kUka again received the “Career and Family” certificate 

awarded by the charitable organization “Beruf und Familie gmbh”. 

we had to work hard for it, and continue to do so. For example, flex-

ible work hours and the opportunity to work from home are designed 

to make our people feel good about kUka and continue to deliver 

outstanding performance. 

The execuTive board

dr. till reuter (born 1968) 
has been Ceo of kUka aktien-
gesellschaft since 2009. 
prior  to that he worked as a 
lawyer  and investment bank-
er in  europe and the United  
states. in may 2008, he 
founded the holding company  
rinvest ag, of which he is 
 supervisory Board Chairman.

dr. till reUter
Ceo

peter mohnen (born 1968) 
has been CFo of kUka 
 aktiengesellschaft since 
2012. previously he was CFo 
at e.on in hungary,  after 
having worked for many 
years in leading positions in 
accounting at e.on in essen.

peter mohnen
CFo
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kUka is becoming a global team. we will implement a group-wide 

management guideline this year to support this evolution.  

Creating new dimensions
kUka is benefiting from the global trend toward automation. our 

systematic strategic positioning is what allows us to take advantage 

of this development. however, the trend will change the future. 

not only in the field of automation, but certainly also in our daily 

environment. robots are becoming sensitive, mobile and more and 

more useful universally. a key element of this evolution is a new 

control environment that will be feasible when it is developed based 

on mainstream it technologies. our vision of the future is that our 

customers will be able to utilize a new kUka control platform to design 

and implement their own applications. this will expand potential 

robotic applications many times over.

we will contribute to shaping the automation trend and create 

new dimensions in automation for our customers together with our 

employees. of this i am certain, because we have the right people 

around the globe, who give their utmost every day. thank you very 

much for that. 

But i also want to thank you, our shareholders, for your interest 

in our technology and your confidence in our company.

sincerely, 

till reuter

00editorial 
letter to oUr shareholders
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a powerFUl team
roBots working direCtly with people. 
For many, a vision oF the FUtUre, For 
others, virtUally inConCeivaBle.

1
kUka moBilizes
roBots on moBile platForms 
that move aUtonomoUsly to 
transport things or proCess 
large workpieCes.

18
aUgsBUrg – shanghai –
shanghai – aUgsBUrg
in deCemBer 2013, kUka opened  
a new FaCtory.

6
a new world

miChael otto, explains appliCations  
in the Field oF mediCal roBotiCs.


roBots BUild roBots

kUka Uses roBots to optimize 
and aUtomate proCesses.

CONTeNTs
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robots working directly with people. For many, a vision of the future.  
For others, virtually inconceivable. For some time now, research insti-
tutes and robot manufacturers have been looking into ways for humans 
and robots to collaborate. and kUka is no exception here. the company is 
working with daimler to develop applications that focus on safe human-
robot collaboration. 

A pOWerfuL TeAM

experts in hUman-maChine 
ColaBoration – the advanCed 

teChnology solUtions team 
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t
here are robots with amazing abilities. robots 

known as “humanoids” that can walk, run and even play soccer. oth-

ers are equipped with vision systems and grippers that bear an aston-

ishing resemblance to the human hand. true household helpers are 

already vacuuming, window washing and lawn mowing their way 

into people’s hearts, although most robots specialize in a single ser-

vice or task. Until now, this list did not include the universal “robot 

Colleague”, which works as part of a team with humans. we demand 

a lot from these types of robots. they must be flexible, light and sen-

sitive. and above all, safe. 

only robots that meet these requirements can become a part 

of a team and work with humans without the need for a protective 

barrier. then, kUka systems product manager dr. richard zunke is 

certain, a world of new possibilities will open up for industrial manu-

facturing. zunke is testing how sensitive robots can be used in indus-

trial applications in kUka’s advanced technology solutions (ats) 

division with the lwr iiwa lightweight robot. originally developed 

for totally different tasks in service robotics, the lwr iiwa must now 

undergo an endurance test in an industrial environment. 

 

High demands on humans and technology
production lines of the future face tremendous challenges. Both for 

people and robots. more and more versions of the same product are 

being manufactured in today’s production landscape. For example, 

in the automotive sector, countless versions of engines are manufac-

tured and then installed into vehicles. there is a wide variety of fea-

tures and equipment options. the electronics industry also produces 

countless different models, cell phones being an excellent example 

here. this is why production lines need to be flexible and adaptable. 

it must be possible to use the same means of production for a range 

of products precisely when and where needed.

people are also facing a vast array of new challenges. demo-

graphic change means that the workforce is growing older. “Busi-

nesses have a responsibility to relieve the burden on their “aging 

workforce” and offer a workplace that does not place undue stress on 

such employees,” explains Frank klingemann, Ceo of kUka systems 

gmbh. But younger workers are also showing an increasing interest 

in finding workplaces equipped with the latest technology. “here as 

well, enabling humans and robots to work hand in hand will be a key 

advantage. this will allow robots to take care of difficult, unergo-

nomic, monotone or dangerous work and allow people to focus on 

work that demands specialized knowledge and expertise. one person 

can supervise several robots and need only intervene when neces-

sary,” klingemann explains using another example. 

 

leFt
dr. riChard zUnke, prodUCt 
manager at kUka, sees many 
potential Fields oF appliCation 
For lwr iiwa.

right
moBile helpers Can take Care 
oF diFFiCUlt, UnergonomiC and 
dangeroUs work so that peo-
ple Can FoCUs on tasks that 
demand speCialized knowledge 
and expertise.

kUka aktiengesellsChaFt
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A new generation of robots
the key challenge in developing a sensitive robot for industrial use 

lies in producing a robot that is robust and can handle the required 

payload on the one hand, but is also sensitive and safe enough to 

move around in a space that is also occupied by humans. and the 

latter is not that easy for the simple reason that safety standards 

were not designed with robots that can move around and work 

directly with people in mind. “robots are machines, in essence, and 

must therefore be placed behind a protective barrier,” notes zunke. 

“a robot that stands still when someone crosses its path, that can be 

pushed aside when it is in someone’s way – no exact standard has 

been developed yet to fit this scenario.” so how safe does a robot 

need to be if no set of rules exists to govern its behavior? very safe, 

according to the engineers at kUka. 

“we need to draw a clear line between industrial robots and 

the new generation of sensitive robots. the latter were designed 

right from the start for use outside of protective barriers. they are 

made for human-machine collaboration and therefore must satisfy 

the most exacting safety requirements,” explains zunke. kUka’s lwr 

iiwa is precisely this type of robot. the responsive motor function in 

its arm enables this lightweight robot to feel and examine objects 

with a high degree of sensitivity. Consequently, the robot can be posi-

tioned and programmed to offer its coworker optimum ergonomic 

support, acting as a “third hand” for the worker. For instance, these 

robots can take over strenuous tasks such as overhead work. sensi-

tive collision detection enables them to recognize obstacles, avoid 

them, yield to them or stop in time. 

A powerful partnership 
in the rapidly changing world of automation, strong partners are 

needed to help perform practical tests. kUka understands this, 

which is why the company enlisted daimler ag in stuttgart for a 

collaborative partnership. the development cooperation will test the 

lightweight robot in the field of human-robot collaboration (hrC). 
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put more precisely: kUka and daimler are conducting operational 

experiments to develop and test a recognized standard for the 

cost-effective use of hrC in the automotive sector. the aim is to 

prepare sample applications for practical use to effectively address 

the complexity in production. this means reaching the highest safety 

standards in order to satisfy daimler’s work safety requirements. 

some of the experiments have been set up in kUka’s production halls 

in augsburg, while others take place on daimler’s assembly lines. 

Examples of human-robot collaboration
But which tasks can a robot actually take over? one example could 

include what is known as “plug insertion”. during vehicle production, 

manufacturers must leave holes in the car bodies so that the paint 

can drain from the vehicle after it is sprayed on. rubber plugs are 

used to re-close these holes – an arduous, unpleasant task for workers. 

“it makes sense to automate this task,” says zunke. “employees can 

work on other areas of the vehicle while the robot “plugs” the holes.”

But the lwr iiwa can also be put to work in the vehicle’s interior 

space. it can move from the front to the rear of the vehicle and screw 

in safety bolts, on seatbelt tensioners for example. people can work 

on the car simultaneously here as well. equipped with an ultrasound 

sensor, the lwr is able to recognize obstacles, stop in time and assist 

its human “colleague”. 

in “robot farming” a single worker has an entire “herd of 

robots” at his or her disposal and can put the robots to work precisely 

where they are needed in the production hall. 

these are just a few of the possibilities on the road to safe 

human-robot collaboration now being tested by kUka and daimler. 

this road should lead to a safe method for people and robots to coop-

erate. humans and robots should optimally complement each other, 

work together on a single task or work on different tasks in the same 

area. regardless of the tasks they perform – together as a team, with 

all members contributing according to their own, unique strengths – 

this is what their work should look like in the future. then, on the 

production lines of tomorrow, work will be carried out, “hand in 

hand with robot coworkers.” 

 

leFt and top
the lwr iiwa at work  

inside a vehiCle Frame.
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ready For delivery.  
kUka omnimove platForms on 

their way to the CUstomer

t’s 7:10 am on a winter morning 

in augsburg, germany. it’s cold, and you can 

see every breath in the crisp, clear air. Foot-

steps hurry over the frosty ground heading 

to a large hall. a sliding gate quickly opens 

up, it’s dark and the eyes need a moment 

to adjust. you can see the contours of an 

object; it is large and moving, accompanied 

by a whirring sound that gets louder and 

louder as the object heads straight toward 

the sliding gate. like a ghost ship. Com-

pletely autonomous. a deep voice sounds 

from the hall: “done! we can get started.”

omniMove – the mobile platform 
for heavy loads 
now, an entire “fleet” is heading toward 

the hall exit. trucks are already waiting 

there to load them. But this isn’t a fleet of 

ships we’re talking about here. in reality, 

it’s eight mobile platforms from kUka. they 

come in all sizes. the largest versions, the 

omnimoves, are designed to move xxl parts 

like components for the aviation industry, for 

example. “an omnimove can be as long and 

wide as the customer needs it to be. indi-

vidually or together with multiple vehicles 

robots on mobile platforms that move autonomously to 
 transport things or process large workpieces. that find their 
own way without any floor markings, induction loops or 
 magnets, and avoid obstacles. robots like these open up new 
dimensions not only in industry, but also in non-manufacturing 
sectors and possibly even in public and private life. they can 
move large parts and flexibly assist people, opening up entirely 
new fields of application. 

KuKA MObiLizes

i

01teChnology 
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it can effortlessly travel under a 90 tonne 

load and pick it up,” explains dr. patrick pfaff, 

head of the development team for autono-

mous navigation and Control at kUka labo-

ratories. the young man wearing a blazer 

and jeans, glasses and sneakers looks like he 

might have just come from a hollywood set. 

his choice of career alone would qualify him 

for a role in “Back to the Future” ...

But back to the omnimove fleet that is 

scheduled to be delivered today. what’s 

unique about these battery-powered plat-

forms, explains pfaff, isn’t their payload. or 

the fact that they are able to move on their 

own, either. this is quite remarkable, but 

nothing new. what is new? they don’t need 

any floor markings, magnets or induction 

loops to move. the platforms find their way 

on their own. they use kUka navigation 

software to guide them. with the help of 

the slam (simultaneous localization and 

mapping) method, it creates maps and deter-

mines the position of the platform within 

the respective map. smaller platforms can 

also be equipped with this software. and you 

can add robots to these platforms to further 

expand the range of applications. 

 

top
Christoph BiCk, proJeCt manager r&d omnimove 

 navigation (leFt) and roBert witte, BUsiness development 
manager omnimove, (right) FoCUsed on the task

right
kUka omnimove platForms with  

a test weight oF 7.2 tonnes
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Robots navigate autonomously  
without floor markings, magnets  
or induction loops 
“imagine – you can completely automate 

individual steps in production like transfer-

ring workpieces to the next production step. 

or even replace them entirely if all produc-

tion steps take place at the same site. this 

is possible when our kUka robots like the 

kr qUanteC, kr agilUs or lwr iiwa are 

mounted on our mobile platforms. then 

the robot comes to the workpiece and not 

the other way around,” says the computer 

scientist enthusiastically. “he swipes his ipad 

and pulls up a picture showing many people 

crowded around a mobile platform with a 

kUka robot mounted on it. the picture was 

taken at the hannover messe trade fair 

and shows the “moiros” concept vehicle 

processing a rotor blade from a wind tur-

bine. a kr qUanteC mounted on the kUka 

omnimove is doing the work. the “robotics 

award” shines in gold in the foreground. it’s 

the award kUka won at hannover messe for 

this concept study due to its high practical 

relevance. 

Mobile helpers for everyday life
this scenario can be applied to any number 

of applications, not just production. mobile 

015teChnology 
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helpers can also be used in offices thanks to 

kUka navigation software. kUka laboratories 

demonstrates how this works with a robot 

“lady” named mail-e. team assistant margit 

trummer has already made friends with her. 

“she’s responsible for our mail. she brings 

it to us on her morning, noon and evening 

rounds. if i want to forward documents to 

colleagues i just call her on the system and 

she takes care of it for me. sometimes i cross 

mail-e’s path. then she stops and frowns 

at me,” says trummer with a grin. “she’s 

probably annoyed that she has to go around 

me. But her digital face smiles again as soon 

as she passes by.” the fact that mail-e is able 

to avoid obstacles at all has to do with kUka 

navigation software and safety engineering.

Avoid collisions and obstacles 
mail-e and her mobile robotic colleagues 

from kUka use a digital map for orientation. 

a platform moves throughout the surround-

ings one time and scans them with its laser 

scanners. the robot can take this map and 

provide it to all of its “colleagues” via the 

vehicle Coordination system. the entire fleet 

of mobile robots is digitally mapped; it is 

possible to control the robots and see where 

they are at any given time. the way they are 

mapped looks kind of like an ant trail. But 

how can an “ant” like mail-e avoid colliding 

with ms. trummer? “every single mobile 

robot is controlled by a second component 

of the kUka navigation software called the 

“navigation Core” installed on a pC in the 

robot. mail-e knows precisely where she is 

– down to a few millimeters – at any given 

moment thanks to the positioning in her 

location map. if she detects objects with her 

safety sensors and the maps says they should 

not be there, she stops and takes a differ-

ent path,” explains pfaff. this is no problem 

thanks to the flexible drive concept that 

all mobile kUka robots are equipped with. 

it enables her to change positions in any 

direction, and even rotate 360 degrees. an 

omnimove platform has mechanical wheels 

that even let it turn around any point in a 

room while it is in motion for much more 

effective maneuvering and positioning.

Acceptance for robots that act 
 autonomously
But how do people react to these mobile 

helpers? what if an omnimove suddenly 

crosses the path of a forklift operator? 

pfaff has had to respond to this concern 

many times: “we developed autonomous 

route planning specifically for this purpose: 

the platform travels exclusively on virtual 

“tracks” with strictly defined paths. this 

means the vehicles can move more or 

less freely in a room, but only in certain 

predefined areas.” so workers always know 

the routes the platform takes or the areas 

in which it can move autonomously. “this 

helps employees “get used to” their new 

 colleague.” the virtual track can be changed 

at any time – without affecting the flexibility 

of the robots – to adapt to any changes in 

their environment. 

Countless applications
the areas of use include all kinds of com-

pletely different environments. whether for 

industrial use in production halls, in logistics 

or at offices – mobile robots with kUka navi-

gation software are even conceivable in the 

services sector in social applications. kUka 

demonstrated a possible application at the 

mediCa trade show. in this scenario a robot 

stacked trays on a shelf in a hospital kitchen 

to help relieve the staff.

oBen 
margit trUmmer, team  
assistant, reCeives post  
From mail-e.
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“the fields of application are very broad. 

Basically, there are as many uses for this 

technology as there are ideas for it,” says 

the engineer pointing to the kUka lwr iiwa 

lightweight robot. its sensitivity and flexibil-

ity enables it to work directly with humans. 

without a protective barrier. lwr iiwa plus 

kUka navigation software plus mobile plat-

forms = spatially flexible, auto nomous, sensi-

tive helpers. think of all the possibilities … 

pfaff sends the platforms with autono-

mous navigation on a trip to a customer. he 

pulls the sliding gate closed with the words 

“i have to go” and makes his way – back to 

the future. 

top 
dr. patriCk pFaFF, head oF the 
development team For aUtono-
moUs navigation and Control, 
is very exCited aBoUt the devel-
opment oF moBile roBotiCs.

leFt 
roBert witte (leFt), omni-
move BUsiness development 
manager, and Christoph BiCk, 
proJeCt leader F&e omnimove 
navigation,  aCCompanie the 
aCCeptanCe proCess.
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Augsburg – sHANgHAi – 
sHANgHAi – Augsburg 
the world over, the use of robotic automation is trending higher. the middle kingdom’s market 
is growing at ten to fifteen percent annually according to the iFr. China manufactures about 
twenty million cars, and here too, the trend is upwards. industry analysts estimate that the 
number could double by 2018. the electronics industry is also betting on robotic automation. 
kUka foresaw this some time ago and in december opened a new factory. 
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top
kUka roBots Being prepared  

For shipment. 

right
Carolin weishaUpt and 

Jasmine Chen prepare For the 
grand opening.

uesday, Augsburg, 10 am 
Carolin weishaupt does not seem the least bit nervous this tuesday 

morning. similar to what she does every day, the media liaison 

officer takes calls, works on an article about mobile robotics and 

posts new photos on the company’s home page – as if it were a nor-

mal tuesday morning instead of the day before she leaves for China. 

she’s going there to help prepare for a major event at the newly con-

structed factory in shanghai and will be trading her desk in augsburg 

for one at kUka robotics’ marketing department in shanghai. 

“now that i’ve booked the flight and know where i’ll be staying, 

i’m not nervous anymore,” says the twenty-five-year-old. “i’m just so 

happy.” 

she has worked for kUka for about three years and has not 

been bored for a minute since she started the job. her assignments 

range from employee events to the employee newspaper, the inter-

net and intranet, press releases and the annual report. “But having 

the opportunity to go to China tops everything!” 

she has always been entrepreneurial and inquisitive – and 

ambitious. that’s why she focused on finishing her studies – before 

going abroad. “that’s probably also because there were five of us 

back home,” muses weishaupt. “my parents always supported me, 

but i never wanted to spend their money unnecessarily and tried 

to become independent as quickly as possible. now that i have the 

opportunity to catch up, it makes the experience of traveling abroad 

even nicer.” she glances at her watch and turns quickly back to her 

laptop keyboard.

t
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she still has to send a quick e-mail to shanghai. the seven-hour time 

difference makes it harder to work with her colleagues. “sometimes 

you don’t even think about it. quite often a ‘good morning’ slips out, 

even though there they are almost ready to call it a day.” 

Tuesday, Shanghai, 5 pm
Jasmine Chen receives Carolin’s e-mail. she is sitting at her desk at 

the new factory in shanghai and is working hard to prepare for the 

grand opening, which is only four weeks away. about 800 guests 

have been invited. it will be a colorful event for customers, employ-

ees and the public, and needs to be well planned. 

“yes, the time difference is really a problem sometimes,” she con-

firms. “at the end of the day in China, you generally have an inbox 

full of e-mails. that’s why she often divides her workday into two 

segments, handling local issues until early afternoon, and then it’s 

germany’s turn. and by twenty past five, the office is almost empty. 

that’s when the shuttle buses that take the employees back to the 

city depart. the new factory is situated outside the city center and 

many employees don’t own a car, or don’t use it to come to work to 

avoid being stuck in traffic for hours. 
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Jasmine takes only two hours to get home today – there was hardly 

any congestion. 

Wednesday, Augsburg, 8:30 pm 
there is hardly any traffic on the road between augsburg and the 

munich airport and Carolin makes it in one hour. at gate h48, she 

says goodbye to her friend Berni. life is going to be quite different  

for the next month. 

Friday, Shanghai, 11 am 
Carolin is now sitting across from Jasmine and has already sent her 

first e-mails to her colleagues in germany. “i’m glad that someone from 

headquarters came here to work with us,” says kUka robotics  China 

manager Bing kong, who personally welcomed Carolin this morning. 

“we have a lot to do and can use all the help we can get,” he says, 

“and i think the teamwork between the two continents works a lot 

better after we meet face-to-face.” 

Communication is mainly via e-mail and telephone confer-

ences. Carolin is already supposed to participate in one this after-

noon. “it’s a little strange to suddenly be talking to your own boss 

in english,” she says. maybe the jet lag is bothering her today, or 

the many kilometers between the participants, because: “it seems 

to me we talk in circles a lot until everyone knows what the oth-

ers mean. even though everyone speaks english well, occasional 

alwin Berninger, executive vice president asia / pacific, brought his 

entire family to shanghai to move kUka’s business in asia forward. 

the colleagues in China take the time difference in stride and 

adapt to the augsburg time zone. “Flexibility is one of the people’s 

strengths here,” says Berninger. “they respond quickly and can get a 

lot done in a very short time.” 

he wants to return to germany in summer. “my family and 

i had a nice, exciting time. i will miss Chinese spontaneity and the 

people’s ability to get things done quickly, but i am also looking for-

ward to getting back to germany,” says Berninger. 

“Jasmine closes her laptop and heads for the shuttle with her 

colleagues. on the way, she explains that her name is actually Chen 

yanling (陈妍伶), which is equivalent to beauty and wisdom. Chi-

nese people typically give themselves an english moniker to go with 

their Chinese name, so that they can more easily communicate with 

foreigners.  

Jasmine hopes she won’t be too late getting home. if traffic is 

backed up, the return trip can take up to several hours. But it’s actu-

ally not a problem for Jasmine, who was born here and loves the city. 

 “there are so many great things about shanghai,” she says. 

“i like the public parks best of all. i like to just sit there and enjoy 

nature.” she says that the parks also reflect the city’s culture. there 

are many migrants living here, including expats. “many cultures live 

here in harmony. shanghai is a melting pot.” 

other side
at present, aBoUt 3,000 kUka 
roBots are made annUally at 
the new FaCtory in shanghai. 

leFt
Carolin weishaUpt and Jasmine 
Chen are glad they were aBle 
to meet FaCe-to-FaCe. it makes 
working aCross Continents 
easier.
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 misunderstandings do crop up.” the communications director in 

augsburg wants to know whether the core messages the marketing 

department has come up with will work in China. the response from 

the Chinese is not quite clear. they drop the topic, then revisit it. 

would it perhaps be better to think of different core messages after 

all? at least, that’s what Carolin thinks she hears. “Cliché or not, it is 

quite true that we germans are often much more direct. in our meet-

ings, people are often at odds with one another. it seems to me that 

here, there is much more subtlety and more diplomacy.” 

Monday, Shanghai, 11 am 
By now, Carolin has spent her first weekend in shanghai. “we went 

to yuyuan garden. it was incredibly busy.” next day she rode the 

transrapid. “the top speed of 430 km/h feels a little bit like riding on 

a roller coaster.” the flyer that Carolin picks up on her way back to the 

hotel says “german engineering”. 

yes, “german engineering”; the same thing that ties kUka loy-

alists to their employer. “kUka is high quality. once they test a kUka 

robot, they never want to change.” 

top
kong ming (孔明) lends a hand.

right
the new Bright, modern 
 oFFiCes

other side
the assemBly line at the new 
FaCtory in shanghai is Used to 
make kr qUanteC roBots with 
Universal kr C4 Controllers.
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are the people here proud of their employer? Carolin thinks so. 

“of course that’s what all kUka loyalists have in common,” she 

concludes. “a passion for technology and pride in working here.” 

kUka employees think orange – also in China. it becomes obvious 

the minute you set foot in the company premises. not only the robot 

that is impressively staged in the courtyard – even part of the facade, 

the lighting and the furnishings display the company colors. Jasmine 

tells her that in China, orange symbolizes good luck and happiness. 

“our company color is part of our image. people often ask us about 

it; for example, at trade shows,” says Jasmine. 

speaking of trade shows, two still have to be prepared before 

the opening celebrations. Carolin will be tagging along for a day 

so that she can experience how asian visitors perceive kUka. once 

a year, Jasmine goes to the global marketing Conference – also to 

germany – where all of kUka’s marketing people meet. are the cli-

chés about germans accurate? “some are. germans really are very 

diligent, work very precisely and like to plan for the long-term,“ she 

thinks. 

the thirty-one-year-old has been working at kUka robotics 

China in marketing since 2010 and has been corresponding with 

headquarters a lot. she speaks english fluently. still, working directly 

on a team with a colleague from Bavaria is something new for her. 

“writing and telephoning is one thing, but talking face-to-face is quite 

another. quite often, it’s suddenly quite easy to get things done.” 
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Three QueSTioNS For …

Mr. Kong, KUKA started manufacturing in Shanghai in December 2013. 
The new factory officially opened in March. Lots to do?
For sure. Just imagine, it took us only about a year to build a brand new factory.  
the  assembly line is now running at high speed. we want to reach our output target 
for number of robots manufactured before the year is out. there really is always a 
lot to do.

How many robots are you planning to build here?
we are aiming for about 3,000 robots a year. But we will be able boost that to 
roughly 5,000 units over the course of the next few years. i have a team of about 
300 people to do just that, and we are all working feverishly to make it happen.  
we have been operating with two shifts since march.

How would you describe the manufacturing facility? 
we make kr qUanteC series robots with kr C4 controllers. the factory is equipped 
with state-of-the-art equipment and we continuously train our employees. the plant 
meets kUka quality specifications and german quality standards.
 
Thanks very much!

mr. Bing kong
Ceo kUka roBotiCs China 

Tuesday, Shanghai, 4:50 pm 
Carolin has now spent her second weekend here and the girls have 

had a chance to spend some time together outside the office. Jasmine 

and her colleague nina had lunch with Carolin. “i like the food here. 

not only in the restaurants, but in the cafeteria too,” raves Carolin. 

european as well as local dishes are served. For example, spaghetti 

Bolognese and carbonara are on the menu. 

 

Thursday, Shanghai, 3:10 pm 
the grand opening is drawing near. every day the organizers make 

calls and check off to do lists. Jasmine is an all-rounder. “we work 

well together, especially when we’re under pressure – both on the 

local team and with augsburg. things just fall into place as we pass 

the ball to one another.” the assignments include trade shows and 

events, pr and advertising, promoting sales and online marketing. 

and sometimes Jasmine acts as a moderator; for example, at a press 

event in december, when she really got the public going. But she 

doesn’t want to take the stage at the grand opening. she has too 

much to manage that day. 

she beckons to Carolin. they have to get going – to join in on 

the next conference call with augsburg.

right side
kUka roBots are orange. 

Fang Jianping (方建平) 
paints the kUka roBots 

the Company Color.
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A NeW WOrLD 
kUka builds robots for use in medical appli-
cations such as x-ray imaging and tumor ir-
radiation. michael otto is head of the medical 
robotics division. he and his team are respon-
sible for bringing robot-based technologies 
for the medical sector to market. delivering 
applications to this very challenging market 
with demanding customers offers enormous 
potential. 

06 kUka aktiengesellsChaFt
annUal report 2013



miChael otto, head oF the 
 mediCal roBotiCs division at 
kUka laBoratories, explains 
appliCations in the Field oF 

 mediCal roBotiCs
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 “We DON’T WANT TO Offer speCiAL rObOTiC 
 sOLuTiONs, We WANT TO prOViDe sOLuTiONs 
THAT Are fLeXibLe.”

?  The slogan on KUKA’s homepage for its service and medical 

 robotics products is “creating a new robotic world”. Isn’t it quite a 

bold statement to say you want to “create a new robotic world”? 

What do you mean by this?

!  the slogan is a claim that we want to live up to: we want to help 

shape the future of medical and service robotics with our devel-

opments. after all, we actually already entered a new robotic 

dimension a long time ago. much is possible thanks to new safety 

concepts and sensitive systems – things that we hadn’t even 

thought of before. 

?  Some of these developments are already established in many 

areas such as radiology, imaging systems, radiation therapy and 

patient positioning. Even Augsburg Central Hospital has a KUKA 

robot “on duty”. What does it do there?

!  that’s right. you are talking about classic applications for our robots 

in the medical products sector, like the artis zeego from siemens 

healthcare. it takes x-rays in the operating room that the physician 

can use immediately. a 6-axis robot guides the x-ray machine. the 

angiography system has been on the market since 2008 and is in 

use at various hospitals including augsburg Central hospital. 

?  So it’s an application that simplifies patient treatment and speeds 

up surgery. What tasks are the robots responsible for in radiation 

therapy or patient positioning? 

!  they are used in radiation therapy to treat tumors more precisely 

and ultimately more gently. accuray, a partner of ours, developed 

a robotic radiosurgery system based on kUka technologies that 

employs a high-power x-ray instead of a scalpel. the x-ray is guided 

by a kUka robot arm. thus, the “Cyberknife” was created. patient 

positioning – as the name already implies, a system to position 

patients – was created with basically the same objectives in 

mind. it doesn’t simply “move” the patient somehow; it positions 

the patient in line with the radiation source with submillimeter 

accuracy. But we also provide robotics technologies that facilitate 

patent rehabilitation. 

?  Can you help me visualize this? Are robots now responsible for 

physiotherapy? 

!  no, but they can help the therapist do his job. one example is at 

our austrian partner intelligent motion where they are used as 

mechatronic assistants in hippotherapy. the robot is used in place  

of a horse. 

top and right 
the roBot integrated in artis   
zeego From siemens healthCare 
 enaBles the physiCian to position  
the C-arm aroUnd the patent.
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?  But the psychological component plays a very important role 

here … 

!  the main goal of this type of therapy is to re-learn certain movements 

and train the sense of balance. the robot accurately mimics the 

movements of a horse – but correct, without the psychological 

effect that the animal has on the healing process, of course. treat-

ment of stroke patients using this method has proven very effective 

in terms of the patient progress. 

?  Treatment programs like this mean that the robot comes in very 

close contact with the patient … 

!  yes, that’s true. and this wouldn’t be possible without safety engi-

neering. the robot can only operate within a defined “safety zone”. 

the system stops as soon as the patient goes outside of this zone. 

this is true for all of our applications, of course.

?  Robot-based applications only make sense if there is market 

demand for them. How do you determine if the medical products 

market needs these solutions? 

!  we collaborate on research projects with renowned universities 

and institutes like the german aerospace Center (dlr), karlsruhe 

institute of technology (kit), rwth aachen University and many 

09innovations 
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other leading laboratories across the globe. we equip major uni-

versity hospitals in the United states and europe, and are present 

at all relevant research and development campuses. this is where 

many of the fields of application come from. in addition, we have 

been a supplier and development partner to leading enterprises in 

the medical robotics segment for years. siemens healthcare and 

accuray are just two examples. start-ups are also behind many 

developments, and often they are able to deliver some pretty 

 amazing solutions.

?  What projects are you working on right now? 

!  we see our new lightweight robot (lwr) as a key to many new 

applications. it is delicate, sensitive and can guide people in 

complex motions, which, at an advanced stage as the “lwr med”, 

makes it ideal for medical applications in rehabilitation. But we are 

also testing it as a surgical assistant. we are working together with 

kit on solutions for minimally invasive surgery, which is also called 

“keyhole surgery”. other areas in which we are active include laser 

osteotomy, or bone surgery using lasers, where we are collaborat-

ing with the institute of mechatronic systems in hanover (imes). 

these are just a few of the concepts we are currently working on. 

?  Why do universities and university hospitals, research institutes 

and medical equipment manufacturers like Siemens Healthcare 

and Accuray work with KUKA? 

!  robotics is our core competence. no other provider in this industry 

has a comparable level of expertise. so far no other conventional 

(industrial) robot manufacturer besides us is active in medical 

robotics. what’s more, we also take advantage of all the knowledge 

we have acquired over the years in the automotive and general 

industry sectors and incorporate this in our developments to ensure 

quality, reliability, precision and safety. these are all very important 

attributes in the medical field. Customers can trust our products. 

another reason is certainly our multi-purpose approach. 

?  The multi-purpose approach? 

!  right. our aim is to build robotic technologies that are so flexible 

they can be used in any kind of application. we want to create 

something like a “technology platform” for medical applications. 

we don’t want special robotic solutions, we want solutions that are 

flexible. that’s why we built both the kr agilUs and kr qUanteC 

series robots based on our proven industrial robots, but weren’t 

afraid to break new ground – for example, with our lwr.

 

 “rObOTiCs is Our COre COMpeTeNCe; 
QuALiTy, reLiAbiLiTy, preCisiON AND sAfeTy.”
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?  Where is the field of medical robotics headed in your opinion?   

Do you have a vision? 

!  i see a very clear trend in hybrid operating rooms. this means ors 

will be flexibly equipped, enabling doctors to perform a variety of 

different procedures in the same room. this will eliminate the need 

to move a patient during surgery and is only possible with flexible 

components. together with siemens healthcare, we’ve already 

taken a huge step in this direction with the artis zeego.  

 

my general opinion is that robots will continue to be “assistants” in 

medical applications. in other words, they will always interact with 

people. i also see the future here, with sensitive robot systems that 

are flexible, mobile and safe. 

 

leFt
miChael otto with mediCal 
appliCations in the kUka show-
room

Bottom
the C-arm oF the artis zeego 
angiography system
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they are used to optimize and automate processes.  
in augsburg, kUka uses robots to unload parts from 

machine tools and machine them further.

rObOTs 
buiLD rObOTs

leFt
roBots are Used at kUka in 
 in-hoUse manUFaCtUring For  
a nUmBer oF tasks sUCh as  
loading maChine tools and 
downstream proCessing steps.

f you’ve ever taken a tour of the kUka robot production 

plant in augsburg you may have asked yourself: “where can i see 

your robots in action?” during the tour through production halls 6 

and 8 you will mostly see people performing the individual work-

steps to build the robots. this has to do with the high number of 

variants. many of the worksteps are so detailed that they need to be 

done by hand. the kr qUanteC series six-axis colleagues don’t come 

into the scene until the machining area in hall 10, where they are 

an integral part of the production: this is where various elements for 

the mechanical systems of kUka robots are produced. the in-house 

robots work in concert with the machine tool to significantly increase 

productivity in the machining of cast parts.

a kr qUanteC series kr robot fits a deckel maho “dmC80 U 

duo Block” machining center with blank parts and then removes 

them after machining. But this task alone is not nearly enough to 

utilize the full capacity of a robot that can work non-stop. “this is 

the reason we gave it additional tasks,” explains Florian hofmann, 

head of machining. now the robot removes the clamping tabs that 

held the parts in the machine tool, drills blind holes and screws in 

threaded inserts. the two-millimeter bore hole the kr qUanteC 

drills for the nameplate is extremely delicate and precise. then the 

entire component is deburred with special industrial brushes using 

a modern  technique. the robot takes the different tools from a tool 

change station set up in the robot cell.

“The machine tool market has potential” 
“the robot takes care of processing steps for the machine tool, cutting 

the spindle running time per part by 16 percent, down to 40 minutes,” 

explains andreas schuhbauer, key technology manager for machine 

tools. this means that two additional components can be machined 

per shift. it also relieves colleagues, who used to have to process the 

components at a second workstation during their shift. “this ulti-

mately gives them more time for other worksteps,” explains hofmann. 

But productivity improvements like this are not exclusive to the 

kUka production halls. “the machine tool market offers great poten-

tial for robot-based automation,” says manfred gundel, Ceo of kUka 

roboter. “500,000 machine tools are sold every year; but not even 

two percent of these are equipped with robots.” 

i
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Faster set-up times, increased 
 productivity 
there’s another colleague in machining who 

works directly at the machine tools. the kr 

500 loads and unloads an mCx 900 machine 

tool from Burkhardt + weber Fertigungssys-

teme gmbh, reutlingen parallel to produc-

tion time. a rocker and carousel are inter-

changeably machined here for two variants 

of the kr qUanteC series. the machine has a 

double pallet changer for this purpose. one 

pallet is equipped with jigs for the rocker, the 

second pallet has the clamping devices for 

the carousel. while one workpiece is being 

machined, the other pallet moves completely 

out of the machine where it can be loaded with a new workpiece. 

“we’ve increased our productivity ten percent by automating  

these steps. this means we can machine up to 300 more components  

annually compared to conventional methods,” says hofmann, 

explaining the application. the higher productivity of the machining 

center has to do with the fact that the system runs unmanned up to 

70 percent of the time, with fully-automated operation during the 

night shifts. Before, operators were always tied to a single machine 

for each shift. now one worker can set multiple components on the 

material supply units at the same time. the units are linked up with 

the robot controller so they can also be controlled. 

 “prior to automation it took up to 15 minutes to clamp a work-

piece. the robot only needs two minutes for this,” explains robert  

Bader, machining master at kUka roboter gmbh. the laborious 

manual loading of heavy parts with the help of a crane, aligning and 

clamping the part are a thing of the past.

But quick and easy loading is not the only advantage the robot has 

to offer here. it also assumes downstream tasks such as deburring of 

machined workpieces. 

if a machined component leaves the machine, the robot switches 

to “machining mode”, replaces its handling gripper with a machining 

spindle, and takes the tool it needs from its well-stocked tool magazine.

Robot and machine tool speak the same language
kUka implemented a complete CnC core in its control system to 

simplify robot setup and programming, and developed kUka.CnC 

software, which makes it possible to program the movement of the 

robot completely in g-code. machine tool programs can be used with 

the kUka control system without post-processors – in other words, 

no translation into the robot language is required. “this is important 

since companies often shy away from robot-based automation because 

their staff doesn’t know how to operate a robot,” says schuhbauer. 

kUka.CnC software has a gUi adapted to the operation of machine 

tools, so it isn’t necessary for operators to understand robots at all. 

they simply use the intuitive programming interface for operation. 

right
aUtomation inCreases prodUCtivity 

and relieves ColleagUes.

next page
BenJamin eBerhardt loads  

the  system with Blanks From  
aUtomated maChining.
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Key figures fOr rObOT 
 prODuCTiON AND MACHiNiNg:

production automation is nothing new. intelligent 
control systems and special software programs 
are what makes it possible. employing robots at 
machine tools is extremely efficient. kUka uses 
robots at its augsburg site to process components.

LWR iiwa assembles gearboxes
now the lwr iiwa, the youngest member in the kUka family, also 

has a job to do in in-house robot assembly. “advanced technology 

solutions” is a kUka systems division specialized in assembly solu-

tions based on lightweight and small robots with a focus on human-

robot collaboration. 

“the lwr iiwa is a small, compact robot that is extremely flex-

ible owing to its seven-axis design,” explains kUka roboter’s Ceo 

manfred gundel proudly. “thanks to integrated tactile sensors, it is 

able to “feel”. this enables it to perform production steps that could 

not be automated in the past because they required a certain degree 

of sensitivity. For example, it can provide a worker with components, 

assemble these itself, or take care of assembly inspection.” the engi-

neers at kUka used this to their advantage and incorporated two 

lwr iiwa robots to assemble gear components for robot production. 

they are responsible for parts handling, joining, support and inspec-

tion. the production parts are fed in by a pallet chute – the kUka 

 Cyclemove. 

Components such as bearings and retaining rings are fed in using 

removable magazines. the magazines are specially designed to meet 

the specific part geometries to ensure automated separation and 

removal by the two lightweight robots. But that’s not all. the robots 

also support pressing operations, apply retaining rings guided by 

external forces, position components and perform an automatic 

positioning and presence check. 

the integrated sensors make the lightweight robot easy to 

operate and reliable. in fact, the system becomes less complex with 

the robot since many peripheral components are no longer required. 

in addition, the cell can be quickly converted thanks to the flexibility 

of the robot. 

whether it’s a kr qUanteC or lwr iiwa – robots can build 

robots. visitors are very impressed. man and machine have come 

closer together at kUka.

number of employees in robot production� approx.�210
number of robots produced per day� 60
of these, special robots� 25
total area for robot production� approx.�10,000�m²
CnC machine tools with robotic automation 5
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oftware developer 

 rodrigue simo has one more meeting today 

before he goes home for the evening: the 

daily appointment with his son to pick him up 

from daycare. “it’s a huge relief now to have 

the orange Care daycare center on the com-

pany premises. no more rushing back and 

forth from work to the daycare,” he says. “as 

soon as we heard that kUka was building an 

on-site daycare facility, we made an appoint-

ment with the director to find out more.”

CHALLeNge 
ACCepTeD!
kUka’s staff policy considers the different stages of life of  
its employees to support them in achieving a better work-life 
balance. Child care is a key factor. By building the orange Care 
daycare center at the company site in augsburg, kUka has 
made another important contribution to balancing work and 
family commitments.

s

Bottom
mealtime with the Children 

right
days are Filled with groUp aCtivities and 
games with lots oF movement and motion, 
whiCh is part oF the orange Care edUCa-
tional ConCept.
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Giving children room to live
Bettina geißler and her team want to offer 

a place for children that complements their 

family surroundings by building trusting rela-

tionships with them in an atmosphere that 

satisfies their desire to learn and be active. 

“it is fundamentally important for children 

to move and actively interact with their envi-

ronment. this is how they gain critical skills 

to develop their personalities,” she says. she 

designed the center with plenty of space for 

kids to discover and try out different things 

in their surroundings for exactly this reason. 

it’s a perfect match for kUka.

Parents and children benefit from  
the daycare center
employees aren’t the only ones excited about 

enrolling. “in general, all augsburg children 

are welcome,” says Ulrike steinherr. she is 

on the board of trustees of orange Care e. v., 

the non-profit organization founded by kUka 

employees that supports people in need 

and is especially active in youth and family 

needs. “we wanted to help working parents 

balance their work and family commitments,” 

explains steinherr. 

Bettina geißler, director of the daycare 

center, remembers her first meetings very 

well. “we initially met in the meeting rooms 

at kUka, which was a challenge for parents,” 

she says, “because they naturally wanted to 

know where their children would be taken 

care of. But the only thing i could show them 

was a small model of the facility. so it was 

nice to see that this didn’t discourage them.”

Parents in a hurry? Not here!
since the center opened in october, seven 

teachers and caregivers have been busy 

slowly integrating the children in every-

day life at the daycare. and soon they will 

be complete, taking care of 30 kids ages 

six months to three years. But what you 

won’t find here is parents rushing to pick 

up their kids just before the daycare closes. 

the center’s hours are from 7 am to 6 pm, 

and parents can bring their kids here from 

three to ten hours a day according to their 

schedule. this gives parents maximum flex-

ibility so they can pick up their kids without 

any extra stress before they go home for 

the evening. it was also an easy decision for 

kUka employee antje schmid to entrust the 

daycare team with caring for her daughter. 

“i liked the friendly atmosphere, modern 

facilities and the care concept. i simply feel 

that my child is in good hands here,” says 

schmid, who is a lawyer.

Career and family – more than  
meets the eye
resting assured that your children are taken 

care of is just one of many elements that 

kUka offers to help its employees find the 

right balance between professional and 

personal life. kirsten glassmann from the hr 

department is responsible for “Career and 

Family” at kUka. she knows there are many 

things that can make balancing the com-

mitments of work and family more difficult. 

“For example, one employee has to care for a 

family member at home and it is a huge relief 

for him to be able to work part-time from 

home. we try to find solutions that address 

individual needs,” says kirsten glassmann, a 

mother of a three-year-old son who also takes 

advantage of the flexible work times in her 

part-time schedule. 

07Career and Family 
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Finding individual solutions
if you want to retain employees for the long 

term you must be able to offer them solu-

tions for everyday work that are tailored to 

their own unique circumstances. responding 

to changes as employees enter different 

stages of life is a part of kUka’s corporate 

culture. “it is very natural for priorities 

to change at different stages of life, for 

instance when employees have children. our 

approach is to continuously work on meas-

ures that help make everyday work more 

flexible,” continues glassmann. employees 

already take advantage of arrangements 

such as flextime, personalized part-time, 

home office and even sabbaticals that give 

them more freedom. additional services 

are also offered including health courses, 

presentations and screenings as part of 

occupational health management, a laundry 

service, assistance in caring for family 

 members, and childcare services during  

the school breaks.

A win-win situation for everyone
last year kUka was again awarded the 

“beruf undfamilie” (“Career and Family”) 

certificate following the audit. this is 

further proof of kUka’s commitment to 

offering flexible work schedules tailored to 

each employee’s personal circumstances. 

Companies are only re-certified if they have 

implemented the measures to balance work 

and family commitments and prove in the 

audit that they have actually met the targets 

set for three years. everyone in the company 

has to work together to achieve this. kUka 

aktiengesellschaft Ceo dr. till reuter reiter-

ated his clear position on this topic by taking 

DAyCAre CeNTer fACTs  
AND figures

opened� October�2013 
number of children� 30
age range� 6 months – 3 years
staff� 7

Bettina geissler
direCtor oF the dayCare Center

over sponsorship of the “Career and Family” 

efforts at kUka himself. “our employees 

are the foundation of our success. so we 

need a working environment that adapts to 

their needs. in my view, the most important 

thing here is to have a corporate culture 

based on trust,” says reuter. it’s a win-win 

situation for all: workers stay with the 

company through their various stages of life, 

increasing their motivation, performance and 

satisfaction, which in turn strengthens their 

commitment to the company. the children 

agree: “it’s fun to go to work with dad,” says 

little loic when he joins his father on his way 

to kUka in the morning.

leFt
rodrigUe simo, loiC’s Father 
and kUka employee, is very exCited
aBoUt orange Care.

top
playing, Crawling and rUnning aroUnd – 
what CoUld Be more FUn?
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leFt
qUiCk and aCCU-
rate – the inert gas 
welding proCess 
For Joining stroller 
Components

when choosing a stroller for their child, many germans – and many other nationalities, by  
the way – look for premium products “made in germany”. they literally “grow up” with quality  
in mind. if you want the best for your child, then you will look for a high-quality stroller –  
for example, one made by hartan from sonnefeld, germany.

CHiLD-sAfe

his family-owned company applies state-of-the-art 

manufacturing technologies and certified quality assurance systems 

for all of its products. hartan uses materials that are free from harm-

ful substances and places great importance on safety and maximum 

comfort. and now the company relies on the process expertise of 

kUka from augsburg. 

hartan has been designing and making high-quality strollers 

since 1950 in sonnefeld near Coburg, germany and is now one of the 

leading stroller manufactures in europe. every stroller is assembled 

t in germany and must pass a quality check before it is shipped. only 

“perfect” products are sent to customers. this is a very important 

step for the tÜv-certified company. “quality and safety are our top 

priority. we build strollers as if they were for our own children,” says 

philipp Bernreuther, head of metal manufacturing.

this means premium quality and the highest standards for 

small children. these same standards also apply to kUka systems 

gmbh when it supplies hartan with flexible welding cells. this is no 

problem for kUka, since it has been working with very high quality  

standards for years. Customers from the automotive industry for 

example appreciate the augsburg-based company for its process 

quality and expertise. kUka leads the industry in joining technology. 

KuKA fLeXibLeCube iN use AT sTrOLLer 
 MANufACTurer HArTAN

09teChnology 
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and if kUka’s welds hold at high rpms in high-horsepower sedans, 

then they are just good enough for safely moving the most valuable 

freight: our children.

High quality standards 
each stroller is made to order according to the customer’s prefer-

ences. the company produces up to 2,000 strollers per week – and 

the trend is rising. more than 3,000 components need to be welded 

in perfect quality. these “safety-relevant” parts are components that 

are decisive for the geometry, travel and stability of the stroller as 

a whole, so every weld seam must be just right. a perfect applica-

tion for kUka and its flexible, standardized kUka flexibleCUBe robotic 

welding cell. 

Entry-level automation
“the arc welding cell is ideally suited for entry-level automation 

because it seamlessly integrates in the manufacturing process,” says 

karl Christian messer, head of strategic sales, welding solutions, 

kUka systems gmbh, explaining the advantages of the product. the 

welded steel connections are permanent, so they can even handle 

“off-road” walks with the stroller. and the strollers must be durable – 

after all, junior’s first “sports buggy” is often passed on to his siblings. 

“the kUka flexibleCUBe is user-friendly thanks to its plug & play 

solution that offers a high degree of investment security, is extremely 

flexible since the cell can easily adapt to the production environ-

ment, and is known for its high process quality,” continues messer, 

“it is modular and equipped with kUka components, and it can be 

combined with proven welding equipment from leading manufactur-

ers. we supported hartan in process development and offered advice 

on equipment options based on the specifications.” 

the modular welding cell was ultimately equipped with a kr 5 

arc, power source with welding equipment, turntable, central extrac-

tion system, torch cleaning and tCp control and is the flexible answer 

to the challenges of an automated welding cell. 

Quality control
process and quality control plays a crucial role in robot-based manu-

facturing at hartan. thanks to the kUka tCp control – an instrument 

for measurement and calibration tasks – everything is always “under 

control”. it is a fast, contactless measuring system for the welding 

torch that prevents welding errors. the process itself takes only a few 

seconds, then the components can be removed from the turntable. 

employees perform random batch tests that include subjecting the 

frame to extreme bending. the welds hold 100 percent. only the best 

for the next generation.

KuKA 
fLeXibLeCube

the kUka flexibleCUBe is a space-saving au-

tomation solution that is also ideal for the 

first automation projects. the welding cell 

offers 100 percent process monitoring dur-

ing the welding process and marks scrap 

material. this saves on rework. the cell is 

pre-configured and ready for immediate use.

right
qUality CheCk aFter the 

 welding proCess
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how the giant kr 1000 titan 
robot stays cool in the foundry 
at georg Fischer ag.

HOT irON

ou shouldn’t touch hot 

iron without the right equipment. Unless 

you are a specially-equipped kUka robot, 

that is. 

georg Fischer ag in mettmann, a man-

ufacturer of cast products and machining and 

piping systems, commissioned a complete, 

new foundry last year. the plant produces 

axle components and engine parts for cars 

and trucks. “we were looking for a technical 

solution that could handle filling extremely 

hot, liquid iron into the molding box at any 

position to achieve maximum molding box 

flexibility and utilization,” explains stephen 

schott, amr production line project manager 

at georg Fischer mettmann. 

this meant finding a specialist robot 

that is not only big and strong, but most 

importantly can handle the heat – the kUka 

kr 1000 titan F. the “F” stands for “Foundry” 

since the even the toughest robot needs to 

be specially equipped for such applications. 

this heavyweight from kUka is the first robot 

to cast 1,400 degree hot liquid iron. 

a heat-resistant shell protects the titan 

from the extreme ambient temperatures at 

the foundry. the robot flange has a casting 

trough on it that can be filled with 1,400 

degree molten iron. a weighing cell is also 

integrated between the casting trough and 

the robot flange that can be used to weigh 

the quantity of liquid iron. this makes it pos-

sible to precisely dose the missing amount 

of iron during the next casting cycle. this 

means that the casting trough always con-

tains only the optimal amount of liquid iron. 

the flexibility of this six-axis robot enables 

pouring of the iron at any position of the 

molding box. the sand molds cool to less 

than 700 degrees until the cast parts can be 

removed. after further cooling to room tem-

perature, the parts are blasted and visually 

inspected before they are ready for delivery.

this was a new field of application for all 

parties involved, so the system was initially 

pre-tested using a leased robot. “the kr 1000 

titan was impressive in the testing stage, 

both in its payload and especially its size 

and mobility,” says the project manager. the 

kUka kr 1000 titan F features a compact 

design and is comparably light, weighing 

in at 4,700 kg, which makes it excellent 

for integration in complete plants without 

the need for expensive special foundations. 

“the product impressed us in many ways,” 

explains schott. “Using this robot opens up 

new possibilities for us that give us a clear 

competitive edge.” 

y

leFt and top
the kUka kr 1000 
titan deFies extreme 
heat and dirt at 
georg FisCher ag
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the kr agilUs, one of the newest members of the kUka family,  
quickly became a top seller in general industry. the robot 
works on a machine tool at ks metallbearbeitung gmbh.

rObOTs WOrK ON 
MACHiNe TOOLs

s metallbearbeitung gmbh 

in spaichingen (swabia) decided to venture 

into the field of automation – a decision that 

is paying off. applying automation solutions 

that bring together industrial robots and 

machine tools gives the company a real com-

petitive advantage when it comes to milling 

aluminum workpieces. and the extremely 

fast and compact kr agilUs from kUka is a 

part of this solution.

ks is a specialist in aluminum machining. 

the company’s technical expertise in this 

area is primarily focused on the machining 

of aluminum profiles – from cutting and 

CnC machining to vibratory finishing. while 

searching for a new high-speed machining 

center ks found out that kUka systems 

partner dreher ag based in denkingen had 

developed a complete solution consisting of 

a machine and an automated robot cell.   

in high-speed applications it’s not just the 

milling cell that counts, but also the speed 

of loading and unloading the machine 

tool. this was yet another key factor in the 

decision to choose the kUka kr agilUs. a 

conveyor belt carries the workpieces into the 

robot cell. the kr agilUs then picks up the 

workpieces from the selected position and 

temporarily stores them on a special jig in 

the cell. the configuration was programmed 

and saved in advance on the separate user 

interface. the robot grabs the workpieces, 

which are now aligned to the zero point, 

and places them into the machine tool. the 

machine carries out the drilling and milling 

work. after machining, the robot removes 

the workpieces and places them into a chute 

where they fall into a container attached 

outside the cell.

“this automation solution consisting 

of a robot cell and machine tool completely 

satisfies all of our requirements. it is fully-

automated manufacturing that allows us to 

produce a higher number of units 24 hours a 

day, 7 days a week. set-up times are faster, 

which gives us the flexibility to produce dif-

ferent components,” says Bernd haller, head 

of production, CnC machining at ks. “at 

first, an automated plant appears to be a 

very expensive affair,” adds martin dreher, 

dreher ag Ceo and kUka roboter gmbh sys-

tems partner. “automated solutions are in 

fact more expensive in the initial investment. 

But if you add all the numbers correctly, you 

will see that the hourly rates for automated 

systems are only a third compared to manual 

operation. this means we can manufacture at 

more competitive rates internationally, and 

continue to produce right here in germany.”

k

leFt
the kr agilUs gUarantees 
 highest speeds in loading  
and Unloading.
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liuhe rongda Feed Co. ltd. in shandong, China, uses a kUka robot  
to palletize animal feed sacks.

CHiNese COMpANies 
reLy ON KuKA

alletizing has always been 

one of the most labor-intensive segments in 

automated logistics systems. in such appli-

cations, industrial robots can significantly 

boost productivity and increase the competi-

tiveness of products – as is the case with the 

palletizing system in use at liuhe rongda Feed 

Co. ltd., a Chinese manufacturer of animal 

feed. the company uses a kr qUanteC series 

kr120 r3200 pa to palletize 1,300 40 kg 

sacks of animal feed per hour. 

automation in the logistics manage-

ment sector is becoming more and more 

essential in China compared to manual han-

dling, palletizing and loading of goods. many 

newly established industrial operations such 

as feed manufacturers, mills and chemical 

plants have incorporated automated palletiz-

ing systems into their facilities. new hope 

liuhe Co., ltd. is a good example. it is one 

of the leading agricultural companies in 

China, with total assets exceeding ¥ 20 bil-

lion, over 70,000 employees and close to 500 

branch offices. in november 2011 the China 

securities regulatory Commission (CsrC) 

granted the company approval to restructure 

the agricultural and livestock breeding seg-

ments. now the company produces an esti-

mated 20 million tonnes of animal feed per 

year, making it the number one producer in 

China. the company is interested in expand-

ing its production plants to meet the grow-

ing demand by incorporating automation. 

according to shandong Johenndar machin-

ery, kUka’s systems partner, the new palletiz-

ing system is the most well equipped of its 

kind in the industry.

the Chinese company relies on the 

high speed, ruggedness and precision of the 

kr qUanteC series palletizing robot.  

p

right
staCking king:  

the kUka kr qUanteC  
palletizes with high  
speed and aCCUraCy.

its sophisticated design, high rigidity, excel-

lent continuity of motion and good accel-

eration make the robot ideal for various pal-

letizing applications. and with its 3,200 mm 

reach, it can easily stack loads of up to 

120 kg at the required heights.

0 kUka aktiengesellsChaFt
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busiNess HAs NeVer beeN beTTer 
Or THe fuTure brigHTer
a decade of organic growth and the acquisition of the UtiCa enterprises assets have  
made kUka systems north america successful. it’s not just based on major contracts  
by automakers. aerospace is a rising star, too.

hese are heady days for kUka 

systems in north america. kUka is one of 

the continent’s largest – if not the largest – 

manufacturing systems providers for the 

automotive industry. “revenues and orders 

in the pipeline are at record levels – with pro-

jects extending into 2016 and beyond,” says 

a pleased larry drake, Ceo of kUka systems 

north america. the Big three Us automakers – 

Chrysler, Ford and general motors, all key 

customers – have closed plants in response 

to economic developments and as part of 

corporate restructuring, and are invest-

ing in their remaining operations to boost 

productivity and install the advanced joining 

t

leFt
Car prodUCtion line
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technologies to build lighter weight vehicles 

that will meet more stringent US govern-

ment fuel efficiency standards. In some 

cases, they are resizing their in-house tooling 

production, relying more heavily on external 

systems providers like KUKA. 

Automotive customers are a very good 
reference
KUKA Systems North America had a good 

year last year, driven by steady growth in the 

automotive sphere and recent breakthroughs 

introducing automotive-style assembly tech-

niques and automated joining processes to 

other sectors. “What proves to be effective 

for automotive customers is a good refer-

ence,” continues Drake. The CEO is proud to 

see these innovative assembly technologies 

and automated joining processes making 

their way into the aerospace industry. A 

recent acquisition has also helped KUKA 

gain a foothold in this area: Last April, KUKA 

bought the automotive assembly-related 

businesses of UTICA Enterprises, which 

brought with it manufacturing capacity, 

hard-to-find employee skills and expertise 

as well as additional business lines that 

further enhanced the company’s extensive 

portfolio of products and services. Some 270 

employees joined the KUKA family, which 

now numbers over 800 in the US. “This was 

a good deal for both parties,” says Drake. He 

greeted these new employees with a reas-

suring message: “Business is booming and 

you have a great future with us.” Besides the 

body structure business, UTICA’s products 

include net form and pierce systems for high 

accuracy in joining body sections, standard 

press room automation for metal stamping 

and hang-on technologies for installing doors, 

hoods and other parts on assembly lines. 

RIGHT
WELDING WORK ON THE MAIN 

 SUBSTRUCTURE OF A BODY IN WHITE.

0



140,000 m2 production capacity
with the addition of UtiCa enterprises and 

the leasing of another facility to handle work 

on a multi-year contract, kUka systems 

north america now operates 140,000 m2 (1.5 

million square feet) of production capacity at 

12 sites in the Us, mexico and Brazil, includ-

ing seven in the detroit metropolitan area.

the smaller UtiCa, also based just 

outside detroit, now benefits from kUka’s 

advanced it infrastructure, global presence 

and major r&d commitment. the kUka pro-

duction site in toledo is another advantage, 

which produces all bodies in white for the 

Jeep® wrangler and also allows kUka to 

showcase its technologies and expertise for 

potential customers who can see the entire 

range of products and services in action here. 

the future has never looked brighter. 

aerospace giants are partnering with kUka 

for both current and future projects. these 

relationships cover projects such as new 

assembly lines and the first steps toward 

automated production to meet rising 

demand. “they also offer the prospect of 

long-term benefits similar to kUka’s auto-

motive partnerships,” says drake. “many 

industries, from auto parts suppliers to 

heavy equipment manufacturers serving the 

railway, agriculture and natural resource 

sectors, are candidates for automated pro-

duction and handling solutions and joining 

technologies to improve their competitive-

ness,” drake is certain. the future is very 

bright for “team Usa”. 

 

From leFt 
(CloCkwise)
alex spaUlding installs  
Bolts on the Car Body.

allen davis, teChniCian, in 
Front oF his maChine tool
 
anthony Foxx CheCks the 
assemBly system.
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LAWreNCe A. DrAKe
presiDeNT AND CeO, KuKA sysTeMs grOup

“our long-term partnerships are the best way to do business. they give us stability and serve  

as key references for new customers.”

“the UtiCa enterprises acquisition gave us important additional tools to take on more business. 

it underscores to current and potential customers that kUka has the knowledge, skills and technol-

ogies – the horsepower – to work with them anywhere in the world.”

“kUka is well-positioned in the Us and globally with our multiple joining technologies to supply any 

industry requirement, whatever their engineering needs or type of materials they are employing.”

gAry TiNO
ViCe-presiDeNT, fOrD, fOrMerLy DireCTOr Of  
prOgrAM MANAgeMeNT AT uTiCA eNTerprises

“the move to kUka was very positive. we received a great deal of support which was refreshing 

considering the recent economic downturn. the anticipated response was that people would 

be more concerned about protecting their job than helping someone new to succeed. on the 

contrary, everybody was quite helpful.”

 

“the kUka culture is very positive. we have more of a family-like feeling – people watching out for 

each other, and the company strives to ensure the employees know that we care about them.”

NOrM sCHMeLzLe
MANAger MeCHANiCAL DesigN, fOrMerLy DireCTOr  
Of MeCHANiCAL eNgiNeeriNg AT uTiCA eNTerprises

“over the years opportunities were presented me to move from UtiCa enterprises to kUka. peo-

ple who had done it earlier told me this is a great organization and very family-oriented. i can say 

with great confidence not only for myself but for my colleagues that made the switch to kUka, 

the transition has been nothing short of first class.”

“kUka has a phenomenal operating system in place that gives you the ability to track each item 

down to the detail level throughout its life cycle. this type of system allows you to be more 

efficient in your day to day operation.”

09plant engineering 
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man and maChine work side By 
side – a roBot-Based moBile helper 
assUmes standardized tasks.
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s
tanding side by side next to a human, the robot-

based mobile helper assumes standardized tasks – without any 

protection. lwr iiwa knight lightweight robot is sensitive and can 

quickly and flexibly be used where help is needed most. as a tempo-

rary replacement or as short-term help; like the knight in chess, it 

quickly springs into action. “we are creating a new type of automa-

tion,” says Borkeloh proudly. “we are now able to automate pro-

cesses that were previously considered technically impossible or not 

economically viable.” it’s a smart “move” by kUka, and a good move 

by all who will use the “knight” in the future. 

ideas galore at kUka systems. the concept study is well con-

ceived, documented and has been translated into the first practical  

applications. the prototype is ready, and the first order has already 

been placed. this points to something: kUka is changing the 

approach with this concept. Until now, robots were used where pro-

cesses had to be automated. Because people reached their limits 

with certain tasks, because it was too hot, too cold, too unhealthy or 

too dangerous for them. robots were used to replace humans. the 

lwr iiwa knight is different. it joins the game as a practical helper. it 

provides support in ergonomically unfavorable conditions and takes 

over manual tasks that are tedious and thus prone to error. and 

because it is sensitive, it can work hand in hand with people without 

any protective barrier. 

right now, “is that really possible?” is the most common ques-

tion potential customers ask the plant engineering specialists at 

kUka. at trade shows they discussed ideas for applications that until 

now were not possible to automate: difficult installation work, tedious  

machine assembly and demanding testing tasks, for example. in 

many cases, the answer is: “yes, of course!” Using the “knight” cre-

ates new and versatile systems concepts with a flexible degree of 

automation.

henning Borkeloh
head oF advanCed teChnology 

 solUtions at kUka systems

A sMArT MOVe
people are amazed whenever they hear 
 henning Borkeloh present his new concept.  
it’s no wonder. what the head of advanced 
technology solutions at kUka systems 
 presents has the potential to become the  
next revolution in automation. 
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Spontaneous automation in electric motor production  
at Siemens
For example at siemens. at its production plant for electric motors in 

Bad neustadt the company entered the world of spontaneous auto-

mation with a flexible robot cell that can be used at any location. the 

“knight” concept is applied in times of peak demand and staff bottle-

necks. the lwr iiwa knight is the core component. it handles and 

checks, precisely completes five worksteps and works together with 

human colleagues. First it sets blanks into a CnC machining system, 

after machining it removes them, cleans the workpieces and inspects 

them. at the end of these production steps the parts are finally 

placed into corresponding transport containers and made ready for 

further processing. 

A job for the Knight in contract manufacturing
kUka uses the knight concept in its own contract manufacturing. 

these types of jobs often include producing very different work-

pieces in small quantities that require high setup costs. Until now, 

automation  was not a viable option in such scenarios. But the lwr 

iiwa knight makes this possible. it independently loads a friction 

welding machine, closes the door to the machine, removes the 

joined elements and places them. there are no more waiting times 

for workers during the welding process, which means they can 

concentrate on quality assurance. this method increases both the 

number of units and overall productivity. moreover, the seven-axis 

lwr, which is mounted on a trolley, is in no way restricted to a 

certain component type. 

Ready for operation in 
ten minutes
this also applies, for 

example, to force-controlled 

plugging of hoses in heat 

exchangers and to mounting 

blades in gear converters. 

the periphery is kept to a 

minimum. the lwr iiwa has 

its own force-displacement 

sensors in its joints so it is 

force sensitive, eliminating 

the need for complex image 

processing and making it 

possible to use a standard 

gripper. Complex externally 

attached sensors and a pro-

tective barrier are also not 

necessary. and this is pre-

cisely what enables flexible 

solutions. what is the idea behind it? the system in which the knight 

is used should not need to be modified; thanks to the user-friendly 

controls, it should be possible to teach the knight a new task so that 

is ready to work within ten minutes. in the future, all the machine 

setter will have to do is take the robot arm in his hand and guide it to 

the relevant reference points of the worksteps that it is expected to 

do. and this doesn’t have to be precise down to the last millimeter: 

the force / torque sensors in the arm help the robot learn to estimate 

sizes and distances and find its position.

 “THe NuMber AND VArieTy Of 
 AppLiCATiONs THAT CAN be AuTOMATeD 
usiNg THe LWr iiWA Are MANy.”
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A flexible assistant for commercial kitchens
the robot is also very useful as a flexible helper outside of industry 

applications. namely, in loading and unloading dining cars with 

trays in commercial kitchens. together with partner orgaCard, kUka 

systems developed an lwr iiwa knight concept study for hospital 

kitchens. the sensitive helper independently and reliably completes 

unergonomic tasks on the portioning conveyor that would be harm-

ful to workers if repeated over longer periods. it takes trays with 

patient meals from the conveyor and pushes these into the waiting 

dining cars. or the other way around: it removes trays from the cars 

and sets them on the conveyor. what are the advantages? qualified 

staff can focus on their more demanding tasks because they no 

longer have to do this work. the number and variety of applications 

that can be automated using the lwr iiwa are many. “Certainly there 

are numerous applications and ideas for its use that we haven’t even 

thought of yet. we are working together with partners to create pre-

cisely these fields of application,” says henning Borkeloh. “to do this 

you have to be able to think a step ahead.” Just like in chess … 

leFt and right
FlexiBle aUtomation – 

a moBile helper as a  
temporary replaCement  

or as short-term help 
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t is monumental, towering 

above spectators seven meters in the air. 

the multifunctional cell (mFC) soars majesti-

cally above visitors to the innovation park in 

augsburg – or, more precisely, the german 

aerospace Center – Center for lightweight 

production technology (dlr-zlp). even for 

non-specialists the cell appears to be a mas-

terpiece of technical precision combined 

with advanced technology. it is a staggering  

32 meters long and 16 meters wide. the 

frame is made from a steel construction that 

weighs several tonnes. 

i

THe fuTure  
is NOW
kUka at the innovation park in augsburg – nestled 
between science and industry. this robot facility is 
the only one of its kind in europe and serves as a plat-
form for conducting research and testing in the field 
of tomorrow’s production engineering.

right
the CenterpieCe oF the  

system – the roBot-sUpported 
researCh platForm
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the mFC is the heart of the new joint project 

between kUka and the dlr-zlp. it is a 

milestone marking the symbiosis between 

research and industry, and is positioned 

at a site where the institute will explore 

conditions for industrial use and efficient 

production steps for processing carbon fiber-

reinforced composites (CFrp) in the future. 

kUka completed its multifunctional cell 

(mFC) and other small testing cells almost 

a year ago here. the positioning accuracy of 

the suspended installation robot is roughly 

0.2 millimeters. “this works with the help of 

an external measuring system by forwarding 

correction parameters to the robot controller 

via an interface,” explains prof. dr. michael 

kupke, director of the Center for lightweight 

production technology in augsburg. due to 

its size and unique technology, the cell forms 

the heart of the center. it is equipped with 

qUanteC generation kUka robots in order 

to conduct industrial scale research. “the 

cell must be wireable for research opera-

tions, and in some cases operable without 

separating protective equipment in order to 

transform the vision of human-robot collabo-

ration into reality soon,” says stefan Bayer, 

group leader of Composites and lightweight 

solutions at kUka systems.

KUKA and aerospace
kUka has been researching and develop-

ing innovative processes and automation 

solutions with the german aerospace Center 

(dlr) for years. kUka and the dlr-zlp 

concluded a corresponding cooperation 

agreement in 2009. stefan Bayer explains: 

“the agreement’s primary areas of emphasis 

include industrializing carbon reinforced 

composites and building a multifunctional 

cell.” however, other topics, such as the 

interaction between humans and machines, 

i. e. how people and robots work together 

without a protective barrier, and using 

robots as a third human hand also play an 

important role. “we will need to conduct a 
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great deal of research in the future, espe-

cially in the area of cooperation between 

humans and robots, because this field offers 

so many new application possibilities,” adds 

stefan Bayer.

From theory to practice
the project was introduced to the public for 

the first time in may of last year. at the time 

the dlr-zlp had just opened the doors to its 

innovation park in augsburg. the new loca-

tion tests production processes with light-

weight materials for the aerospace industry. 

the idea of creating a “Carbon valley  

in lechtal”, as the innovation park is fondly 

called, first came about in 2007. it is a knowl-

edge and technology transfer hub. institutes 

and companies are located here that work 

together to research the technologies of 

tomorrow, in order to ensure that our valu-

able resources are used as efficiently as pos-

sible. partnerships are formed between 

scientists and industry leaders. it’s an oppor-

tunity and a valuable chance for kUka to 

advance its automation expertise and intro-

duce it into production technologies. materi-

als research is another key aspect alongside 

technology and automation. Fiber reinforced 

polymers are the go-to technology here. 

these materials are not yet being processed 

for full-scale, mechanized series production 

because the material costs are very high, 

the required quantities are low and pro-

cessing is quite complicated for automotive 

scale applications. in addition to CFrp, other 

lightweight materials are being researched 

that are especially suited for industrial use. 

they are considered to be the materials of 

the future. “they are characterized by their 

high strength, rigidity and low weight. these 

properties make them ideal for use in a vari-

ety of industries such as aerospace, which 

often plays a pioneering role for other sec-

tors,” notes kupke. science and production 

are expected to coalesce at the innovation 

leFt
Florian kreBs examines the roBot grippers, whiCh  
gently work with the material and Can reaCh set  
plaCing rates

Center
steFan Bayer, kUka systems, and proF. dr. miChael kUpke, 
dlr-zlp, disCUss important issUes

right
the system is Used to examine varioUs aUtomation 
 proCesses to determine aUtomation CapaBility

057innovations 
CollaBoration Between sCienCe and indUstry



park in augsburg. “the innovation park and 

its various r&d institutes and facilities will 

allow science and industry work to mesh,” 

says Bayer. 

the joint development between science 

and industry is an important economic factor 

for the augsburg region in particular. local 

businesses will benefit from the synergistic 

effects created here. science and industry can 

work together to develop their expertise for 

the technologies of the future and the auto-

mation solutions of tomorrow.

KUKA at “MAI Carbon”
kUka is involved in additional research 

activities in mai Carbon, the top cluster of 

cities in the munich, augsburg, ingolstadt 

triangle. this cluster groups activities revolv-

ing around the topic of fiber composites. the 

aim is to network industrial partners from 

manufacturing, application and automa-

tion via universities of applied sciences 

and research facilities. “the idea here is 

to promote fiber composite processing for 

aerospace applications such as fuselage 

shells, but there are also uses in the auto-

motive sector or mechanical engineering 

in general as well. innovations are used to 

develop technologies that transfer major 

industrial advances to other areas,” stefan 

Bayer explains. the cluster in the munich-

augsburg-ingolstadt triangle is directing its 

efforts toward implementing carbon fiber 

reinforced polymers technology in mass series 

production for a variety of sectors in germany 

by the year 2020.

the innovation park in augsburg pre-

sents a major opportunity for science and 

industry. it’s a place where the future is now. 
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Augsburg iNNOVATiON pArK

Research�areas:  Fiber composites,  
 resource-efficient technologies, mechatronics  
 and automation, it and the environment

Size�of�the�research�and��
development�center: � 70 hectares

Planned�completion�date:� 2022

The�first�companies�and�institutes:�kUka,  
 Fraunhofer research institute,  
 german aerospace Center (dlr-zlp),  
 the University of augsburg institute  
 for materials resource management

Total�investment:� € 500 million

next page
the system is Used to  
examine varioUs aUtomation 
proCesses to determine  
aUtomation CapaBility

leFt
Florian kreBs and andreas 
BUChheim (dlr-zlp) program 
the roBot to piCk Up and plaCe 
semi-Finished CarBon FiBer 
 Components
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superVisOry bOArD repOrT
DeAr sHAreHOLDers,

last fiscal year was marked by a rise in both revenues and eBit. the 

supervisory Board reviewed the executive Board’s initiatives in an advi-

sory role and was able to help move the company further forward. 

the supervisory Board helped reach decisions on key strategic thrusts. 

this included, for example, optimizing the group’s financing by issuing 

and increasing the size of a convertible bond, or reviewing acquisi-

tion projects that formed part of the company’s growth plans, after a 

long absence of such initiatives. much of the supervisory Board’s work 

involved planning the strategic direction of the company. 

in carrying out its work, the supervisory Board held plenary sessions, 

sat in committees, held telephone conferences and circulated one reso-

lution to all members. it also met regularly with the executive Board, 

especially the supervisory Board chairman. the group’s key indicators 

(e. g., orders received, sales, eBit, headcount) were discussed at every 

supervisory Board meeting in conjunction with the executive Board’s 

management report. the supervisory Board asked for detailed explana-

tions of any disagreement between the business results and the plans 

and targets, as well as the budgets. the Board then reviewed the sub-

mitted documents and analyzed any discrepancies. the supervisory 

Board was thus continuously updated on the company’s business situ-

ation and was able to offer timely advice.

the supervisory and executive Boards’ cooperation was always expedient 

and based on mutual trust. 

Changes to the executive Board and 
supervisory Board

there were no changes at the executive Board level. dr. till reuter 

continues to be the Ceo of the company and mr. peter mohnen the CFo.

new members were elected to the supervisory Board in fiscal 2013. 

prof. dr. dirk abel, dr. walter Bickel, prof. dr. Uwe loos, Bernd minning, 

dr. michael proeller and guy wyser-pratte were elected to the super-

visory Board as shareholder representatives at the annual general meet-

ing on June 5, 2013. ms. Carola leitmeir and mssrs wilfried eberhardt, 

siegfried greulich, thomas knabel, armin kolb and thomas kalkbrenner  

were appointed to the supervisory Board after being elected by the 

employee representatives on april 18, 2013. mr. kalkbrenner resigned on 

august 29, 2013 with immediate effect and was succeeded by mr. michael 

leppek effective september 12, 2013 by appointment of the courts.

at a constituent meeting following the annual general meeting, the 

supervisory Board elected mr. minning as chairman and mr. kalkbrenner 

as the initial deputy chair. after the latter’s resignation, mr. leppek was 

chosen as deputy chairman in a meeting held on september 26, 2013. 

our heartfelt thanks go out to former Board members dr. Uwe ganzer 

and mr. dipl.-ing. Fritz seifert (not re-elected to the Board) and thomas 

kalkbrenner (resigned) for their commendable contributions to the 

supervisory Board of the company. 

 

Bernd minning
Chairman oF the
sUpervisory Board
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meetings of the supervisory Board and 
its subcommittees

the supervisory Board held five plenary sessions. it passed resolutions 

three times in telephone conferences and in one instance reached a 

decision by exchanging written correspondence. 

in a telephone conference on January 31, 2013, the supervisory Board 

discussed the placement of a convertible bond with a face value 

between € 50 and 60 million. it handed down a decision on the basic 

terms and formed a committee to reach consensus on the final con-

ditions. this successfully placed convertible bond was increased to a 

nominal value of € 150 million in July 2013. the approval required for 

issuing an additional convertible bond with the total nominal value of 

€ 91.2 million was also granted by telephone on July 21, 2013.

the financial review meeting was held on march 25, 2013. at this meet-

ing, the supervisory Board dealt with the financial statements of kUka 

aktiengesellschaft and the group prepared by the executive Board for 

fiscal 2012. the chairman of the audit Committee commented on the 

report prepared by the auditor, kpmg. the supervisory Board agreed 

with the contents of both sets of financial statements. kUka aktien-

gesellschaft’s financial statements were thus adopted. the supervisory 

Board also had to discuss the appropriation of kUka aktiengesellschaft’s 

retained earnings for 2012. the executive Board recommended distribu-

tion of a dividend of € 0.20 per share and to carry forward the remaining 

profit. the supervisory Board agreed to this proposal. the supervisory 

Board also approved the Corporate governance report and dealt with 

the proposed resolutions for the annual general meeting planned for 

June 5, 2013. in its meeting on march 25, 2013, the Board also discussed 

the takeover of the business activities of UtiCa enterprises by kUka 

systems north america llC. other items on the agenda included execu-

tive compensation, achievement of staff performance targets for 2012 

and agreeing on targets for 2013. the key parameters of the phantom 

share program for 2013 – 2015 were also defined. at this meeting, the 

supervisory Board was finally advised of the company’s intention to 

construct a new development and technology center at the augsburg-

lechhausen site. the Board agreed with the proposed new construction.

the supervisory Board met before and after the annual general meeting 

held on June 5, 2013. the agenda included a compensation issue and regular  

business, such as the election of members to the various committees, 

as well as an iks report and the marketing strategy (robotics) for China.

the supervisory Board strategy meeting was held on september 26, 

2013. the meeting was kicked off with the report from the strategy and 

development Committee. the executive Board explained the group’s 

strategic aims, such as expanding the business in China as part of its 

globalization initiative and growing the general industry business to 

further diversify the group’s activities. kUka’s innovation leadership is 

being driven primarily by sensitive robotics (lwr). the Board reviewed the 

robotics (including laboratories) and systems divisions one at a time. the 

supervisory Board acknowledged and approved the strategy 2014 – 2018 

presented by the executive Board. personnel issues were again discussed 

at this meeting; for example, whether it would be necessary to meet 

with executive management regarding caps for the variable compensa-

tion components or their total compensation in view of the most recent 

changes to the german Corporate governance Code. given the pending 

contract negotiations for 2014, the supervisory Board saw no reason to 

act at that particular time.

the last meeting of the supervisory Board was held in december 2013, at 

which it focused on the budget for 2014 and the mid-range plans to 2016. 

the Board approved the material presented by the executive Board. the 

committees also gave an update on their work at the same meeting. one 

discussion centered on the potential participation of a supervisory Board 

member in a robot development company. Finally, the executive Board 

introduced the m&a project related to the reis corporation.

approval to acquire the reis group of companies was granted by tele-

phone on december 20, 2013.

all members of the supervisory Board participated in at least half of the 

supervisory Board meetings (german Corporate governance Code section 

5.4.7). the executive Board was always in attendance at the supervisory 

Board meetings, except when the executive Board’s remuneration was on 

the agenda (german Corporate governance Code section 3.6). For further 

comments about corporate governance, please refer to the Corporate 

governance section, which forms part of this annual report. 
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the supervisory Board has the following committees: personnel Commit-

tee (chaired by mr. minning), audit Committee (chaired by dr. ganzer and 

then dr. Bickel), strategy and development Committee (chaired by mr. 

minning), technology and production Committee (chaired by prof. dr. 

loos) and mediation Committee in accordance with section 27 para. 3 

of the german Codetermination act (mitbestg) (chaired by mr. minning).  

a nomination Committee was also formed in accordance with section 

5.3.3 of the german Corporate governance Code (chaired by mr. minning).

the personnel Committee met twice in 2013 and adopted a resolution by 

written correspondence once. the focus was on executive Board compen-

sation issues in preparation for plenary meetings of the supervisory board.

the audit Committee met five times. the meetings dealt primarily with 

the company’s financial statements. moreover, the risk management 

report was reviewed and the Chief Compliance officer provided a report.

the strategy and development Committee met four times. the issues 

discussed included the r&d road map, various technology topics relevant 

to the strategic direction of the company and the individual divisions’ 

strategies.

the technology and production Committee met six times. it dealt with 

topics such as the ongoing efficiency program, manufacturing at kUka 

laboratories gmbh, robot development productivity and monitoring of 

the systems division’s projects.

the nomination Committee met twice and adopted a resolution by tel-

ephone. it was tasked with nominating the candidates for the supervisory 

Board elections for the shareholder representative side of the supervisory 

Board.

the mediation Committee had no reason to meet. 

the supervisory Board submitted its declaration of Compliance in writing. 

 

independence and declaration of compliance

the supervisory Board chairman, mr. minning, had already pointed out 

before that it was well-known that he was a major shareholder and busi-

ness partner of grenzebach. in the supervisory Board meeting of decem-

ber 13, 2013, it was reported that the supervisory Board chairman also 

wanted to take an indirect stake in a robot development company in 

which kUka planned to acquire a share of less than 50 percent. the 

supervisory Board hired a law firm to advise the plenum whether it was 

proper that it approves this participation in a competitor. the super-

visory Board chairman did not participate in the discussions regarding 

this agenda item.

the supervisory Board members also fully complied with the arms-

length provisions outlined in section 5.4.2 of the german Corporate 

governance Code. there were no other conflicts of interest as defined 

in section 5.5.2 of the german Corporate governance Code during 2013. 

the supervisory Board and the executive Board submitted identical 

declarations in accordance with section 161 of the german stock Cor-

poration act (aktg). in fiscal 2013, the executive Board made its annual 

declaration on February 5, 2013 and the supervisory Board followed 

suit on February 15, 2013. the declaration of compliance was made 

permanently available to shareholders at the company’s website. 
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work with the auditors

the annual financial statements of kUka aktiengesellschaft and consoli-

dated financial statements of kUka group as of december 31, 2013, as 

well as the consolidated management report of kUka aktiengesellschaft 

and kUka group, including the bookkeeping, were audited by audi-

tors kpmg aktiengesellschaft, wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Berlin, 

which issued an unqualified audit opinion on each of them on February 

28, 2014. the auditor also checked the monitoring system as per section 

91, para. 2 of the german stock Corporation act (aktg), the purpose of 

which is early detection of developments that could threaten the com-

pany’s existence. kUka group’s mid-year report dated June 30, 2013 was 

also reviewed by the auditors. kUka aktiengesellschaft’s consolidated 

statements were prepared in accordance with section 315 a of the ger-

man Commercial Code (hgB) based on the international accounting 

standards (iFrs) as adopted by the european Union.

the supervisory Board’s audit Committee appointed the external audi-

tors, kpmg, as per the resolution at the annual general meeting of 

June 5, 2013. during the course of appointing the auditors of the finan-

cial statements of the company and the group, the chair of the audit 

Committee and the chairman of the supervisory Board conducted a 

review with the auditors regarding key audit issues, scope and fees. 

the auditors agreed to immediately inform the chairman of the audit 

Committee about any disqualification or bias issues encountered during 

the audit, provided such disqualification or bias issues could not imme-

diately be resolved. the auditor also agreed to report on an ongoing 

basis during the audit all material findings and developments arising 

during the audit that were within the scope of the supervisory Board’s 

responsibilities. Furthermore, the auditors were instructed to inform 

the supervisory Board, or make a note in the audit report, if information 

was encountered during the audit that is contrary to the declarations 

released by the executive and supervisory Boards as per section 161, 

para. 1, sent. 1 of the german stock Corporation act (aktg). 

Finally, the audit Committee obtained the arm’s-length declaration of 

the auditor in accordance with section 7.2.1 of the CgC and monitored 

the independence of the auditor. 

as in previous years, each year with different topics, the company asked 

the auditor to focus especially on a number of items during the annual 

review of fiscal 2013, such as the valuation of joint projects as relates 

to the poC method, capitalization and intrinsic value of internally gen-

erated intangible assets, the approach to and valuation of deferred 

taxes, elimination of intermediate results and expense and earnings 

consolidation as well as accounting for business combinations. the 

auditor found no major issues regarding these items. 

in december 2013, the auditor gave the audit Committee chair a 

detailed explanation of the preliminary audit results. 

Because they had been contracted to review the June 30, 2013 mid-

year financial report, the auditors attended the august 6, 2013 audit 

Committee meeting.

in a joint meeting with the auditor on march 10, 2014, the audit Com-

mittee reviewed the two sets of financial statements for fiscal 2013, 

taking into consideration the auditor’s reports. the executive Board 

and the auditor presented the highlights of the financial reports to the 

panel. the audit Committee members reviewed, discussed and checked 

in detail the documentation relating to the financial statements and dis-

cussed the audit report in depth with the auditor. the auditor answered 

the questions posed by the audit Committee members. the audit Com-

mittee reported to the supervisory Board on the results of its discussions 

during the board’s meeting on march 25, 2014 and recommended that 

the Board approve kUka aktiengesellschaft’s annual financial state-

ments and kUka group’s consolidated annual financial statements.

the supervisory Board reviewed the draft annual financial statements 

and the executive Board’s recommendation on appropriation of net 

income on march 25, 2014. the auditor, kpmg, attended the supervi-

sory Board meeting in order to report on material findings in the audit 

and to provide additional information. all members of the supervisory 

Board were in possession of the audit reports provided by the auditor. 

kpmg explained in detail the financial position and performance of the 

company and the group. the auditor also reported that there are no 

material weaknesses in the internal controlling of the accounting sys-

tem or the risk early detection system. the Board and the auditor jointly 

reviewed and discussed the financial statements and kpmg answered 

all questions posed by the audit Committee.
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2013 financial statements adopted

after completing its own review of the financial statements for 2013 

for kUka aktiengesellschaft and kUka group, and with full knowledge 

and consideration of the audit Committee report, the auditor’s reports 

and the explanations provided in the meeting of march 25, 2014, the 

supervisory Board raised no objections to the results and concurred 

with the auditor’s findings. in the opinion of the supervisory Board, 

the auditor’s reports comply with the legal requirements stipulated in 

sections 317 and 321 of the german Commercial Code (hgB).

the supervisory Board is satisfied that the management report compiled 

for kUka aktiengesellschaft and kUka group is complete. the assess-

ments made by the executive Board in the management report are in 

agreement with its reports to the supervisory Board, and the state-

ments made in the consolidated management report are also in agree-

ment with the supervisory Board’s own evaluations. at the conclusion 

of its review, the supervisory Board found no cause to raise objections 

to the consolidated management report. 

in its financial statements meeting on march 25, 2014, the supervisory 

Board therefore approved kUka aktiengesellschaft’s financial state-

ments for fiscal 2013 as prepared by the executive Board. the annual 

financial statements are thereby adopted. 

the supervisory Board also approved kUka aktiengesellschafts’ group 

consolidated financial statements and the Corporate governance report 

for the 2013 financial year as prepared by the executive Board. 

the executive Board recommended that a dividend of € 0.30 per com-

mon share entitled to dividends be paid from retained earnings and 

the balance in retained earnings be carried forward. we reviewed this 

recommendation and endorsed it.

 

thanks to the staff

Fiscal 2013 was marked by further growth. some of the growth is 

attributable to acquisitions that met strategic consolidation criteria, 

as already mentioned herein. the company will face new challenges as 

it moves forward with integrating the companies after their merger. the 

company, which has no net debt, is financially solid and well-positioned 

to face the future. net retained earnings were higher and the dividend 

for fiscal 2013 was raised by 50 percent, thanks not only to the efforts 

of the executive Board, but all kUka group employees.

the supervisory Board would especially like to thank all employees of 

the kUka companies for their commendable commitment. again in 

2013, the employees worked hard to achieve success in their businesses 

and can be proud of their company. the supervisory Board also thanks 

the executive Board members, the Ceos of the group companies and 

the employee representatives. the contribution of their performance 

to the well-being of the company, its customers and its shareholders 

was outstanding.

augsburg, march 25, 2014

the supervisory Board

Bernd minning 

Chairman
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COrpOrATe gOVerNANCe  
repOrT
the executive Board reports on corporate governance at kUka on its own 

behalf and on behalf of the supervisory Board in accordance with  section 

3.10 of the german Corporate governance Code (gCgC) as follows: 

responsible and transparent corporate governance is one of kUka’s core 

principles. this also applies to the interaction between the executive 

and supervisory Boards. 

DeCLArATiON Of COMpLiANCe

all of the declarations of compliance issued by the executive Board and 

the supervisory Board for every fiscal year since 2002 are available on 

the company’s website at www.kuka-ag.de. 

the identical declarations of the executive Board (dated Febru-

ary 3, 2014) and the supervisory Board (dated February 12, 2014) in 

accordance with section 161, para. 1, sent. 1 of the german stock 

 Corporation act (aktg) and the gCgC read as follows: 

“since issuing the most recent declarations of compliance of the 

 executive Board (February 5, 2013) and the supervisory Board (Febru-

ary 15, 2013), kUka aktiengesellschaft has complied with, and contin-

ues to comply with, the recommendations of the government Com-

mission on the german Corporate governance Code as amended on 

may 13, 2013, which were published in the electronic edition of the 

Bundesanzeiger (electronic Federal gazette) of June 10, 2013, subject 

to the following exceptions:

1.  kUka aktiengesellschaft does not follow the recommendation for the 

supervisory Board outlined in section 3.8, sent. 5 of the gCgC. the 

group’s d&o insurance policy does not provide for a deductible for 

members of the supervisory Board. in kUka aktiengesellschaft’s view, 

supervisory Board members do not require a deductible to ensure 

that they properly fulfill their monitoring role.

2.  kUka aktiengesellschaft does not follow the recommendation for 

the executive Board outlined in section 4.2.3, para. 2, sent. 6 of 

the gCgC. the executives in office have signed contracts and can be 

confident that the terms of same will not be changed. retroactively 

capping total compensation (for overall salaries and variable payment 

components) would constitute a change in the terms of the contract, 

which cannot be unilaterally implemented by the supervisory Board. 

Furthermore, it does not appear appropriate given the expected coop-

eration based on mutual trust between the supervisory and executive 

Boards (which is in fact expected by the gCgC). 

kUka aktiengesellschaft adheres to nearly all other suggestions con-

tained in the code.”

the identical declarations of the executive Board and supervisory Board 

have been available on the company’s website at www.kuka-ag.de since 

February 26, 2014.

MANAgeMeNT AND  
COrpOrATe sTruCTure

kUka group consists of kUka aktiengesellschaft – the group’s managing 

holding company – and its two divisions, robotics and systems. with just 

a few exceptions, all group companies have been allocated to the two 

management companies, kUka roboter gmbh and kUka systems gmbh, 

which hold – in most cases – 100 percent of those companies, either 

directly or indirectly. this legal structure also extends to kUka laborato-

ries gmbh, a wholly owned subsidiary of kUka roboter gmbh, of which 

the "advanced robotics" section is a part. at the beginning of 2014, kUka 

aktiengesellschaft acquired a 51 percent stake in reis group, owned by 

reis group holding gmbh & Co. kg. reis group has been allocated to 

kUka systems gmbh as management company. 
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similarities between the business divisions in terms of markets and 

production areas, customers, and geographic focus are identified, and 

intense efforts are made to further develop these similarities. however, 

the divisions are responsible for their business and thus also for their 

earnings. moreover, as in the past, project and risk managers monitor 

implementation of the established targets by focusing intensively on 

key indicators, as well as developing executive staff and maintaining 

brand strategy. 

the executive Board of kUka aktiengesellschaft has consisted of two 

persons since January 1, 2011: the Chairman of the executive Board 

and Chief executive officer (Ceo) and the Chief Financial officer (CFo). 

kUka aktiengesellschaft’s articles of association expressly state that 

the executive Board may consist of two persons (section 6, para. 1 of 

the company’s articles of association). 

respONsibLe COOperATiON  
beTWeeN THe eXeCuTiVe bOArD AND 
THe superVisOry bOArD

the common goal of the executive Board and the supervisory Board is 

to sustainably increase shareholder value. to this end, the executive 

Board and supervisory Board work closely together in the interest of 

the company. with the exception of dr. Bickel (executive Board member 

until december 31, 2010), no former executive Board members belong 

to the supervisory Board. the executive Board reports to the supervisory 

Board regularly, in a timely manner, and comprehensively regarding all 

matters relevant to the company with respect to planning, business 

development, risk exposure, risk management and any corresponding 

action taken. in doing so, the executive Board also addresses any devia-

tions in the business results from the established plans and targets and 

explains the causes of such deviations. the executive Board also reports 

to the supervisory Board regarding Corporate Compliance. the articles 

of association and the supervisory Board’s rules of procedure contain 

provisions ensuring the right of the supervisory Board to withhold its 

consent on significant transactions. Further information on cooperation 

between the executive Board and the supervisory Board can be found 

in the supervisory Board report on pages 61 to 65. 

in fiscal 2013, no consulting or other contracts for work or services 

existed between supervisory Board members and the company. 

eXeCuTiVe bOArD
in fiscal 2013, the executive Board consisted of two members respon-

sible for the following departments:

dr. till reuter, Chairman of the executive Board and Ceo, is responsible 

for (i) investor relations, (ii) strategic corporate development, (iii) public 

relations, (iv) senior group executives, (v) internal audit, (vi) personnel 

and (vii) legal affairs / compliance. dr. reuter is also director of industrial 

relations at kUka aktiengesellschaft.

mr. peter mohnen, Chief Financial officer (CFo), is responsible for (i) 

finances and controlling, which includes the financial accounting, con-

trolling, treasury and tax departments, (ii) risk management, (iii) it and 

(iv) facility management.

the executive Board members normally convene at least every fourteen 

days, and otherwise keep in constant close contact. the executive Board 

avoids conflicts of interest. no conflicts of interest between executive 

Board members occurred in fiscal 2013.

in accordance with the recommendations of the gCgC (section 4.1.5), 

the executive Board takes diversity into consideration when filling 

managerial positions in the company and, in particular, aims for an 

appropriate consideration of women. the “Female inspiration” initiative 

aims to permanently increase the number of women in management 

positions at kUka group.

eXeCuTiVe bOArD COMpeNsATiON 

executive Board compensation is outlined in the compensation report.
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superVisOry bOArD

the supervisory Board is composed pursuant to the german act on Com-

pany Co-determination and consists of twelve members; six members 

are elected by the shareholders and six by the employees.

the election of employee representatives to the supervisory Board was 

held on april 18, 2013. the results of the vote were published in the 

electronic Federal gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on april 24, 2013.

a new election of supervisory Board shareholder representatives was 

held at the annual general meeting on June 5, 2013. 

the term of office of the supervisory Board employee and shareholder 

representatives ends upon adjournment of the annual general meet-

ing in 2018. this also applies to one employee representative who was 

appointed to the supervisory Board by order of the local court of augs-

burg dated september 10, 2013, notified on september 12, 2013.

when a member of the supervisory Board steps down prior to the end 

of his or her term of office, the term of office of the newly elected or 

newly appointed supervisory Board member is until the end of the 

original term of office of the supervisory Board member who stepped 

down (section 10, para. 4, sent. 1 of the articles of association).

the supervisory Board established the following targets for its future 

makeup to address the requirement regarding diversity in section 5.4.1 

of the german Corporate governance Code, which are also to be taken 

into account when recommending candidates to the shareholders at 

the annual general meeting:

(i)   at least two supervisory Board members shall have sector-specific 

experience.

(ii)  at least one supervisory Board member shall have considerable 

career experience abroad.

(iii)  at least two supervisory Board members shall not be on executive 

or supervisory bodies of, employed by, or consultants for customers, 

suppliers, lenders, or other business partners of the company.

(iv)  at least two supervisory Board members to be elected at the annual 

general meeting shall be independent in terms of section 5.4.2 of 

the gCgC.

(v)  normally, supervisory Board members shall be no younger than 35 

and no older than 72 years of age at the time of their election.

(vi)  appropriately qualified women shall be reviewed as candidates. 

within two election periods, at least two supervisory Board mem-

bers shall be female.

to the extent that members of the supervisory Board held or hold key posi-

tions with important business partners, transactions with them were sub-

ject to the standard terms and conditions for arm’s-length transactions.

given the criteria for independence outlined under section 5.4.2 of 

the CgC, mr. minning, Chairman of the supervisory Board, addressed 

a letter to the deputy Chairman of the supervisory Board in 2012 refer-

ring to his known association with the major shareholder of grenze-

bach maschinenbau gmbh and the latter’s business relations with 

kUka group companies. all other members of the supervisory Board 

fully comply with independence criteria. 

in fiscal 2013, the supervisory Board chairman indicated that that he 

may have a potential conflict of interest (section 5.5 of the gCgC). For 

details, please refer to the supervisory Board report on page 63 of this 

annual report. there was no indication of other conflicts of interest in 

fiscal 2013. 

the supervisory Board formed six committees consisting of supervisory 

Board members: these are:

(i)   the mediation Committee as per section 27, para. 3 of the mitbestg 

(german act on Co-determination),

(ii) the personnel Committee

(iii) the audit Committee (section 5.3.2 gCgC),

(iv) the nomination Committee (section 5.3.3 gCgC),

(v) the strategy and development Committee and

(vi) the technology and production Committee

in accordance with the provisions of the Corporate governance Code, the 

supervisory Board or the audit Committee dealt with compliance issues, 

and the executive Board reported to these committees accordingly.

it has been agreed with the independent auditor that the independent 

auditor will immediately report to the supervisory Board any material 

findings or occurrences related to the supervisory Board’s work that 

arise in the course of auditing the financial statements. Finally, it was 

also agreed with the independent auditor that the independent auditor 

will inform the supervisory Board and / or note in its audit report any 

finding of facts during the performance of the audit indicating that 

the declarations issued by the executive Board and the supervisory 

Board with respect to the Code are in any way incorrect (section 7.2.3 

of gCgC). as stipulated in the audit contract, the auditor reviewed the 

interim report as of June 30, 2013.

the supervisory Board regularly reviews the efficiency of its activities 

(section 5.6 of the gCgC). a multi-year review, which was completed 

in april 2011, was recently carried out by the institute for Corporate 

governance of the University of witten / herdecke as part of a research 

project entitled “high-performance Boards – quality and efficiency on 

supervisory Board Committees”. the supervisory Board intends to have 

the efficiency of its activities professionally reviewed at reasonable inter-

vals in the future as well.
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superVisOry bOArD COMpeNsATiON 

the compensation of the supervisory Board is described in the com-

pensation report.

sHAreHOLDiNgs

mr. guy wyser-pratte holds shares in kUka aktiengesellschaft totaling 

over one percent. the remaining members of the executive Board and 

supervisory Board hold less than one percent of the shares in circulation.

COrpOrATe COMpLiANCe

kUka has always applied a high standard of ethical principles. essential 

components are strict obedience to the law and value-oriented conduct. 

these form the basis of the Corporate Compliance program adopted 

by the executive Board in november 2007 and approved by the super-

visory Board in december 2007, which took effect throughout the group 

on February 1, 2008. the key contents of the Corporate Compliance 

program are contained in the Corporate Compliance handbook, which 

comprises several compliance-related guidelines. the Corporate Com-

pliance handbook was updated and revised in fiscal 2010. it was again 

reviewed and updated in fiscal 2013 and the version now applicable is 

dated april 1, 2013. 

the executive Board passed a resolution making the Chairman of the 

executive Board ultimately responsible for the Corporate Compliance 

program. a Compliance Committee consisting of persons employed by 

the group was established to manage, implement, monitor, and develop 

the Corporate Compliance program. in addition, compliance officers 

reporting to the Compliance Committee were established at the group 

companies for the individual divisions and regions. the compliance offic-

ers are intended to be the employees’ direct and first point of contact 

for compliance-related issues. the position of external ombudsman 

was also established. 

For kUka, regular training of its employees and continuous develop-

ment of the existing compliance system are key to anchoring our value-

based standards in the company and avoiding any violations of law. For 

example, since 2011, all kUka employees have participated in online 

compliance training based on an in-house e-learning program designed 

especially for this purpose. the e-learning program was successively 

expanded to include the foreign group companies. in 2013, a survey 

related to the online compliance training was issued to measure the 

acceptance and understanding of the compliance program at kUka 

group. the company also held a series of seminars on selected topics. 

ANNuAL geNerAL MeeTiNg

the 2014 annual general meeting will take place in augsburg on 

may 28, 2014.

each shareholder is entitled to one vote. no-par-value shares have been 

issued and global certificates created. the shares are bearer shares. the 

executive Board makes it easier for shareholders to exercise their voting 

rights at the annual general meeting by offering them the right to issue 

powers of attorney to proxies who are appointed by the company and 

bound by the instructions of the shareholder. the proxies appointed 

by the company are also available at the annual general meeting to 

the shareholders who are present. in addition, powers of attorney may 

be issued to financial institutions, shareholder associations, or other 

third parties.

ACCOuNTiNg AND ANNuAL AuDiTiNg

since 2004, the annual financial statements of kUka group have been 

prepared in accordance with the international accounting standards 

(ias) and the international Financial reporting standards (iFrs) as 

adopted by the european Union. an independent auditor elected at 

the annual general meeting audits the annual financial statements 

and the consolidated financial statements. at the recommendation 

of the supervisory Board, shareholders at the 2012 annual general 

meeting chose kpmg ag wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Berlin, as 

auditor for the annual reports and group auditor for fiscal 2013 as 

well as for a potential review of the half-year report for fiscal 2013. the 

half-year report for fiscal 2013 was reviewed by the auditor based on 

the aforementioned resolution.
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in accordance with the provisions of the Corporate governance Code, the 

supervisory Board’s audit Committee reviewed the independence of the 

auditor, commissioned the auditor to carry out the audit, determined 

the key audit points and agreed on the fee.

OppOrTuNiTy AND risK  
MANAgeMeNT, CONTrOLLiNg

opportunity and risk management at kUka group is described in the 

annual report on pages 106 to 111 (risk report). in accordance with 

legal requirements, the aim of risk management is early identification 

of any risk that could jeopardize the existence of kUka group and its 

operating companies as going concerns to enable measures to minimize, 

transfer, or avoid risk to be taken. the risk strategy and risk policy is 

guided in particular by business risks, financial risks (including currency 

risks), and the specific risks of the divisions – in each case from a short, 

intermediate and long-term perspective. Controlling in particular is an 

essential tool for efficient risk management at kUka group.

kUka further optimized opportunity and risk management in 2013. the 

executive Board is tasked with adapting opportunity and risk manage-

ment to changes in the business environment on an ongoing basis.

fiNANCiAL pubLiCATiONs

the company informs its shareholders, participants in the capital mar-

kets, and the media of its position and of significant business events, in 

particular by publishing quarterly financial reports, a half-year financial 

report, and an annual report, holding a financial statements press con-

ference on the annual financial statements, and conducting the annual 

general meeting each year. in addition, it issues ad-hoc releases under 

section 15 of the german securities trading act (wphg), notices under 

section 15a of the wphg (director’s dealings) and under section 26 

of the wphg (disclosure of shareholders’ notifications and owners of 

certain financial instruments), holds conferences with analysts, meets 

with analysts and investors in germany and abroad and issues other 

press releases.

all information is published in both german and english and is also 

available on the company’s website from the time of publication. all 

regular financial reporting dates are published in the company’s finan-

cial calendar, which can be found on the back cover page of this annual 

report and on the website at www.kuka-ag.de.

DeCLArATiON regArDiNg COrpOrATe 
MANAgeMeNT

the management declaration as per section 289 a of the german 

 Commercial Code (hgB) is posted at the company’s website at   

www.kuka-ag.de. 
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COMpeNsATiON repOrT
the compensation report summarizes the basic principles used to deter-

mine the compensation of the executive and supervisory Boards of kUka 

aktiengesellschaft and describes the structure and remuneration of the 

members of the executive and supervisory Boards. the compensation 

report is an integral part of the combined management report.

eXeCuTiVe bOArD COMpeNsATiON 

1. Compensation structure

kUka aktiengesellschaft’s executive Board compensation contains fixed 

and variable components. the latter consist of several variable com-

pensation elements. the executive Board compensation system thus 

conforms with section 87 of the german stock Corporation act (aktg) 

and the requirements of the gCgC regarding sustainable corporate 

performance. the variable components take into consideration both 

positive and negative business developments.

the fixed compensation consists of a base salary and payments in kind. 

the base salary is paid in twelve equal monthly installments. the pay-

ments in kind made to executive Board members consist mainly of the 

use of company vehicles.

one-half of the variable compensation is based on achievement of per-

sonal targets and the other half is dependent on the performance of 

kUka group’s key indicators, eBit and free cash flow. the associated 

details are agreed for each specific year. the variable compensation 

component is capped, and achievement of the financial targets is linked 

to business performance over several years.

in addition, phantom shares have been offered to members of the 

executive Board since 2006 as part of annual phantom share programs 

(hereinafter also referred to as the “programs”) as an additional variable 

compensation component designed to provide a long-term incentive. 

phantom shares are virtual shares that grant the holder the right to 

cash payment in the amount of the company’s applicable share price. 

in contrast to stock options, the proceeds from phantom shares reflect 

not only on the increase in share value, but also the full value of the 

stock. moreover, a dividend equivalent that mirrors the actual dividend 

distributed on real kUka shares is paid annually during the life of the 

plan for each virtual share held. there are no voting rights associated 

with phantom shares.

each program has a term of three calendar years. the first program was 

rolled out for the period from 2006 to 2008. the program established 

as a component of compensation for fiscal 2013 refers to the years 

2013 – 2015. at the beginning of the three-year period, the supervisory 

Board establishes the amount to be allocated. to calculate the prelimi-

nary number of phantom shares, such amount is divided by the initial 

price determined for kUka shares, which is calculated from the average 

price of kUka shares (opening price in xetra trading on the Frankfurt 

stock exchange) between January 2, 2013 and march 22, 2013 (the last 

trading day prior to the supervisory Board’s financial review meeting). 

the supervisory Board also establishes an eva (economic value added) 

for continuing operations (before taxes) at the beginning of the three-

year performance period. the eva is based on the operational planning 

for the three years of the program, which is geared toward the budget 

for the first fiscal year of the three-year period and the projections for 

the two subsequent fiscal years. 

the cumulative eva (actual eva) for the three-year performance period 

is divided by the eva for continuing operations in accordance with the 

operational planning for the three program years in order to determine a 

success factor. the success factor may fluctuate between 0 and 2.0. the 

final number of phantom shares depends on the success factor achieved, 

which is multiplied by the preliminary number of phantom shares. the 

upper limit is capped at twice the number of phantom shares; i. e., it 

reflects a success factor of 2.0. payment is based on the final number 

of phantom shares at the closing share price (average price of kUka 

shares between January 2 of the year subsequent to the three reference 

years [the “subsequent year”] and the day prior to the financial review 

meeting of the supervisory Board in the subsequent year).
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each executive Board member is obligated to apply 25 percent of the 

gross amount paid out in april of the subsequent year to the purchase 

of kUka shares at the then applicable share price. the share purchase 

serves to build up the established holding volume of 50 percent of 

the annual base compensation in the form of kUka shares starting in 

march of the subsequent year. the obligation ends with the participant’s 

departure from kUka group. in the event of termination of an execu-

tive Board member’s contract – regardless of which party initiates the 

termination – all phantom shares allocated to that member expire.

the initial price for the 2013 – 2015 phantom share program was set 

at € 31.26. 

Unless fixed benefits have been contractually granted, the supervisory 

Board decides each year on the amount of the executive Board’s share-

based payments. the objective of the program is to ensure that every 

member of kUka’s executive Board is also a shareholder. the program 

promotes share ownership among members of kUka’s executive Board 

and thereby ties the interests of these governing body members more 

closely to the interests of shareholders. the profit targets and compara-

tive parameters may not be changed retroactively.

no loans were granted to executive Board members during the report-

ing year. 

2. Compensation for 2013

payments granted to members of the executive Board during the 2013 

business year totaled € 3,147,000. 

total remuneration for executive Board members consists of a fixed 

salary (including payments in kind) that was actually paid out in fiscal 

2013, plus variable and share-based payment components that count 

as part of the total compensation – at the corresponding fair values 

or allocation values on the date granted for the 2013 – 2015 phantom 

share program – without having been actually paid out to the  executive 

Board members. 

the following table outlines the compensation paid to the executive 

Board members in office as of december 31, 2013, as well as that paid 

to the entire executive Board. 

in € thousands Base salary 
including 

payments in 
kind*

variable 
compen-
sation**

phantom 
share  

program 
2013 – 2015

***

Total com-
pensation

dr. till reuter 519 1,001 386 1,906

peter mohnen 379 656 206 1,241

Total 898 1,657 592 3,147

*  depending on the contractual arrangements made with the individual executive Board 

members, payments in kind comprise the use of company vehicles and premiums for 

accident insurance. 

  the premium for d&o insurance – unlike that for accident insurance – is not included 

in the payments in kind because it cannot be allocated on an individual basis, since the 

company pays a flat premium for a protected group of persons that extends beyond 

the members of the executive Board. 

**  the fair value taken into account for each executive Board member in the table 

corresponds to the entire value of provisions for fiscal 2013 as of dec. 31, 2013. 

the variable compensation paid to the executive Board can only be determined on 

a preliminary basis at present. at its meeting on march 25, 2014, the supervisory 

Board will make a final determination of the executive Board members’ variable 

compensation based on achievement of their personal targets. the supervisory Board 

will not decide on achievement of the corporate targets for sustainable corporate 

performance requirements until 2015. 

***  the allocation value equals the average price for kUka shares on the date the phantom 

share program was established by the supervisory Board. the allocation value thus 

calculated is multiplied by the preliminary number of phantom shares.

dr. till reuter:  allocation value = € 34.49 (xetra closing price on June 5, 2013)

peter mohnen:  allocation value = € 32.20 (xetra closing price on mar. 25, 2013)

provisions, which took the total expected expense from the phantom 

shares programs into account, were recognized as of december 31, 2013 

for all phantom share programs in effect on that date (i. e., the 

2011 – 2013, 2012 – 2014 und 2013 – 2015 programs).

apart from a few exceptions, former executive Board members whose 

terms of office ended no later than 2008 were granted company pension 

benefits that included old age, professional and employment disability, 

widows’ and orphans’ pensions. the total sum for the provisions recog-

nized in 2013 for current pensions and expected pension benefits for 

this group of persons totaled € 9,763,000 (german Commercial Code) 

(2012: € 10,016,000).
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superVisOry bOArD COMpeNsATiON 

1. Compensation structure

Based on a resolution at the company’s annual general meeting on 

January 1, 2006, the articles of association were amended to require 

fixed compensation for members of the supervisory Board. 

in addition to reimbursement of expenses, each member of the super-

visory Board is paid a fixed amount of € 30,000, payable at the end of 

the fiscal year. 

the chair of the supervisory Board is paid four times that amount, and 

the deputy chair receives double the compensation. supervisory Board 

members receive additional compensation of € 30,000 for chairing the 

annual general meeting, provided this task is not fulfilled by the chair of 

the supervisory Board, and for membership in one or more committees 

that are not of an interim nature. Committee chairs are paid at most one 

and one-half times the annual compensation, even if they chair more 

than one committee or are members of another committee; this does 

not apply to the committee formed pursuant to section 27, para. 3 of 

the german act on Co-determination (mitbestg). 

in addition, for each supervisory Board meeting (including meetings of 

supervisory Board committees), each supervisory Board member has 

the choice of either being reimbursed for expenses or receiving a lump-

sum payment of € 450 per meeting, plus the applicable value added 

tax. the employee representatives on the supervisory Board who are 

employed by kUka aktiengesellschaft or a kUka group company are still 

entitled to their regular salaries based on their employment contracts. 

2. Compensation for 2012 and 2013

the following table compares the compensation paid to members of 

the supervisory Board in fiscal 2012 and 2013.

in € thousands payment in 2013
for 2012

Payment in 2014 
for 2013

Bernd minning 
Chairman of the supervisory 
Board and
Chairman of the personnel 
Committee, strategy and 
 development Committee, 
 mediation Committee, and 
nomination Committee 165 165

michael leppek
deputy Chairman of the 
 supervisory Board 
(from sept. 12, 2013) 0 25

dr. walter Bickel
Chairman of the  
audit Committee
(from June 5, 2013) 0 43

prof. dr. dirk abel 60 60

dr. Uwe F. ganzer 
Chairman of the  
audit Committee
(until June 5, 2013) 75 32

thomas kalkbrenner
deputy Chairman  
of the supervisory Board 
(until august 29, 2013) 31 59

Jürgen kerner
deputy Chairman  
of the supervisory Board 
(until June 6, 2012) 39 0

armin kolb
(from June 5, 2013) 0 35

dr. michael proeller 60 60

prof. dr. Uwe loos 
Chairman of the technology and 
production Committee 75 75

Carola leitmeir 60 60

Fritz seifert
(until June 5, 2013) 60 26

wilfried eberhardt 30 30

siegfried greulich 60 60

thomas knabel 60 60

guy wyser-pratte 60 60
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KuKA AND THe CApiTAL MArKeT
KuKA sHAres rise

kUka shares are listed on the mdax, germany’s stock market index for 

mid-cap publicly traded companies. reporting is as per prime standard 

rules. kUka’s share price rallied 23 percent over the course of 2013, up 

from € 27.67 at the end of 2012 to € 34.05 at the close of 2013. in com-

parison, the mdax rose 39.1 percent in 2013, beating the dax, which 

was up 25.5 percent for the year. the mdax set several new records 

over the course of the year and closed at a near all-time high of 16,574 

at the end of december 2013. the easing of the euro crisis and the 

expansionary monetary policy of the central banks were the main fac-

tors that drove german stock markets higher. kUka aktiengesell schaft’s 

market capitalization was up in 2013, closing at about € 1.15 billion on 

december 31, 2013. the average daily trading volume rose from 122,000 

shares in 2012 to 144,000 in 2013. 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

weighted average number of 
shares outstanding

millions of
shares 25.67 30.33 33.43 33.92 33.92

earnings per share € -2.95 -0.28 0.89 1.64 1.72

dividend per share € – – – 0.20 0.30 *

high for the year (closing price) € 12.67 16.93 20.00 29.02 38.50

low for the year (closing price) € 9.02 9.87 12.50 14.68 26.46

Closing price for the year  
(closing price) € 11.95 16.60 14.14 27.67 34.05

Change compared to prior year  % -5.7 38.9 -14.8 95.7 23.1

market capitalization (dec. 31) € millions 350 548 472 938 1,154

average daily volume no. of shares 98,300 113,000 132,000 120,000 144,000

* subject to approval by shareholders at the annual general meeting on may 28, 2014

iNVesTOr reLATiONs

kUka places a high priority on communicating regularly with the capital 

markets. in order to further boost investor confidence in the company, 

it provides transparent, timely reports. the investor relations team 

engages in intensive dialogue with the capital markets, reporting on 

all important events at kUka group. it met with investors and analysts 

at augsburg headquarters and organized road shows and conferences. 

additional information is available to investors around the clock at  

www.kuka-ag.de/de/investor_relations. in addition to corporate presen-

tations, the company’s quarterly and annual reports can be downloaded 

from the site. the company’s financial calendar with key dates for 2014 

is available at the website and at the end of this annual report. 

HigH free fLOAT

kUka continues to have a high volume of free-floating shares. at the end 

of 2013, the free float, including shares held by institutional investors, 

was 80.2 percent of total share capital. according to the mandatory 

disclosures submitted to the company, the following investors hold 

more than 3 percent of the share capital (as of december 31, 2013): 

grenzebach group, asbach-Bäumenheim 19.8 percent, oppenheim asset 

management services s.a.r.l. 5.2 percent, Blackrock group 5.0 percent, 

axa s.a. 3.2 percent, Franklin templeton investment Fund 3.1 percent 

und Franklin mutual advisors llC 3.0 percent. 
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MAjOriTy Of ANALysTs 
reCOMMeND KuKA sHAres pOsiTiVe

many investors and banks continued to focus on robot-based auto-

mation in 2013. twenty-two banks and brokerage houses regularly 

evaluated kUka’s share performance last year. most bank analysts 

rated the shares as a buy or a hold, the same as the year prior. at 

the end of 2013 six were recommending a “buy“ for the stock (2012: 

eleven). eleven recommended investors “hold“ (2012: five), and five 

said “sell“ (2012: four). the target price for the shares ranged between 

€ 27 and € 40.50. the average of all of the analysts target prices to the 

end of the year was slightly over € 34. For further details, please go to  

www.kuka-ag.de/de/investor_relations.

COrpOrATe bOND VALue HigH

kUka aktiengesellschaft has a € 202 million corporate bond bearing 

interest at 8.75 percent per annum (isin: de000a1e8x87). the bond 

matures in 2017 and kUka ag has the option to buy back the bond prior 

to maturity. in the second quarter of 2013, kUka started to buy back 

parts of the bond on the open market. the total value of the bonds the 

company had repurchased to the end of 2013 was € 42.6 million (nomi-

nal) and the value of the outstanding bonds as of december 31, 2013 

was € 159.4 million (nominal). the value of the bond over the course 

of 2013 was above 110 percent.

standard & poor’s gave kUka ag a rating of “BB- (outlook: stable)” and 

moody’s rated the company at “ Ba3 (outlook: stable)”.

kUka share priCe perFormanCe From JanUary 1 – deCemBer 31, 2013*
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kUka laboratories gmbh is the company within the robotics division 

responsible for the development of new technologies, products and 

applications. alongside research and development, the main focuses 

of kUka laboratories are the development of new markets and the sale 

of products for robotics in the service and health care sector. one of the 

company’s core tasks is advancing a totally new generation of robots – 

the lwr iiwa lightweight robot. the lwr iiwa’s unique combination of 

sensors and safety features enables it to be used in applications that 

until now were impossible to automate using robot-based solutions 

due to safety reasons.

systems division

the systems division plans, designs and builds automated manufactur-

ing systems. the range of products and services offered covers the entire 

value chain of a plant – from stand-alone system components, tools 

and jigs to automated manufacturing cells. the division also acts as a 

systems integrator, delivering turnkey systems. the division’s expertise 

is in automating individual production processes such as welding and 

soldering, processing a variety of materials and integrating various 

manufacturing steps or building fully-automated systems.

the division supplies the automotive industry with assembly lines for 

car bodies and automated systems, engine and transmission assembly 

systems, as well as machine tools for sheet metal processing. kUka 

systems also operates a Jeep wrangler car body manufacturing line 

(ktpo) located at the Chrysler site in toledo, ohio.

the systems division works with regional centers of excellence. mar-

kets in germany and europe are serviced from augsburg, north and 

south america from greater detroit, michigan, and asia from shanghai, 

China. other business segments include tool manufacturing at the site 

in schwarzenberg / erzgebirge and in slovakia, as well as automated 

assembly lines and test stands for engines and transmissions at the 

sites in Bremen, germany, greater detroit, michigan, and now also in 

shanghai, China.

grOup bAsis

group structure and business activities

kUka group consists of kUka aktiengesellschaft and the two divisions, 

robotics and systems. kUka aktiengesellschaft headquartered in augs-

burg is the group’s holding company and is responsible for managing 

corporate activities within the group of companies. the management 

of the individual divisions coordinates the operational business activi-

ties in the respective segments. Both divisions operate globally and are 

supported by their regional subsidiaries in both their sales efforts and 

their assembly and field service work.

kUka group is an internationally active robot and plant engineering 

company focused on robot-based automation of production processes 

and offers its customers solutions to improve the efficiency of their 

processes and the quality of their products. the systems division offers 

its customers innovative engineering services along with automation 

components and automated production cells. kUka systems develops 

and delivers new automated assembly lines, and also redesigns installed 

systems as part of services to guarantee the sustainability and increase 

the efficiency of existing installations. the robotics division develops, 

installs and sells industrial and service robots together with robot 

control systems and the associated software. robotics also offers its 

customers a wide range of services.

robotics division

the robotics division supplies key components for the automation of 

production processes in the form of industrial robots complete with 

controllers and software. the division’s product portfolio is modular, 

which enables it to offer custom solutions based on a series of stand-

ard products – with payloads ranging from 5 to 1300 kg. the robots 

are designed and assembled in augsburg; control cabinet assembly is 

carried out at two hungarian factories in taksony and Füzesgyarmat. 

kUka also produces robots and control cabinets for the asian market 

in shanghai, China.

kUka enlarged its product portfolio in 2012 when it introduced the 

kr agilUs, a small robot characterized by its energy efficiency, preci-

sion and speed with a low payload class of up to 10 kg. with this broad 

product range kUka is able to offer automation solutions in all payload 

classes to meet any number of customer requirements. this includes 

the kr C4 control unit, which was further enhanced to not only deliver 

improved motion, sequence and process control but also features inte-

grated safety engineering.
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robot-based automation is influenced by the different trends identified by 

the international Federation of robotics (iFr) in its forecast data, which 

sees the next generations of robots as being not only mobile and easy 

to program, but also fast and flexible in their application. technologi-

cal innovations such as improved safety, vision and sensor systems will 

enable humans and machines to work together in the future. kUka’s 

newly developed lwr iiwa has precisely these capabilities, and will make 

it possible to automate processes that were previously only partly auto-

mated or not at all.

2. Diversify business activities into new markets and regions

kUka is a market leader in the automotive industry. But there are also 

many opportunities for growth outside the automotive sector in general 

industry. kUka systems takes advantage of these by drawing on its 

automation expertise and applying it to other markets such as aviation, 

while kUka robotics works with systems partners to develop new appli-

cations for robots in target markets such as the electronics, foundry, 

plastics, food, and health care industries. general industry markets 

are especially important because the growth and profit potential in 

these sectors is greater than in the automotive industry. the degree 

of automation in these sectors is relatively low compared to the auto-

motive industry. Customers from general industry are primarily inter-

ested in automation to make their production processes more efficient, 

raise their production numbers and, of course, improve overall quality. 

with this in mind, kUka concentrates on expanding target markets in 

general industry while promoting regional diversification. kUka has a 

strong position in the european market, and sees growth potential in 

the expansion of global sites with a key focus on high-growth countries 

in asia and south america. the objective here is to achieve sustainable 

benefits from the rising demand for automation, particularly in these 

regions. kUka often successfully enters new markets via automotive 

projects with existing customers, and then establishes relationships 

with local carmakers and customers from general industry. the Chi-

nese market offers many opportunities in this area. according to iFr 

forecasts, this market is expected to grow faster than other markets in 

coming years; estimates suggest that the average annual growth on a 

global scale will be about six percent from 2014 to 2016, while growth 

in China is expected to average around 15 percent in the same period. 

kUka is therefore focused on this growth potential, with targeted invest-

ments in these markets and regions such as in the new production site 

in shanghai, China, which the company opened in december 2013. 

kUka robotics will use this site to better cater to customers in the 

asian market.

markets and competitive positions

the automotive industry is kUka group’s largest customer segment and 

generates roughly 70 percent of total sales. kUka has been developing 

and implementing robot-based automation solutions for this market 

segment for forty years. during this time, kUka has become a rec-

ognized brand name for innovative technologies in compliance with 

the automotive industry’s stringent productivity, quality and reliability 

standards. kUka robotics is one of the world’s most renowned robot 

manufacturers and a market leader for industrial robots in europe. kUka 

systems is likewise a leading provider of car body manufacturing sys-

tems in the automotive industry. after the recent acquisition of UtiCa 

enterprises, kUka systems is now the market leader in north america.

moreover, to continuously expand its business, kUka specifically tar-

gets sectors outside the automotive industry in general industry. kUka 

robotics is already one of the key global players in markets such as the 

machine tools, plastics, food and health care industries. systems part-

ners and integrators that target specific markets are primarily responsi-

ble for sales and service of robot-based automation systems for general 

industry. the share of sales to general industry and automotive industry 

customers is nearly balanced at kUka robotics. kUka systems is also 

expanding its activities into non-automotive sectors to service customers 

from industries such as aerospace, rail vehicle manufacturing, construc-

tion machinery, energy and even manufacturers of consumer goods.

Corporate strategy

kUka employs a three-pronged strategy to grow profitably. it is based 

on the market leadership of its two divisions, the company’s innovation 

strength and its strong customer relationships, and is summarized below:

1. expand KuKA’s innovation and technology leadership

For over forty years, the kUka brand has been associated with innovations 

in the area of plant engineering and robot-based technologies. the larg-

est share of investments in research and development are made in the 

robotics division. kUka laboratories takes a cross-functional approach 

within the company to develop technologies and applications for the 

entire group. in order to maintain and expand its high level of innova-

tion, the robotics division employs about ten percent of its workforce in 

research and development at the augsburg headquarters and reinvests 

between seven and nine percent of its sales revenues in r&d annually. 

r&d at the systems division is conducted in conjunction with customer 

projects and as part of various development efforts; spending in this area 

is reported as research and development expense. 
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3. Optimize cost structure and continuously improve efficiency 

For several years now, kUka has been reviewing all of its internal pro-

cesses as part of its ongoing efficiency and process improvement initia-

tive. the aim is to achieve profitable growth based on efficient corpo-

rate structures, sustainable product and process alignment tailored to 

customer needs, and on quality and efficiency. the growth kUka has 

experienced in recent years has resulted in corresponding adjustments 

to the structures, processes and responsibilities. areas identified as 

having a potential for optimization include supplier management and 

procurement from countries with lower cost structures. against this 

backdrop, kUka systems acquired Cma technology in the second quar-

ter of 2013, a romanian company that specializes in the production of 

metal parts for the systems business. efficiency improvements and cost 

optimization measures have effectively helped to lower the company’s 

breakeven point for the long term.

Financial control system and objectives

the group’s strategy is aimed at sustainably increasing shareholder 

value. various key financial performance indicators are used as part of 

group management and to monitor the business performance and posi-

tion of the group. kUka group’s financial targets are key performance 

indicators (kpis) that track the enterprise value of the company. the 

most important kpis for kUka group are revenues, eBit, roCe and free 

cash flow. the development of these variables is presented in the “Busi-

ness performance” section starting on page 88 and under “Financial 

position and performance” from page 90 on. earnings before interest 

and taxes (eBit) are compared to sales revenues to determine return 

on sales, which results in the eBit margin. eBit is compared to average 

capital employed to determine return on capital employed, or roCe. 

eBit and roCe are measured for kUka group and the robotics and 

systems divisions. Free cash flow – cash flow from operating and invest-

ment activities less capital spending – shows whether the investments 

can be funded from cash flow, and how much cash is available to pay 

a dividend and service debt. these key indicators are components of 

the target and remuneration system in place at kUka group and are 

published. this ensures that all employees share the same goals. see 

the glossary that begins on page 182 for definitions of key performance 

indicators.

medium term, i. e. between three and five years, the eBit target margin  

for the robotics division is 12 percent, and at least 6 percent for sys-

tems. Currently, the largest share of revenues (over 50 percent) is 

generated in europe. kUka plans to further expand activities in asia 

and expects about 30 percent of revenues to be generated here in the 

medium term. the ability to reach these targets is largely dependent on 

the expertise and dedication of our employees. this is another reason 

why it is essential for kUka to be an attractive employer globally. 

an important early indicator of business performance for mechanical 

and plant engineering companies is orders received. order backlog 

for a certain period is determined by subtracting sales revenues from 

orders received during that time. order backlog is a key indicator of the 

expected utilization of operational capacities in the coming months. 

orders received and order backlog are determined for kUka group and 

for the robotics and systems divisions.

all key indicators are continuously tracked and reviewed by kUka group’s 

management companies and its corporate accounting and controlling 

departments. management analyzes any deviations from plan and decides 

on the necessary corrective actions required to achieve the targets. 

key perFormanCe indiCators over a 5-year period

in € millions 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

revenue 902.1 1,078.6 1,435.6 1,739.2 1,774.5

eBit -52.6 24.8 72.6 109.8 120.4

roCe -16.6 7.9 21.8 32.3 36.9

Free cash flow -22.2 -37.3 6.5 77.1 95.4

2013 targets achieved

the executive Board presented its outlook for fiscal 2013 in the 2012 

annual report and at its financial results press conference on march 26, 

2013. the high order backlog and continued strong demand at the 

beginning of the fiscal year gave kUka high visibility for the entire 

year. growth in robot-based automation was expected to continue, with 

around € 1.8 billion in sales revenues forecast for kUka group. an above-

average increase in the eBit margin of approximately 6.5 percent was 

planned. the focus for the systems division was largely on improved 

prices for backlogged orders and efficiency measures in project man-

agement and purchasing. the target was specified in greater detail at 

the financial results press conference, where an improved eBit margin 

for the year of over 5.0 percent was forecast. robotics had anticipated 
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the free cash flow of € 95.4 million in fiscal 2013 was significantly higher 

than the € 77.1 million reported last year, and reached a new all-time high. 

see the section titled “Financial position and performance” beginning 

on page 90 for more detailed information.

research and development

research and development (r&d) is a key pillar of kUka group’s strategy. 

it secures the innovation and technology leadership of the entire group. 

the robotics division conducts most of the research and development. 

kUka laboratories is the technology incubator and innovation driver for 

all of the group’s divisions. most of kUka systems’ development work 

is conducted in conjunction with customer orders.

Strengthening the technology position 
to advance its technology leadership position, kUka group intensified 

its new product and applications development activities, especially in 

the robotics division. 

r&d spending in fiscal 2013 rose to € 59.7 million from € 42.6 million 

in 2012. as a result, the research and development ratio; that is, r&d 

over sales revenues, was 3.4 percent, compared to 2.4 percent in 2012. 

Furthermore the capitalization ratio; that is, the share of r&d costs 

capitalized was 16.5 percent, compared to 22.2 percent last year. 

For further details, please refer to the chapter Financial position and 

performance starting on page 90.

robotics applied for 102 patents and was awarded the same number 

in fiscal 2013. the systems division’s development work relates almost 

exclusively to that required to complete customer projects. during 

the fiscal year, the division submitted 56 patent applications and was 

awarded 52 patents. 

rising expenditures on research and development on the one hand, and 

economies of scale as part of business expansion on the other. higher 

expenses were also planned for the expansion of general industry activi-

ties. this led to the forecast of a slight decline in the eBit margin for 

the robotics division compared to 2012. the target margin for 2013 was 

set at between 10.0 and 10.5 percent. 

the executive Board confirmed the outlook for revenue and eBit targets 

for kUka group at the end of each quarter as part of quarterly reporting. 

the following statements were made regarding targets:

2013 target values sales revenues eBit margin

First quarter 2013 ~€ 1.8 billion ~6.5%

second quarter 2013 ~€ 1.8 billion ~6.5%

third quarter 2013 ~€ 1.8 billion ~6.5%

the target frame specified for both revenues and the eBit margin was 

met in the year under review. kUka group revenues for 2013 came in at 

€ 1,774.5 million. the main reason that revenues just missed the € 1.8 

billion mark was the 6 percent weaker than internally expected Usd /  

eUr exchange rate. kUka generated roughly 25 percent of sales in the 

United states. sales in the automotive industry and general industry 

remained at a high level.

the eBit margin reached 6.8 percent in 2013 and was likewise above the 

projected target. the systems division made the greatest contribution 

to this improved margin thanks to continuous process improvements 

and the associated cost optimization measures together with the high 

degree of utilization owing to strong demand. the robotics division’s 

eBit margin was slightly lower than last year as expected. the main 

reasons for this were higher expenditures on research and development 

as well as the expansion of general industry activities.

net earnings in 2013 came in at € 58.3 million, slightly higher than last 

year’s € 55.6 million. this development was the result of both higher 

sales, administration and r&d costs and higher interest expense for the 

redemption of high-yield bonds. after all high-yield bonds have been 

redeemed at the end of 2014, interest payments will fall significantly, 

which in turn will have a positive effect on net income from 2015 on. 

investments totaled € 74.7 million, € 31.9 million more than the 

€ 42.8 million spent in 2012. higher investments were made in both 

fixed assets and research and development. 
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Robotics
AGILUS small robot series expanded
after the successful launch of the new agilUs small robot series at auto-

matica 2012, kUka followed up with new models for general industry 

customers in fiscal 2013. new versions with greater payload and reach 

capabilities were added to the portfolio, as was a fast five-axis robot 

with four degrees of freedom especially suitable for pick and place tasks. 

a waterproof version of the kr agilUs conforming to protection class 

ip67 was presented at the international machine tool tradeshow emo 

2013. stainless steel covers, durable surfaces and additional seals pre-

vent dust and water from entering the robot enclosure. this makes the 

kr agilUs suitable for use in environments containing chips, lubricants, 

oil or spray water. machine tools is one of the primary industries in 

which the robot is applied. 

New robot for arc welding
kUka unveiled its new kr5 r1400 robot at the welding and Cutting 

trade show in shanghai. the robot is designed to meet the special 

requirements of the arc welding segment in emerging nations. the 

robot is controlled by the kr C4 smallsize controller, which is based 

on the proven kr C4 controller and is also used to control the agilUs 

small robot series. 

Siemens and KUKA collaborate in the machine tool market
at the emo machine tool trade show in hanover, kUka and the siemens 

drive technologies division announced that they would collaborate on 

integrating kUka robots and siemens machine tool control solutions. 

kUka robots will be used for handling tasks, such as loading and unload-

ing machine tools, as well as machining tasks. support will be provided 

for the entire design process chain: from the design of a workpiece, to 

simulating the machining and engineering, right through to fabrica-

tion at the factory. 

Less is more: KUKA robots save energy
sustainability goals such as Co2 reduction on the one hand and rising 

electricity prices on the other are causing the manufacturing industry to 

look increasingly for energy-saving automation components. For robot 

manufacturers, this means that energy consumption needs to be cut by 

means of lightweight construction, energy optimized drive and control 

technologies and intelligent trajectory planning. in the high payload 

range, kUka’s qUanteC series robot with the current kr C4 controller 

generation cuts energy consumed during motion by about 30 percent. 

But energy can also be saved when the robot is not in motion. the kUka 

controller supports the proFienergy profile, which in turn is based on 

the ethernet-based profinet Fieldbus standard used for energy man-

agement in manufacturing plants. the kr C4 controller cuts energy 

consumption between 15 and 80 percent based on the standby modes 

specified by proFienergy. kUka robotics is also a member of the vdma 

“Blue Competence” sustainability initiative. 

Hand in hand: production machines and robots
kUka robotics presented an enhanced version of the flexible automation 

interface mxautomation at the sps ipC drives trade show in nuremberg. 

it is used to program and operate kUka robots in a production machine 

environment. the interface supports siemens and rockwell controllers 

as well as the open Codesys plC platform from 3s. this greatly simplifies 

engineering when integrating kUka robots and production machinery and 

improves operator acceptance. the machine handles the machining or 

production of the workpiece while the robot takes care of flexibly loading 

and unloading the machine, while still relying on the core mechatronics 

and safety features of the kr C4 robot controller.

Robotic Award for “KUKA moiros”
if the part can’t come to the robot, the robot has to go to the part. this is 

especially true for large components, such as those used to build aircraft 

or wind turbine rotor blades, which can be many meters long. For such 

applications, kUka has developed a mobile transporter consisting of a 

kUka omnimove platform, a qUanteC industrial robot and a kr C4 con-

troller. the device is supplemented by intelligent navigation software, also 

developed by kUka, which enables it to roam freely. the “kUka moiros” 

conceptual exhibit captured the robotics award presented by hannover 

messe organizers.

KUKA linear unit a flexible modular system
kUka has designed a new linear unit called kl 2000 to expand the work 

envelope of the qUanteC robot series. the motor and drive have been 

integrated into the carriage for the first time, which makes the pack-

age smaller. the new linear unit boasts a high degree of flexibility and 

positioning accuracy. it can be modified to suit customer requirements 

until shortly before shipment. the product portfolio covers everything 

from ceiling assembly to a high-speed version and linear unit with pro-

tective cover. the linear axis is managed as a supplementary axis in the 

kr C4 robotic controller, which means no separate controller is required. 
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KUKA Sunrise – the new controller core
the new kUka sunrise controller core will be shipped with the lBr iiwa 

for the first time in 2014. it was tested with the help of a major automo-

tive customer during fiscal 2013. the software can be used to program 

sensor-based assembly tasks and implement initial basic human-robot 

cooperation tasks.

not only can the kUka sunrise controller core be programmed to control 

mechatronics robotic systems with stringent real-time control specifi-

cations using only mainstream it tools, but it can also be seamlessly 

integrated into the it world of industrial companies. as such, kUka’s 

lightweight robot already now fulfills the optimum prerequisites for 

industry 4.0 technologies; for example, task-oriented programming. 

the modular controller core was coded using C++. For general users, 

the robot can be programmed in Java by calling up kUka sunrise func-

tions via an object-oriented kUka sunrise application interface (api). 

programming is part centric.

the human-machine interfaces were optimized for the kUka sunrise 

controller core and implemented on the basis of the field-tested kUka 

microsoft windows world. kUka’s smartpad is used to operate the robot. 

the graphic operator interface features were revamped and it is available 

with a design optimized for mobile it devices. it is programmed via an 

open it engineering platform, which the customer can customize at 

will. the engineering platform can be installed and implemented on 

any pC-based hardware. 

KUKA youBot gets a hand
the kUka youBot is a mobile robot arm developed for research and 

learning. Users can develop and operate their own controller software 

on the youBot platform. a three-fingered gripper was developed for the 

kUka youBot arm to supplement the two-fingered gripper available to 

date. the gripper was unveiled at last year’s hannover messe.

Mobile Robotics and autonomous navigation
kUka’s navigation software for autonomous, mobile robotic systems for 

use in manufacturing environments was further enhanced. it is based 

on laser distance sensors and requires no markers in the environment 

in which it is applied. a navigation map is created using the vehicle’s 

manual controller and is subsequently adapted independently by the 

navigation system during operation.

the new functions include coordination of several vehicles based on a 

navigation map and programming virtual tracks. the virtual tracks can 

be used to organize platform traffic along prescribed tracks as a sup-

plement to automatic track planning in open areas. the virtual track 

can be easily created on the navigation map with a few mouse clicks 

using kUka’s navigation software. this eliminates the need to add costly 

optical, inductive or rFid tracks for the initial layout or when changing 

the track route.

Integrated vision makes robots even more flexible
kUka’s kUka.visiontech technology package is a 2d and 3d vision sys-

tem integrated directly into its kr C4 controller. separate computer 

hardware is thus not required to analyze what the system sees. the 

vision system is integrated into kUka’s smartpad operator interface, 

which means it can be operated and configured without additional 

hardware. Up to three compact kUka gigabit ethernet cameras can be 

connected. this allows robots to be flexibly applied in unstructured and 

changing environments.

Advanced Robotics section – KUKA Laboratories
kUka laboratories gmbh’s r&d focuses on developing sensitive helper 

robots. such robots can be used both in manufacturing and the service 

sector; for example in health care and medical systems. kUka labora-

tories also develops technology for other kUka companies.

LBR iiwa – intelligent industrial work assistant 
kUka’s lBr iiwa lightweight robot was presented for the first time at 

hannover messe 2013. the lBr iiwa is available to handle payloads of 

7 kg or 14 kg and thus meets specifications for industrial applications.

last fiscal year, the lightweight robot’s dual-channel safety systems 

were further enhanced. a dual channel circuit measures and monitors 

the articulation position and torque. the dual-channel pC-based mas-

ter safety system continuously monitors the trajectories for potential 

collisions. 

the lBr iiwa’s cables are integrated into the robot. Customer-specific 

energy supplies are also enclosed in the housing. a media adapter mod-

ule was fastened to the flange. this reduced the number of different 

models and generated savings in developing different models.

kUka laboratories’ r&d department assisted with quality assurance 

during the startup phase of lBr iiwa assembly. this included developing 

test processes and test stands to check mechatronics components that 

had to be integrated into the robot.

Lightweight robotics applications expertise 
available adjustments for the lBr iiwa include position and path tra-

jectories, as well as maximum force and yield settings. programming 

the lightweight robot for assembly and other industrial applications 

therefore requires additional expertise. kUka established an application 

team to assist and help speed up the process during the startup phase. 

this team is tasked with helping customers with new lBr iiwa applica-

tions during the conceptual phase or conducting feasibility studies for 

customers. repeats of typical applications and quality tasks involving 

the robot are organized into software libraries and can be reused. 
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an application module of kUka’s navigation software was developed for 

the kUka omnimove heavy load platform and delivered to an aviation 

industry customer. the application package can be used for up to three 

networked vehicles. 

Medical robotics
the existing medical robotics portfolio was expanded. a higher payload 

medical robot that offers customers new options is now available.

the kr C4 and kr qUanteC product platform was further enhanced to 

meet the needs of a medical application for a customer project. the 

robot is programmed to replicate various movements of horses so that 

it can be used for hippotherapy, therapeutic riding under controlled 

conditions. the treatment can be used for patients who have suffered 

a stroke, for example. the treatment allows patients to relearn various 

movements and train their equilibrium. 

the lightweight robot is also being tested by medical systems companies 

for various applications. kUka provided assistance for initial user tests, 

which went well. 

Overarching technology development for KUKA companies
in 2013, kUka consolidated its technology development activities in a 

single department, the focus of which is to secure the group’s technol-

ogy and innovation leadership. the aim is to bring products and solu-

tions with unique features to the state of market readiness as quickly as 

possible and then hand them over to the prototype and serial manufac-

turing development departments of the individual kUka companies for 

further enhancement and to make them into marketable products. the 

key technologies and long-term knowledge building in specific specialty 

areas are based on a technology road map that has been coordinated 

throughout the group. it addresses primarily five areas:

 

 1.  mechatronics: Better mechatronics improves the performance 

of robots and thus makes them cheaper. 

 2.  sensors: new algorithms, sensors and modeling the environment 

lead to greater autonomy and intelligence.

 3.  operability: new concepts and devices for intuitive operation and 

programming make it easy to handle complex robotic systems 

effectively and efficiently.

 4.  safety: new safety concepts and technologies allow humans to 

work with robots in very tight spaces.

 5.  process: new process technologies maintain kUka’s leadership 

in applying robotic systems.

 

all newly developed technologies are integrated into working models 

and demonstrators. the maturity of a new technology development 

is strictly tested in a realistic application context. the kUka technol-

ogy development department has contacts to the world of research in 

the area of robotics and the factory of the future, as well as contacts 

to funding institutions. the company collaborates with the best insti-

tutes worldwide on publicly funded research projects such as those 

sponsored by the Federal ministry of education and research or the 

european Union, as well as bilateral projects between two or more 

countries. Funded projects are seen as a key strategic component of 

building knowledge over the long term and to ensure best practices and 

as such are assigned a top priority in the technology and preliminary 

development strategy. 

Funded projects encourage networking with the community  
and best practice
the kUka omnirob mobile manipulator serves as a technology demon-

strator and is the focus of several research projects. the system consists 

of an omnidirectional mobile platform and the lBr iiwa, which serves as 

a manipulator. For example, new programming methods for such mobile 

systems are being developed in projects such as First-mm (Flexible skill 

acquisition and intuitive robot tasking for mobile manipulation in the 

real world), tapas (robotics-enabled logistics and assistive services 

for the transformable Factory of the Future) and isaBel (innovative 

autonomous service robots featuring intuitive operation for efficient 

handling and logistics). the aim is to enable flexible transportation and 

complex manipulation tasks to be programmed using simple instruc-

tions. kUka’s omnirob is being evaluated in end users’ real world pro-

duction environments. 

the saphari (safe and autonomous physical human-aware robot inter-

action) project deals with safety aspects of human-robot collaboration. 

here the focus is on improving the safety and everyday usability of 

robotic systems used directly in environments where humans are pre-

sent. the aim of the smerobotics project is to find new applications in 

small and medium-size enterprises (smes). to address the ever-increas-

ing model variety in demand today, technologies are being developed 

that enable flexible and scalable manufacturing, from large-scale 
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Process reliability in automated manufacturing –  
KUKA TCP Control
process reliability and quality assurance are key aspects of robotic weld-

ing processes. to manage these parameters, contactless measuring and 

calibration systems are required for the welding torch. kUka customers 

using tool Center point Control (tCp) enjoy higher process reliability 

and thus reduce their manufacturing costs because there is less scrap 

or need for rework. to enhance the automation module tCp Control, it 

was necessary to extensively modify the software to improve function-

ality and copy protection, optimize the operator interface to make the 

visualization more user friendly and migrate the changes into the new 

kUka robot control generation kr C4.

Energy efficiency for plant engineering and construction
Customers are increasingly focusing on determining the energy con-

sumed by an automated manufacturing system at an early design stage. 

improvement steps can be identified and evaluated based on the con-

sumption values determined. kUka systems developed a calculation 

tool for this purpose. Using this tool, customers can achieve an energy 

optimized design and select energy and resource-saving automation 

components. the tool retrieves archived measurements and consump-

tion parameters based on user input regarding the configuration of 

the system and its operation, and projects the amount of energy and 

materials that the system will consume.

New “KUKA Magnetarc” welding power supply 
one of the key objectives of kUka systems’ development activities, 

aside from the quality assurance of the process itself, is to sustainably 

enhance the components it uses to automate processes. an example 

of this is the improved efficiency and ergonomics of the power supply 

used for the magnetarc welding process and the magnetarc welding 

machines installed worldwide. the power consumed by this new source 

has been reduced by about 20 percent and far-reaching operating and 

installation benefits have been achieved by using ultramodern inverter 

technology. the dimensions and weight of the equipment have been 

cut from about 600 kg to 90 kg, which saves space on the production 

floor and facilitates maintenance.

Market introduction of LBR iiwa continues
kUka systems’ advanced technology solutions business unit has also 

invested heavily in developing applications for the lightweight lBr iiwa 

robot. at motek, the international trade fair for manufacturing and 

assembly automation in stuttgart, kUka systems unveiled an engineering  

process that can be used to implement leaner and more flexible robot 

cells for complex assembly processes. it is being developed in conjunc-

tion with customer projects and development alliances. Collaborating on 

projects enables kUka systems to offer automated solution concepts in 

new sectors and industries; for example, catering logistics in hospitals. 

serial runs to small series production. the project focuses especially 

on improving the perceptive and cognitive capabilities of robotic sys-

tems. the technologies are being developed based on specifications 

for real-world production scenarios. in 2013, kUka also participated in 

two newly launched projects: roCkin (robot Competitions kick innova-

tion in Cognitive systems and robotics) and euroC (european robot-

ics Challenges). the aim of these projects is to compare the solutions 

proposed by the best researchers on the basis of practical tasks in near 

real-world environments. to achieve this, researchers are developing 

and defining the respective benchmark for environments, tasks and 

measurable criteria. reference platforms such as kUka youBot, kUka 

omnirob and kUka’s lightweight robot are used in the competitions 

and thus presented to a large number of researchers. 

Public Private Partnership with the EU founded
last fiscal year, kUka again headed up the european robotics associa-

tion. since its founding at the end of 2012, 100 new members have 

been enticed to join the european non-profit organization eurobotics 

aisBl based in Brussels. during the first year, the focus was on found-

ing a public-private partnership (ppp) for robotics in europe between 

eurobotics aisBl and the european Commission. Following success-

ful negotiations with the european Commission, a deal was signed in 

december 2013 under the terms of which robotic research in europe 

may see € 700 million invested in the new general research program 

“horizon 2020” (2014 – 2020). this gives europe the largest civil robotic 

research program in the world. the eU’s future bid invitations will be 

based on a road map, which will be updated every two years under the 

direction of eurobotics aisBl. 

Systems division
KUKA RoboSpin – spot welding aluminum components
kUka systems continued to invest in its new welding technology, kUka 

robospin, in fiscal 2013. the system is an enhanced version of the clas-

sic resistance spot welding system. systems integrator kUka systems 

is already the leader when it comes to joining steel parts. But there 

is a clear trend in industrial manufacturing to use more lightweight 

materials such as aluminum, which presents an entirely new set of 

challenges to existing processes. By keeping the welding robot continu-

ously moving, kUka robospin is able to weld aluminum as quickly and 

easily as steel. the activities focused on process-related investigations 

into various laminations and surface conditions.
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Resource conserving press tool design uses 25 percent  
less material 
the machine tool business unit developed several machine tool sets to 

manufacture single-piece car side parts specifically for use on a german 

press line. 

the sets used about 25 percent less material than conventional tools. 

the savings were achieved by designing the equipment specifically for 

the loading it would see. the business unit also met the customer’s 

challenge of delivering compact tools for side parts in order to mini-

mize the space occupied by the presses. this enables the customer to 

better load its own capacities, saves the cost of storing an alternative 

press line and thereby enormous logistics costs. these machine tool 

sets were developed by kUka and subsequently built and started up at 

kUka. today they produce car side parts for three sports car models of 

a reputable german premium carmaker. 

procurement

Procurement at KUKA Robotics
after expanding capacities in augsburg in 2013, the site now has a 

10,000 m2 production area and can produce up to 22,000 robots annu-

ally. this is much higher than the previous capacity limit of 15,000 robots 

per year. industrial robots are assembled in two shifts. all process steps – 

from the production order to delivery to the sales warehouse – are strictly 

monitored and documented. each component has a bar code to enable 

precise tracking of which components are installed in which robots. 

regular audits of processes and measures guarantee maximum efficiency. 

and, by increasing the production capacity, actions were also taken to 

ensure that vendor parts are available for the necessary quantities. Costs 

and quality are monitored regularly based on material group, an area 

in which kUka has acquired the expertise needed to respond quickly to 

changes. savings were achieved in 2013 mainly by focusing on design-

to-cost and economies of scale. in addition, selected materials are used 

as part of developments in robot mechanics, with close attention being 

paid to energy efficiency as early as the design stage. such efforts have 

helped to cut the weight of the kUka qUanteC robot by 12 percent. there 

were no negative effects from fluctuations in commodity prices in the 

reporting year. altogether, procurement makes a positive contribution 

to business results. 

 

New production site in China
China is one of kUka’s strategic target markets. kUka has further 

expanded its capacities in China through consistent implementation 

of the company’s growth strategy. the opening of a new production 

facility in greater shanghai in december 2013 is therefore part of kUka’s 

strategy. this capacity expansion in China is kUka’s response to the 

market potential and the growth expected in asia in the coming years. 

proximity is key to ensure that the company can respond quickly to 

customer inquiries.

Until recently, primarily cast and electronic components were procured 

from asia. local purchasing volumes increased with the rising produc-

tion volumes, as was seen for example with sheet metal and plastic 

parts. as a general rule, the same standards and quality requirements 

apply globally to all vendor parts. a larger network of suppliers was built 

up locally, which not only expanded the two-supplier strategy but also 

secured the production volume. the increased capacity also ensures 

that kUka and its suppliers are able to respond quickly and flexibly to 

fluctuations or potential bottlenecks.

Procurement at KUKA Systems
as a global automation company, kUka’s procurement activities are 

international. regular global analyses are conducted to ensure that 

quality, time and costs are optimized. kUka enters into international 

framework agreements or intensifies local procurement activities 

depending on the respective requirements profile.

the timely provisioning of components and materials represents a major 

challenge when setting up an automated production line under tight 

time constraints. kUka systems has aligned its procurement process 

to meet this challenge. milestone planning throughout the project 

phases makes it possible to identify shifts at an early stage. sched-

ule controlling, i. e. the active management of project schedules, has 

been further enhanced over the entire process chain (frontloading). 

the entire procurement process as such is continuously reviewed to 

determine optimization potential. new suppliers are built up, qualified 

and further developed. For example, when developing new products, 

kUka discusses the requirements and the corresponding adaptations 

with key suppliers to optimize the technical manufacturing processes. 

this exchange of knowledge helped to identify and take advantage of 

the various opportunities for optimization. 

Ultimately, customers expect to achieve process optimization and cost 

savings with the automation solutions from kUka systems. the neces-

sity of each and every component is therefore verified as early as the 

development and construction stage. 

employees also play an integral role in the procurement process by 

using the suggestion system to submit their ideas on how to improve 

processes, which are then implemented after review.
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the ifo Business Climate index, which is considered a leading indicator 

for economic development in germany, continued to rise in 2013 and 

reached 109.5 points at year-end. in comparison, the index was still 

at 102.5 points in december 2012. this is a sign that companies have 

a positive outlook with regard to future business performance. 109.5 

points is the highest the index has been since early 2011.

Global car market on track for growth –   
slow recovery in Europe
overall, the 2013 automotive year ended on a positive note and beat 

expectations according to vda (the german association of the automo-

tive industry) forecasts with around 72.2 million light vehicles (cars and 

light commercial vehicles) sold, which was 5 percent more than in 2012. 

however, there were major differences in the regional sales volumes. 

according to the vda, new light vehicle registrations in the U.s. market 

were up by roughly 8 percent to just under 15.5 million. german carmak-

ers now hold nearly 12 percent of the U.s. market. the Chinese market 

grew by no less than 23 percent, surpassing prior-year figures and is 

now the world’s largest market with over 16 million vehicles sold in 

2013. together, these two countries alone represent nearly 45 percent 

of the world market. in contrast, growth in europe was much slower. 

the western european market was unable to match the high level of 

growth it achieved in 2012, falling around 2 percent with 11.6 million 

passenger vehicles sold. the market weakness is particularly evident 

in southern european countries such as italy, spain and even France. 

western europe is a key market for german automakers considering 

that, statistically, every second vehicle registered in western europe is 

either a german car or a brand owned by a german company. never-

theless, the potential demand for new cars in western europe is signifi-

cantly higher according to the vda, with around three million potential 

buyers of new cars holding back on their purchases mainly because 

of the economic situation in europe. this coincides with the increas-

ingly competitive environment, which poses major challenges for the 

automotive industry in europe. the german car manufacturers that are 

important customers for kUka recognized this trend early on and have 

responded to this by investing more heavily in flexible production lines 

and model platforms. at the same time, german carmakers are using 

their international position to their advantage. strong demand from 

asian and american markets has largely compensated for the weak 

demand in europe. german manufacturers in particular are benefiting 

from the pace of growth in China and now control over 20 percent of 

the market. Based on vda reports, car exports to China fell 36 percent 

in the first five months of 2013, but local production was up. 

Expansion of the regional centers of excellence
the responsible purchasing managers from europe, america and asia 

coordinate decisions about global and local procurement as part of their 

regular coordination meetings. Countries are identified according to the 

“best cost country” principle to get the best prices. 

kUka systems acquired Cma technology, a romanian manufacturing 

company, in 2013. the site produces both standard components and 

components tailored for special applications. the regional center of 

excellence within the framework of the hUB concept was expanded 

to serve as a base for procurement. systems can respond quickly and 

flexibly, especially for just-in-time jobs, while also taking advantage of 

both the quality assurance and cost optimization offered here. 

eCONOMiC repOrT

macroeconomic and industry conditions

World economy growing at a slower pace –  
positive outlook for Germany
in 2013 the international monetary Fund (imF) revised its growth fore-

cast for the world economy down four times. according to the imF’s 

January 2014 forecast, the global economy is expected to grow only 

3.0 percent in 2013, which is a slower pace than still forecast at the 

beginning of the year. a recovery is expected in 2014 with 3.7 percent 

growth predicted for the year. in recent years it was largely the indus-

trialized nations that had to face lower growth rates. europe was still 

dealing with the fallout from the financial and debt crises in 2013, 

which was the main reason for the decline of gdp by 0.4 percent. the 

forecast for 2014 predicts a slow recovery, with slight gdp growth of 

1.0 percent. the imF economists likewise lowered their outlook for the 

U.s. economy. growth is expected to be around 1.9 percent in 2013. 

austerity measures and the government shutdown in the United states 

were among the reasons for this. the imF’s outlook for 2014 is much 

more positive. the conditions for growth are in place; the budget stand-

off has been settled and unemployment continues to fall. the economy 

is therefore expected grow at around 2.8 percent in 2014. the imF fore-

casts lower growth rates for emerging countries than was still predicted 

at the beginning of 2013. nevertheless, these nations are still growing 

at a faster pace than most industrialized countries. China is one of 

kUka’s strategic markets and is expected to grow 7.7 percent in 2013 

and 7.5 percent in 2014 according to imF forecasts. the imF revised its 

forecast for germany up slightly; the economy here is expected to grow 

0.5 percent in 2013 and 1.6 percent in 2014.
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the global trend of manufacturing passenger vehicles in the respective 

markets is continuing to grow. according to the vda, more german cars 

are produced abroad than in germany – a trend that has continued since 

2010. german automakers now build only around 5.45 million of the 

14.2 million vehicles in germany. new vehicle registrations in germany 

fell by approximately 4 percent year-over-year to 2.93 million in 2013. 

the german market is expected to slowly stabilize next year.

the vda forecast 3 percent growth for 2014, to 74.4 million vehicles. 

the Chinese market is expected to grow 7 percent and top 17 million, 

while a 3 percent growth rate is forecast for the U.s., which corresponds 

to nearly 16 million vehicles. For the first time in four years, western 

europe is expected to begin growing again by around 2 percent com-

pared to the previous year. 

Mechanical and plant engineering orders  
at prior-year levels
the orders from mechanical and plant engineering companies in 2013 

were 2 percent below the previous year’s level as the vdma (german 

engineering Federation) had forecast. Both domestic and foreign mar-

ket demand dropped 2 percent, which was partly attributable to the 

moderate economic outlook in 2013. as a result, companies held back 

on capital expenditures. orders in the robotics and automation sector 

were below last year’s level on a cumulative basis. one reason for this 

was that orders received at the beginning of 2013 were relatively low 

compared to the prior year’s high growth rates. 
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the vdma expects orders to rise again in the 2014 financial year. an 

upswing in the global economy in 2014 should also boost demand in 

the mechanical and plant engineering sector. production is therefore 

expected increase by 3 percent compared to 2013. 

Continued rise in robot installations
the global trend toward robot-based automation continued unabated in 

2013. processes that were previously only partly automated or not at all 

provided opportunities for growth due to higher labor costs, increasing 

quality requirements and efficiency gains. new technologies related to 

usability and human-machine collaboration will play a more important 

role in this area in the future. even industrial sectors that are already 

highly automated offer additional potential for automating further pro-

duction steps such as final assembly in automotive applications where 

robots can assist humans in completing their tasks. 

the international Federation of robotics (iFr) forecast that 162,000 

industrial robots would be sold globally in 2013, which represents a 

2 percent growth rate compared to the 159,346 industrial robots sold in 

2012. as a region, sales in america should grow by over 9 percent from 

28,137 robots in 2012 to 30,800 in 2013. sales in asia are expected to 

reach 86,000 robots in 2013, topping the 84,645 robots sold in 2012. 

according to forecasts, 39,800 robots will be sold in europe in 2013, 

slightly below the previous year’s figure of 41,218. the iFr predicts an 

average global growth rate of 6 percent for the years 2014 to 2016. 
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Revenues
kUka group’s sales revenues benefited from the high order intake 

in previous quarters and climbed to € 1,774.5 million in 2013. sales 

were higher by 2.0 percent compared to the previous year’s figure of 

€ 1,739.2 million. this is nearly double the € 902.1 million in revenues 

generated by kUka in 2009. 

KUKA Robotics once again increased year-over-year sales revenues, this 

time by 1.5 percent to € 754.1 million, reaching an all-time record after 

the € 742.6 million reported in 2012. this is the fifth year in a row that 

the division has reported an increase in sales revenues; the average 

annual growth rate has been 17.9 percent since 2009. growth has been 

exceptionally strong in asia, where the average annual growth rate is 

55.1 percent. and, in order to take advantage of the growth oppor-

tunities in China, kUka opened a new production facility in greater 

shanghai. Customers in asia benefit from the proximity and shorter 

delivery times. 
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Business performance

Orders received
kUka again benefited from the growing global trend toward automation 

in 2013. orders received by kUka group already passed the € 1 billion 

mark in the first two quarters, and reached a value of € 1,881.9 million 

by the end of 2013. the development in 2013 was therefore very stable 

and nearly in line with the record € 1,889.6 million reported in 2012. 

€ 793.5 million came from KUKA Robotics, just 1.2 percent lower than 

the previous year’s figure of € 803.1 million. the slight decline can be 

attributed to customer investment cycles for model launches in the 

automotive industry, which brought in some major orders at the begin-

ning of 2012. total orders received from the automotive industry in 

2013 fell by 14.2 percent to € 318.3 million from € 371.0 million the 

year prior. orders received from general industry were up again and 

came in at € 330.9 million, which was 12.2 percent higher than the 

€ 294.9 million reported last year. general industry orders are typically 

greater in number but smaller in scale and come from various sectors. 

expanding general industry business is one of kUka’s key strategic objec-

tives, which is why the company introduced specific measures in 2013 

to further strengthen its position. these include a strategic partner-

ship with the drive technologies division at siemens for machine tool 

loading  and unloading solutions, or expanding the product portfolio by 

adding different versions of the agilUs robot, for example. the share 

of orders received from general industry was slightly above that of 

the automotive industry in the fiscal year just ended. service business 

continued to grow year-on-year by 5.2 percent to € 144.3 million from 

€ 137.2 million in 2012.

KUKA Systems received orders totaling € 1,111.6 million in fiscal 2013, 

a mere 0.3 percent below last year’s record of € 1,115.1 million. the 

division benefited from strong demand from the automotive industry 

and gained new customers in north america through the acquisition 

of UtiCa enterprises. in 2013 systems once again reported at its own 

global branches in Brazil, russia, China and germany orders from leading 

car manufacturers for the engineering and construction of automated 

production stations and lines, tools for press lines, assembly and test 

systems, and for the delivery of special machines for friction and mag-

netarc welding. this included a € 250 million project for subassembly 

production lines in north america. the order was of strategic impor-

tance for kUka systems, and helped further strengthen the division’s 

position in north america. apart from the automotive and automotive 

supplier industry, orders received were also up in the aerospace sector 

for the development and implementation of aircraft and helicopter 

production lines. systems also delivered more solutions and products 

for joining and welding tasks to an increasing number of smes.
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KUKA Systems posted total sales revenues of € 1,045.9 million, exceeding  

the prior year’s € 1,025.3 million by 2.0 percent and setting a new record 

of over € 1 billion in sales for the second consecutive year. the acquisi-

tions of UtiCa enterprises and Cma technology were one of the drivers 

of this development. Utica was successfully integrated into the kUka 

systems organization in 2013, making kUka systems the market leader 

in north america. 

the book-to-bill ratio remained well above 1 and came in at 1.06 at the 

group level in 2013; the ratio was 1.05 for robotics and 1.06 for systems.

Order backlog
KUKA Group’s order backlog amounted to € 991.6 million at the end 

of 2013. this represents an increase of 9.0 percent compared to the 

€ 909.4 million reported for the period ending december 31, 2012. this 

large order backlog means that the workload will be high for kUka 

through fiscal 2014 and into part of 2015.

KUKA Robotics’ share of the order backlog at the end of the year 

(neglecting  blanket orders from the automotive industry) was € 280.7 mil-

lion, rising 12.9 percent from the € 248.7 million reported in 2012. the 

order trend in China had a positive impact on business and now accounts 

for 20 percent of the order backlog.

the order backlog at KUKA Systems rose 7.3 percent to € 714.4 million  from 

the previous year’s figure of € 666.1 million and reached a new record 

high. kUka systems’ high order backlog means that the division will have 

high capacity utilization through 2014 and into part of 2015.
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EBIT
kUka group earnings before interest and taxes (eBit) broke the 

€ 100 million mark for the second year in a row, rising € 10.6 million to 

€ 120.4 million. with a year-on-year increase of 9.7 percent from the 

prior year’s total of € 109.8 million, eBit grew at a faster rate than sales 

revenues. the improvement was driven by higher business volumes and 

the resulting economies of scale as well as the effective implementation 

of measures to increase efficiency. eBit margin came in at 6.8 percent, 

beating last year’s margin of 6.3 percent with gains made in each and 

every quarter. kUka achieved its highest eBit margin in eight years in 

the year under review.

KUKA Robotics generated eBit of € 77.1 million, which was 3.9 percent 

lower than last year’s record level of € 80.2 million. eBit margin declined 

slightly, moving from 10.8 percent in 2012 to 10.2 percent in 2013. 

the robotics division’s eBit margin was at least 10 percent in all four 

quarters of the financial year just ended. the main reasons for the slight 

decline were higher expenditures on research and development as well 

as on hiring staff for general industry.

KUKA Systems generated eBit of € 60.8 million in the past fiscal year, 

which was 27.5 percent higher than last year’s € 47.7 million. the eBit 

margin rose from 4.7 percent in 2012 to 5.8 percent in 2013; the seg-

ment’s fourth quarter eBit margin was even higher at 6.4 percent. the 

increase was primarily due to improved process structures, the expan-

sion of centers of excellence in countries with lower cost structures and 

the high degree of utilization owing to the strong demand.
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the robotics division contributed € 32.8 million to the increase in 

gross profit. at the same time, gross margin increased considerably to 

36.0 percent from 32.1 percent in 2012 as a result of the slightly higher 

production volumes and the significant performance improvements at 

all segments in the field of robotics. other influencing factors included 

the higher share of sales of kr qUanteC / kr C4 models and the agilUs 

small robot series.

 

key FigUres kUka roBotiCs

in € millions 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

orders received 324.3 486.2 654.4 803.1 793.5

sales revenues 330.5 435.7 616.3 742.6 754.1

eBit -11.5 20.8 51.0 80.2 77.1

in % from revenues -3.5 4.8 8.3 10.8 10.2

% from capital employed (roCe) -9.5 16.1 38.3 57.2 49.6

Capital employed 120.5 129.1 133.2 140.2 155.6

employees (dec. 31) 2,009 2,347 2,753 3,180 3,416

the systems division contributed € 18.6 million to the increase in gross 

profit, which was 14.2 percent higher than last year. gross margin was 

14.3 percent and thus notably higher than the prior-year level of 12.8 per-

cent. adjusted for interest expenses included in manufacturing costs, 

the margin was even higher at 15.0 percent compared to 13.6 percent in 

2012 primarily due to the improved material usage ratio. other important 

factors in this context included the implementation of project and risk 

management and the acquisition of Cma teChnology srl, romania 

finalized in the second half of the year. this acquisition helped further 

secure procurement at more favorable conditions while increasing verti-

cal integration. one-time compensation for deficit orders from previous 

years in the low seven-figure range also played a positive role.

key FigUres kUka systems

in € millions 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

orders received 615.4 716.8 916.6 1,115.1 1,111.6

sales revenues 605.5 695.3 850.7 1,025.3 1,045.9

eBit -28.8 20.0 33.7 47.7 60.8

in % from revenues -4.8 2.9 4.0 4.7 5.8

% from capital employed (roCe) -14.5 10.4 16.1 23.8 43.0

Capital employed 198.6 192.4 209.6 200.5 141.5

employees (dec. 31) 3,534 3,456 3,643 3,902 4,362

eBit + eBit margin (kUka groUp, roBotiCs, systems)

 

in € millions 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

group -52.6 24.8 72.6 109.8 120.4

in % from revenues -5.8 2.3 5.1 6.3 6.8

robotics -11.5 20.8 51.0 80.2 77.1

in % from revenues -3.5 4.8 8.3 10.8 10.2

systems -28.8 20.0 33.7 47.7 60.8

in % from revenues -4.8 2.9 4.0 4.7 5.8

Financial position and performance

Earnings
orders received in 2013 reached the same high level of the previous year. 

sales revenues and eBit rose again year-over-year to new record levels. 

key FigUres kUka groUp

in € millions 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

orders received 903.3 1,142.3 1,553.0 1,889.6 1,881.9

sales revenues 902.1 1,078.6 1,435.6 1,739.2 1,774.5

eBit -52.6 24.8 72.6 109.8 120.4

in % from revenues -5.8 2.3 5.1 6.3 6.8

% from capital employed (roCe) -16.6 7.9 21.8 32.3 36.9

Capital employed 317.5 312.5 332.9 339.8 326.2

employees (dec. 31) 5,744 5,990 6,589 7,264 7,990

Gross margin higher again
kUka group’s gross profit – sales revenues less cost of sales – grew 

faster than revenues, rising 13.6 percent from 385.9 million in 2012 

to 438.5 million in 2013. this development was largely attributable to 

the lower material usage ratio within cost of sales due to procurement 

and production process optimization. these cost reductions helped to 

offset the slight increase in personnel costs; the group’s gross margin – 

gross profit in relation to sales revenues – rose from 22.2 percent to 

24.7 percent as a result. 
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kUka group’s operating costs – the costs of administration and sales as 

well as research and development – rose from € 260.9 million in 2012 

to € 299.9 million in 2013 in connection with the increase in business 

activity. total operating costs thus made up 16.9 percent of sales rev-

enues compared to 15.0 percent in 2012. the increase in distribution 

costs in both absolute (2012: € 119.7 million; 2013: € 130.2 million) and 

relative terms (2012: 6.9 percent; 2013: 7,3 percent) was influenced by 

various factors such as the division’s stronger focus on general industry 

and the associated recruitment of additional sales staff. the average 

number of sales representatives grew accordingly from 546 in 2011 to 

627 in 2012 and is now at 706 in 2013. 

the research and development costs recognized in the income state-

ment rose to € 59.7 million in 2013, up € 17.1 million from the prior-

year figure. adjusted for development costs capitalized in the financial 

year and write-downs of development costs capitalized in prior years, 

expenses for 2013 totaled € 55.2 million and € 47.0 million in 2012. this 

reflects the group’s strategic orientation through increased investment 

in new and future technologies as well as in consistent development 

improvements. such technologies include:

• sunrise control software

•  developments in human-machine collaboration based  

on the lwr iiwa

• applications in the field of mobile robotics

• new methods in the area of friction welding

 For more information about current issues, see “research and develop-

ment” on page 80.

activities to promote project diversity included the scheduled increase in 

the number of staff involved in research and development. this brought 

the total number of employees in this area up to 360 on december 31, 

2013, 35 more than at the end of 2012. personnel expenses for r&d 

rose by € 4.7 million to € 31.7 million as a result.

Costs incurred in the year under review for new developments in the 

amount of € 9.1 million (2012: € 10.4 million) were capitalized and will 

be recognized through depreciation as an expense in subsequent periods. 

depreciation included in the research and development expenses for 

2013 totaled € 16.6 million compared to € 8.7 million last year. this 

was reflected, among other things, in the fact that some of the lwr 

model series were completed by the end of 2012 and are now being 

actively marketed. Capitalizations in prior periods will now be depreci-

ated. the rollout of the new kUka sunrise control software, which is 

being actively pursued in different levels of development, was delayed 

for strategic reasons in specific areas of technology; this resulted in the 

recognition of a one-time expense in the amount of € 4.9 million. on 

the whole, however, a number of important milestones were reached 

with kUka sunrise in 2013. 

general and administrative expenses totaled 6.2 percent of sales rev-

enues compared to 5.7 percent in 2012. preparatory measures in con-

junction with the construction of the new development and technol-

ogy Center in augsburg, maintenance work and variable, share-based 

compensation components played a role in this. external consulting 

services performed as part of the acquisitions made in 2013 and ahead 

of the purchase of reis group (cf. “events after the balance sheet date”) 

in 2014 led to higher expenditures than in 2012.

the net amount of other expenses and income was an expense of 

€ 24.9 million, which was slightly higher than the € 22.5 million reported 

in 2012. this figure includes losses and gains from foreign exchange 

transactions, particularly in Usd, Cny, Jpy, and Brl.

EBIT continues to improve
the positive development described above, especially the higher gross 

profit for kUka group, directly impacts earnings before interest and 

taxes (eBit). eBit rose by € 10.6 million to € 120.4 million. kUka group 

eBit climbed to 6.8 percent from 6.3 percent in 2012. systems, with 

eBit of € 60.8 million and eBit margin of 5.8 percent, was the main 

driver behind the increase in earnings before interest and taxes from 

€ 47.7 million and 4.7 percent, respectively, in 2012. the robotics divi-

sion generated eBit of € 77.1 million in 2013 with an eBit margin of 

10.2 percent.

in line with the performance of eBit, eBitda (earnings before interest, 

taxes, depreciation and amortization) increased to € 158.4 million 

from € 138.5 million in 2012. total depreciation, amortization and 

write-downs totaled € 38.2 million in the reporting period compared 

to € 28.7 million in 2012. of this total, € 25.0 million is attributable 

to robotics (2012: € 15.8 million), € 10.2 million to systems (2012: 

€ 10.1 million), and € 3.0 million to other (2012: € 2.8 million).
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fied from net interest income to operating profit and recognized under 

internally generated intangible assets. other interest and similar 

income / expenses included earnings effects in connection with pen-

sions in the amount of € 2.4 million compared to € 3.1 million last year.

the total tax expense for kUka group in 2013 was € 35.4 million; this 

figure was slightly higher than the total tax expense of € 34.1 million in 

2012 and mainly resulted from current tax expenses in the U.s. and the 

planned reduction of tax loss carryforwards recognized in previous years 

in the german consolidated tax group. the tax rate was 37.8 percent in 

2013 compared to 38.0 percent in 2012.

Dividend increased to € 0.30 per share
earnings after taxes have been positive now for the third year in a row, 

climbing € 4.9 million to € 58.3 million in 2013 from € 55.6 million last 

year. earnings per share improved accordingly, rising from € 1.64 in 2012 

to € 1.72 in 2013. the executive Board wants shareholders to participate 

in this positive development and will therefore propose at the annual 

general meeting that a dividend of € 0.30 per share be paid for fiscal 

2013. kUka paid a dividend of € 0.20 per share in 2012. 

Consolidated inCome statement (Condensed)

in € millions 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

sales revenues 902.1 1,078.6 1,435.6 1,739.2 1,774.5

eBit -52.6 24.8 72.6 109.8 120.4

eBitda -29.5 47.0 98.7 138.5 158.6

Financial result -11.5 -22.1 -18.2 -12.8 -20.0

taxes on income -11.4 -4.1 -16.1 -34.1 -35.4

net result for the year -75.8 -8.6 29.9 55.6 58.3

Financial position
Principles and goals of financial management
kUka aktiengesellschaft is responsible for the central financial man-

agement of all kUka group companies. group financing and interest 

rate and currency risk management are controlled centrally via kUka 

aktiengesellschaft. the financing and investment needs of group com-

panies and hedges as part of interest rate and currency management 

are bundled by kUka aktiengesellschaft, which concludes the necessary 

internal and external financial transactions. kUka aktiengesellschaft 

performs these tasks on the basis of a uniform planning and report-

ing system in which risks related to credit, liquidity, interest rates and 

exchange rates are recorded. the objective of interest rate and currency 

management is to minimize the risks involved. only standard derivative 

financial instruments are used to hedge risk. the hedging transactions 

are concluded exclusively on the basis of the hedged item or expected 

transactions. kUka has issued a standard set of guidelines for all group 

companies for the purpose of managing financial risk. as in previous 

years, the guidelines were continuously reviewed and optimized during 

the fiscal year to ensure that they remained up to date.

Non-recurring items weigh on the financial result
the current financial result declined slightly from € -12.8 million in 2012 

to € -13.1 million in 2013.

in € millions 2012 2013

interest income from finance lease 7.1 6.5

remaining interest and similar income 2.5 2.3

Other interest and similar income 9.6 8.8

guarantee commissions 2.6 1.5

interest expense for the convertible bond – 4.1

interest expense for the corporate bond 18.8 17.5

transaction costs of syndicated senior 
Facilities agreement (2010) 1.4 1.3

Financing costs reclassified to operating 
results -7.8 -6.9

remaining interest and similar expenses 7.4 4.4

Current other interest and similar 
expenses 22.4 21.9

Current financial result -12.8 -13.1

expenses from the early termination of the 
old syndicated senior Facilities agreement 
(2010) – 0.4

interest expense from the repurchase  
of corporate bond shares – 6.5

Non-recurring other interest and similar 
expenses – 6.9

Financial�result -12.8 -20.0

interest income totaled € 8.8 million in the year under review versus 

€ 9.6 million in 2012, and mainly included income from finance leases 

and income from pension funds.

 

external bank guarantees were replaced with lower-cost internal group 

guarantees during the financial year thanks to the company’s improved 

credit standing. as of the reporting date, the external guarantee facili-

ties had been utilized in the amount of € 104.3 million compared to 

€ 148.9 million in 2012. guarantee commissions totaled € 1.5 million 

in the reporting year versus € 2.6 million in 2012. the interest result 

includes € 4.1 million related to the € 150.0 million convertible bond 

issued in two tranches in February and July. interest for the bond issued 

in november 2010 was recognized in the amount of € 17.5 million, 

whereas € 18.8 million was reported last year. the early redemption 

of bond shares with a nominal value of € 42.6 million in the second 

half-year helped to save money on interest. repurchasing took place 

on the open market, which resulted in one-time interest expense from 

the difference between the repurchase price and the carrying amount 

totaling € 6.5 million. the old syndicated senior Facilities agreement 

also included deferred financing items in the amount of € 1.3 million 

and non-recurring expenses of € 0.4 million from the early termination 

of the agreement. due to accounting regulations, finance charges in 

the amount of € 6.9 million (2012: € 7.8 million) had to be reclassi-
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Group financing and cash pooling
the group’s financing policy is aimed at securing sufficient liquidity 

reserves and guaranteed credit lines at all times to be able to ensure 

the operating and strategic financing requirements of the group compa-

nies and also to have sufficient reserves as a buffer against unforeseen 

events. the financing requirements of the group companies are calcu-

lated on the basis of the multi-year budget and financial projections and 

monthly rolling liquidity forecast over twelve months, each of which 

includes all companies consolidated in the group accounts. 

payments received on the basis of the operating activities of group com-

panies represent the group’s most important source of liquidity. kUka 

aktiengesellschaft cash management uses the liquidity surpluses of indi-

vidual group companies to meet the liquidity requirements of other group 

companies. this central, intragroup cash pooling optimizes the group’s 

liquidity position and has a positive impact on net interest income. 

Additional enhancements to the financing structure
kUka group took additional steps in the financial year to successfully 

optimize the financing structure. 

taking advantage of the favorable market conditions, kUka aktienge-

sellschaft issued a € 150.0 million convertible bond in two tranches in 

February and July 2013. the convertible bond carries an interest coupon 

of 2.0 percent and matures in February 2018. the placement of the first 

tranche was already oversubscribed multiple times. this shows that this 

instrument, which combines a bond and an option for kUka shares, is 

not only an effective method of financing for kUka but also an attractive 

type of investment for capital market investors. 

kUka aktiengesellschaft received a total cash injection of € 158.7 million 

as a result of the convertible bond issue, which was used in part to repur-

chase shares of the corporate bond issued in 2010 totaling € 42.6 million 

(nominal) at market rates. the original volume of the bond was € 202 

with a coupon of 8.75 percent and a term until 2017. the buyback led 

to a one-time charge of € 6.5 million in the financial result for the year 

under review. however, the nominal interest savings will be approximately 

€ 14.0 million until maturity in november 2017. additional shares of the 

corporate bond with a nominal value of € 11.0 million were acquired in 

January 2014. 

 

in yet another step, kUka terminated the existing syndicated senior  

Facilities agreement, which would have expired in march 2014, in 

exchange for a new syndicated senior Facilities agreement with a 

term until december 2018. the volume of the new syndicated loan is 

€ 160.0 million, i. e. lower than the old € 200.0 million syndicated loan, 

and consists of a € 50.0 million cash credit line that can also be used 

as guaranteed credit lines and a € 110.0 million guarantee facility. the 

reduction of the guaranteed credit line by € 40 million is more than 

offset by the expansion of the permissible framework for bilateral guar-

antee facilities with credit insurers by € 55.0 million to € 100.0 million. 

the new syndicated loan is designed to improve the credit quality of 

kUka group. in addition to obtaining better conditions and eliminating 

restrictions and reporting obligations, it was essential for kUka that the 

new syndicated loan is now unsecured and contains only the customary 

equal treatment clauses (“pari passu”) and negative pledges.

in addition to the guaranteed credit line from the syndicated loan, the 

group has additional guarantee facilities via bilateral agreements with 

various surety companies and banks for the purpose of supporting oper-

ating activities. overall, kUka has access to external guarantee facili-

ties totaling € 182.8 million as of december 31, 2013, which compares 

with the € 212.0 million the year prior. these have been utilized in the 

amount of € 104.3 million as opposed to € 148.9 million in 2012. the 

group’s improved credit rating gave kUka aktiengesellschaft’s financial 

management a strong negotiating position, which it utilized to convince 

additional customers to accept “group guaranteed credit lines”. kUka 

aktiengesellschaft acts as guarantor for these guarantees in lieu of a bank; 

they therefore do not draw down any external guaranteed credit lines for 

a fee and increase the leeway in existing external guarantee facilities.

kUka group’s financing requirements are primarily covered by the fol-

lowing available elements:

1)  the new € 160.0 million syndicated senior Facilities agreement signed 

in december 2013 with a term extending to december 2018. Cash 

advances up to a volume of € 50.0 million are possible with this agree-

ment. 

2)  the € 202.0 million corporate bond issued in november 2010 matur-

ing in 2017 (shares of this bond worth € 42.6 million (nominal) were 

bought back in the financial year). 

3)  the convertible bond with a total volume of € 150.0 million issued over 

the course of fiscal 2013 in two tranches (see “notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements” / note 25 for more detailed information). 

4)  Bilateral guarantee facility agreements with banks and surety com-

panies in the amount of € 72.8 million (as of december 31, 2013).

From the perspective of the executive Board, the measures taken ensure 

that kUka group has appropriate long-term financing and the necessary 

leeway to quickly implement important strategic decisions. 
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Cash flows from operating activities also reflected the business growth. 

trade working capital was as follows at the end of the reporting year: 

trade working Capital

in € millions 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

inventories less advance 
 payments 76.7 109.0 128.3 126.9 133.9

trade receivables and receiva-
bles from construction contracts 238.5 291.8 339.8 340.6 348.6

trade payables and liabilities 
from construction contracts 127.9 188.2 260.6 231.7 304.4

Trade�working�capital 187.3 212.6 207.5 235.8 178.1

inventories less advance payments received were higher year-over-year 

by € 7.0 million. trade receivables and receivables from construction 

contracts were approximately at the prior-year level (€ +8.0 million), 

while trade payables and liabilities from construction contracts were 

well above the previous year by € 72.7 million. the increase resulted 

among other things from the improved advance payment behavior of 

customers as part of long-term order-related production and from meas-

ures to extend supplier-side payment terms. thus trade working capital 

reduced by a total of € 57.7 million on the prior year to € 178.1 million. 

kUka group’s cash flows from operating activities rose accordingly to 

€ 221.0 million as of the balance sheet closing date from € 117.9 mil-

lion in 2012. 

Another record figure for free cash flow
Capital expenditure totaled € 74.7 million in the fiscal year, up from 

€ 42.8 million in 2012. Continued strong investments in research and 

development and higher spending on fixed assets were the main drivers. 

the carrying amount of own development work completed in 2013 and 

projects still in the capitalization phase totaled € 18.1 million compared 

to € 17.6 million the year prior. see the section titled “research and 

development” for information on the main r&d focuses.

Positive rating
in november 2010, kUka aktiengesellschaft was for the first time 

awarded a rating by ratings agencies standard&poor’s (“B”; stable 

outlook) and moody’s (“B2”; stable outlook) in connection with the 

launch of the corporate bond. the bond itself received a rating of “B-” 

from standard&poor’s and “B3” from moody’s. 

Both moody’s and standard & poor’s raised their ratings twice in 2013 

(for the first time in February and then again in July / august) in response 

to the improved financial data for kUka group. moody’s rating is now 

at “Ba3; stable outlook”; standard & poor’s was “BB-; stable outlook”. 

standard & poor’s documented its continued positive assessment of the 

company’s creditworthiness by raising its outlook in december 2013 

to “positive”. the bond rating was likewise raised and is now at “Ba3” 

and “B+”, respectively.

Consolidated Cash Flow (Condensed)

in € millions 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Cash earnings -43.7 23.4 65.9 92.4 115.3

Cash flow from operation 
activities 4.8 -24.8 36.4 117.9 221.0

Cash flow from investment 
activities -27.0 -12.5 -29.9 -40.8 -125.6

Free cash flow -22.2 -37.3 6.5 77.1 95.4

Cash flow from operating activities up significantly again
Cash earnings, consisting of profit after tax adjusted for cash-neutral 

depreciation and write-downs of property, plant and equipment and 

amortization and write-downs of intangible assets as well as other non-

cash income and expenses, again improved significantly. the positive 

value of € 92.4 million reported in 2012 was increased by 24.8 percent 

to € 115.3 million in fiscal 2013. with earnings after taxes of € 58.3 mil-

lion in 2013 at around last year’s level of € 55.6 million, this is mainly 

the result of higher amortization and write-downs of intangible assets 

(see earnings – r&d expense for more details) as well as other non-cash 

expenses, particularly changes to deferred tax recognized
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investments in property, plant and equipment totaled € 57.0 million in 

2013 (2012: € 26.1 million) and were primarily attributable to techni-

cal equipment and machinery in the amount of € 14.6 million (2012: 

€ 10.0 million), € 10.1 million to other assets / operating and office 

equipment (2012: € 9.0 million) and € 27.6 million mainly to advances 

paid and construction in progress (2012: € 4.8 million).

Broken down by division, capital expenditure was as follows in 2013: in 

the robotics division, capital expenditure totaled € 30.8 million versus 

€ 30.1 million in 2012. in addition to the capitalized development work 

described above, most of the investments were made in technical equip-

ment and machinery such as a lathe and milling machine, in engine 

and performance test stands and in equipment and machines for the 

new office and factory building in China. the systems division registered 

additions of € 15.2 million (2012: € 9.6 million), among other things, for 

a software extension, technical systems such as a paint shop and laser 

tracker, and for operating and office equipment. other capital spending 

by kUka aktiengesellschaft totaled € 28.7 million (2012: € 3.1 million) 

and consisted mainly of advance payments on construction in progress 

including the new development and technology Center that will be 

built in augsburg.

payments for the acquisition of consolidated companies and other busi-

ness units totaled € 16.6 million, including the acquisitions of UtiCa 

enterprises in the United states, which made kUka systems the market 

leader in north america, and Cma technology, a romanian company 

that gives systems access to an attractive production site.

as part of corporate liquidity management, in december 2013 kUka 

aktiengesellschaft invested € 35.0 million of freely available funds that 

remain so indefinitely with maturities of between three and twelve 

months.

due to the increase in investment volume and the payments received 

from disposals of fixed assets of € 0.7 million in 2013 (2012: € 2.1 mil-

lion), cash flows from investing activities now totaled € -125.6 million 

from € -40.8 million a year earlier.

Cash flows from investing activities together with cash flows from oper-

ating activities resulted in another new record for free cash flow of 

€ 95.4 million after € 77.1 million in 2012. 
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244.3
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201.5
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312.0

257.8

200.0*

160.0*

62.0

72.8

50.0
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6.6

6.5

+42.8

+146.5

asset-side trade working capital, which is the sum of inventories and 

trade receivables from construction contracts, declined by € 19.2 mil-

lion. Further details are provided in the information on the financial 

position. other assets, prepaid expenses and deferred charges posted 

at € 61.1 million and were thus € 34.2 million higher than the previous 

year. this increase was largely due to the investment of funds in short-

term securities (€ 35.0 million). Cash and cash equivalents totaled 

€ 441.1 million as of the balance sheet closing date; this compares 

with € 244.3 million in 2012. total current assets totaled € 1,049.4 mil-

lion at year-end, which represented an increase of € 212.4 million from 

€ 837.0 million in 2012. 

the rise in total assets of kUka group was primarily the result of higher 

cash and cash equivalents in the amount of € 1,377.1 million as of 

december 31, 2013, which were € 239.7 million or 21.1 percent higher 

than the total assets of € 1,137.4 million reported for the period ending 

december 31, 2012.

Net liquidity continues to expand significantly
the high, positive free cash flow made it possible to more than triple 

net liquidity (positive balance of cash and cash equivalents less cur-

rent and non-current financial liabilities) from € 42.8 million in 2012 

to € 146.5 million in fiscal 2013. thus, even if the group were to repay 

all of its financial liabilities in full, it would still possess cash and cash 

equivalents of € 146.5 million. the financing structure of the group is 

therefore still very robust and geared toward the long term, with the 

share of current financial liabilities in the amount of € 6.5 million making 

up only 2.2 percent of the € 294.6 million in total financial debt. the 

respective share was 3.3 percent in 2012.

Net worth
on the assets side, non-current assets rose € 27.3 million year-on-year 

to € 327.7 million from € 300.4 million in 2012, which was mainly due 

to higher capital spending; fixed assets increased by € 48.3 million as a 

result. receivables from finance leases attributed to the earlier assump-

tion of financing by ktpo declined by € 8.3 million due to scheduled 

incoming payments and exchange rate fluctuations of the Usd. income 

tax receivables were € 1.5 million lower.

with respect to deferred tax assets, the deferred taxes were used for 

loss carryforwards due to positive tax results, particularly in the german 

consolidated tax group, bringing the total amount of deferred tax assets 

much lower to € 25.6 million from € 36.3 million last year. 

net worth

in € millions 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Balance sheet total 726.2 984.7 1,078.0 1,137.4 1,377.1

equity 160.8 198.1 252.4 297.5 379.1

in % of balance sheet total 22.1 20.1 23.4 26.2 27.5

net liquidity / debt -48.5 -60.3 -32.6 42.8 146.5
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the robotics division generated average capital employed of € 155.6 mil-

lion in 2013 (2012: € 140.2 million) and thus roCe of 49.6 percent (2012: 

57.2 percent). the systems division generated average capital employed 

of € 141.5 million in 2013 (2012: € 200.5 million) and thus roCe of 

43.0 percent (2012: 23.8 percent).

notes to the financial statements  
of kUka aktiengesellschaft 

kUka aktiengesellschaft acts as the group’s management holding com-

pany with central management responsibilities such as accounting and 

controlling, financing, human resources, legal and financial communi-

cations. its financial position is determined primarily by the activities of 

its subsidiaries, as illustrated by the direct allocation of kUka roboter 

gmbh and kUka systems gmbh, the management companies of the 

robotics and systems divisions. 

kUka aktiengesellschaft prepares its annual financial statements in 

accordance with the provisions of the german Commercial Code (han-

delsgesetzbuch – hgB) and the german stock Corporation act (aktien-

gesetzbuch – aktg). 

the financial statements of kUka aktiengesellschaft are published in 

the electronic Federal gazette (Bundesanzeiger) and are also available 

on the company’s website at www.kuka.com.
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Equity up significantly again
net income of € 58.3 million (2012: € 55.6 million) and the share of 

equity from the convertible bond (2012: € 27.0 million) were main fac-

tors that increased equity. actuarial effects from pension accounting 

totaling € 5.3 million also had a positive impact on equity, and were 

mainly due to the 0.55 percentage points higher discount rate for meas-

uring german pension commitments versus the prior year. overall, 

equity rose by € 81.6 million to € 379.1 million as of december 31, 2013. 

the equity ratio, i. e. the ratio of equity to total assets, rose accordingly, 

increasing by 1.3 percent from 26.2 percent to 27.5 percent.

the rise in non-current financial liabilities mainly reflected the issue 

of the € 150.0 million convertible bond, which was partly offset by the 

€ 42.6 million repurchase of corporate bond shares at market rates. total 

financial liabilities as of the balance sheet date were € 294.6 million as 

compared to € 201.5 million on december 31, 2012. Current financial 

liabilities included the deferred interest on the bond and convertible 

bond as well as lower utilization of cash lines on the part of an inter-

national subsidiary. 

trade working capital liabilities – trade payables, advance payments 

received and liabilities from construction contracts – increased year-

over-year by € 38.5 million, primarily due to a continued improvement in 

the advance payment behavior of key accounts for long-term construc-

tion contracts. other liabilities relate primarily to personnel liabilities 

such as those for flextime, vacation entitlements and variable compen-

sation elements, as well as for contingent purchase price liabilities asso-

ciated with the two acquisitions made in 2013. total current liabilities 

amounted to € 597.3 million at the end of the year under review; the 

respective figure at the end of 2012 was € 523.4 million.

Significant reduction in working capital and capital employed 
despite the rise in business volume, working capital decreased by 

€ 64.7 million in the reporting year to € 25.8 thanks to active manage-

ment and the optimization of supplier-side payment terms. 

a key ratio at kUka group is return on capital employed (roCe). to 

calculate roCe, the capital employed at the start and at the end of 

the fiscal year is averaged. kUka group’s capital employed was slightly 

lower on average, from € 339.8 million in 2012 to € 326.2 million in 

2013. the return on capital employed was 36.9 percent in 2013 versus 

32.3 percent in 2012. 
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EQUITy AND LIABILITIES
in € millions

2012 2013

Equity

subscribed capital 88.2 88.2

Capital reserve 73.0 83.5

other retained earnings 24.4 57.5

Balance sheet profit 8.3 34.6

 193.9 263.8

Provisions   

pension provisions 11.9 11.6

provision for taxes 0.1 1.9

other provisions 19.1 21.5

 31.1 35.0

Liabilities   

Bond 202.0 309.4

liabilities due to banks 2.4 3.0

trade payables 1.2 3.2

accounts payable to affiliated companies 153.8 172.0

liabilities to provident funds 2.5 2.5

other liabilities 0.2 2.7

 362.1 492.8

� 587.1 791.6

Results of operations of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
the earnings of kUka aktiengesellschaft are determined primarily by 

the earnings of its subsidiaries and its financing activities. the result 

from ordinary activities was € 44.3 million in 2013, € 11.9 million less 

than the € 56.2 million reported in 2012.

other operating income mainly related to cost allocations of € 22.7 mil-

lion in 2013 (2012: € 16.5 million €), direct costs passed on – for exam-

ple from facility management – of € 11.4 million (2012: € 11.3 million), 

income of € 4.7 million from the rental of buildings to kUka group 

companies (2012: € 4.8 million), and currency translation gains of 

€ 2.3 million (2012: € 5.2 million). the rise in other operating expenses 

was driven by various factors including higher consulting expenses, 

especially in connection with acquisitions and changes to the financing 

structure.

inCome statement 

oF kUka aktiengesellsChaFt (hgB)

in € millions 2012 2013

other company-produced and capitalized 
assets 1.6 0.3

other operating income 43.9 41.5

personnel expense -21.2 -23.6

depreciation and amortization of tangible 
and intangible assets -3.0 -3.1

other operating expenses -34.0 -38.4

income from participations 65.3 81.0

income from other securities – 0.2

other interest and similar income 24.5 16.4

interest and similar expenses -20.9 -30.0

Income from ordinary activities 56.2 44.3

taxes on income 13.2 21.9

Net profit 69.4 66.2

profit (previous year: loss) carry-forward 
from previous year -61.1 1.5

transfer to retained earnings – -33.1

Balance�sheet�profit� 8.3 34.6

kUka aktiengesellsChaFt BalanCe sheet (hgB)

ASSETS
in € millions

2012 2013

Non-current assets

intangible assets 2.1 2.7

property, plant and equipment 15.6 40.4

Financial investments 173.6 173.6

 191.3 216.7

Current assets   

inventories 0.1 0.1

receivables from affiliated companies 220.7 184.7

other receivables and assets 11.4 8.1

securities – 35.0

 232.2 227.9

 Cash and cash equivalents 162.2 346.1

 394.4 574.0

Prepaid expenses 1.4 0.9

� 587.1 791.6
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income from participations totaled € 81.0 million and was thus signifi-

cantly higher than the € 65.3 reported in 2012. earnings contributions 

from the german companies played a large role in this development. the 

contribution amount allocated to kUka aktiengesellschaft is governed 

by existing profit and loss transfer agreements. the balance of income 

from profit transfers and expenses from loss assumptions totaled 

€ 61.4 million versus € 21.3 million in 2012. as in the previous year, 

a dividend payment in the amount of € 19.6 million by the american 

subsidiary was also included in 2013; the amount recognized in 2012 

was € 44.0 million. 

the net interest result was € -13.6 million, which was well below last 

year’s € 3.6 million. interest from the convertible bond issued in 2013 

and non-recurring items related to the repurchase of corporate bond 

shares on the open market impacted the net interest result. the larg-

est change, however, was due to the lower market interest rates and 

significantly improved refinancing costs of kUka aktiengesellschaft 

from financing costs credited or charged to subsidiaries. last year 

kUka aktiengesellschaft earned net interest income of € 21.9 million 

together with associated companies; the value this financial year was 

€ 14.4 million. 

net income for the year of kUka aktiengesellschaft amounted to 

€ 66.2 million, slightly lower than net income of € 69.4 million in 2012. 

this figure includes tax income of € 21.9 million (2012: € 13.2 million), 

which resulted primarily from tax allocations from consolidated tax 

group companies. after deducting the dividend for 2012 and offsetting 

the remaining amount, net retained earnings totaled € 67.7 million.

Financial position of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
one of kUka aktiengesellschaft’s most important tasks is to provide 

funds and guarantees for its subsidiaries’ current operations. in Febru-

ary and July 2013, kUka aktiengesellschaft obtained external financing 

by placing a € 150.0 million convertible bond on the capital market.

€ 42.6 million worth of shares in the € 202.0 million corporate bond 

issued in november 2010 were bought back on the capital market in 

the financial year. Both the convertible bond and the corporate bond 

are shown in the balance sheet line item “Bonds”. 

in addition, kUka aktiengesellschaft entered into a new syndicated 

senior Facilities agreement with a consortium of banks in december 

2013, which superseded the old agreement in effect since november 

2010. along with the provision of cash credit facilities, the agreement 

provides for guaranteed credit lines (guarantee facilities), which are 

particularly important for business in the systems segment. For more 

details, see “kUka group financial position” starting on page 163. 

kUka aktiengesellschaft’s financing role is reflected in its receivables 

from and liabilities to affiliated companies, which are predominantly 

the result of cash pooling accounts with subsidiaries and loans provided. 

the balance of these receivables and liabilities was net receivables of 

€ 12.7 million (2012: € 66.9 million ). the change in the subsidiaries’ 

liquidity requirements was mainly the result of profit transfers dur-

ing the fiscal year. the resulting financing was reduced to well below 

prior-year level thanks to active working capital management with 

regard to the subsidiaries involved in cash pooling. all in all, cash and 

cash equivalents of kUka aktiengesellschaft more than doubled from 

€ 162.2 million to € 346.1 million.

the financial liabilities of kUka aktiengesellschaft amounted to 

€ 312.4 million, which compares with € 204.4 million in 2012.

Net assets of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
the net assets of kUka aktiengesellschaft are impacted by the manage-

ment of its equity investments as well as the way in which it executes 

its management function for the companies in kUka group. For informa-

tion on receivables from and liabilities to affiliated companies, please 

refer to the information on kUka aktiengesellschaft’s financial position.

Capital expenditure for intangible and tangible fixed assets in the 

amount of € 28.6 million (2012: € 3.7 million) was offset by deprecia-

tion, amortization and write-downs amounting to € 3.1 million (2012: 

€ 3.0 million). major investments in the financial year included the con-

struction of the new daycare center and the development and technology 

Center in augsburg, which is currently under construction. the daycare 

center opened in november; the development and technology Center 

is expected to be completed in 2015. kUka aktiengesellschaft’s direct 

equity investments in its subsidiaries are reported under financial assets. 

short-term securities relate to freely available funds that remain so 

indefinitely invested in december 2013 as part of corporate liquidity 

management.

earnings for the fiscal year are reflected in the changes in equity as well 

as the premium from the issue of the second tranche of the convertible 

bond in June 2013 in the amount of € 10.5 million. dividend payments 

totaling € 6.8 million in fiscal 2012 had the effect of reducing equity. 

the equity ratio of kUka aktiengesellschaft amounted to 33.3 percent as 

of december 31, 2013, which was slightly higher than the 33.0 percent 

as of december 31, 2012.

the net impact of these changes on the total assets of kUka aktiengesell-

schaft was an increase of € 204.5 million year-on-year to € 791.6 million. 
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the demographic shift and the changing working and living environ-

ment have an impact on employee performance; this calls for forward-

looking solutions that are sustainable and help to maintain health. work 

processes were further revised in 2013 in response to this. measures 

included establishing age-appropriate workstations with the aim of 

reducing the physical demands placed on employees in production. an 

anonymous employee survey was used to develop seven optimization 

approaches to workplace design, which were then analyzed to deter-

mine their efficacy and feasibility. one of the measures implemented 

was the introduction of ergonomic workstations with robot lifting tables 

that enable production staff to adjust their workstation to their indi-

vidual needs with less effort and less strain on the back so that they 

can work in an upright position.

key soCial FigUres

2012 2013

number of employees (dec. 31) 7,264 7,990

of which apprentices 230 236

average length of service (years) 8.8 8.5

sick leave ratio in % 2.7 2.8

Fluctuation in % 9.8 10.1

accidents per 1,000 employees (germany) 10.8 10.3

the sick leave ratio of 2.8 percent is very low compared to other compa-

nies in the industry. at 8.5 years, the average length of service at kUka 

is relatively stable and on par with other companies. this figure has 

remained at a consistently high level in recent years. 

at 10.1 percent, staff turnover (fluctuation) appears to be relatively high 

for industry standards. the reason for this high rate is that it includes 

not only employees who leave the company but also those who move 

internally between kUka group companies. 

even though the workload at kUka is high in comparison with other 

companies in the industry, the number of accidents reported is very 

low. 10.3 accidents per 1,000 employees were reported in 2013, which 

was even less than the 10.8 / 1,000 in 2012. kUka will continue to take 

measures to increase work safety and reduce this number even further.

see “employees” on page 103 for details on figures related to the num-

ber of employees and trainees, and years of service.

non-financial key performance indicators

Sustainability
Sustainability – always improving 
sustainability management at kUka is a continuous improvement pro-

cess. this means the company must grow both economically and in 

social and ecological terms to continue to be successful on a global 

scale. kUka has a social responsibility to its employees, customers, 

investors and the general public. 

An attractive working environment is becoming increasingly 
important
as an innovative, global automation company, kUka relies on employ-

ees who are not only highly qualified but also very dedicated. they are 

the basis for the company’s success. to achieve superior results on a 

daily basis, employees need to have a good working environment in 

which they feel comfortable. a key factor here is how well their career 

balances with their personal life. kUka has been awarded the “Career 

and Family audit” (“berufundfamilie”) certificate since 2010 as proof 

that it is a “family-conscious” company. the company was re-audited 

in 2013 and certified as part of an official awards ceremony in Berlin. 

this certification reflects kUka’s commitment to optimizing its family-

conscious personnel policy. this includes reconciling corporate goals 

and the interests of employees. 

kUka’s staff policy considers the different stages of life of its employees 

to support them in achieving a better work-life balance. the company 

implemented a number of measures over the course of the financial 

year to promote this effort. For example, kUka offers employees future-

oriented working time models with flexible working hours, telework-

ing and home office options for the augsburg staff. the opening of 

kUka’s on-site daycare center “orange Care” and daycare programs in 

the school breaks give parents more options for childcare. But that’s 

not all. kUka also assists employees who are responsible for caring for 

family members. 

Company health management was also promoted during the reporting 

period to further improve the working environment. this need-based 

program supports employees in living healthier by offering a number 

of free sports and exercise courses as well as various seminars on the 

topic of care, nutrition and burn-out prevention to name just a few. 

employees can also take advantage of health examinations such as 

colorectal cancer and skin screenings.
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Social responsibility at KUKA and beyond
taking social responsibility is important to both kUka and its employees. 

in some cases they even take their own initiatives, for example with 

orange Care e.v. – an association established by kUka employees with 

the aim of supporting people in need that is especially active in assisting 

youth and families. For example, the association supports prisma e. v. 

Familien- und Jugendhilfe’s “füreinanderda” (“there for each other”) 

project that brings together volunteers and single mothers to support 

them in their everyday lives. in addition, orange Care began sponsor-

ing st. gregor kinder-, Jugend- und Familienhilfe in 2013, assisting the 

non-profit organization in its supervised curative education and thera-

peutic living community project for youth and young adults. young 

people between the ages of 14 and 16 who have trouble dealing with 

the challenges of puberty and the demands placed on them by today’s 

complex society live together in this community on a temporary or long-

term basis. the “phoenix” community responds to the stresses young 

adults face by offering them intensive educational support and a highly 

structured daily routine with mandatory curative educational courses on 

addiction and violence prevention paired with exploratory educational 

activities. orange Care has allocated a fixed amount to help finance 

these projects, which group supervisors can access for various activities. 

For example, hiking shoes and bicycles were purchased for the group. 

But orange Care efforts don’t stop at the home base. in akansha, india, 

for example, the association made a donation to a school near the local 

kUka branch to build a library and a small science lab. 

Orange care daycare center – by KUKA employees for parents
kUka’s on-site orange Care daycare center opened in november 2013. it 

was established to help parents better balance their career and personal 

lives. the daycare center is open from 7 am to 6 pm for children ages six 

months to three years and caters not only to kUka employees, but also to 

augsburg parents who need support in balancing work and family commit-

ments, which was an important criterion for the association.

Daycare center and parking garage incorporate sustainable 
building concepts
investments were made in new buildings at the kUka site in augsburg 

over the course of 2013. Construction projects included the comple-

tion of the daycare center, a new parking garage and work on the new 

development and technology Center. 

kUka takes special care in all of its construction projects to not only 

meet but exceed the legal requirements of the current standards 

outlined in the eeg & enev (renewable energy act and energy saving 

ordinance) by up to 30 percent. the outer insulation of the planned 

new building and the insulation of windows and doors will be up to 

30 percent more efficient than stipulated by the statutory requirements. 

this is just another example of kUka’s commitment to energy-efficient 

building concepts. the choice of environmentally-friendly materials will 

make it possible to remove and recycle these building components later.

kUka already implements innovative environmental concepts for all 

new construction, expansion and modernization projects at the site in 

augsburg. surface water from the covered areas runs off directly in a 

groundwater neutral manner via culverts (drainage system) and is not 

diverted into the sewer system.

 

to reduce energy consumption and thus Co2 emissions, kUka uses the 

most eco-friendly energy supply solutions available. in this spirit, the 

new building is set to be hooked up to augsburg’s district heating net-

work. existing buildings will gradually be retrofitted for district heating 

as well; connecting the kUka areal not only represents a sustainable 

alternative to fossil fuels but is also a measure that will expand the 

areas in which district heating will be available. 

Promoting excellence in technology and sports 
kUka promotes top performance in technology and sports. this raises 

brand awareness for kUka and is also a way to take social responsibil-

ity. here, kUka concentrates on local projects at its various sites. For 

instance, kUka has supported the Bundesliga soccer team FC augsburg 

and the first division hockey team augsburger panthers for years. the 

company has also sponsored university teams near the kUka sites in 

augsburg and zwickau for Formula student – a worldwide racing series 

for electric racing cars.

Research partnerships to promote sustainability 
kUka is a partner in eU-funded projects that promote research activities 

in the field of sustainable, innovative technologies:

Areus, an eu-funded project
the eU-funded project “areUs – automation and robotics for eUropean 

sustainable manufacturing” was launched in september 2013, with 

participants from industrial enterprises, universities and institutes from 

all over europe such as daimler ag, Chalmers University of technol-

ogy, danfoss a / s, danmarks tekniske Universitet, delfoi oy, engrotec 

Consulting gmbh, rigas tehniska Universitate, sir spa och Università 

degli studi di modena e reggio emilia and, of course, kUka. all research 

work in this project is based on advanced solutions with robotic systems 

under the theme “Factory of the Future”. 
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KUKA partners with MAI Carbon
kUka is part of mai Carbon, a cluster in the munich-augsburg-ingolstadt 

triangle that is directing its efforts toward developing carbon fiber rein-

forced polymer (CFrp) technology for a variety of sectors in germany by 

the year 2020. one of the focus topics here is the representation of an 

integrated process chain and precise machining with industrial robots. 

Savings through energy consumption forecast simulation 
new simulation modules help to improve the energy efficiency of robot 

applications and even entire plants and systems as early as the planning 

stage. the expected energy consumption is calculated and displayed 

while a robot “travels” virtually on the offline programmed path. a 

change in the position of the robot or paths, for example, can be used 

to determine the desired, energy-efficient path for the customer with-

out any time loss and help create additional energy savings of around 

15 percent. the new kr qUanteC generation, kUka’s “green” robot, 

is already 35 percent more efficient than previous models. kUka was 

able to achieve this goal by reducing the robot’s weight, implementing 

pioneering control technology, redefining stand-by modes and integrat-

ing an intelligent drive system. the additional savings potential afforded 

by energy path optimization during the simulation makes it possible to 

cut energy costs in half.

energy consumption improvements can also be made when planning 

entire production systems. a new tool enables estimations to be made 

on the amount of energy required by production systems at an early 

stage in the planning process to quickly develop more energy-efficient 

alternative concepts. the software tool is based on reference measure-

ments of systems that have already been implemented. it shows the 

anticipated power consumption for various components in the quantity 

breakdown and suggests components that are more energy efficient 

where feasible. this facilitates collaboration with customers as early as 

the proposal phase to streamline the production system and its layout 

to achieve optimum energy efficiency. measurements are made to the 

system to provide a comparison between estimated and actual energy 

consumption. this information ensures that the content of the database 

is continually enhanced.

the objective is to develop innovative, intelligent and technological 

solutions that are also energy efficient and create a technology platform 

to optimize energy efficiency in car body manufacturing. another focus 

is to develop and test technologies for regenerative braking systems. the 

project also aims to validate renewable energies in industrial production 

and test these in real production scenarios. 

eurobotics AisbL
eurobotics aisBl (association internationale sans But lucratif), a non-

profit european organization, entered into a public-private partnership 

(ppp) with the european Commission for “robotics in europe”, whose 

research and innovation program will receive over € 700 million in 

funding over the next seven years and includes sustainability targets 

outlined in a common roadmap. the development of sustainable indus-

trial production methods is one of the objectives. see the section on 

“research and development” starting on page 84 for more information.

effrA
kUka is also involved in a partnership with the eFFra (european Fac-

tories of the Future research association). members make important 

contributions that influence the development of sustainable produc-

tion and manufacturing processes, for example. kUka’s role here is to 

advance key topics in robot-based automation.

KUKA showcases multifunctional cell at augsburg innovation park 
with reference to sustainability, lightweight construction is a key topic 

in industrial manufacturing. within the scope of a project at the augs-

burg innovation park, experts from industry and the scientific com-

munity work together on the industrialization of carbon reinforced 

components and on taking human-robot interaction to the next level.

the Center for lightweight production technology (dlr zlp) opened in 

may 2013. in collaboration with the german aerospace Center (dlr), 

kUka has been involved for years in the research and development 

of innovative processes and automation solutions. industrial scale 

production processes with lightweight materials are developed at the 

new location for aerospace applications. kUka and the dlr installed a 

multifunctional cell (mFC) together that is 32.5 m long and 16 m wide. 

the frame is made from a steel construction that weighs several tonnes. 

due to its size and unique technology, the cell forms the heart of the 

center. it is equipped with qUanteC generation kUka robots in order 

to conduct industrial scale research.
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recycling and retooling
the recycling concept for kUka robots comprises a number of different 

aspects including proper disposal and sustainable utilization. kUka also 

focuses on recyclable materials as early as the parts selection phase.

kUka offers customers refurbishing services for used robots, which can 

then be returned to customers for productive use (retooling). ideas for 

replacing or optimizing components or giving robots a new coat of paint 

are discussed with the customer on a case-by-case basis. 

kUka offers its customers a return program for robots that are no longer 

in use. the used robots are refurbished or retooled to meet new require-

ments. then they are available again for purchase as used robots. kUka 

disassembles and professionally disposes of robots that can no longer 

be refurbished. all of kUka’s recycling partners must undergo a strict 

confirmation process. 

power, gas and water consumption reduced
kUka significantly reduced absolute consumption of power, gas and 

water compared to the previous year. power consumption dropped by 

4.4 percent, while gas consumption fell by 2.5 percent. these reduc-

tions are chiefly attributable to energy saving measures that were intro-

duced including new heating pump installations and more streamlined 

operating and work times. kUka also tore down a factory building in 

mid-2013. the associated savings resulted in a drop in energy demand. 

energy-saving lighting, in particular in outdoor areas and factory build-

ings, helped further reduce power consumption. water consumption is 

relatively low overall and plays a less important role here, because water 

is only available for normal daily use, with production only requiring a 

fraction of all of the water consumed.

Compared to the decline in power, gas and water use, Co2 emissions 

increased slightly in 2013. the reason for this is the type of power pro-

duction in use. when power is generated using alternative energies, 

Co2 emissions are lower than when lignite and hard coal are used, for 

example. the energy used was primarily obtained from non-renewable 

energy sources provided by the power supplier.

key eCology FigUres

2012 2013

Number of locations worldwide 37 37

with iso 9001 certification 14 20

of which iso 14001 certified 10 10

Consumption (Augsburg only)

electric power (mwh) 13,587 12,984

gas (mwh) 15,272 14,885

water (m3) 21,822 20,619

Co2 ghg emissions (t) 11,593.50 11,690.20

KuKA participates in carbon disclosure project
kUka aktiengesellschaft has been part of the Carbon disclosure project 

since 2008. this organization publishes information on the life-cycle 

assessments of listed companies and on business prospects for sustain-

able products once a year. the Carbon disclosure project is supported by 

a number of investor groups (www.cdproject.net). moreover, kUka also 

participated in various ratings on the subject of sustainability, one nota-

ble example being that conducted by the vigeo agency. interested par-

ties can request a copy of the results by sending an email to contact@

vigeo-belgium.com. information is available on corporate governance, 

human resources and the environment.

Employees
KUKA Group employees
kUka group human resources has three major areas of emphasis: 

strategy, organization and operating activities. in the past fiscal year 

operating business units had to create sufficient capacity in order to 

handle the business volume and fortify innovation strength. staff 

increases were made primarily in the strategic target markets, such as 

in the growth regions of asia and the americas. employees were also 

added in the research and development department of the robotics 

division. kUka also invested in enhancing its image as an employer 

and launched a major publicity campaign at hannover messe. moreo-

ver, kUka further expanded its family-friendly human resources policy. 

Furthermore, the company’s global structure required organizational 

changes in the personnel area. divisions that were previously part of 

business operations were centralized under the group’s holding com-

pany, kUka aktiengesellschaft. these include the training division and 

personnel development. 
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Successful efforts to promote vocational training
in the face of demographic developments and the many firms com-

peting for qualified applicants worldwide, kUka was able to further 

enhance its appeal to potential employees and hired more entry-level 

candidates in the reporting year than in the same period the preced-

ing year. For example, at the end of december 2013 the company 

employed 236 apprentices at its german sites in augsburg, Bremen 

and schwarzenberg / erzgebirge – six more than in the previous year 

(2012: 230).

previously, the training division was decentralized – i. e. organized and 

managed in the individual business divisions. in fiscal 2013 training 

was centralized in the holding, kUka aktiengesellschaft. this enables 

the company to train more employees throughout the group, which in 

turn offers employees more opportunities for growth and development. 

equally importantly, it teaches the company’s youngest staff members 

to think and act globally on an enterprise-wide scale.

Wide range of training and continuing education options
kUka offers a variety of training programs ranging from technical to 

commercial apprenticeships:

• industrial mechanic and machinist

• mechatronics and electronics technician for automation systems

• industrial accountant / clerk

• Computer specialist

the share of female apprentices in technical jobs has remained constant 

for the past few years at 20 percent. this percentage is expected to 

increase, in particular thanks to the company’s participation in the 

annual girls’ day program, introductory apprenticeships for girls and 

cooperative partnerships with girls’ schools.

in addition, graduating seniors from local high schools can take part 

in a dual studies program hosted by one of a number of cooperative 

education institutes or the augsburg University of applied sciences with 

the goal of obtaining a Bachelor of engineering (Ba). in addition to the 

dual-system degree program in mechatronics and electronics, kUka also 

offers a dual studies program for majors in mechanical engineering, 

computer science and business information technology.

during the reporting year the company also expanded its contacts with 

schools in the region. now students at all forms of german secondary 

schools can learn more about work life at kUka in a week-long intro-

ductory apprenticeship. around 130 students took advantage of this 

opportunity at the company’s augsburg site in 2013. in addition, school 

classes were able to learn more about the company’s training center 

as part of company tours. 

Targeted staff increases
kUka group launched a concerted effort to hire new personnel in order 

to achieve its strategic business objectives. as a result, most of the 

group’s new hires were in the United states and China. in germany 

more specialists were added in research and development. the com-

pany’s staff increased from a total of 7,264 at the end of 2012 to 7,990 

at the end of 2013. this corresponds to an increase of 10.0 percent, 

or 726 employees. most new members of staff were added at kUka 

systems. the number of employees rose year-over-year from 3,902 to 

4,362, or 11.8 percent at this division. reasons for this included the 

acquisitions of UtiCa enterprises and Cma technology with a total of 

346 employees. the robotics workforce grew from 3,180 to 3,416, or 

7.4 percent. research and development, sales, and service saw the great-

est expansion along with China following the opening of a new plant. 

Stable age structure 
during the reporting year the age structure remained stable with an 

average employee age of 41 – the same as in the 2012. the number of 

employees celebrating company anniversaries also remained the same. 

last year 41 employees were honored for 25 years of service, while six 

were honored for 40 years of service. 
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the kUka academy also offers employees a range of training and con-

tinuing education courses. among others, these include computer 

application, sales, purchasing, business administration, tax and legal 

seminars along with project and quality management training courses. 

But the company’s “soft skills” seminars focusing on leadership, social 

skills or health were also quite popular. in 2013, 1,102 employees took 

part in a total of 121 seminars at the augsburg site. of these, 318 

improved their skills in foreign languages such as english and spanish. 

Personnel development creates global perspectives
kUka is working on an enterprise-wide personnel development pro-

cess to help the company compete for qualified applicants worldwide. 

the aim is to use an employee qualification history to develop a per-

sonalized qualification analysis. this will allow the company to offer 

employees customized personnel development measures to enhance 

their individual career planning efforts. kUka will benefit not only from 

improved internal organizational management but also from targeted 

succession planning efforts. another area of emphasis for personnel 

development lies in implementing an expert career path program fea-

turing personalized career planning in research and development. the 

company launched a pilot project in this area during the reporting year. 

plans are underway to roll out the enterprise-wide personnel develop-

ment project in the coming year. 

Unified leadership model
in light of kUka group’s international orientation, the company launched 

a project to help develop a unified, enterprise-wide leadership model 

during the reporting year. it will serve as a basis for creating a unified 

leadership culture in an intercultural context. the actions planned for 

the leadership model are scheduled to begin in 2014.

Enhanced employer brand
during the reporting year, kUka worked on a recruiting strategy to 

hire qualified employees. part of this strategy involved enhancing the 

company’s image as an employer brand. as part of a comprehensive 

“employer Branding Campaign” the company developed targeted ads, 

image designs and trade show presentations. the campaign was rolled 

out at hannover messe in april 2013. around 500 contacts were estab-

lished with prospects for internships, dissertations, entry-level positions 

and permanent positions at this trade show alone. tours were arranged 

for college and high school students and an info booth was set up to 

answer visitors’ questions. this also marked the first ever professors’ 

day at hannover messe. here, kUka discussed collaboration possibilities 

in the field of research and development with distinguished university 

professors. the company also revamped its career pages on the web 

and posted new job ads in online and print media within the scope of 

the employer Branding Campaign.

Cooperation partnerships with renowned universities  
from around the world
kUka has partnerships with renowned universities from around the 

world, including tongji University in shanghai, tU munich and the 

universities of applied sciences in augsburg and kempten. during the 

reporting year, kUka participated in 12 university contact fairs and was 

the principal sponsor of the “pyramid” fair in augsburg. “pyramid” is 

designed to establish contacts between businesses and people enter-

ing the workforce. kUka also took part in academica’s “Career day” in 

augsburg and sponsored the “Best thesis award” at tU munich.

Titles and awards
the appeal of the company’s working environment is also reflected in 

external reviews. kUka was ranked 43rd in the engineering edition of the 

2013 trendence graduate Barometer and 90th as a newcomer in the it 

edition, making it one of the top 100 companies to work for. in a survey 

conducted by Universum, the company ranked 54th among the 130 com-

panies surveyed, moving up four places from 58th the previous year. in 

addition, kUka supported the “Fair Company” initiative in 2013, which 

promotes fair internships and real opportunities for college graduates. 

this means, for example, that kUka primarily offers internships geared 

toward providing career orientation and does not propose internships as 

alternatives to graduates seeking permanent employment. 

Employee share program 
kUka employees identify with the company’s success. their interest 

in the employee share program is proof of this. 212 employees partici-

pated in the program during the reporting year. 48,195 shares were 

transferred to employees.

eVeNTs AfTer THe bALANCe sHeeT DATe

in an ad hoc release on december 13, 2013, kUka issued a declaration 

of intent outlining its tentative plans to invest in the reis group. that 

same month the parties agreed that kUka would take a 51 percent 

share in reis group holding gmbh & Co. kg with profit-sharing rights 

starting on January 1, 2014 and would later have the option of increas-

ing its share in the company to 100 percent. the agreement reached 

in december 2013 was subject to anti-trust laws and fulfillment of the 

condition precedent regarding the repayment of the reis group’s financing  

obligations. Both conditions were met in January 2014, meaning that 

reis group will be fully integrated in kUka group’s consolidated financial 

statements in 2014. 

Beyond this, there were no other reportable events from the beginning 

of the new fiscal year to the date of this management report that had 

an impact on the financial position and performance of the company.
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the managers of the divisions and subsidiaries are directly responsible 

for the early identification, control and communication of risks. risk 

managers in the central and decentralized business units ensure that 

the reporting process is uniform, with clearly defined reporting channels 

and reporting thresholds that are in line with the size of the company. 

internal ad hoc announcements are mandatory whenever risks exceed 

the group’s defined reporting thresholds. the standard risk manage-

ment procedures applied throughout the group are efficient and effec-

tive. the head of risk management coordinates the risk management 

systems. he compiles, communicates and monitors the individual risks 

identified and determines the group’s risk exposure. the head of risk 

management resides within kUka aktiengesellschaft’s group controlling 

department, which reports directly to kUka aktiengesellschaft’s CFo. 

this ensures that risk management is an integral component of the 

kUka group’s overall planning, control, and reporting process.

 

the group’s risk management system enables the executive Board 

to identify material risks at an early stage, initiate appropriate steps 

to counter such risk, and monitor implementation of the steps. the 

internal audit department regularly monitors whether kUka group’s 

employees adhere to the risk management guidelines and whether 

existing procedures and tools are effective. it also audits those respon-

sible for the risks if this is relevant. the internal audit department also 

regularly audits the risk management process to ensure efficiency and 

continuous improvement. Furthermore, external auditors check that the 

early risk identification system is suitable for early identification of risks 

that could threaten the existence of the company as a going concern. 

the group’s risk exposure, based upon evaluating operating risks accord-

ing to the aforementioned procedures, is described below. the report 

includes the total aggregated maximum risk (worst case) and expected 

risk value, which is calculated on the basis of the various weighted 

scenarios and their respective likelihood of occurrence. opportunities 

are evaluated by the individual divisions and are not further aggregated. 

 

 

fOreCAsT, OppOrTuNiTies AND  
risK repOrT

opportunities and risk report

General principles
kUka group is a global enterprise with international operations. any 

entrepreneurial activity provides new business opportunities, but also 

involves many risks, especially technical ones. kUka aktiengesellschaft’s 

executive Board aims to systematically and sustainably improve the 

value of the company for all stakeholders and shareholders by seizing 

potential opportunities and minimizing said risks.

Risk management
to achieve this objective, the executive Board has implemented a com-

prehensive corporate risk management system to systematically and 

consistently identify, evaluate, manage, monitor and report the internal 

and external risks to which its divisions and subsidiaries are exposed. 

group management regularly assesses the likelihood that identified 

risks will occur and their potential impact on expected profits. risks are 

categorized according to worst, medium and best case scenarios, includ-

ing the expected impact of the occurrence of an event. accruals and 

write-downs associated with these risks are recognized in the financial 

statements in accordance with applicable accounting principles. the 

monthly risk report includes the top ten risks for the divisions and the 

holding company kUka aktiengesellschaft, as well as an overview of 

the group’s risk exposure. the top ten risks are a fixed part of monthly 

reporting. the risk report is also reviewed during executive and supervi-

sory Board meetings, especially by the audit Committee. the identified 

risks are presented and explained in more detail to the executive Board 

each quarter by the risk management Committee. the committee also 

determines whether any measures already implemented to minimize 

risk are adequate or whether further steps need to be initiated. these 

plenums also assess the plausibility of the reported risks and determine 

how to avoid similar risks in future.
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groUp risk exposUre 

in € millions worst case expected risk value

legal risks 16.0 4.7

economic risks 11.8 1.2

Total�for�the�Group 27.8 5.9

legal and economic risks occur primarily as a result of the activities 

of the robotics and systems divisions (from page 108). Further details 

regarding this risk exposure are outlined in the following sections under 

the individual risk categories. we also evaluate the potential worst-case 

damage that could be caused by the individual risks and the likelihood 

that they will occur, categorized as follows:

maximum loss likelihood of 
 occurrence

low to € 5 million to 10%

medium € 5 to 10 million 10 to 25%

high € 10 to 20 million 25 to 40%

very high over € 20 million over 40%

please refer to the notes for details regarding the precautionary balance 

sheet measures for the identified risks.

kUka group’s opportunities and risk-related controlling process ensures 

that the company’s managers take both opportunities and risks into 

consideration. Further details regarding associated opportunities are 

provided in the description of the various risk categories. the opportuni-

ties and risks managed at the divisional level are primarily performance-

risk management organization

Risk MAnAgeMent  
CoMMitteespecifies standardized procedures 

ensures  
efficiency and effectiveness 

Coordination 
plausibility 
monitoring 

reporting 

identification evaluation 
management 

monitoring of individual risks 

CentRAl Risk  
MAnAgeMent

Risk MAnAgeMent  
in the divisions

Risk MAnAgeMent At  
the subsidiARies

internal and external auditors check the risk management system and the risk early detection system

exeCutive boARd

supeRvisoRy boARd
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standard general contracts are used whenever possible to cap legal 

risks. the group’s legal department supports the operating companies 

to help limit risks associated with in-house contracts, warranty obliga-

tions and guarantees, as well as country-specific risks such as the lack of 

patent and brand protection in asia. kUka has developed an independ-

ent strategy to safeguard its intellectual property, which is primarily 

secured by patents and trademark rights.

in addition, group-wide directors’ and officers’ (d&o) liability insur-

ance policies are in place that cover the managing bodies (executive 

Board and managing directors) and supervisory bodies (supervisory 

Board, administrative and advisory boards) of the german and foreign 

group subsidiaries. existing insurance policies are reviewed annually in 

order to weigh the relationship between the insurance protection and 

deductible amount versus the risk premium.

Performance risks and opportunities in the divisions
kUka is exposed to the cyclic investment behavior of its customers in the 

various market subsectors. a major portion of the systems and robotics 

divisions’ business volume is in the automotive sector, where oligo-

political structures and constant price pressure are ongoing concerns. 

Fluctuations in the industry’s capital spending plans are also consid-

ered in the respective strategic and operative plans by analyzing public 

announcements and disclosures. the company continuously strives to 

be as flexible as possible with its own capacities and cost structure to 

address the cyclic nature of the business. 

kUka benefited from high investment activities in both the automotive 

industry and in the general machinery and plant engineering sector 

throughout 2013. additional opportunities arose because kUka group’s 

key automotive customers enjoy an excellent competitive position in 

their markets. in comparison to its own competitors, kUka group sees 

business growth opportunities due to its customer portfolio, particularly 

with respect to the growth of its customers’ market shares. Further 

opportunities arise due to the general trend toward greater automation 

in non-industrial sectors, such as the long-term prospects associated 

with assisting an aging society.

kUka works with suppliers that focus on quality, innovation strength, 

continuous improvement, and reliability so that it can supply its own 

customers with products of the highest possible quality. generally, kUka 

sources product components from several suppliers in order to minimize 

the risk of sharp price rises for key raw materials, but in a few cases, 

due to lack of alternate sources, is dependent on single suppliers that 

dominate their markets.

related. Cross-segment opportunities and risks such as financing, per-

sonnel and it are analyzed and managed at the group level, not by the 

individual operating divisions, which is why said risks are only addressed 

from the group perspective in the opportunities and risk report. 

in addition to the risk management system, kUka group has an internal 

controlling system (see page 116, iks-system) above and beyond the 

risk management system, which it uses to continuously monitor the 

appropriateness of the corporation’s business and accounting processes 

and identify potential improvements.

Strategic risks and opportunities
kUka’s business divisions aim to be among the technology and market 

leaders in their target markets. the key to achieving this is to consist-

ently enhance their core technologies on the basis of coordinated inno-

vation programs. one important task is to identify opportunities and 

risks associated with technical innovations early and to evaluate the 

innovations’ manufacturability. the company mitigates the impact of 

faulty market assessments by conducting regular market and competi-

tor analyses, some of which are decentralized. the risk of developing 

non-marketable products and systems is reduced through application-

oriented development, partnerships with systems integrators, and alli-

ances and cooperative research projects with, for example, the german 

aerospace Center (dlr) in wessling near munich, the rwth technical 

college in aachen, and several institutes of the Fraunhofer society. 

strategic risks and opportunities are not quantified.

Legal risks
since kUka conducts business around the world, it is obliged to com-

ply with many international and country-specific laws and regulations 

issued by, for example, tax authorities. the company employs specialists 

familiar with the respective countries’ laws on a case-by-case basis. 

opportunities and risks arise as a result of changes to legal frameworks. 

For example, tax audits discovering non-compliance issues could nega-

tively impact the group in the form of payment of interest charges, 

penalties and back taxes. at the present time, there are no foresee-

able tax or legal issues that could have a significant negative impact 

on kUka group. appropriate provisions have been recognized for tax 

risks based on experience. For further details please see page 146 and 

following of the notes.
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KUKA Systems
this division’s sales and profits are subject to general business risks due 

to the length of time it takes to process project orders, the revisions to 

the specifications that are often necessary while already processing the 

orders, the infrequency of the orders received and the price and competi-

tive pressures. other risks associated with these projects include inaccu-

rate prediction of the actual costs as well as penalties for late deliveries. 

the division thus uses appropriate risk checklists for individual orders in 

order to assess the associated legal, economic and technical risks prior 

to preparing a quotation or accepting a contract. one of the compo-

nents of project execution is to monitor and track insolvency risks and 

mitigate them using a strict project and receivables management pro-

cess. other risks are continuously monitored and if necessary accounted 

for by way of accruals or write-downs. opportunities associated with the 

project business arise mainly when parts can be purchased at a lower 

cost than originally estimated, and by invoicing the customer for any 

change orders received over the course of the project.

major automakers throughout the world are currently feverishly expand-

ing their global manufacturing capacities. kUka increasingly works 

jointly with internal partners, whereby several of the division’s regional 

subsidiaries collaborate on a project, especially in south america and 

asia. in these situations, risks involve information exchange, the value-

added process, and the it-based master project management system. 

there are also organizational risks associated with extraordinarily rapid 

and strong growth in business volume, particularly in emerging mar-

kets. kUka mitigates these risks by harmonizing its global it systems and 

deploying experienced internal and contract employees when establishing 

and expanding the local organizations. 

the increasing variety of models offered by the automotive industry has 

a positive impact on the potential market volume, since this generates 

increasing demand for flexible manufacturing systems, which in turn 

spurs demand for new or revamped assembly lines. this creates new 

business opportunities for systems integrators and subsuppliers. scarce 

resources are driving demand for smaller and more fuel-efficient vehi-

cles that will use alternative energy sources. this means automakers, 

especially american manufacturers, will soon have to invest in new 

production lines or upgrade their existing assembly lines.

pay-on-production contracts such as ktpo’s (kUka toledo productions 

operations) offer additional opportunities, but also risks. the Jeep 

wrangler brand continues to promise above-average growth prospects 

compared with other american car models. kUka participated in this 

growth again in 2013. here risks involve greater dependence on the 

volumes produced for the global car market.

KUKA Robotics
demands for continuous product innovation from international custom-

ers and unrelenting cost consciousness are the key challenges for this 

division’s product portfolio; especially when it comes to the automotive 

industry and its sub-suppliers. the result is permanent price pressure 

and potentially longer life cycles for the robotic applications, combined 

with demands for ever-improving quality and longer warranties. 

kUka robotics responds to such trends by continually developing new 

products and applications that offer customers in existing markets 

quantifiable financial benefits driven by quick paybacks. launching 

new products goes hand-in-hand with product performance risks and 

quality guarantees, which could generate additional costs if rework is 

required. kUka employs a comprehensive quality management system 

that includes extensive validation and test processes to manage such 

risks or avoid them altogether.

kUka sees an opportunity to continuously expand its customer base 

into general industry. one of the corporation’s key strategic thrusts is 

to penetrate new, non-automotive markets. the aim is to penetrate 

the health care sector and other consumer related markets in which 

human-machine collaboration will in future be essential. systems used 

for human-machine collaboration can operate without protective bar-

riers or similar safety measures. one of the division’s sections, kUka 

laboratories, focuses on developing the technology for such innovative 

products and applications. the company is also further prioritizing sales 

in the americas region and the BriC nations. the company’s profitability 

will become less and less dependent on exchange-rate fluctuations as 

it increasingly spreads its value added across different local currencies. 

roBotiCs risk exposUre

in € millions worst case expected risk value

legal risks 6.6 2.5

economic risks 2.0 0.8

Total�for�Robotics 8.6 3.3

the assessed potential damage associated with all individual risks is low 

(to € 5.0 million) and the likelihood of occurrence is medium to high (to 

40.0 percent). please refer to the notes for details regarding the precau-

tionary balance sheet measures for the identified risks.

109Consolidated 
management report



the syndicated senior facilities agreement, which runs until december 

2018, contains the usual covenants. a fundamental risk associated with 

this type of covenant-based financing exists when business performance 

is significantly below plan and the resulting earnings and financing 

situation precludes adherence to the defined limits. kUka monitors 

adherence to these covenants monthly. the company complied with all 

covenants during the course of fiscal 2013. as of december 31, 2013, 

all ratios regulated by covenants were well within the contractually 

defined limits. please see page 163 for comprehensive details about 

the syndicated senior facilities agreement and the extent to which the 

agreed credit lines have been utilized.

one risk that will also impact business performance after 2013 is the 

increasing fluctuation in currency exchange rates, especially as relates 

to the Japanese yen, the Us dollar, the Chinese yuan and the hungarian 

forint; for example, the apparent devaluation of the yen in relation to 

the euro gives Japanese competitors an advantage. transaction-related 

currency exchange risks are hedged using forward foreign exchange 

contracts. internal guidelines govern the use of derivatives, which are 

subject to continuous internal risk monitoring. details on the central 

currency management process are provided under “Financial instru-

ments” starting on page 165 of the notes to the financial statements. 

Currency translation risks; i. e., measurement risks associated with 

balance sheet items whose value has been converted from a foreign 

currency, are not hedged, but are continuously monitored. the risk 

associated with the volatility of leading currencies and the resulting 

economic exchange risk (competitive risk) is mitigated by having produc-

tion facilities in several countries (natural hedging). 

Personnel risks and opportunities
the success of kUka group, a high-tech enterprise, depends to a great 

degree on having qualified technical and management staff. personnel 

risk arises mainly from employee turnover in key positions within the 

group. improvements in both business and economic prospects enable 

the company to strengthen the loyalty of its core personnel, train new, 

highly skilled employees, and entice new recruits to join the group. this 

applies to the traditional markets in europe and the United states, but 

especially to recruiting employees in growth markets, where the need 

for skilled employees is growing steadily. last but not least, in-house 

continuing education programs such as those offered by kUka academy, 

or employee suggestion programs, generate opportunities resulting 

from the improved motivation and qualification of the workforce.

thorough market analyses have shown that kUka systems also has long-

term business opportunities outside the automotive industry; namely, 

in general industry. a current example is the aerospace industry, from 

which new orders were again received in 2013. although this presents 

an opportunity to penetrate new markets, it also entails risk, above all 

in relation to technical requirements, since customers in these sectors 

often have no experience with automated systems. the aforementioned 

checklists to review the technical risks associated with applying new 

automation techniques are thus an especially important tool for miti-

gating risks. 

systems risk exposUre

in € millions worst case expected risk value

legal risks 9.4 2.2

economic risks 9.8 0.4

Total�for�Systems 19.2 2.6

tthe assessed potential damage associated with all individual risks is 

medium (to € 10.0 million) and the likelihood of occurrence is low to 

high (to 40.0 percent). please refer to the notes for details regarding the 

precautionary balance sheet measures for the identified risks.

Financial risks
one of kUka ag’s primary tasks is to coordinate and control the group’s 

financing requirements and to ensure that kUka remains financially 

independent. with this goal in mind, the holding company optimizes 

the group’s financing and limits its financial risk via the group’s stand-

ard treasury reporting system. in addition, liquidity risk is reduced for 

the group as a whole by closely monitoring the group’s companies and 

their management of payment flows.

over the course of the past few years, several measures have been 

implemented to strengthen kUka group’s solvency. one of these was 

to restructure the company’s debt with respect to time to maturity and 

the type of financing instruments used. in 2013, this included issuing 

two convertible bond tranches, one in February and one in July, and 

signing an unsecured syndicated senior facilities agreement in decem-

ber. please refer to the financing section on page 162 and following 

for further details.
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IT risks and opportunities
it risks have risen over the past number of years, not least because of 

the importance of it to business processes. these risks relate to both the 

frequency of viruses or hacking and the damage they could potentially 

cause. the existing it security and Business Continuity management 

systems as well as guidelines and organizational structures are con-

tinuously optimized and reviewed in an effort to predict and minimize 

possible it-related risks such as failure of computer centers or other 

it systems. one way this is addressed is by continuously upgrading 

hardware and software. ongoing optimization of it-supported processes 

generates long-term cost reduction potential and leads to continuous 

quality improvements. By systematically monitoring the associated pro-

cesses, the company reduces the risks associated with an increasing num-

ber of external threats as well as dependence on the ever-expanding 

digitization of business processes. 

Compliance risks
Compliance violations may lead to fines, sanctions, judicial orders 

regarding future conduct, forfeiture of profits, exclusion from certain 

transactions, loss of trade licenses or other restrictions. Furthermore, 

involvement in potential corruption proceedings could harm the overall 

reputation of kUka group and could have a negative impact on efforts 

to compete for business in both the public and private sectors. such 

proceedings could also have a negative impact on the relationship kUka 

group has with business partners upon which it depends, as well as its 

ability to find new business partners. they could furthermore negatively 

impact the company’s ability to pursue strategic projects and transac-

tions of potential importance for the business, such as joint ventures 

or other forms of cooperation. ongoing or future proceedings could 

lead to the suspension of some existing contracts, and third parties, 

including competitors, could initiate legal proceedings against kUka 

group for substantial sums of money.

kUka therefore rolled out a Corporate Compliance program in early 

2008 to make such risks transparent and controllable. the Compliance 

Committee established through this program meets at regular intervals 

and ad hoc and reports to kUka aktiengesellschaft’s Ceo, who in turn 

reports directly to the supervisory Board’s audit Committee. the Ceo is 

ultimately responsible for the corporate compliance program, which is 

regularly updated and subject to strict internal controls. the program 

did not uncover any substantial risks in 2013 due to the active coun-

termeasures taken to mitigate risk at an early stage and to eliminate 

risk sources; e. g., by realigning business processes.

Other risks
kUka group continuously monitors other risks and mitigates these to 

the greatest extent possible. there is no evidence of environmental risks 

from operational activities, since the company does not use hazard-

ous materials. the group makes use of buildings and properties for its 

business operations, some of which it owns. as a result, the company 

is exposed to risks associated with any residual pollution, soil contami-

nation, or other damaging substances that may be discovered on its 

properties. there is currently no evidence of any situations that would 

have a negative impact on the measurement of balance sheet items. 

however, it cannot be ruled out than any such situations, which could, 

for example, require costly cleanup operations to be undertaken, will 

occur in the future.

please refer to page 121 and following about material agreements 

subject to conditions related to a change of control. the shareholder 

structure is periodically analyzed to assess the possibility of takeover 

of the company.

Summary
overall, kUka group’s named risks relate to the business performance of 

the divisions and financial risks associated with currency exchange rate 

fluctuations and corporate financing. the executive Board is not aware 

of any individual or aggregated risks that could threaten the company’s 

existence. strategically and financially, the company is positioned to 

be able to take advantage of business opportunities.

Forecast

General economic environment
over the past few years, the growth of the world’s key economies was 

moderate and in some cases even negative. still, according to the inter-

national monetary Fund (imF) the world’s gross domestic product grew 

3.0 percent in 2013. this compares to 3.1 percent in 2012 and 3.9 per-

cent in 2011. the industrial nations suffered from financial and debt 

crises, and the emerging and developing countries’ economies were 

also weaker. But their growth rates are significantly higher than in the 

developed industrial countries. 

the imF expects the world economies to grow more rapidly in 2014 

and has forecast an increase in the global gross domestic product of 

3.7 percent. thanks to increasing stabilization after the debt crisis, 

europe is expected to recover. the imF expects germany’s growth rate 

for 2014 to come in at 1.6 percent. according to vdma, the german 

engineering Federation, the mechanical engineering sector’s orders 

received were down 2 percent year-over-year in 2013. a slight recovery 

is expected for 2014, with growth forecast at 3 percent. according to 

the imF, the economic recovery in the United states should continue 

as consumer spending rises, supported by excellent job market growth. 

economic performance in the emerging countries is also expected to 
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the most important growth drivers for robot-based automation are:

 

1)  General industry: robot density (number of robots per 10,000 

employees) is still relatively low compared to the automotive sec-

tor. see graph on page 113. on average, the automotive industry’s 

robot density is eight times higher than in general industry. general 

industry companies are facing unrelenting cost pressures. this is why 

the potential for the automation sector is huge. the trend to automa-

tion is supported by the shortage of qualified skilled workers, rising 

wage costs and the increasing demand for high quality products. 

in addition, technology advances enable solutions to be found for 

production processes that in the past were unable to automate.

2)  Automotive Industry: the international automotive industry has a 

decisive impact on growth, as it buys more than one-third of the 

robots sold annually. in the mature manufacturing regions such as 

europe, the United states and Japan, the growth potential is driven 

mainly by the need to modernize or upgrade existing manufacturing  

plants to improve efficiencies. But the automotive sector also invests 

in the emerging countries’ growth markets. in these areas, it meets 

the strong customer demand and takes advantage of favorable 

conditions created by governments seeking to increase the share 

of vehicles produced locally. additional potential is created by the 

increasing number of local carmakers in the emerging countries. in 

order to improve production output and quality, manufacturers are 

investing in automating their processes. 

3)  Technology / service robotics: the pace of development of various 

robot types, applications, controls and above all software solutions 

has risen dramatically in the past few years. new markets are being 

created by new technologies in the field of cooperation between 

humans and machines, safety, flexibility and user-friendliness. But 

new applications will also be created at existing customer sites, 

where solutions will now be available for production processes that 

could not be automated in the past. 

improve again in 2014. however, in China, economic growth is expected 

to decline slightly compared to last year. the purchasing manager index, 

which forecasts economic outlook for the next six months, in January 

came in at 49.6, according to markit and hsBC below the critical thres-

hold of 50. one of the reasons given is the planned economic reforms in 

China, which aim to boost domestic demand. the Chinese government 

will therefore accept a short period of slower growth. Compared to the 

rest the world however, the forecast growth of 7.5 percent is still higher 

than the growth rates in the major industrial countries. 

the outlook for kUka’s key markets for fiscal 2014 shows rising growth 

rates. 

gross domestiC prodUCt 

in % 2011 2012 2013 2014

world 3.9 3.1 3.0 3.7

eurozone 1.5 -0.7 -0.4 1.0

Usa 1.8 2.8 1.9 2.8

China 9.3 7.7 7.7 7.5

germany 3.4 0.9 0.5 1.6

developing / emerging 
countries 6.2 4.9 4.7 5.1

source: imF, January 2014

Automation trend
the trend towards automation continues. Companies around the world 

will increasingly automate their production plants and processes, espe-

cially using robots. in its most recent study, the international Federation 

of robotics (iFr) forecast expansion of the global robot markets. here 

the growth is driven primarily by the benefits for the manufacturing 

industries. this includes not only improved production process efficien-

cies and better product quality, but also higher output and product 

variety driven by flexible manufacturing systems. 
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4)  Developing and emerging countries: robot density, and thus the 

degree of automation, is still relatively low in the developing and 

emerging countries compared to industrial countries. due to rising 

labor costs and international competition, more and more companies 

in these regions are investing in automation. it enables them to 

improve their product quality, increase the number of units produced 

in a given time and optimize their cost structures. China especially 

is investing very heavily in automation. already today, China is the 

world’s second-largest robot market. 

overall, the iFr expects the world’s robot market to grow at an average 

rate of 6 percent annually from 2014 to 2016. europe and the americas 

are expected to grow at a below-average rate of 4 percent each and 

asia at an above-average rate of 8 percent. according to the iFr, the 

growth will primarily come from the emerging countries and the United 

states. moreover general industry in particular is also expected to be 

a growth driver. automotive industry growth on the other hand will 

shrink in 2014 and 2015 according to iFr forecasts. this is due to the 

strong investments of the past few years. however, the iFr estimates 

that automotive will return to growth no later than 2016. By then, 

spending on modernizations and upgrades will again be required in 

the established markets.
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General conditions for KUKA 
General industry
automation in general industry continues to increase. this includes sec-

tors such as electronics, machine tools, foundries, aerospace and the 

food and beverage industry, all of which continue to exhibit a strong 

need to automate. rising labor costs and high quality requirements 

increase the need to automate. kUka responds with solutions especially 

tailored to meet the needs of these industries. For example, for the 

robotics division, there is a huge potential in the machine tool sector. 

robots can be used for both loading and unloading machines, as well 

as machining parts. according to kUka’s own estimates, only 2 percent 

of machine tools sold worldwide are equipped with robots. in order to 

benefit from the worldwide trend toward automation in general indus-

try, kUka is investing more heavily in the products required in these 

industries; for example, robots with low payloads such as the kr  agilUs. 

the success of kUka robotics is reflected in the orders received num-

bers of the past few years. orders received are up 133 percent, from 

€ 142.1 million in 2009, to € 330.9 million in 2013. the share of general 

industry business in the robotics division in 2013 was just over 40 per-

cent, slightly higher than the automotive sector share. For the systems 

division, there is huge automation potential in the aerospace sector. the 

demand for quality and precision here is high, similar to the automotive 

sector. aerospace customers are demanding innovative solutions for 

processing large components and new materials. sales staff has been 

added by both divisions to expand the general industry business. over 

the course of the next few years, kUka group is expecting increasing 

sales from general industry.

Automotive Industry
Car manufacturing and sales numbers will continue to rise worldwide. 

according to estimates released in January 2014 by ihs automotive 

(ihs), the number of cars manufactured across the globe will rise from 

84 million vehicles in 2013 to about 103 million vehicles in 2019. over 

60 percent of these will be made in asia. according to a pricewater-

houseCoopers (pwC) estimate published in July 2013, about 28 million 

cars and light trucks will be sold in China alone in 2019. sales in europe 

in 2019 will be about 17 million cars and between 16 and 17 million 

in the americas. according to ihs, the average number of units manu-

factured annually worldwide will grow at a rate of about 3.4 percent 

from 2013 to 2019. according to the forecast, growth in the americas 

and europe will be below average at about 3.0 and 2.4 percent respec-

tively. the Chinese market is expected to grow at an above-average 

annual rate of about 6.1 percent. in order to meet the rising demand 

of these markets, automakers have spent heavily on manufacturing 

plants, especially in the last few years. as a result, kUka expects that 

capital spending in 2014 will slow, as forecast by the iFr. But spend-

ing is expected to pick up again no later than 2016. the trend in the 
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For China, the iFr is forecasting an average annual growth rate of about 

15 percent between 2014 and 2016, reaching 38,000 sold robots in 

2016. kUka will benefit from this market growth and expanded its 

market presence in the region by adding a new kUka robotics fac-

tory in greater shanghai at the end of 2013. kUka robotics is thus 

able to offer customers service, sales, and above all, manufacturing in 

close proximity to their sites. this will significantly reduce lead times 

and speed up service. kUka will continue to treat China as a strategi-

cally important location in the coming years and assign appropriate 

resources to the market. in 2014, the company will have an additional 

location in this market following the acquisition of reis group. kUka 

group is forecasting rising sales numbers in China over the next few 

years, driven by the high demand for robot-based automation and its 

market presence in China.

Company-specific factors
Summary
given the current economic forecasts from the imF, kUka expects 

increased demand in fiscal 2014, especially from north america and 

asia, in particular from China. overall, current economic trends should 

have a positive impact on earnings. From a sector perspective, general 

industry growth is expected to be strong. this is due in part to the 

high potential for automation solutions, as well as the positive eco-

nomic prospects for general industry customers. automotive customers 

invested heavily over the past few years. these high levels of spending 

are not expected to be repeated in 2014. investments by this sector are 

therefore expected to decline slightly compared to last year. please refer 

to the notes starting on page 165 for comments on currency effects. a 

weaker yen / eUr exchange rate will not impact the systems division’s 

results. however, it is expected to have a negative impact on robot-

ics’ earnings. in contrast to systems, robotics’ main competitors are 

located in Japan and will benefit from a weaker yen / eUr exchange rate.

automotive industry to offer an increasing variety of models and falling 

lifecycles of existing vehicle types will spur the growth. to standardize 

the model platforms and improve efficiencies, assembly lines will need 

to be highly flexible and maintain high production quality, which can 

only be guaranteed by automation. 

Technology / service robotics
new technologies enable robot-based automation to be used in areas 

that have not or partially been automated until now. this includes 

professional service robotics, a relatively new technology segment. 

more and more manufacturers are interested in this segment and the 

pace of progress in development has been dramatic. already today, ser-

vice robots are being used for important farming, medical and logistics 

applications, as well as defense and security. the Fraunhofer institute 

for production technology and automation (ipa) defines a service robot 

as a freely programmable motion device that provides services semi or 

fully automatically. services are defined as tasks that are not directly 

used to produce capital goods, but rather assist people and equipment. 

according to an iFr study, the number of service robots sold in 2012 rose 

2 percent to 16,100. a subsegment, the medical robot market, grew 

at an above-average rate of 20 percent. the iFr expects a significant 

increase in sales in the professional segment, and is predicting that 

23,000 service robots will be sold between 2013 and 2016 annually.

kUka embraced new technologies and new markets very early. the lBr 

iiwa with its sensitivity features is not only useful in existing markets, 

but is also usable in sectors that to date have not been automated. kUka 

systems supplements this offering by acting as a systems integrator 

at customer sites. kUka robotics has already applied robots from its 

existing portfolio for health care applications. kUka expects rising sales 

from this segment in the mid to long-term.

China
the Chinese market has seen strong growth in the past few years and 

today is one of the largest robot markets in the world. according to the 

iFr, the number of robots sold more than tripled from just under 8,000 

in 2008 to about 25,000 in 2013. Compare this to Japan, the world’s 

largest robot market, where it is estimated that 27,200 robots were sold 

in 2013. the robots installed in China were made almost exclusively by 

non-Chinese manufacturers. But according to iFr, Chinese robotmakers 

will become increasingly important and will produce more and more 

robots in the coming years. market players are supported by govern-

ment programs. kUka responds to this challenge with research and 

development, in order to expand its technology leadership globally.
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expeCted growth For kUka groUp

Summary Earnings 2013 Outlook 2014 *

sales € 1,774.5 million € 1.9 – 2.0 billion

eBit margin 6.8 % ~ 6.0 %

net income for the fiscal year € 58.3 million declining slightly

investments € 74.7 million rising slightly

Free cash flow € 95.4 million
mid-double-digit  

million range **

dividend per share € 0.30
same as last year to 

slightly rising

*  incl. reis group
**  excl. financial investments

Definitions:

declining slightly / rising slightly: absolute change compared to prior year < 10%

declining / rising: absolute change compared to prior year >10%

Sales and EBIT margin 
Based on current general conditions, kUka expects sales revenues 

between € 1.9 and 2.0 billion, up from last year. sales should rise both 

in general industry and automotive. the newly acquired reis group will 

contribute to the sales growth. this would make kUka’s growth stronger 

than that forecast by vdma, the german engineering Federation, which 

is expecting 3 percent growth for 2014.

Based on the current economic general conditions, kUka group is 

expecting an eBit margin of about 6.0 percent for fiscal 2014. the main 

reason it is expected to be lower than last year is because of the first-

time consolidation of the reis group. we expect a one-time charge from 

the integration and planned restructuring of reis. a positive contribu-

tion is expected in the following years. 

Net income
in 2013, kUka group generated a net income of € 58.3 million. Because 

of investments in growing the business operations and the expenses 

associated with integrating reis group, kUka expects net income to 

decline slightly. however, in the following years, the acquisition of reis 

groups is expected to have a positive impact on net income, driven by 

the significant potential incremental sales and cost synergies that will 

result from the acquisition. 

kUka aktiengesellschaft’s earnings are dependent on the results of 

subsidiaries due to profit and loss transfer agreements and, in turn, 

can be derived from the forecast for kUka group.

Research and development / investments
the total expenses in this area will be allocated almost exclusively to 

the robotics division, since systems conducts its research primarily 

in conjunction with customer projects. the demand for kUka robots 

and solutions is based primarily on innovations and the quality of the 

products. to safeguard and expand these competitive advantages sus-

tainably, kUka group plans to substantially boost spending on research 

and development. spending by the robotics division will mainly be on 

enhancing robot applications, new software solutions, and programs 

to improve existing products and boost their efficiencies. overall, kUka 

group plans to spend about € 70 million on research and development 

in 2014. 20 – 25 percent of the investments will be capitalized and amor-

tized over three to five years. 

kUka has budgeted for slightly rising total investments for 2014. the 

main investments will be in maintaining existing systems as well as 

constructing a new technology and innovation center in augsburg. the 

new building is expected to be completed in mid-2015 and is being 

constructed to improve cooperation between research and develop-

ment and other associated product areas, which are currently located 

at different sites. 

Free cash flow
kUka group’s free cash flow is primarily generated from operating earn-

ings and the growth of working capital in the robotics and systems 

divisions. Based on the current general conditions and the budgeted 

sales growth, kUka group expects a free cash flow excluding financial 

investments in the mid-double-digit million range in 2014.

Dividend
the executive and supervisory Boards will recommend to shareholders 

at the annual general meeting in augsburg on may 28, 2014 that a 

dividend of € 0.30 per share be paid for 2013. kUka’s dividend policy 

is to pay out between 25 and 30 percent of net income to sharehold-

ers provided business performance is good and general conditions are 

stable. For fiscal 2014, kUka plans to maintain its dividend and possibly 

increase it slightly.
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structures and processes

with regard to the accounting process, the structures and processes 

described below have been implemented in kUka group. the executive 

Board of kUka aktiengesellschaft bears full responsibility for the internal 

control and risk management system as it applies to the accounting 

process.

the system extends via clearly defined management and reporting struc-

tures to all subsidiaries that are included in the consolidated financial 

statements. 

For the group’s german companies, the shared service Center of kUka 

aktiengesellschaft is responsible at a central level for accounting and 

human resource operations.

intragroup tasks such as treasury, legal services and taxes are also per-

formed centrally by kUka aktiengesellschaft on the basis of uniform 

group processes.

the principles, organizational structures, and processes of the (group) 

accounting-related internal control and risk management system are 

defined in guidelines and organizational procedures. adjustments based 

on external and internal developments are integrated on a continuous 

basis and made available to all employees concerned.

Characteristics of the internal control and 
risk management system

with respect to the accounting process, kUka regards those characteris-

tics of the internal control and risk management system as material that 

can significantly impact the accounting and the overall presentation of 

the consolidated and annual financial statements, including the com-

bined management report. at kUka group, these include, in particular:

•  identifying the main areas of risk (see page 106 et seq. of the risk 

report) and control that affect the (group) accounting process;

•  quality controls to monitor the (group) accounting process and the 

accounting results at the level of the group executive Board, the man-

agement companies, and the individual reporting entities included 

in the consolidated financial statements;

•  preventive control measures in the finance and accounting systems of 

the group and the companies included in the consolidated financial 

statements as well as in operating business performance processes 

that generate key information for the preparation of the consolidated 

and annual financial statements and the combined management 

report, including a separation of functions of predefined approval 

processes in relevant areas;

iNTerNAL CONTrOL AND risK 
 MANAgeMeNT sysTeM

principles

pursuant to section 289 (5) and 315 (2) no. 5 of the german Commer-

cial Code (hgB), kUka aktiengesellschaft, as a publicly traded parent 

company, must describe the key characteristics of its internal control 

and risk management system in its management report. the description 

must include the accounting processes of the companies included in 

the consolidated financial statements. 

kUka regards the internal control and risk management system as a 

comprehensive system, and uses the definitions provided by the institut 

der wirtschaftsprüfer in deutschland ev., düsseldorf, of accounting-

related internal control systems (idw aus 261 no. 1g et seq.) and risk 

management systems (idw aus 340, no. 4).

an internal control system is accordingly defined as all principles, pro-

cesses, and measures introduced to the company by management that 

result in systematic and transparent risk management. the internal 

control system focuses on organizational implementation of manage-

ment’s decisions made to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of busi-

ness operations (including the preservation of assets, which includes 

preventing and exposing asset misappropriation), adherence to gener-

ally accepted accounting principles and the reliability of internal and 

external accounting, and compliance with the legal provisions relevant 

for the company. this approach allows risk to be better identified, meas-

ured and controlled. 

the risk management system comprises all organizational rules and 

measures related to identifying risk and dealing with entrepreneurial risk.

in the area of financial reporting, the preparation of consolidated finan-

cial statements in compliance with the standards must be ensured 

regardless of possible risk. kUka meets this requirement through imple-

mentation of an accounting-related internal control system at all kUka 

group companies. the internal control system is geared toward assur-

ing early identification of possible sources of error and limiting the 

resulting risk. various monitoring measures – both integrated into the 

process and independent of the process – contribute to the preparation 

of annual and consolidated financial statements that are in conformity 

with the legal provisions. 

116 kUka aktiengesellsChaFt
annUal report 2013



•  measures to ensure proper, it-supported processing of (group) 

accounting-related facts and data. these include, for example, cen-

tral management of access rights to the bookkeeping systems and 

automated plausibility checks when data is recorded in the reporting 

and consolidation system; 

•  measures to ensure the accounting-related internal control and risk 

management system by the relevant departments and by internal 

audit, which monitors adherence to the internal control system by 

conducting systematic reviews.

in addition, the CFos of all subsidiaries must provide an internal respon-

sibility statement in the context of external reporting as of June 30 and 

december 31. only then do the members of the executive Board of kUka 

aktiengesellschaft provide an external statement of responsibility by 

signing the group responsibility statement at mid-year and year-end, by 

which they confirm that they have adhered to the prescribed accounting 

standards of kUka group and that their figures give a true and fair view 

of the group’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows.

in its meetings, the audit Committee of the supervisory Board regularly 

reviews the effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control sys-

tem. the supervisory Board thus continuously obtains an appropriate 

view of the group’s risk situation and monitors iCs effectiveness. in so 

doing, the executive Board of kUka aktiengesellschaft presents the risks 

associated with financial reporting at least once per year, outlines the 

control measures implemented, and monitors their correct execution.

summary

the structures, processes, and characteristics of the internal control 

and risk management system ensure that the accounting processes of 

kUka aktiengesellschaft and kUka group are uniform and are imple-

mented in accordance with the legal requirements, generally accepted 

accounting principles, international accounting standards, and internal 

group guidelines.

they also ensure that transactions are recognized and measured uni-

formly and accurately throughout the group and that accurate and 

reliable information is therefore provided to the internal and external 

recipients of the information reported.

DisCLOsures iN ACCOrDANCe WiTH 
seCTiON 289 pArA. 4 AND seCTiON 315 
pArA. 4 Of THe gerMAN COMMerCiAL 
CODe (Hgb), iNCLuDiNg ACCOMpANy-
iNg eXpLANATiONs

the information required by sections 289 para. 4 and 315 para. 4 of 

the german Commercial Code (hgB) is disclosed and explained in the 

following. 

Composition of subscribed capital

as of december 31, 2013, the total share capital of kUka aktien-

gesellschaft amounted to € 88,180,120.60 and consisted of 33,915,431 

no-par-value bearer shares with a pro-rata amount of the share capital 

of € 2.60 each. the share capital is fully paid up. all shares have equal 

rights and each share guarantees its holder one vote at the annual 

general meeting. 

shareholders are not entitled to have share certificates issued for their 

shares (section 4 para. 1 of the articles of association). when new shares 

are issued, the start of profit-sharing may be established at variance 

with section 60 para. 2 of the german stock Corporation act (aktg), 

(section 4 para. 3 of the articles of association).

restrictions affecting voting rights or transfer 
of shares

kUka aktiengesellschaft regularly grants the company’s executive Board 

members and other selected executives from group companies the right 

to participate in so-called “phantom share programs,” i. e. virtual share 

programs, as per the terms of their individual contracts. the phantom 

share programs are part of the performance-based compensation sys-

tem for executives and are aimed at sustainably increasing enterprise 

value. each of the programs has a term of three years. the payout at 

the end of the term depends on the share price at that time and on 

the change in enterprise value. the phantom share programs stipulate 

that at the end of the term of the respective program, the executives 

entitled to participate must apply 25 percent of the gross sum paid out 

toward the purchase of kUka shares until a pre-determined holding 

volume is reached. For the programs established to date, the holding 

volume amounts to 50 percent of the fixed annual remuneration of the 

executive in question. shares acquired outside of the phantom share 

program also count toward the holding target. the holding obligation 

does not end until the participant leaves kUka group.
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method of voting rights control when employees 
hold an interest in the share capital and do not 
directly exercise their rights of control

no employees hold an interest in the share capital within the meaning 

of section 289 para. 4 no. 5 or section 315 para. 4 no. 5 of the german 

Commercial Code (hgB).

legal provisions and provisions of the articles 
of association regarding the appointment and 
dismissal of executive Board members and 
amendments to the articles of association

pursuant to section 6 para. 1 of the articles of association, the com-

pany’s executive Board must consist of at least two persons. the 

supervisory Board determines the number of executive Board mem-

bers pursuant to section 6 para. 2 of the articles of association. the 

appointment and dismissal of members of the executive Board are 

governed in sections 84 and 85 of the stock Corporation act (aktg), 

section 31 of the Co-determination act (mitbestg), and section 6 of 

the articles of association. 

pursuant to sections 119 para. 1 no. 5 and 179 para. 1 of the stock Cor-

poration act (aktg), any changes to the articles of association require 

a resolution by the annual general meeting. section 22 para. 1 of the 

articles of association states that a simple majority of the share capital 

represented at the annual general meeting is sufficient to pass a resolu-

tion, provided that a greater majority is not required by law. a greater 

majority is required in particular for resolutions concerning changes 

to the company’s business purpose, a reduction in share capital, and 

changes to the form of incorporation. 

pursuant to section 11 para. 3 of the articles of association, the super-

visory Board is authorized to make amendments to the company’s 

articles of association that only affect the wording. Furthermore, the 

supervisory Board was authorized by resolution of the annual general 

meetings of may 26, 2011 and June 5, 2013 to amend the wording of 

section 4 para. 1, para. 5, para. 6 and para. 7 of the articles of associa-

tion after utilizing (i) authorized Capital 2011, (ii) Conditional Capital 

2010 and / or (iii) Conditional Capital 2013 to (partially) increase the 

share capital and, in the event these have not been (fully) utilized by 

may 25, 2016 or June 4, 2018, after expiry of the respective authoriza-

tion or deadlines for exercising conversion rights.

again in 2013, kUka aktiengesellschaft set up an employee share 

program (map 2013). Under the terms of map 2013, employees were 

entitled to buy kUka shares and, in addition to the shares purchased, 

received bonus shares at a pre-determined ratio as defined by map 

2013. employees are restricted from selling the kUka shares purchased 

or bonus shares allocated until december 31, 2014.

the executive Board is not aware of any other restrictions that would 

affect voting rights or the transfer of shares. 

shareholdings that exceed 10 percent 
of the voting rights

according to the german securities trading act (wphg), any share-

holder who reaches, exceeds, or falls below the voting rights threshold 

pursuant to section 21 of the wphg through purchase, sale, or by other 

means is obliged to report same to the company and the german Federal 

Financial supervisory authority (BaFin). 

the most recent notifications were made to kUka aktiengesellschaft 

on november 20, 2013 by the following persons and companies, which 

reported the following shareholdings of more than 10 percent of the 

voting rights as follows: 

1. grenzebach maschinenbau gmbh,

asbach-Bäumenheim, germany
19.80 % held directly

2. grenzebach gmbh & Co. kg,

asbach-Bäumenheim, germany
19.80 % allocated pursuant to 

 section 22 para. 1 sentence 1  
no. 1 of the wphg

3. grenzebach verwaltungs-gmbh,

asbach-Bäumenheim, germany
19.80 % allocated pursuant to  

section 22 para. 1 sentence 1  
no. 1 of the wphg

4. rudolf grenzebach, deutschland 19.80 % allocated pursuant to  
section 22 para. 1 sentence 1 

no. 1 of the wphg

other than this, kUka aktiengesellschaft has no knowledge of any 

persons or companies whose direct or indirect shareholdings in the 

company exceed 10 percent of the voting rights.

shares with special rights that confer powers 
of control

there are no shares with special rights conferring powers of control. 
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executive Board authorization to issue 
and buy back shares

Authorized capital
as per the resolution of the annual general meeting on may 26, 2011 

and section 4 para. 5 of the company’s articles of association, which 

was added on the basis of such resolution, the executive Board, subject 

to approval by the supervisory Board, is authorized to increase the com-

pany’s share capital on or before may 25, 2016 by up to € 44,090,059.00 

through the issue of new shares on one or more occasions (authorized 

Capital 2011). when doing so, the shareholders must be granted sub-

scription rights. however, subject to approval by the supervisory Board, 

the executive Board is authorized to exclude fractional amounts from 

the shareholders’ subscription rights and to exclude shareholder rights 

if the capital increase takes place in exchange for capital contributions 

in kind for the purpose of acquiring companies or parts of companies, 

shares in companies, or other assets (including claims of third par-

ties against the company). the executive Board is further authorized, 

subject to approval by the supervisory Board, to exclude shareholder 

subscription rights upon utilization on one or more occasions of the 

authorized Capital 2011 in return for cash contributions in an amount 

not to exceed 10 percent of the share capital existing on the effective 

date of such authorization or, if lower, the share capital existing on 

the date such authorization is exercised, so that the new shares can 

be issued at a price that is not significantly lower than the price of 

the company’s shares trading on the stock exchange at the time of 

finalizing the new share issue price. the above-mentioned 10 percent 

threshold applies to shares that are sold on the basis of the authoriza-

tion of the annual general meeting of april 29, 2010 pursuant to sec-

tion 71 para. 1 no. 8 sentence 5 of the german stock Corporation act 

(aktg) in conjunction with section 186 para. 3 sentence 4 of the aktg 

during the term of the existing authorization or that are to be issued to 

service bonds with warrants or convertible bonds, profit participation 

certificates or income bonds, or a combination of these instruments, 

provided the instruments were issued on the basis of an authorization 

resolved at the annual general meeting of april 29, 2010 pursuant to 

the corresponding application of section 186 para. 3 no. 4 of the aktg 

during the term of said authorization. the executive Board, subject to 

approval by the supervisory Board, may only use the aforementioned 

authorization to exclude shareholder subscription rights to the extent 

that the pro-rated sum of shares issued under exclusion of subscription 

rights does not exceed 30 percent of the share capital existing either on 

the date such authorization takes effect or on the date the authoriza-

tion is exercised, should that amount be less. the executive Board is 

authorized, subject to approval by the supervisory Board, to stipulate 

additional details regarding the capital increase and its execution, in 

particular with respect to share rights and the terms and conditions 

related to the share issue.

Conditional Capital
section 4 para. 6 of the articles of association stipulates a conditional 

increase in the company’s share capital by up to € 4,156,513.40, divided 

into up to 1,598,659 new no-par-value bearer shares (Conditional Capital 

2010). 

the conditional capital increase will only be carried out to the extent 

that the holders of the convertible bonds issued in exchange for cash 

contributions on February 12, 2013 exercise their conversion rights in 

accordance with the bond terms. the convertible bond issued on Febru-

ary 12, 2012 via a private placement (originally) had a total principle 

amount of € 58,800,000. 

the new shares will be issued at the respective conversion price in 

accordance with the bond terms. the new shares will participate in the 

profits as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which they are created, 

but not for previous fiscal years, even if no profit for these years has 

been distributed as of yet. the executive Board is authorized, subject 

to approval by the supervisory Board, to define the further details of 

the execution of the conditional capital increase.

section 4 para. 7 of the articles of association stipulates a conditional 

increase in the company’s share capital by up to € 39,933,545.60, 

divided into up to 15,359,056 new no-par-value bearer shares (Condi-

tional Capital 2013). 

the conditional capital increase will only be carried out to the extent 

that the holders of options or conversion rights or obligations exercise 

their options or conversion rights arising from the bonds with warrants 

or convertible bonds, profit participation rights, or income bonds (or 

a combination of these instruments) that have been issued in return 

for cash contributions and which are issued or guaranteed by kUka 

aktiengesellschaft or a dependent group company of kUka aktien-

gesellschaft on the basis of the authorization granted to the executive 

Board by the annual general meeting resolution of June 5, 2013 until 

June 4, 2018, or – if the holders are obligated to exercise their conver-

sion or option rights – to the extent that they fulfill their conversion 

or option obligations, or to the extent that kUka aktiengesellschaft 

exercises its option to grant shares in kUka aktiengesellschaft in whole 

or in part in lieu of paying the monies due, provided no cash settlement 

is granted or treasury shares or shares in another listed company are 

used to service the bonds. the new shares will be issued at the option 

or conversion price to be determined in accordance with the afore-

mentioned authorization resolution. the new shares will participate 

in the profits as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which they are 

created. the executive Board is authorized, subject to approval by the 

supervisory Board, to define the further details of the execution of the 

conditional capital increase.
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(ii)  to sell the company shares acquired by means other than via the 

stock exchange or an offer to all shareholders, provided the shares 

are sold for cash at a price that is not substantially lower than the 

quoted stock market price of company shares at the time of the sale. 

however, such authorization only applies subject to the proviso 

that the shares sold subject to the exclusion of subscription rights 

pursuant to section 186 para. 3 sentence 4 of the german stock Cor-

poration act (aktg) may not, in total, exceed 10 percent of the share 

capital, whether on the effective date of the authorization or on the 

date on which it is exercised. the limit of 10 percent of the share 

capital is to include shares (i) that are issued to service bonds with 

warrants or convertible bonds, profit participation certificates or 

income bonds, or a combination of these instruments, provided the 

instruments were issued on the basis of an authorization resolved 

by the annual general meeting of april 29, 2010 pursuant to the 

corresponding application of section 186 para. 3 no. 4 of the aktg 

and (ii) that are issued by exercising an authorization – in effect on 

the date on which the above authorization took effect or that was 

resolved by the annual general meeting of april 29, 2010 – to issue 

new shares, subject to the exclusion of subscription rights, from 

authorized capital pursuant to section 186 para. 3 sentence 4 of 

the aktg;

(iii)  to use the company shares acquired to introduce the company’s 

stock on foreign stock exchanges on which they have not previously 

been admitted to trading;

(iv)  to offer shares in lieu of paying variable compensation components 

and / or a thirteenth monthly salary to kUka group employees in 

or for the 2010 fiscal year in 2010 and 2011. included are the fol-

lowing groups of employees: (i) members of the company’s execu-

tive Board; (ii) members of the management boards of companies 

associated with the company; (iii) employees of the company; 

(iv) employees of companies associated with the company. when 

offering the company’s own shares in this connection, it must be 

ensured that (i) the shares are acquired at a price not substantially 

lower than the quoted stock market price of company shares at the 

time of accepting the offer; (ii) the acceptance period for the respec-

tive offer is four weeks, subject to regulations concerning collective 

agreements; and (iii) employees who have acquired shares must 

hold these for a period of four years.

to the extent that members of the executive Board are to be given the 

option of purchasing company shares in lieu of payment of compensa-

tion components, the supervisory Board of the company will be author-

ized to use the company shares and will determine the modalities of the 

company share offer subject to the preceding stipulations.

on July 26, 2013, kUka aktiengesellschaft partially exercised the 

authorization to issue bonds with warrants and / or convertible bonds 

and the aforementioned Conditional Capital 2013 by issuing another 

convertible bond in a total principle amount of € 91,200,000 via a pri-

vate placement. 

here, the convertible bond issued on July 26, 2013 represented tap offering  
of the convertible bond already issued on February 12, 2013. with the 

exception of the issue date, the two bonds have the same structure 

and represent a single convertible bond; they have the same securities 

identification number (isin de000a1r09v9) and are admitted to trading 

on the open market of the Frankfurt stock exchange. 

Under the terms of this (uniform) bond, the company incurs an obli-

gation to the bondholders to convert each bond with a face value of 

€ 100,000.00 pursuant to the conversion right at any time during the 

exercise period in full, though not in part, to no-par-value bearer shares 

in kUka aktiengesellschaft with a pro rata amount of the share capital 

of € 2.60 each at the current conversion price of € 36.8067 per share. 

should all holders of the convertible bonds make use of their conversion 

rights, the company’s share capital would be increased by € 10,595,897 

through the issue of – currently – approximately 4,075,345 new shares 

with a pro rata amount of the share capital of € 2.60 each, subject to 

the anti-dilution provisions of the bond terms. 

Acquisition of treasury shares
as per the resolution passed by the annual general meeting of kUka 

aktiengesellschaft on april 29, 2010, the company is authorized, up 

until april 28, 2015, to buy back its own shares in an amount not to 

exceed 10 percent of the share capital existing at the time the resolu-

tion was passed via the stock market or in the form of a public purchase 

offer addressed to all shareholders by the company. in doing so, the 

purchase price (excluding transaction costs) may not be more than 

10 percent higher or lower than the average market price defined in 

the authorization. 

on the basis of the above resolution, the executive Board is also author-

ized, subject to approval by the supervisory Board, to treat the company 

shares acquired subject to the exclusion of shareholder subscription 

rights on the basis of that and earlier authorizations as follows: 

(i)   to sell the company shares acquired to third parties in connec-

tion with business combinations or the acquisition of companies 

or parts of companies or interests in companies, or for the purpose 

of acquiring other assets (including claims of third parties against 

the company);
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moreover, subject to approval by the supervisory Board, the executive 

Board is authorized to withdraw the company shares acquired. Both 

the purchase and the disposal authorization may be executed on one 

or more occasions as well as in parts.

significant company agreements that are 
 conditional upon a change of control, and 
the resulting impact 

Syndicated bank loan
on december 5, 2013, kUka aktiengesellschaft and its significant 

investment companies signed a new syndicated loan agreement with 

a banking syndicate led by Commerzbank ag, deutsche Bank ag Filiale 

deutschlandgeschäft, UniCredit Bank ag, and landesbank Baden-würt-

temberg, under the terms of which the lenders provide an amount of 

up to € 160,000,000. the facility covers the main credit requirements of 

kUka group (including the furnishing of bank guarantees). the contract 

includes a change of control clause that is typical in the industry, under 

the terms of which the syndicated banks may demand repayment of the 

loan in the event that a shareholder (or group of shareholders acting 

in concert) acquires control of at least 30 percent of the voting rights 

of kUka aktiengesellschaft, or otherwise has the ability to control the 

operating policies of the company. 

2010 Corporate Bond (high-yield bond)
in addition, kUka aktiengesellschaft issued a high-yield corporate bond 

in a principle amount of € 202,000,000.00 on november 18, 2010 under 

the lead of deutsche Bank ag (london Branch) and goldman sachs inter-

national. the corporate bond is traded on the luxembourg exchange 

(euro mtF). the bond terms and conditions include a change of control 

clause that is customary for high-yield bonds. the clause states that a 

change of control has occurred when: 

(i)   one or more persons acting in concert acquire(s) control of more 

than 30 percent of the share capital or voting rights of kUka 

aktiengesellschaft; 

(ii)  as a result of one or several transactions, all or nearly all assets of 

kUka aktiengesellschaft or a subsidiary defined in the bond terms 

and conditions as a “restricted subsidiary” are sold or transferred by 

some other means to a person who is not a “restricted subsidiary”; 

(iii)  For two years in succession, the majority of the shareholder repre-

sentatives on the supervisory Board is not made up of supervisory 

Board members who were either members of the supervisory Board 

on the date of issue of the corporate bond, or whose appointment 

to the supervisory Board was not supported by or made upon rec-

ommendation of the nomination Committee; or 

(iv)  kUka aktiengesellschaft or a subsidiary qualified as a “restricted 

subsidiary” undertakes one of the transactions defined in section 

3 of the bond terms and conditions as a “permitted investment”. 

these include significant shareholdings in third parties (for example 

joint ventures).

if an event occurs that qualifies as a change of control item under the 

bond terms and conditions, each bondholder has the right to demand 

that kUka aktiengesellschaft buy back its bond notes at a price of 

101 percent of the face value plus interest.

2013 Convertible Bond
the terms and conditions of the convertible bonds (“terms and condi-

tions of issue”) also contain the customary change of control provision, 

pursuant to which kUka aktiengesellschaft must publish any change of 

control immediately upon acquiring knowledge thereof in accordance 

with the terms and conditions of issue and announce the effective 

date of the change of control. accordingly, each bondholder has the 

right to demand repayment of one or all held bonds at the principle 

amount plus interest from the bond issuer on the effective date of the 

change of control. otherwise, the conversion ratio will be adjusted as 

required by the terms and conditions of issue. a “change of control” 

within the meaning of the terms and conditions of issue exists when a 

person or persons acting in concert (i) acquire(s) – directly or indirectly 

(within the meaning of section 22 of the wphg) – legal or beneficial 

ownership totaling more than 50 percent of the voting rights of the 

bondholder or the ability to control the management of the bondholder 

in another manner within the meaning of section 17 of the aktg or (ii) 

[participate(s) in] a takeover bid for shares of the bondholder and (a) 

the shares already controlled by the bidder and the shares for which the 

offer has already been accepted grant a total of more than 50 percent 

of the voting rights of the bondholder at any time during the takeover 

bid and (B) the offer is or becomes unconditional (without prejudice to 

any regulatory approvals, particularly antitrust approvals that will not 

be obtained until after the end of the acceptance period in accordance 

with section 16 para. 1 of the german securities acquisition and take-

over act (wpÜg)), or (iii) acquire(s) all or significantly all of the assets 

of bondholder from the bondholder by sale or transfer.
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if an event were to occur that would be regarded as a “change of con-

trol” under the terms and conditions of the aforementioned financing 

instruments and if all holders or a significant portion of the holders 

of such financing instruments were to subsequently call in the loan 

agreements for repayment at the same time and make use of their 

rights of repurchase, this could impair the financial situation of kUka 

aktiengesellschaft, unless kUka aktiengesellschaft were to obtain alter-

native financing on the market. on the other hand, if holders of only 

one financing instrument or only a small portion of the creditors of all 

financing instruments were to make use of the change of control clauses, 

kUka aktiengesellschaft would possibly be able to meet the resulting 

financing gap through its own resources as matters stand today.

agreements concluded between the company 
and members of the executive Board or employ- 
ees governing compensation in the event of a 
takeover bid

no agreements have been concluded between the company and mem-

bers of the executive Board or employees governing compensation in 

the event of a takeover bid.

Disclaimer
this management report contains forward-looking statements regarding  

expected developments. these statements are based on current esti-

mates and are naturally exposed to risks and uncertainties. actual 

results may differ from the statements contained herein. 
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fiNANCiAL sTATeMeNTs
grOup iNCOMe sTATeMeNT
of kUka aktiengesellschaft for the period January 1 – december 31, 2013

in € millions notes 2012 2013

Sales revenues (1) 1,739.2 1,774.5

 Cost of sales (2) -1,353.3 -1,336.0

Gross income 385.9 438.5

 selling expenses (2) -119.7 -130.2

research and development costs (2) -42.6 -59.7

 general and administrative expenses (2) -98.6 -110.0

 other operating income (3) 31.8 31.5

 other operating expenses (3) -54.3 -56.4

Earnings from operating activities 102.5 113.7

Reconciliation to earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)

 Financing costs included in operating results 7.3 6.7

 Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 109.8 120.4

interest income (4) 9.6 8.8

interest expense (4) -22.4 -28.8

Financial results -12.8 -20.0

Earnings before tax 89.7 93.7

 taxes on income (5) -34.1 -35.4

Earnings�after�taxes 55.6 58.3

of which: attributable to minority interests 0.0 0.0

of which: attributable to shareholders of kUka ag 55.6 58.3

Earnings per share (diluted / undiluted) in € (6) 1.64 1.72

in € millions notes 2012 2013

Earnings after taxes 55.6 58.3

Items that may potentially be reclassified to profit or loss

translation adjustments 0.1 -2.1

Items that are not reclassified to profit or loss

Changes of actuarial gains and losses (22) -13.5 6.3

deferred taxes on changes of acturial gains and losses 3.1 -1.6

Changes recognized directly in equity -10.3 2.6

Comprehensive�income 45.3 60.9

of which: attributable to minority interests 0.0 0.0

of which: attributable to shareholders of kUka ag 45.3 60.9

sTATeMeNT Of COMpreHeNsiVe iNCOMe
of kUka aktiengesellschaft for the period January 1 – december 31, 2013
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in € millions 2012 2013

Net income after taxes 55.6 58.3

 depreciation of intangible assets 11.4 20.3

depreciation of tangible assets 17.3 17.9

other non-payment related income -2.7 -2.3

other non-payment related expenses 10.8 21.1

Cash earnings 92.4 115.3

 result on the disposal of assets 0.2 0.3

Changes in provisions 13.4 10.4

Changes in current assets and liabilities

Changes in inventories -18.4 27.9

Changes in receivables and deferred charges 41.3 -0.1

Changes in liabilities and deferred income (excl. financial debt) -11.0 67.2

Cash flow from operating activities 117.9 221.0

 payments from disposals of fixed assets 2.1 0.7

payments for capital expenditures on intangible assets -16.7 -17.7

payments for capital expenditures on tangible assets -26.1 -57.0

payments for the acquisition of consolidated companies and other business units -0.1 -16.6

payments due to investment funds as part of short-term financial management – -35.0

Cash flow from investing activities -40.8 -125.6

Free cash flow 77.1 95.4

dividend payments – -6.8

proceeds / payments from the issuance / repayment of bonds and liabilities similar to bonds – 111.0

proceeds from / payments for the acceptance / repayment of bank loans -1.0 -0.4

Cash flow from financing activities -1.0 103.8

Payment-related changes in cash and cash equivalents 76.1 199.2

exchange rate-related and other changes in cash and cash equivalents -0.6 -2.4

Changes in cash and cash equivalents 75.5 196.8

(of which net increase / decrease in restricted cash) – (6.1)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 168.8 244.3

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 244.3 435.0

 restricted cash – 6.1

Cash and cash equivalents according to balance sheet 244.3 441.1

* see notes page 172 for further disclosures on the cash flow statement

CAsH fLOW sTATeMeNT *
of kUka aktiengesellschaft for the financial year 2013
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AsseTs

in € millions notes dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2013

Non-current assets

 Non-current assets (7)

intangible assets (8) 82.9 92.5

property, plant and equipment (9) 94.9 133.6

Financial investments (10) 0.2 0.2

178.0 226.3

 Finance lease receivables (11) 70.2 61.9

 Income tax receivables 6.3 4.8

 Other long-term receivables and other assets (14) 9.6 9.1

 Deferred taxes (5) 36.3 25.6

300.4 327.7

Current assets

 Inventories (12) 213.4 186.2

 Receivables and other assets

trade receivables (13) 141.7 167.5

receivables from construction contracts (13) 198.9 181.1

Finance lease receivables (11) 5.0 5.3

income tax receivables 6.8 7.1

other assets, prepaid expenses and deferred charges (14) 26.9 61.1

379.3 422.1

Cash and cash equivalents (15) 244.3 441.1

837.0 1,049.4

1,137.4 1,377.1

grOup bALANCe sHeeT
of kUka aktiengesellschaft as of dezember 31, 2013
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eQuiTy AND LiAbiLiTies

in € millions notes dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2013

Equity (16)

subscribed capital (17) 88.2 88.2

Capital reserve (18) 67.5 94.5

revenue reserves (19) 140.4 195.1

minority interests (20) 1.4 1.3

297.5 379.1

Non-current liabilities, provisions and accruals

 Financial liabilities (25) 194.9 288.1

other liabilities (26) 13.4 14.7

pensions and similar obligations (22) 82.0 73.4

deferred taxes (5) 26.2 24.5

316.5 400.7

Current liabilities (24)

 Financial liabilities (25) 6.6 6.5

trade payables 136.2 171.7

advances received 86.5 52.3

liabilities from construction contracts (13) 95.5 132.7

accounts payable to affiliated companies 0.1 0.1

income tax liabilities 9.2 7.1

other liabilities and deferred income (26) 109.1 132.2

other provisions (23) 80.2 94.7

523.4 597.3

1,137.4 1,377.1
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Notes (17) (18) (19) (20)

revenue reserves

number of shares
outstanding

subscribed capital
in € millions

Capital reserve
in € millions

translation
gains / losses
in € millions

actuarial gains
and losses

in € millions

annual net profit
and other

revenue reserves
in € millions

equity to
shareholders
in € millions

minority interests
in € millions

Total
in € millions

Jan. 1, 2012 33,915,431 88.2 67.5 -0.2 0.2 95.2 250.9 1.5 252.4

Comprehensive income – – – 0.1 -10.4 55.6 45.3 – 45.3

other changes – – – – – -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.2

Jan. 1, 2013 33,915,431 88.2 67.5 -0.1 -10.2 150.7 296.1 1.4 297.5

Comprehensive income – – – -2.1 4.7 58.3 60.9 – 60.9

dividend of kUka ag – – – – – -6.8 -6.8 – -6.8

employee share program – – – – – -0.1 -0.1 – -0.1

other changes – – 27.0 – 0.6 0.1 27.7 -0.1 27.6

Dec. 12, 2013 33,915,431 88.2 94.5 -2.2 -4.9 202.2 377.8 1.3 379.1

DeVeLOpMeNT Of grOup eQuiTy
of kUka aktiengesellschaft for the financial year 2013
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Notes (17) (18) (19) (20)

revenue reserves

number of shares
outstanding

subscribed capital
in € millions

Capital reserve
in € millions

translation
gains / losses
in € millions

actuarial gains
and losses

in € millions

annual net profit
and other

revenue reserves
in € millions

equity to
shareholders
in € millions

minority interests
in € millions

Total
in € millions

Jan. 1, 2012 33,915,431 88.2 67.5 -0.2 0.2 95.2 250.9 1.5 252.4

Comprehensive income – – – 0.1 -10.4 55.6 45.3 – 45.3

other changes – – – – – -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.2

Jan. 1, 2013 33,915,431 88.2 67.5 -0.1 -10.2 150.7 296.1 1.4 297.5

Comprehensive income – – – -2.1 4.7 58.3 60.9 – 60.9

dividend of kUka ag – – – – – -6.8 -6.8 – -6.8

employee share program – – – – – -0.1 -0.1 – -0.1

other changes – – 27.0 – 0.6 0.1 27.7 -0.1 27.6

Dec. 12, 2013 33,915,431 88.2 94.5 -2.2 -4.9 202.2 377.8 1.3 379.1
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robotics systems kUka ag and other companies reconciliation and consolidation group

in € millions 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013

order income 803.1 793.5 1,115.1 1,111.6 – – -28.6 -23.2 1,889.6 1,881.9

order backlog 248.7 280.7 666.1 714.4 – – -5.4 -3.5 909.4 991.6

group external sales revenues 716.5 732.2 1,022.7 1,042.3 – – – – 1,739.2 1,774.5

as a % of group sales revenues 41.2 % 41.3 % 58.8 % 58.7 % – – – – 100.0 % 100.0 %

intra-group sales 26.1 21.9 2.6 3.6 – – -28.7 -25.5 – –

Sales revenues by division 742.6 754.1 1,025.3 1,045.9 – – -28.7 -25.5 1,739.2 1,774.5

Operating profit / loss 238.6 271.4 131.4 150.0 – – 15.9 17.1 385.9 438.5

as a % of sales revenues of the division 32.1 % 36.0 % 12.8 % 14.3 % – – – – 22.2 % 24.7 %

EBIT 80.2 77.1 47.7 60.8 -16.0 -19.3 -2.1 1.8 109.8 120.4

as a % of sales revenues of the division 10.8 % 10.2 % 4.7 % 5.8 % – – – – 6.3 % 6.8 %

as a % of average capital employed (roCe) 57.2 % 49.6 % 23.8 % 43.0 % – – – – 32.3 % 36.9 %

EBITDA 95.9 102.1 57.8 71.0 -13.1 -16.1 -2.1 1.6 138.5 158.6

as a % of sales revenues of the division 12.9 % 13.5 % 5.6 % 6.8 % – – – – 8.0 % 8.9 %

Capital employed (annual average) 140.2 155.6 200.5 141.5 -0.2 29.6 -0.7 -0.5 339.8 326.2

Capital employed (end of financial year) 153.3 158.4 183.1 99.6 2.9 56.1 -0.8 -0.3 338.5 313.8

assets 343.8 350.6 508.6 494.5 173.5 232.6 -175.9 -172.1 850.0 905.6

liabilities 200.3 201.4 329.0 395.3 73.3 74.1 -9.3 -5.8 593.3 665.0

Capital expenditure 30.1 30.8 9.6 15.2 3.1 28.7 – – 42.8 74.7

depreciation / amortization of intangible and tangible assets 15.8 20.1 9.6 10.2 2.9 2.8 -0.2 -0.2 28.2 32.9

impairment losses on intangible and tangible assets – 4.9 0.5 – – 0.4 – – 0.5 5.3

employees (dec. 31) 3,180 3,416 3,902 4,362 182 212 – – 7,264 7,990

* see notes page 173 for more information on group segment reporting

grOup segMeNT repOrTiNg *
of kUka aktiengesellschaft for the financial year 2013

grOup NOTes
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robotics systems kUka ag and other companies reconciliation and consolidation group

in € millions 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013

order income 803.1 793.5 1,115.1 1,111.6 – – -28.6 -23.2 1,889.6 1,881.9

order backlog 248.7 280.7 666.1 714.4 – – -5.4 -3.5 909.4 991.6

group external sales revenues 716.5 732.2 1,022.7 1,042.3 – – – – 1,739.2 1,774.5

as a % of group sales revenues 41.2 % 41.3 % 58.8 % 58.7 % – – – – 100.0 % 100.0 %

intra-group sales 26.1 21.9 2.6 3.6 – – -28.7 -25.5 – –

Sales revenues by division 742.6 754.1 1,025.3 1,045.9 – – -28.7 -25.5 1,739.2 1,774.5

Operating profit / loss 238.6 271.4 131.4 150.0 – – 15.9 17.1 385.9 438.5

as a % of sales revenues of the division 32.1 % 36.0 % 12.8 % 14.3 % – – – – 22.2 % 24.7 %

EBIT 80.2 77.1 47.7 60.8 -16.0 -19.3 -2.1 1.8 109.8 120.4

as a % of sales revenues of the division 10.8 % 10.2 % 4.7 % 5.8 % – – – – 6.3 % 6.8 %

as a % of average capital employed (roCe) 57.2 % 49.6 % 23.8 % 43.0 % – – – – 32.3 % 36.9 %

EBITDA 95.9 102.1 57.8 71.0 -13.1 -16.1 -2.1 1.6 138.5 158.6

as a % of sales revenues of the division 12.9 % 13.5 % 5.6 % 6.8 % – – – – 8.0 % 8.9 %

Capital employed (annual average) 140.2 155.6 200.5 141.5 -0.2 29.6 -0.7 -0.5 339.8 326.2

Capital employed (end of financial year) 153.3 158.4 183.1 99.6 2.9 56.1 -0.8 -0.3 338.5 313.8

assets 343.8 350.6 508.6 494.5 173.5 232.6 -175.9 -172.1 850.0 905.6

liabilities 200.3 201.4 329.0 395.3 73.3 74.1 -9.3 -5.8 593.3 665.0

Capital expenditure 30.1 30.8 9.6 15.2 3.1 28.7 – – 42.8 74.7

depreciation / amortization of intangible and tangible assets 15.8 20.1 9.6 10.2 2.9 2.8 -0.2 -0.2 28.2 32.9

impairment losses on intangible and tangible assets – 4.9 0.5 – – 0.4 – – 0.5 5.3

employees (dec. 31) 3,180 3,416 3,902 4,362 182 212 – – 7,264 7,990

* see notes page 173 for more information on group segment reporting
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scope of consolidation

a total of 51 companies (2012: 49) are included in the group’s consoli-

dated financial statements. in addition to kUka aktiengesellschaft, six 

companies registered inside germany and 44 firms domiciled outside 

germany are included that kUka aktiengesellschaft either directly or 

indirectly controls.

in comparison to the previous year, the scope of consolidation has 

changed to the extent that Cma teChnology srl, sibiu, romania, 

has been added due to its acquisition and kUka robotics australia pty. 

ltd., victoria, australia, as a result of its establishment. the former com-

pany is part of the systems division and the later the robotics division. 

acquisitions

two acquisitions were made in the systems segment to strengthen 

the market presence and increase vertical integration. on april 14, 

2013, an asset deal was concluded for the systems business of UtiCa 

enterprises based in shelby township, michigan. the acquired company 

builds assembly lines for car bodies and subassemblies. other product 

segments include laser welding systems and joining and punch rivet-

ing technologies.

the second purchase took place on June 28, 2013 with the acquisition 

of all shares of Cma teChnology srl, sibiu, romania, a company that 

specializes in the low-cost production of metal parts for the systems 

business. 

of the purchase price of € 26.6 million, € 16.6 million was immediately 

paid in cash. the rest of the purchase price is divided into a fixed pay-

ment of € 0.4 million with sales and profit-related components totaling 

€ 1.0 million and € 8.7 million. Cash and cash equivalents of € 0.1 million 

were transferred as part of the deal. additional shares of fully consoli-

dated companies were not acquired.

as of december 31, 2013, sales of € 37.8 million and net earnings of 

€ 0.8 million were attributable to the acquisitions. if the businesses had 

already been consolidated at the beginning of 2013, this would have 

contributed € 54.5 million to revenues and € 3.0 million to net earnings.

geNerAL COMMeNTs

accounting principles

kUka aktiengesellschaft headquartered in augsburg has prepared its 

group consolidated financial statements for the period ending decem-

ber 31, 2013 according to the international Financial reporting stand-

ards (iFrs) of the international accounting standards Board (iasB) appli-

cable and endorsed by the european Union as of the balance sheet date. 

the term iFrs also includes all valid international accounting standards 

(ias). the interpretations of the standing interpretations Committee 

(siC) and the international Financial reporting standards interpreta-

tions Committee (iFrs iC) – supplemented by the guidelines stipulated 

in section 315a (1) of the german Commercial Code (hgB) – were also 

taken into consideration. 

as a general rule, the accounting policies used conform to the methods 

applied in the prior year except for the standards and interpretations for 

which application is mandatory for the first time in the 2013 financial 

year (see “Changes in accounting policies”). the group’s consolidated 

financial statements comply with german law and are prepared in 

euros. Unless otherwise noted, all amounts are stated in millions of 

euros (€ million). 

with the exception of specific financial instruments reported in fair 

values, the group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared 

based on historical costs. thereby, fair value is defined under iFrs 13 

as the price that would be paid by independent market participants in 

an arm’s length transaction on the measurement date if an asset were 

sold or a liability transferred. 

kUka group does not carry any assets with an undefined useful life with 

the exception of goodwill.

the group’s consolidated income statement is prepared using the cost 

of sales method. the consolidated financial statements comply with 

the classification requirements of ias 1. the presentation in the group’s 

consolidated balance sheet distinguishes between current and non-

current assets and liabilities. 

the executive Board prepared the consolidated financial statements 

on February 26, 2014.
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the following table shows the carrying amounts assumed as a result 

of the purchase of the divisions immediately prior to the acquisition as 

well as the opening balance sheet in fair values.

in € millions Carrying 
amounts 
 assumed

opening balance 
sheet in fair 

values

intangible assets 1.6 2.6

tangible assets 2.0 2.0

inventories 11.3 11.3

inventories and other assets 1.1 1.1

liabilities 0.8 0.8

in addition to software licenses, the acquired intangible assets consist 

mainly of customer lists and orders on hand. receivables and invento-

ries primarily concern orders in house at the time of the acquisition. 

Contingent liabilities were not assumed. no deferred tax liabilities were 

recognized.

the transaction resulted in a total goodwill of € 10.2 million, which 

has been allocated to the cash generating unit Body structure and 

engineering. the goodwill reflects expectations of business growth from 

the stronger market presence and synergies resulting from the vertical 

integration of semifinished goods.

Consolidation principles

subsidiaries directly or indirectly controlled by kUka aktiengesellschaft 

(“Control Concept” according to ias 27 or siC 12) are consolidated in the 

group financial statements according to the rules of full consolidation.

the consolidated financial statements are based on the financial state-

ments of kUka aktiengesellschaft and those of the consolidated subsidi-

aries and were prepared according to the uniform accounting policies 

for the group. Capital consolidation takes place by offsetting carrying 

amounts of investments against the proportionate newly measured 

equity of the subsidiaries at the acquisition date. in line with iFrs 3, any 

positive differences are capitalized as goodwill under intangible assets. 

any negative differences are recognized in the income statement.

intra-group sales, expenses, earnings and receivables and payables are 

offset, and inter-company profits and losses are eliminated. the deferred 

tax entries required in connection with the consolidation processes 

have been recorded.

guarantees and warranties that kUka aktiengesellschaft issues on 

behalf of consolidated subsidiaries are eliminated provided they do 

not have an external effect.

Currency translation

receivables and payables denominated in foreign currency are trans-

lated as of the balance sheet date using the average rate of the year. 

any associated translation gains or losses are recorded as gains or losses 

under other operating income or expenses.

the annual financial statements of the consolidated foreign subsidiaries 

are translated from their functional currency (ias 21) into euros. with 

the exception of kUka robotics hungária ipari kft., taksony, hungary, 

whose functional currency is the euro, this is the respective local cur-

rency, since the foreign subsidiaries operate predominantly within their 

currency area. the group treats newly resulting derivative goodwill 

from the acquisition of foreign subsidiaries as assets of the economi-

cally independent subsidiary and translates this goodwill at the closing 

rate, if necessary (ias 21.47). the resulting exchange differences are 

recognized in the foreign currency translation reserve.

assets and liabilities are translated at the rate effective on the balance 

sheet date. derivative goodwill and equity recognized prior to January 1, 

2005 are translated using historical rates. income and expenses are 

translated using average rates for the year. differences arising from the 

translation of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

compared to the prior year as well as translation differences between 

the income statement and the balance sheet are recognized in the rev-

enue reserves. in the event of the departure of group entities, existing 

exchange differences are then recognized in profit or loss. the following 

table shows the currency values compared to the previous year:
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Balance sheet date average rate

Country Currency dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2013 2012 2013

Brazil bRl 2.704 3.258 2.510 2.867

Canada CAd 1.314 1.467 1.285 1.368

China Cny 8.221 8.349 8.109 8.165

Czec republic CZk 25.151 27.427 25.146 25.987

hungary huF 292.300 297.040 289.324 296.941

india inR 72.560 85.366 68.629 77.875

Japan Jpy 113.610 144.720 102.623 129.659

korea kRW 1,406.230 1,450.930 1,448.195 1,453.855

malaysia MyR 4.035 4.522 3.969 4.186

mexico Mxn 17.185 18.073 16.909 16.964

romania Ron 4.445 4.471 4.458 4.419

russia Rub 40.330 45.325 39.924 42.325

sweden sek 8.582 8.859 8.707 8.650

switzerland ChF 1.207 1.228 1.205 1.231

taiwan tWd 38.450 40.981 38.165 39.342

thailand thb 40.347 45.178 39.944 40.823

Usa usd 1.319 1.379 1.286 1.328

United kingdom gbp 0.816 0.834 0.811 0.849

vietnam vnd 27,596.485 28,967.590 26,928.960 27,881.596

accounting and valuation

Revenue recognition
sales revenues are recognized upon the performance of services or trans-

fer of risk to the customer. thus, sales revenues are recognized when 

the products or goods have been delivered or the services performed, 

the material risks and rewards associated with ownership have been 

transferred to the purchaser, the amount derived from the sale can be 

measured reliably, the inflow of economic benefits resulting from the 

transaction is probable, and the costs associated with the transaction 

can be measured reliably. 

revenues for long-term construction contracts that meet the criteria of 

ias 11 are recognized according to the percentage of completion (poC) 

method. as a rule, the percentage of completion to be recognized by 

contract is determined by the cost of work to date as a percentage of 

the estimated total costs (cost-to-cost method). the profit from the 

contract is recognized on the basis of the percentage of completion 

thus determined. to the extent that services performed to date exceed 

advances received, the contracts are recorded as receivables from con-

struction contracts. if there is a negative balance after deduction of 

advances, this is recognized as liabilities from construction contracts. 

Borrowing costs are considered for construction contracts in accordance 

with ias 23. if necessary, provisions or asset-side impairment losses are 

recognized for impending losses.
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Cost of sales
the cost of sales comprises the cost of production of the goods sold 

as well as the acquisition cost of any merchandise sold. in addition to 

the cost of attributable direct materials and labor, this also comprises 

indirect costs, including the depreciation and amortization of produc-

tion plants and intangible assets, write-downs of inventories and the 

recognized borrowing costs. kUka group accounts for provisions for 

product warranties as part of the cost of sales at the time of revenue 

recognition. impending losses from contracts are recognized in the 

reporting period in which the current estimate for total costs arising 

from the respective contract exceeds the expected contract revenue.

Business combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. 

as the acquirer, kUka and the acquired company may have already had a 

relationship that existed before the business combination was intended. 

if the business combination does in fact lead to a settlement of this 

preexisting relationship, kUka recognizes the resulting gain or loss as 

the acquirer. the cost of acquisition is measured at the fair value of the 

assets given up and the liabilities incurred or assumed at the acquisition 

date. an agreed contingent consideration from kUka as the acquirer is 

recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. the identifiable assets 

acquired and the liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed 

in a business combination are initially measured at their fair values at 

the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling 

interests. Uniform accounting policies are used here. after initial rec-

ognition, gains and losses are attributed without limit in proportion to 

the interest held; a negative balance with respect to non-controlling 

interests can arise as a result. the non-controlling interests are involved 

in profit-sharing during the reporting period.

Goodwill
goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually. here, impairment 

tests are performed in which the carrying amount of goodwill allocated 

to the defined cash generating units (CgUs) is compared to the recover-

able amount. if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount 

of the cash generating unit, an impairment loss is recognized for the 

goodwill allocated to this cash generating unit. the recoverable amount 

is the higher of the cash generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell 

and its value in use. kUka uses a cash generating unit’s value in use to 

determine its recoverable amount. the data from the detail planning 

phase from the business plan for the next three years was used as the 

underlying data to determine the value in use, assuming in subsequent 

years that the annual cash flows will generally equal those in year 

three. For the sake of simplification, the perpetuity calculation further 

assumes that investments equal depreciation / amortization expense 

and the working capital remains unchanged.

with respect to the segment-specific discount rates as well as the fur-

ther parameters and their derivation, and also for the identification of 

the principal items of goodwill, please refer to the discussions under 

note 8.

Self-developed software and other development costs
development costs for newly developed products or internally generated 

intangible assets (e. g. software) are capitalized provided that the tech-

nical feasibility and commercialization of the newly developed products 

are assured, and that this will result in an inflow of economic benefits 

to the group (see ias 38.57 for further requirements). in this context, 

the costs of production encompass the costs directly and indirectly 

attributable to the cost of development. provided they are material, 

borrowing costs are capitalized for qualifying assets. those assets are 

defined as qualifying assets within kUka group for which a period longer 

than 12 months is required to get them ready for their intended use 

or sale (ias 23.5). examples here within kUka group in particular are 

manufacturing plants, internally-generated intangible assets and long-

term construction contracts.
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depreciation commences when the asset is put into use and is recog-

nized over the expected useful life of, as a rule, one to three years, using 

either the straight-line or unit-based method. moreover, the value rec-

ognized for capitalized costs of development projects not yet completed 

is subject to annual impairment tests.

research and development costs that are not eligible for recognition as 

an asset are recognized as expenses when they are incurred.

Other intangible assets
purchased intangible assets, predominantly software, are recognized 

at their acquisition cost and are amortized over their expected useful 

life of three to five years using the straight-line method.

Property, plant and equipment
property, plant and equipment are recognized at acquisition or pro-

duction costs. depreciation is generally applied using the straight-line 

method. the selected depreciation method is continuously reviewed.

depreciation is based predominantly on the following periods of use-

ful life:

years

Buildings 25 – 50

property facilities 2 – 15

technical plant and equipment 2 – 15

other equipment 2 – 15

Factory and office equipment 2 – 15

impairment losses on intangible and tangible assets are recorded in 

accordance with ias 36 if the recoverable amount of the asset is less 

than its carrying amount. in this context, the recoverable amount is 

the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use of the 

asset in question. if the reasons for an impairment recorded in prior 

years no longer apply, the impairment is reversed.

in addition to directly attributable costs, the costs of production for 

internally generated assets also include a proportionate share of over-

head costs in accordance with iFrs. Borrowing costs are capitalized for 

qualifying assets. Under the provisions of ias 23, finance costs must 

be accrued for qualifying assets (for a definition of qualifying assets, 

see the information under “self-developed software and other develop-

ment costs”). 

due to the way the corporation is internally managed and to increase 

transparency, finance costs included in operating results are eliminated 

in the reconciliation for the earnings before interest and taxes (eBit).

Government grants
in accordance with ias 20, government grants are recognized only if 

there is reasonable assurance that the conditions attaching to them 

will be complied with and that the grants will be received. government 

grants related to assets (e. g. investment subsidies and allowances) are 

deducted from the acquisition or production costs of the relevant asset. 

grants related to income are recognized immediately in the income 

statement.

Finance and operating lease
in the vast majority of cases, kUka group acts as the lessee. in connec-

tion with finance leases, ownership is attributed to the lessee in cases 

in which the lessee assumes substantially all the risks and rewards 

incidental to ownership (ias 17). in such cases, leases are capitalized 

as of the date of the lease agreement at their fair value or at the lower 

present value of the minimum lease payments. depreciation is recog-

nized by the straight-line method over the useful life or over the lease 

term if it is shorter. the discounted value of payment commitments in 

connection with the lease payments is disclosed under other liabilities.

Finance lease agreements for which kUka group is the lessor are rec-

ognized as a sales and financing transaction. a receivable is valued at 

the amount of the net investment in the lease and the interest income 

is recognized in the income statement.

to the extent that kUka group has entered into operating leases (as a 

lessee) according to ias 17, lease or rent payments are directly recog-

nized as an expense in the income statement and distributed using the 

straight-line method over the term of the leasing agreement, unless a 

different systematic basis more closely corresponds with the utilization 

period. relevant total future costs are reported in note 28.
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Financial instruments
kUka group holds both primary financial instruments (e. g. trade 

receivables or trade payables) and derivative financial instruments (e. g. 

transactions to hedge the risks of changes in fair value).

derivative financial instruments are financial contracts whose value 

is derived from the price of an underlying asset (e. g. stocks, bonds, 

money market instruments or commodities) or a reference rate (such 

as currencies, indices or interest rates). they require little or no initial 

investment and are settled at a future date. examples of derivative 

financial instruments include options, forward contracts and interest 

rate swap transactions. kUka group only uses derivative financial instru-

ments to hedge foreign currency risk.

ias 39 differentiates between the following categories of financial 

instruments that are relevant for kUka group:

• loans and receivables

• Financial instruments held to maturity

• Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading

• available-for-sale financial assets

• Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

•  as a general rule, financial instruments are initially recognized when 

the asset is delivered to or by kUka (settlement date accounting). sub-

sequent measurement takes place either at fair value or at amortized 

cost, depending on the measurement category.

•  measurement of loans and receivables, financial instruments held 

to maturity and other financial liabilities takes place at amortized 

cost after initial recognition.

•  subsequent measurement of financial assets or financial liabilities 

held for trading takes place at fair value through profit or loss.

•  available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair 

value but are not recognized in profit or loss.

Derivatives
kUka group recognizes all derivatives at fair value as of the settle-

ment date. the fair value is determined with the aid of standard finan-

cial mathematical techniques, using current market parameters such 

as exchange rates and counterparty credit ratings (mark-to-market 

method) or quoted prices. middle rates are used for this calculation.

derivatives are used to hedge currency fluctuations. accounting for 

hedging instruments within the restrictive framework of the hedge 

accounting rules is not undertaken.

Investments in non-consolidated companies  
and financial investments
in the kUka group, investments in continuing business units that are 

not material to the financial position and performance of the group are 

reported under available-for-sale financial assets. they are recognized 

at cost of purchase. Current market values are not available, since no 

shares are traded in an active market.

Receivables and other assets
receivables and other assets are recognized at amortized cost, apply-

ing the effective interest method with appropriate discounts for all 

identified individual risks. general credit risk, if detectable, is also 

accounted for by appropriate valuation allowances. For this purpose, 

these financial assets are grouped in accordance with similar default risk 

characteristics and are collectively tested for impairment, and written 

down if necessary. when calculating any such impairment losses, the 

empirical default history is taken into account in addition to contractu-

ally stipulated payment flows.

the carrying amount of the assets is lowered using separate allowance 

accounts for impairment losses. actual defaults result in a write-off of 

the receivables in question. the maximum theoretically possible default 

risk corresponds to the carrying amounts. the carrying amounts largely 

correspond to the market values.

derivatives with a positive fair value are recognized under other assets.
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Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at cost and include all cash 

funds recognized on the balance sheet, i. e. cash on hand, checks and 

cash balances at financial institutions with a remaining term of three 

months or less.

Liabilities
liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet at amortized cost. paya-

bles arising from finance leases are recognized at the present value of 

future lease payments.

long-term liabilities with a term of more than one year are discounted 

to the balance sheet date on the basis of appropriate interest rates 

where the interest effect is material.

on initial recognition, financial liabilities are carried at fair value less 

transaction costs. they are measured at amortized cost in subsequent 

periods; any difference between the amount paid out (less transaction 

costs) and the settlement value is recognized in the interest result for 

the term of the loan using the effective interest method. Fees incurred 

when setting up credit lines are capitalized as credit transaction costs 

and are recognized as interest expense over the term of the correspond-

ing loan commitment. 

trade payables also include payments due on outstanding supplier 

invoices. kUka group launched a “supplier finance” program for the 

purpose of managing trade payables. a separate agreement is made 

for each supplier based on a framework agreement with banks in which 

the supplier can discount authorized receivables at the bank at any 

time (i. e. those that have been approved by kUka). kUka group pays 

the liability to the bank on the due date, irrespective of the supplier’s 

discounting date. this gives both suppliers and kUka added flexibility 

and security.

 

if the fair value of derivatives is negative, this results in recognition 

under other liabilities.

Inventories
according to ias 2, inventories are valued at average cost of acquisition 

or production. in addition to the direct unit costs, production costs 

also include appropriate costs for indirect materials and production 

overheads according to ias 2. write-downs to lower net realizable value 

have been taken to the extent required. in addition to valuation allowing 

disposal at no net loss, these write-downs also cover all other inventory 

risk. if the reasons that led to a devaluation of inventories in the past 

no longer exist, impairment losses are reversed.

Current and deferred taxes
tax receivables and liabilities are assessed using the expected amount 

of the reimbursement from or payment to the tax authorities.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded according to ias 12 for 

all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities on the group balance sheet and their recognized value for 

tax purposes (liability method) as well as for tax loss carryforwards. 

deferred tax assets for accounting and valuation differences as well as 

for tax loss carryforwards are only recognized to the extent that there 

is a sufficiently probable expectation that the corresponding benefit 

will be realized in the future. deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 

discounted. deferred tax assets are netted against deferred tax liabilities 

if the tax creditor is the same.

Pension provisions and similar obligations
the measurement of pension provisions and similar obligations is per-

formed according to ias 19. pensions and similar obligations comprise 

obligations of kUka group to pay benefits under defined benefit plans. 

Company obligations from defined benefit plans are determined sepa-

rately for each defined benefit plan according to actuarial principles. 

First the retirement benefits are estimated that employees have earned 

in return for their service in the current period and prior periods. then 

these benefits are discounted using the projected unit credit method. 

in addition to known pensions and vested benefits as of the balance 

sheet date, this method also takes expected future increases in salaries 

and pensions into account. the calculation is based on actuarial reports 

that must be prepared annually based on biometric data. actuarial gains 

are recognized in the period in which they arise in other comprehensive 

income. the company determines the net interest expense (net interest 

income) by multiplying the net liability (net asset value) at the begin-

ning of the period with the underlying interest rate of the discount of 

the gross defined benefit pension obligation at the beginning of the 
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period. past service cost due to changes to the plan is recognized directly 

in the period in which the change occurs. the standard return on plan 

assets is recognized in the amount of the discount rate applied to pen-

sion obligations. administrative expenses for plan assets are recognized 

as part of the revaluation component in other comprehensive income, 

whereas other administrative costs are allocated to operating profit at 

the time the costs are incurred. insurers hold reinsurance coverage for 

excess obligations from pre-retirement schemes (altersteilzeit) based 

on the “block model”. this is recognized using the same interest rate 

as the corresponding liability. the amount added for obligations from 

pre-retirement schemes is proportional to the amounts in the applicable 

collective bargaining agreements.

Other provisions
other provisions are recognized in the event that there is a current 

obligation to third parties arising from a past event. it must be possible 

to estimate the amount reliably, which must then more likely than not 

lead to an outflow of future resources. provisions are only recognized 

for legal and constructive obligations to third parties.

provisions are recognized for costs of restructuring to the extent that a 

detailed, formal restructuring plan has been created and communicated 

to the parties affected by it and it is highly probable that the company 

can no longer withdraw from these obligations.

no provisions are recognized for future expenses, since these do not 

represent an external obligation.

liabilities in the personnel area such as vacation pay, flex-time credits 

and the statutory german pre-retirement scheme (altersteilzeit) are 

recognized under other liabilities.

liabilities for outstanding vendor invoices are recognized under trade 

payables.

long-term provisions with a term of more than one year are discounted 

to the balance sheet date on the basis of appropriate interest rates 

where the interest effect is material.

Share-based compensation 
also in this year kUka employees of german companies had the oppor-

tunity to purchase kUka shares as part of an employee share program. 

arranged according to a holding period (vesting period) of one, three 

and five years, employees receive an additional share as a bonus share 

for every ten kUka shares acquired. rights to additional shares are for-

feited if the employment relationship of the beneficiary is terminated 

before the end of the vesting period. a 50 percent incentive was granted 

in addition to the subscribed shares. the total number of incentive 

shares was limited to 75,000 as in the previous year. kUka employees 

acquired a total of 32,130 shares; 16,065 incentive shares were credited. 

the market value of kUka shares at the performance date was € 34.41 

(2012: € 18.70) per share. this results in an expense of € 0.6 million 

(2012: € 1.0 million) for the 2013 financial year, which was recognized 

as personnel expenses. 

in addition to the employee share program, kUka also has an annual 

phantom share program for the executive management team, which 

was introduced in 2012. the phantom share program for the years 2013 

to 2015 is measured as a cash-settled, share-based compensation instru-

ment using the fair value at each respective balance sheet date. the 

measurement parameters correspond to the phantom share program 

of kUka aktiengesellschaft’s executive board. the entitlements are paid 

out at the end of the contractually agreed period. early payment is pos-

sible only under certain conditions when leaving the group. an amount 

of € 4.6 million (2012: € 1.5 million) was set aside at december 31, 

2013 for future claims arising from the phantom share program for the 

executive management team. see the compensation report for further 

details about the structure of the phantom share program.

19FinanCial statements



assumptions and estimates

kUka prepares its consolidated financial statements in compliance 

with the iFrss mandatory in the eU. in certain cases it is necessary 

for management to make assumptions and estimates. this is common 

practice in the preparation of the group’s consolidated financial state-

ments. these assumptions and estimates may change over time and 

differ from the actual amounts determined at a later time. moreover, 

management could have made different assumptions and estimates 

in the same reporting period for similarly justifiable reasons. in the 

application of accounting policies, the company has made the following 

discretionary decisions, which have a significant effect on the amounts 

in the annual financial statements. these do not include those decisions 

that represent estimates.

it is necessary to make assumptions and estimates, in particular when 

addressing the following accounting items:

• development costs

• goodwill impairments

• deferred tax assets

• trade receivables

• receivables and liabilities from construction contracts

• pensions and other post-employment benefits

• provisions

Development costs
development costs are recognized as assets in accordance with the 

methods described under accounting policies. For the purpose of testing 

the potential impairment of the amounts recognized as assets, manage-

ment must make assumptions concerning the expected future cash flows 

from assets, the applicable discount rates and the timing of the inflow of 

expected future cash flows. moreover, assumptions must be made regard-

ing cost yet to be incurred and the period until completion for projects 

that are still in the development stage.

Goodwill impairments
assets recognized as goodwill are tested at least once a year for impair-

ment in the kUka group. this requires an estimate to be made of the 

value in use for each cash generating unit to which the goodwill has 

been allocated. to determine the value in use, management must esti-

mate the future cash flows of the respective cash generating units and 

select an appropriate discount rate for calculating the present value of 

these cash flows. the selected discount rate, for example, is influenced 

by volatility in capital markets and interest rate trends. the expected 

cash flows are also influenced by fluctuations in exchange rates and the 

expected economic developments. Furthermore, continuous review is 

necessary to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 

in addition to changes in individual parameters that affect computation 

such as a significant increase in market yields, a particular focus is placed 

on changes with an adverse effect on the company in the technological, 

market, economic or legal environment in which it operates. For details 

about the carrying amounts of the assets recognized as goodwill and 

the performance of the impairment tests please refer to the discussion 

under note 8.

Deferred tax assets
deferred tax assets for loss carryforwards are recognized to the extent 

that it is probable that taxable income will be available such that the 

loss carryforwards can actually be used. the determination of the 

amount of deferred tax assets requires an estimate on the part of 

management of the expected timing and amount of anticipated future 

taxable earnings as well as future tax planning strategies. For details 

please refer to the discussion under note 5.

Trade receivables
impairment of doubtful receivables involves making significant esti-

mates and assessments regarding individual receivables based on the 

creditworthiness of the respective customer, the current economic 

trends and the analysis of historical bad debts on a portfolio basis. as 

far as the company derives the impairment on a portfolio basis using 

historical default rates, a decrease in the volume of receivables reduces 

such provisions accordingly and vice versa.
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Receivables and liabilities from construction contracts
long-term construction contracts are recognized using the percentage 

of completion method. a significant share of business in the systems 

segment in particular is related to long-term construction contracts. 

revenues are reported based on the percentage of completion. a careful 

estimate of the progress toward completion is essential here. depending 

on the method used to determine the percentage of completion, the 

most important estimates include the total order costs, the costs yet 

to be incurred until completion, the total project revenues and risks as 

well as other assessments. the management team responsible for the 

respective project continuously monitors all estimates on a monthly 

basis and adjusts these as needed.

Pensions and other post-employment benefits
expenditures under defined-benefit plans and other post-employment 

benefits are determined on the basis of actuarial calculations. the actu-

arial calculations are prepared on the basis of assumptions with respect 

to discount rates, future increases in wages and salaries, mortality rates 

and future pension increases. in line with the long-term orientation of 

these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainties. 

please see note 22 for further details. 

Provisions
to a large degree, the designation and measurement of provisions for 

impending losses from contracts, of provisions for warranty obligations 

and of litigation provisions involve making estimates.

 

long-term construction contracts in particular are awarded based on 

invitations to tender. kUka recognizes a provision for impending losses 

when the current estimated total costs arising from the respective con-

tract exceed the expected total revenue. these estimates may change 

due to new knowledge as the project progresses. deficit orders are 

identified based on continuous project costing. this requires an assess-

ment of the performance standards and warranty costs. 

kUka group is confronted with litigation in different areas. these pro-

ceedings can lead to criminal or civil sanctions or fines. a provision is 

always recognized when it is likely an obligation will result that will 

lead to future cash outflows and the amount of which can be reliably 

assessed. the underlying issues are often complex and associated with 

great uncertainties. Judgment whether a present obligation arising from 

a past event is to be recognized on the balance sheet date, whether 

future cash outflows are probable and the obligation can be reliably 

assessed is therefore largely at the discretion of management. the 

company, with the assistance of external legal professionals, regularly 

assesses the respective stage of the proceeding. new findings can 

change the assessment and it may be necessary to adjust the provi-

sion accordingly. For further details please refer to note 23.

Changes in accounting policies

kUka group did not apply any standards or interpretations for the first 

time in the 2013 financial year that have a material effect on the group's 

financial position or performance. the following revised standards were 

applied for the first time in the 2013 financial year:

• ias 19 (revised 2011), employee Benefits

• iFrs 13, Fair value measurement

• improvements to iFrs (2009 – 2011)

•  amendments to iFrs 7, Financial instruments: disclosures –  

offsetting Financial assets and Financial liabilities

• amendments to iFrs 1, government loans

• iFiC 20, stripping Costs in the production phase of a surface mine
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IAS 19 (revised 2011) – Employee Benefits
the revision of ias 19 (revised 2011), “employee Benefits”, eliminated 

the elections for the treatment of actuarial gains and losses. gains are 

now recognized in the period in which they arise, as was previously the 

case, in other comprehensive income. moreover, returns on plan assets 

are recognized in profit or loss based on the returns from corporate 

bonds – independent of the actual portfolio structure. past service cost 

due to changes to the plan is recognized directly in the period in which 

the change occurs. in addition, the standard return on plan assets is 

now recognized in the amount of the discount rate applied to pension 

obligations. 

effective 2013, administrative expenses for plan assets are recognized 

as part of the revaluation component in other comprehensive income, 

whereas other administrative costs are allocated to operating profit at 

the time the costs are incurred. overall, the changes have no material 

impact on kUka group’s pension obligations.

ias 19 (revised 2011) also has an impact on the accounting of pre-retire-

ment (altersteilzeit) obligations according to the “block model”. insurers 

hold reinsurance coverage for excess obligations. this is recognized 

using the same interest rate as the corresponding liability. the amount 

added for obligations from pre-retirement schemes is now proportional 

to the amounts in the applicable collective bargaining agreements.

ias 19 (revised 2011) is to be applied retrospectively. however, since 

there is no material impact on kUka group’s earnings, no adjustments 

to previous periods will be made.

in detail, the amendments to ias 19 (revised 2011) will have the fol-

lowing impact on equity – before accounting for deferred taxes – for 

pension provisions and obligations related to pre-retirement schemes:

in € millions as of Jan. 1, 2012 Jan. 1 –  
Dec. 31, 2012

pension provisions 0.1 0.1

pre-retirement obligations 1.1 -0.2

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement
iFrs 13 describes how to determine fair value and expands the disclo-

sures on fair value. the standard does not include any requirements 

regarding the cases in which fair value is to be used. here, fair value is 

defined as the price that would be paid by independent market partici-

pants in an arm’s length transaction on the measurement date if an 

asset were sold or a liability transferred. in accordance with iFrs 13, 

assets and liabilities measured at market values are to be attributed to 

the three levels of the fair value hierarchy. the three levels of the fair 

value hierarchy are defined as follows:

Level 1
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2
inputs other than quoted prices that are observable either directly or 

indirectly

Level 3
inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market 

data.

affected by this in the kUka group are primarily forward exchange 

transactions carried as an asset (€ 3.6 million; prior year: € 1.7 million) 

and those carried as a liability (€ 2.2 million; prior year: € 5.0 million). 

these are measured according to level 2. the value is determined with 

the aid of standard financial mathematical techniques, using current 

market parameters such as exchange rates and counterparty credit rat-

ings (mark-to-market method) or quoted prices. middle rates are used 

for this calculation. the initial application has no effect on the group’s 

financial position and performance.

Annual Improvement Project 2009 – 2011 
the iasB issued amendments in may 2012 as part of its “minor editorial 

amendments to various standards”; these included amendments to 

ias 1 “presentation of Financial statements”, ias 16 “property, plant and 

equipment”, ias 32 “Financial instruments: presentation” and ias 34 

“interim Financial reporting”. the initial application has no effect on 

the group’s financial position and performance. the amendments to 

ias 1 “presentation of Financial statements” result in a restructuring of 

how the statement of comprehensive income is presented. in particular, 

items that can be reposted to the income statement (e. g. recycled in 

case of derecognition) must now be reported separately from items 

where this is not the case.

1 kUka aktiengesellsChaFt
annUal report 2013



IFRS standards and interpretations that are  
not yet mandatory
the following new and amended standards and interpretations had been 

issued by the preparation date of the group’s consolidated financial 

statements. however, these will become effective at a later date. the 

initial application always occurs in the year in which first-time adoption 

is required. their impact on the consolidated financial statements has 

not yet been completely analyzed. Consequently, the anticipated effects 

only represent a first estimate.

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements
iFrs 10 replaces the guidance on control and consolidation provided 

by ias 27 “Consolidated and separate Financial statements” and 

siC 12 “Consolidation – special purpose entities”. the new standard 

changes the definition of “control” so that the same criteria are used 

to determine control over all companies. discretionary power and vari-

able returns are prerequisites for control. we do not expect this new 

standard to affect the consolidated financial statements of kUka group. 

this standard is mandatory in the eU for financial years starting on or 

after January 1, 2014. 

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements
this new standard introduces two types of joint arrangements: joint 

operations and joint ventures. the prior election of proportionate 

consolidation for jointly controlled entities has been eliminated. the 

equity method of accounting is now mandatory for partners in a joint 

venture. Currently there are no joint arrangements in the kUka group, 

therefore it is not expected that the standard will have any impact on 

the company. this standard is mandatory in the eU for financial years 

starting on or after January 1, 2014. 

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
this new standard supersedes the current disclosures included in 

ias 28 and determines the required disclosures for entities that report 

in accordance with the two new standards “iFrs 10 – Consolidated 

Financial statements” and “iFrs 11 – Joint arrangements”. the new 

standard is expected to increase the scope of disclosure for notes. this 

standard is mandatory in the eU for financial years starting on or after 

January 1, 2014. 

in addition to the aforementioned standards, we expect the further 

standards, standard adjustments and interpretations to have little or 

no material impact on kUka aktiengesellschaft’s consolidated financial 

statements. altogether, the following standards, standard adjustments 

and interpretations have already been approved and in part already 

adopted into eU law:

standard / interpretation effective date planned
application by

kUka ag

iFrs 10, Consolidated Financial
statements

January 1, 2014 financial 2014

iFrs 11, Joint arrangements January 1, 2014 financial 2014

iFrs 12, disclosure of interests in other
entities

January 1, 2014 financial 2014

revision of ias 27, Consolidated and
separate Financial statements

January 1, 2014 financial 2014

revision of ias 28, investments  
in associates and Joint ventures

January 1, 2014 financial 2014

amendments to ias 32, adjustment for
offsetting Financial assets and Financial
liabilities

January 1, 2014 financial 2014

investments entities amendments to  
iFrs 10, iFrs 12 and ias 28

January 1, 2014 financial 2014

amendments to ias 36 recoverable 
amount disclosures for non-Financial 
assets

January 1, 2014 financial 2014

amendments to ias 39 novation of 
 derivatives

January 1, 2014 financial 2014

iFriC 21 levies January 1, 2014 financial 2014 *

amendments to ias 19,  
employee Contributions

July 1, 2014 financial 2015 *

annual improvements 2010 – 2012 July 1, 2014 financial 2015 *

annual improvements 2011 – 2013 July 1, 2014 financial 2015 *

iFrs 9 Financial instruments January 1, 2015 financial 2015 *

amendments to iFrs 9 and iFrs 7: 
 disclosures – effective date of transfer

January 1, 2015 financial 2015 *

iFrs 14 regulatory deferral accounts January 1, 2016 financial 2016 *

* pending adoption (endorsement) by the european Union.
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eXpLANATiON Of iTeMs iN THe 
 fiNANCiAL sTATeMeNTs

NOTes TO THe grOup iNCOMe 
 sTATeMeNT

1 sales revenues

sales revenues include fees and charges billed to customers for goods 

and services less any sales deductions. sales revenues primarily include 

delivered products and downstream services. services account for 

€ 145.0 million (19.2 percent) in sales revenues in the robotics divi-

sion as compared to € 131.9 million (17.8 percent) reported last year. 

services play a less significant role in the systems division. the break-

down of sales revenues by business division and region is shown in 

group segment reporting.

in connection with construction contracts, sales revenues in the amount 

of € 902.7 million were recognized in the reporting year (compared 

to € 879.1 million in the prior year) according to the percentage of 

completion method.

2  Cost of sales, selling expenses, research & 
development expenses and general and 
 administrative expenses

the following is a breakdown of the cost of sales, selling expenses, 

research and development expenses and general and administrative 

expenses:

  

Cost of sales selling expenses research and
development

expenses

general and
administrative

expenses

total

in € millions 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013

Cost of materials 1,038.0 931.0 2.4 2.3 9.7 7.3 0.2 0.1 1,050.3 940.7

personnel expense 294.0 320.9 61.3 69.0 27.1 31.7 52.7 61.7 435.1 483.3

amortization 13.0 14.4 1.4 1.8 8.7 16.4 5.6 5.6 28.7 38.2

other expenses and income 8.3 69.7 54.6 57.1 -2.9 4.3 40.1 42.6 100.1 173.7

Total 1,353.3 1,336.0 119.7 130.2 42.6 59.7 98.6 110.0 1,614.2 1,635.9

the cost of sales comprised under other expenses includes finance costs 

for receivables from construction contracts totaling € 6.5 million com-

pared to € 7.3 the previous year. this was calculated on the basis of the 

group capitalization rate of 6.1 percent (2012: 6.6 percent). research 

and development expenses include depreciation in the amount of 

€ 0.2 million (2012: € 0.0 million) related to borrowing costs capital-

ized in previous years.

personnel costs are directly allocated to the functional areas, which 

results in the following figures:

in € millions 2012 2013

wages and salaries 365.8 406.1

social security payments and
contributions for

retirement benefits and provident funds 69.3 77.2

(of that for retirement benefits) (4.4) (6.0)

Total 435.1 483.3
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annual average employees and employees at the balance sheet date 

by kUka group:

 

annual average Balance sheet date

total 2012 Total 2013 total 2012 Total 2013 of that, germany of that, abroad

manufacturing 5,251 5,735 5,380 5,934 2,483 3,451

sales 627 706 660 744 368 376

administration 607 655 631 685 375 310

research and development 307 341 325 360 354 6

trainees 38 40 38 31 20 11

 6,830 7,477 7,034 7,754 3,600 4,154

apprentices 198 207 230 236 212 24

Employees 7,028 7,684 7,264 7,990 3,812 4,178

3  other operating income and expenses

the line items under other operating income and expenses capture 

income and expenses that are not allocated to the functional categories 

cost of sales, selling expenses, research and development expenses, 

general and administrative expenses or otherwise reported separately.

in € millions 2012 2013

income from foreign currency transactions 24.2 23.4

reimbursements from damages claims 0.1 0.1

other income 7.5 8.0

Other operating income 31.8 31.5

expenses for foreign currency transactions 30.8 39.0

donations 0.1 0.2

other taxes 13.2 8.5

other expenses 10.2 8.7

Other operating expenses 54.3 56.4

Other�operating�income�and�expenses -22.5 -24.9

4 Financial result

in € millions 2012 2013

interest income from finance lease 7.1 6.5

remaining interest and similar income 2.5 2.3

Other interest and similar income 9.6 8.8

guarantee commission 2.6 1.5

interest expense for the convertible bond – 4.1

interest expense for the corporate bond 18.8 24.0

deferred transaction costs of syndicated 
senior Facilities agreement (2010) 1.4 1.7

Financing costs reclassified to operating
results -7.8 -6.9

remaining interest and similar expenses 7.4 4.4

Remaining interest and similar expenses 22.4 28.8

Financial�result -12.8 -20.0

remaining interest and similar income comes from short-term deposits 

of cash and cash equivalents at banks. remaining interest and simi-

lar expenses include the net interest component under ias 19 in the 

amount of € 2.4 million. (2012: € 0.3 million return on plan assets; 

€ 3.4 million interest expense for pension provisions).
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Financing costs reclassified to operating results and capitalized concern 

finance costs to be accrued according to ias 23. remaining interest and 

expenses primarily include ongoing expenses for accessing cash lines 

from the syndicated senior Facilities agreement. the deferred transac-

tion costs of the syndicated loan (2010) include a one-time charge in the 

amount of € 0.4 million from the early termination of the agreement.

interest expense for the corporate bond includes a non-recurring item in 

the amount of € 6.5 million from the buyback of nominal € 42.6 million 

in shares at market rates.

5  taxes on income / deferred taxes

Tax expense
income tax expense breaks down by origin as follows:

in € millions 2012 2013

Current taxes 25.6 27.8

(of that relating to other periods) 0.2 -0.9

deferred taxes 8.5 7.6

from temporary differences 7.2 -1.1

from loss carryforwards 1.3 8.7

Total 34.1 35.4

of the current expenses for tax on earnings, € 4.8 million is attributable 

to domestic expenditure compared to € 4.5 million in the previous year, 

whereas € 23.0 million is attributable to foreign expenditure compared 

to € 21.1 million last year.

deferred tax expenses of € 7.5 million are attributable to domestic opera-

tions and € 0.1 million to foreign. this compares with the figures from 

the previous year of € 7.2 million and € 1.3 million, respectively.

the expected tax expense based on earnings before taxes and the appli-

cable tax rate for the kUka companies in germany of 30.0 percent (2012: 

unchanged) leads to the following actual tax expense:

in € millions 2012 2013

Earnings before tax expense 89.6 93.7

Expected tax expense 26.9 28.1

tax rate-related differences 5.1 3.8

tax reductions due to tax-exempt income -1.6 -4.4

tax increases due to non-deductible 
expenses 2.2 3.1

tax arrears (+) / tax credits received (–)
for prior years -1.2 -2.7

Changes to allowance on deferred taxes 4.7 10.2

First-time recognition of previously 
 unrecognized deferred tax assets on  
tax loss carry-forward -1.8 -1.7

other differences -0.2 -1.0

Taxes�on�income�(actual�tax�expense) 34.1 35.4

the applicable tax rate in germany comprises corporate income tax 

(körperschaftsteuer) of 15.0 percent, earned income tax (gewerbe steuer) 

based on a uniform tax rate of 14.2 percent and the reunification tax 

(solidaritätszuschlag) of 5.5 percent.

in principle, deferred taxes were recognized on the basis of the appli-

cable tax rate for each company in question.

in addition to an existing corporate income tax credit, an amount equal 

to € 4.8 million (2012: € 6.3 million) results after discounting as a non-

current tax receivable effective december 31, 2013, and an amount of 

€ 1.8 million (2012: unchanged) as a current tax receivable.

there are no tax credits for which deferred taxes would need to be 

accounted.

Current tax income in other accounting periods totaling € 0.9 million 

(2012: € 0.2 million expense) is primarily the result of corrections in 

foreign operations.

there are currently still no material conclusions for the new domestic 

audit period 2005 to 2008.
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Deferred taxes
the value of deferred tax assets and liabilities due to temporary differ-

ences and tax loss carryforwards in the group is associated with the 

following items:

deferred tax assets deferred tax liabilities

in € millions dec. 31, 
2012

Dec. 31, 
2013

dec. 31, 
2012

Dec. 31, 
2013

non-current assets 4.4 7.6 44.8 29.3

Current assets 62.6 48.3 71.3 54.4

provisions 24.5 20.0 2.7 16.5

liabilities 27.2 30.7 9.0 17.4

Subtotal 118.7 106.6 127.8 117.6

Balancing item -101.6 -93.1 -101.6 -93.1

valuation allowance -4.7 -2.6 – –

Subtotal 12.4 10.9 26.2 24.5

deferred taxes on temporary
differences 12.4 10.9 26.2 24.5

deferred taxes on tax loss
carryforwards 23.9 14.7 – –

Total 36.3 25.6 26.2 24.5

thereof: from items
recognized in equity -4.5 -2.5

valuation allowances to the carrying amount of deferred tax assets are 

recognized if the realization of the expected benefit of the deferred taxes 

is not sufficiently probable. the estimates made are subject to change 

over time, which may result in the reversal of the valuation allowance 

in subsequent periods.

the recognized values on the balance sheet are written off in the event 

that the tax benefits that they represent were no longer expected to 

be realized.

From the loss carryforwards and carried interest of € 223.9 million (2012: 

€ 232.3 million), amounts totaling € 174.0 million (2012: € 150.9 million) 

are not considered in the accounting of deferred taxes. 

deferred tax income in the amount of € 1.7 million (2012: € 1.8 million) 

results from the recognition of deferred tax receivables on loss carryfor-

wards from earlier periods which until now had not been included in or 

written down from the tax accrual / deferral. deferred tax assets previ-

ously recognized and accrued but not recognized in the current year in 

the amount of € 10.2 million (2012: € 4.7 million) were not recognized.

in accordance with ias 12, deferred tax items must be recognized for the 

difference between the proportionate equity of a subsidiary recognized 

on the group balance sheet and the investment carrying amount of this 

subsidiary on the tax balance sheet of the parent company (so-called 

outside basis differences) if it is likely that this difference will be real-

ized. since both kUka aktiengesellschaft and the subsidiaries in ques-

tion are corporations, these differences are predominantly tax exempt 

under section 8b of the Corporation tax law (kstg) upon realization 

and thus permanent in nature. according to ias 12.39, no deferred 

tax liability should be recognized even for temporary differences (e. g. 

those resulting from the five percent flat-rate allocation under section 

8b kstg) if it is not likely, given control by the parent company, that 

these differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. since no such 

reversal is expected, no deferred tax items had to be recognized on the 

balance sheet for this purpose. there are outside basis differences in 

the amount of € 3.2 million (2012: € 1.9 million).

overall, the change to deferred tax assets and liabilities of € 9.0 million 

(2012: € 4.9 million) came from amounts affecting net income totaling 

€ 7.6 million (2012: € 8.5 million) as well as amounts not affecting net 

income due to changes in pension obligations and currency effects.

to the extent that loss carryforwards have not been written off, it is 

expected in the planning period that this tax-reducing potential will be 

utilized via taxable income, which is likely based on the expectations 

of group companies.

6 earnings per share

Undiluted / diluted earnings per share break down as follows:

2012 2013

net income / loss for the year after 
 minority interests (in € millions) 55.6 58.3

weighted average number of shares
outstanding 33,915,431 33,915,431

Earnings�per�share�(in�€) 1.64 1.72

Undiluted earnings per share due to shareholders of kUka aktiengesells-

chaft were calculated as per ias 33 on the basis of group consolidated 

earnings after taxes and the weighted average number of shares out-

standing for the year. some stock dilution could arise in the future if 

bondholders convert their convertible bonds issued in 2013 to shares, 

because capital was conditionally increased. during the reporting period 

the average price of the shares on the stock market was higher than the 

conversion price on 16 days. however, no conversion was made. on the 

last day of trading in 2013 the closing price for shares in xetra trading 

on the Frankfurt stock exchange was € 34.05, which was clearly below 

the conversion price. this would have resulted in a loss if bondholders 

had converted, so there was no dilution at the balance sheet date.
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NOTes TO THe grOup bALANCe sHeeT: 
AsseTs

7 Fixed assets

Schedule of changes in KUKA Group’s fixed assets 2013 

acquisition / manufacturing costs accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Net carrying
amount

in € millions status as of
Jan. 1, 2013

exchange rate
differences

additions additions 
through business 

 combinations

disposals reclassifications status as of
dec. 31, 2013

status as of
Jan. 1, 2013

 exchange rate
differences 

additions disposals status as of
dec. 31, 2013

Status as of
Dec. 31, 2013

I. Intangible assets

 1. rights and similar assets 52.4 -0.7 8.5 2.6 1.7 0.0 61.1 42.9 -0.6 6.3 1.7 46.9 14.2

 2.  self-developed software and other 
 development costs 34.1 -0.1 9.1 – 11.6 – 31.5 11.4 – 13.6 11.6 13.4 18.1

 3. goodwill 56.6 -0.4 – 10.2 – – 66.4 7.0 – – – 7.0 59.4

 4. advances paid 1.1 – 0.1 0.4 0.0 0.8 – – 0.4 0.4 – 0.8

144.2 -1.2 17.7 12.8 13.7 0.0 159.8 61.3 -0.6 20.3 13.7 67.3 92.5

II. Tangible assets

 1.  land, similar rights and buildings including 
buildings on land owned by third parties 117.1 -0.9 4.7 0.2 1.9 1.7 120.9 71.8 -0.2 3.1 1.7 73.0 47.9

 2. technical plant and equipment 105.4 -0.6 14.6 1.7 2.9 3.8 122.0 79.5 -0.3 7.0 2.6 83.6 38.4

 3.  other equipment, factory and office 
 equipment 78.5 -1.1 10.1 0.1 5.9 1.3 83.0 59.7 -0.7 7.8 5.4 61.4 21.6

 4. advances paid and construction in progress 4.9 – 27.6 0.0 – -6.8 25.7 – – – – – 25.7

305.9 -2.6 57.0 2.0 10.7 0.0 351.6 211.0 -1.2 17.9 9.7 218.0 133.6

III. Financial investments

 1. participations in affiliated companies 4.6 – – – – – 4.6 4.5 – – – 4.5 0.1

 2. other participations 0.9 – – – – – 0.9 0.8 – – – 0.8 0.1

 3. other loans – – – – – – – – – – – – –

5.5 – – – – – 5.5 5.3 – – – 5.3 0.2

455.6 -3.8 74.7 14.8 24.4 0.0 516.9 277.6 -1.8 38.2 23.4 290.6 226.3

the following amounts have been capitalized under technical plant 

and equipment due to finance leases in which kUka group acts as the 

lessee. the additions of the financial year are related to the acquisition 

of the romanian company.

technical plant and equipment 4.5 – 0.4 0.2 – 4.7 3.8 – 0.3 0.2 3.9 0.8
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NOTes TO THe grOup bALANCe sHeeT: 
AsseTs

7 Fixed assets

Schedule of changes in KUKA Group’s fixed assets 2013 

acquisition / manufacturing costs accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Net carrying
amount

in € millions status as of
Jan. 1, 2013

exchange rate
differences

additions additions 
through business 

 combinations

disposals reclassifications status as of
dec. 31, 2013

status as of
Jan. 1, 2013

 exchange rate
differences 

additions disposals status as of
dec. 31, 2013

Status as of
Dec. 31, 2013

I. Intangible assets

 1. rights and similar assets 52.4 -0.7 8.5 2.6 1.7 0.0 61.1 42.9 -0.6 6.3 1.7 46.9 14.2

 2.  self-developed software and other 
 development costs 34.1 -0.1 9.1 – 11.6 – 31.5 11.4 – 13.6 11.6 13.4 18.1

 3. goodwill 56.6 -0.4 – 10.2 – – 66.4 7.0 – – – 7.0 59.4

 4. advances paid 1.1 – 0.1 0.4 0.0 0.8 – – 0.4 0.4 – 0.8

144.2 -1.2 17.7 12.8 13.7 0.0 159.8 61.3 -0.6 20.3 13.7 67.3 92.5

II. Tangible assets

 1.  land, similar rights and buildings including 
buildings on land owned by third parties 117.1 -0.9 4.7 0.2 1.9 1.7 120.9 71.8 -0.2 3.1 1.7 73.0 47.9

 2. technical plant and equipment 105.4 -0.6 14.6 1.7 2.9 3.8 122.0 79.5 -0.3 7.0 2.6 83.6 38.4

 3.  other equipment, factory and office 
 equipment 78.5 -1.1 10.1 0.1 5.9 1.3 83.0 59.7 -0.7 7.8 5.4 61.4 21.6

 4. advances paid and construction in progress 4.9 – 27.6 0.0 – -6.8 25.7 – – – – – 25.7

305.9 -2.6 57.0 2.0 10.7 0.0 351.6 211.0 -1.2 17.9 9.7 218.0 133.6

III. Financial investments

 1. participations in affiliated companies 4.6 – – – – – 4.6 4.5 – – – 4.5 0.1

 2. other participations 0.9 – – – – – 0.9 0.8 – – – 0.8 0.1

 3. other loans – – – – – – – – – – – – –

5.5 – – – – – 5.5 5.3 – – – 5.3 0.2

455.6 -3.8 74.7 14.8 24.4 0.0 516.9 277.6 -1.8 38.2 23.4 290.6 226.3

the following amounts have been capitalized under technical plant 

and equipment due to finance leases in which kUka group acts as the 

lessee. the additions of the financial year are related to the acquisition 

of the romanian company.

technical plant and equipment 4.5 – 0.4 0.2 – 4.7 3.8 – 0.3 0.2 3.9 0.8
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Schedule of changes in KUKA Group’s fixed assets 2012

acquisition / manufacturing costs accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Net carrying
amount

in € millions status as of
Jan. 1, 2012

 exchange rate
differences 

additions disposals  reclassifications status as of
dec. 31, 2012

status as of
Jan. 1, 2012

 exchange rate
differences 

additions disposals status as of
dec. 31, 2012

Status as of
Dec. 31, 2012

I. Intangible assets

 1. rights and similar assets 47.9 -0.1 6.1 1.8 0.3 52.4 38.2 -0.2 5.4 0.5 42.9 9.5

 2.  self-developed software and other  development costs 23.7 – 10.4 – – 34.1 5.4 – 6.0 – 11.4 22.7

 3. goodwill 56.6 – – – – 56.6 7.0 – – – 7.0 49.6

 4. advances paid 1.2 – 0.2 – -0.3 1.1 – – – – – 1.1

129.4 -0.1 16.7 1.8 0.0 144.2 50.6 -0.2 11.4 0.5 61.3 82.9

II. Tangible assets

 1.  land, similar rights and buildings including buildings on land 
owned by third parties 115.7 -0.3 2.3 0.7 0.1 117.1 68.6 -0.1 3.6 0.3 71.8 45.3

 2. technical plant and equipment 96.7 -0.1 10.0 2.2 1.0 105.4 75.0 -0.1 6.1 1.5 79.5 25.9

 3.  other equipment, factory and office  equipment 73.3 -0.3 9.0 4.0 0.5 78.5 56.2 -0.2 7.6 3.9 59.7 18.8

 4. advances paid and construction in progress 1.7 0.0 4.8 – -1.6 4.9 – – – – – 4.9

287.4 -0.7 26.1 6.9 0.0 305.9 199.8 -0.4 17.3 5.7 211.0 94.9

III. Financial investments

 1. participations in affiliated companies 4.6 – – – – 4.6 4.5 – – – 4.5 0.1

 2. other participations 0.9 – – – – 0.9 0.8 – – – 0.8 0.1

 3. other loans 0.0 – – 0.0 – – – – – – – –

5.5 – – 0.0 – 5.5 5.3 – – – 5.3 0.2

422.3 -0.8 42.8 8.7 0.0 455.6 255.7 -0.6 28.7 6.2 277.6 178.0

the following amounts have been capitalized under technical plant 

and equipment due to finance leases in which kUka group acts as the 

lessee:  

technical plant and equipment 4.5 – – – – 4.5 3.6 – 0.2 – 3.8 0.7
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Schedule of changes in KUKA Group’s fixed assets 2012

acquisition / manufacturing costs accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Net carrying
amount

in € millions status as of
Jan. 1, 2012

 exchange rate
differences 

additions disposals  reclassifications status as of
dec. 31, 2012

status as of
Jan. 1, 2012

 exchange rate
differences 

additions disposals status as of
dec. 31, 2012

Status as of
Dec. 31, 2012

I. Intangible assets

 1. rights and similar assets 47.9 -0.1 6.1 1.8 0.3 52.4 38.2 -0.2 5.4 0.5 42.9 9.5

 2.  self-developed software and other  development costs 23.7 – 10.4 – – 34.1 5.4 – 6.0 – 11.4 22.7

 3. goodwill 56.6 – – – – 56.6 7.0 – – – 7.0 49.6

 4. advances paid 1.2 – 0.2 – -0.3 1.1 – – – – – 1.1

129.4 -0.1 16.7 1.8 0.0 144.2 50.6 -0.2 11.4 0.5 61.3 82.9

II. Tangible assets

 1.  land, similar rights and buildings including buildings on land 
owned by third parties 115.7 -0.3 2.3 0.7 0.1 117.1 68.6 -0.1 3.6 0.3 71.8 45.3

 2. technical plant and equipment 96.7 -0.1 10.0 2.2 1.0 105.4 75.0 -0.1 6.1 1.5 79.5 25.9

 3.  other equipment, factory and office  equipment 73.3 -0.3 9.0 4.0 0.5 78.5 56.2 -0.2 7.6 3.9 59.7 18.8

 4. advances paid and construction in progress 1.7 0.0 4.8 – -1.6 4.9 – – – – – 4.9

287.4 -0.7 26.1 6.9 0.0 305.9 199.8 -0.4 17.3 5.7 211.0 94.9

III. Financial investments

 1. participations in affiliated companies 4.6 – – – – 4.6 4.5 – – – 4.5 0.1

 2. other participations 0.9 – – – – 0.9 0.8 – – – 0.8 0.1

 3. other loans 0.0 – – 0.0 – – – – – – – –

5.5 – – 0.0 – 5.5 5.3 – – – 5.3 0.2

422.3 -0.8 42.8 8.7 0.0 455.6 255.7 -0.6 28.7 6.2 277.6 178.0

the following amounts have been capitalized under technical plant 

and equipment due to finance leases in which kUka group acts as the 

lessee:  

technical plant and equipment 4.5 – – – – 4.5 3.6 – 0.2 – 3.8 0.7
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8 intangible assets

Changes to the individual categories of intangible assets are disclosed 

in the schedule of changes in fixed assets.

Goodwill
goodwill is recognized in the amount of € 59.4 million (2012: € 49.6 mil-

lion) and is attributable to the profit centers listed below. the table also 

shows the discount rates before taxes used (weighted average cost of 

capital (waCC)). 

proFit Center

dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2013

in € millions goodwill waCC (%) goodwill waCC (%)

Body-structure and 
 engineering 40.7 12.8 50.5 12.9

assembly & test 4.7 12.8 4.7 12.8

robotics automotive 3.8 11.9 3.8 14.4

others / less than € 1 million 0.4 11.9 0.4 14.4

Total 49.6 59.4

profit centers represent the smallest cash generating unit (CgU), making 

them the basis for the impairment test of goodwill according to ias 36. 

as in previous years, the customer service business in the robotics divi-

sion is proportionately allocated to the profit centers “automotive” and 

“general industry”. the increase at the profit center “Body structure 

and engineering” is attributable to the two acquisitions of companies 

made during the financial year (cf. p. 132 “acquisitions”).

the impairment test for all CgUs is based on a continuous detailed 

planning period and increased steadiness in the last year of the detailed 

planning, i. e. on a steady return on sales, investments and deprecia-

tion. as in the previous year, a perpetual growth rate of 0.5 percent is 

considered. 

the cost of equity capital and borrowing costs were determined on 

the basis of segment-specific peer groups. the peer group is made up 

of kUka’s most important national and international competitors and 

thus includes companies with similar activity and product portfolios.

material components used in determining waCC are the market risk pre-

mium of 6.25 percent (2012: unchanged) and the risk-free interest rate 

of 2.75 percent (2012: 2.50 percent). the beta factor was determined 

as a three-year average of the respective peer group; for the systems 

segment it was 1.052 (2012: 1.070) and for the robotics segment it 

was 1.186 (2012: 1.242).

the ratios for the cost of equity capital and the cost of borrowed capital 

were determined by segment based on the average leverage ratios of 

the respective peer group for the last three years. the tax rate used was 

30.0 percent (2012: unchanged).

a one percent higher waCC would only marginally influence the impair-

ment of goodwill – as marginally as a reduction in sales revenues over 

the entire planning period by ten percent with a correspondingly lower 

cash flow. 

Self-developed software and other product 
 development costs
total expenditures for research and development for the reporting 

period were € 59.7 million compared to € 42.6 million in 2012.

according to ias 38, self-developed software and other product devel-

opment costs must be capitalized. For the purpose of such capitaliza-

tion, kUka group uses the costs of production which include directly 

attributable costs as well as an appropriate allocation for overheads and 

depreciation. Borrowing costs are included in the production costs for 

qualifying assets based on the group capitalization rate of 6.1 percent 

(2012: 6.6 percent).

in the past at kUka group, development costs were only recognized as 

assets at kUka roboter gmbh and kUka laboratories gmbh. a devel-

opment at kUka systems gmbh was also capitalized for the first time 

during the financial year. the companies are working on several projects 

involving mechanical systems and performance and guidance software 

for robots as well as new applications in the area of medical technology 

and friction welding. Borrowing costs of € 0.5 million (2012: unchanged) 

were accounted for. 

development costs with a carrying amount of € 18.1 million (2012: 

€ 22.7 million) have been capitalized according to ias 38. additions for 

2013 totaled € 9.1 million compared to € 10.4 million last year. 

the depreciable amounts on intangible assets are as follows:

in € millions 2012 2013

depreciation of tangible assets

scheduled 11.2 15.0

non-scheduled 0.2 5.3

Total 11.4 20.3
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write-downs made in the financial year relate to a software project in 

the development stage and a project in connection with the electronic 

processing of documents. last year’s write-down related to the liquida-

tion of a company.

the share of depreciation related to capitalized borrowing costs in previ-

ous years is recognized in the income statement initially under research 

and development expenses and eliminated in the reconciliation of the 

operating results to eBit. an amount of € 0.2 million (2012: less than 

€ 0.1 million) was reclassified in this area in the financial year under 

review.

9 tangible assets

the breakdown of the items of tangible assets including changes over 

the reporting year and in 2012 are shown in note 7. the investment 

focuses of the financial year are described in the management report.

subsidies in the amount of € 0.8 million (2012: € 0.2 million) were 

deducted from the cost of purchase or cost of production of property, 

plant and equipment. the amount primarily includes grants for the 

daycare center opened on the company premises in october. 

the depreciable amounts are as follows:

in € millions 2012 2013

depreciation of tangible assets

scheduled 17.0 17.9

non-scheduled 0.3 0.0

Total 17.3 17.9

Government grants
government grants totaling € 4.1 million (2012: € 1.7 million) were 

received and recognized as directly income-relevant. there were no 

contingently repayable grants as of the balance sheet date. the increase 

resulted primarily from additional government grants in China.

10 Financial investments

Financial investments relate primarily to other investments with less 

than ten percent ownership. 

11 Finance lease

KUKA as a lessor
kUka toledo production operations llC., toledo, ohio, Usa (ktpo) man-

ufactures Jeep wrangler bodies under the terms of a pay-on-production 

contract with Chrysler. the first unpainted car bodies associated with 

the project were delivered to Chrysler in July 2006. the project was 

initially financed through an operating lease agreement with a local cor-

poration and a consortium of financing banks. in 2008 kUka aktienge-

sellschaft reached an agreement with Chrysler llC and the financing 

banks regarding the settlement of the € 77.1 million financing, which 

resulted in the legal ownership of the buildings and production systems.

Because of the existing agreement to supply car bodies to Chrysler, 

the acquisition of the production system assets was not included on 

the balance sheet as an asset acquisition, but instead categorized as a 

finance lease in accordance with iFriC 4 / ias 17 guidelines and booked 

as a receivable from finance leases. a non-current lease receivable of 

€ 61.9 million (2012: € 70.2 million) and a current lease receivable of 

€ 5.3 million (2012: € 5.0 million) exist as of the balance sheet date. 

sales revenues shown on ktpo’s balance sheet will thus be reduced by 

the fictitious leasing rate. the interest component included in the ficti-

tious leasing rate is booked under interest result, while the repayment 

component of this repayment reduces the receivables as per schedule.

due to the arrangement of the dealing as a full payout lease agreement, 

future minimum lease payments correspond to the gross investment. 

the following table shows the reconciliation to the present value of the 

outstanding minimum lease payments:

in € millions 2012 2013

Future minimum lease payments / 
Finance lease gross investments 111.0 95.0

of that not later than one year 11.6 11.1

of that later than one year and not later 
than five years 46.5 44.4

of that later than five years 52.9 39.5

Unrealized financial income -35.8 -27.8

Present value of outstanding minimum 
lease payments 75.2 67.2

of that not later than one year 5.0 5.3

of that later than one year and not later 
than five years 25.4 26.5

of that later than five years 44.8 35.4
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KUKA as a lessee
the finance leases for technical plant and equipment have interest rates 

between 2.25 and 8.8 percent p.a. Future payments due for finance lease 

agreements as well as the present values for future leasing payments (the 

corresponding amounts are recognized under other liabilities) amount to 

€ 0.3 million. in the previous year, both the minimum lease payments and 

the present values were less than € 0.1 million.

For information on operating lease agreements please see note 28 

 “Contingent liabilities and other financial commitments”. 

12 inventories

in € millions dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2013

raw materials and supplies 65.4 71.3

work in process 113.3 85.4

Finished goods 20.7 23.2

advances paid 14.0 6.3

Total 213.4 186.2

the carrying amount of inventories with adjusted valuation in the 

amount of € 112.1 million compares with € 129.7 million in 2012 and has 

been recognized at net realizable value. write-downs, relative to gross 

value, amounted to € 32.1 million versus € 35.2 million the year prior.

13 receivables

in € millions dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2013

trade receivables 141.7 167.5

receivables from construction contracts 198.9 181.1

Total 340.6 348.6

trade receivables and receivables from construction contracts have a 

term of less than one year.

the following table breaks down receivables by age and recoverability:

with respect to existing receivables that were neither impaired nor in 

arrears, there were no indications as of the balance sheet date that the 

obligors would not meet their payment obligations. receivables from 

construction contracts have no specific due date and are not impaired.

receivables of kUka roboter gmbh are regularly sold as part of aBs 

programs. see note 25 for more details.

not impaired as of the balance sheet date
but in arrears by

in € millions less than
30 days

30 to 60
days

61 to 90
days

91 to 180
days

more than
180 days

total of
past due,

unimpaired
receivables

impaired
trade

receivables
before 

recording 
of impair-

ment 
losses

impair-
ment loss

net 
 carrying 

amount of 
impaired 

trade 
 receivables

neither
impaired
nor past

due as of 
the bal-

ance
sheet date

Net
carrying
amount

as of dec. 31, 2012 26.5 15.9 3.2 2.4 1.3 49.3 6.3 -6.0 0.3 92.1 141.7

As of Dec. 31, 2013 26.0 7.2 5.0 4.9 2.6 45.7 6.2 -5.9 0.3 121.5 167.5
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Trade receivables
Bad debt allowances on trade receivables developed as follows:

in € millions 2012 2013

impairment losses / status as of Jan. 1 6.3 6.0

additions
(expenses related to impairment losses) 1.7 1.8

Use -0.8 -1.1

reversals -1.2 -0.8

Impairment�losses�/�status�as�of�Dec. 31 6.0 5.9

the total amount of additions of € 1.8 million (2012: € 1.7 million) breaks 

down into additions for specific bad debt allowances of € 1.7 million 

(2012: € 1.6 million) and lump-sum bad debt allowances in the amount 

of € 0.1 million (2012: unchanged). 

Receivables from construction contracts
For receivables from construction contracts, advances received have 

been offset against costs incurred in connection with the contract, 

including contributions to earnings on a per contract basis. as at the bal-

ance sheet date, costs incurred and earnings recognized in connection 

with long-term construction contracts in the amount of € 1,223.1 million 

were offset against advances received in the amount of € 1,042.0 mil-

lion. in 2012 these figures were € 1,301.9 million and € 1,103.3 million, 

respectively. this resulted in receivables of € 181.1 million compared 

to € 198.9 million the year prior and liabilities of € 132.7 million versus 

€ 95.5 million a year earlier. For liabilities from construction contracts, 

advances received exceed the costs incurred and the earnings portion.

14  other assets, prepaid expenses and 
deferred charges

in € millions  of that up to
one year 

of that more
than one year

dec. 31, 2012
total

 of that up to
one year 

of that more
than one year

Dec. 31, 2013
Total

other assets and deffered charges 26.9 9.6 36.5 61.1 9.1 70.2

securities in the amount of € 35.0 million (2012: € 0.0 million) held 

at the balance sheet date are recognized under other assets, prepaid 

expenses and deferred charges. such items include bonds of Federal 

states (Bundesländer) (€ 14.9 million), corporate bonds with an “a” 

credit rating (€ 10.2 million) and commercial papers (€ 9.9 million). all 

securities have a remaining term of between three and twelve months.
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the following table shows the financial instruments recognized under 

other assets as outlined in iFrs 7 according to age and impairment:

in € millions impaired receivables 
before recording of 

impairment loss

impairment loss  Carrying amount of 
impaired receivables 

neither impaired nor 
past due as of the 

 balance sheet date

Carrying amount

dec. 31, 2012 2.5 -2.5 0.0 13.4 13.4

Dec. 31, 2013 2.5 -2.3 0.2 44.9 45.1

there are no other assets that are past due but not yet impaired as of 

december 31, 2013 or december 31, 2012.

impairment losses on other assets developed as follows:

in € millions 2012 2013

 impairment losses / status as of Jan. 1 2.7 2.5

 additions
(expenses related to impairment losses) 0.2 0.2

Use 0.0 0.0

reversals -0.4 -0.4

impairment losses / status as of dec. 31 2.5 2.3

15  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash funds recognized on the bal-

ance sheet, i. e. cash on hand, checks and cash balances with financial 

institutions, provided that they are available within three months. 

kUka group maintains bank balances exclusively at financial institutions 

with an excellent credit rating. Furthermore, funds to be invested are 

distributed across several financial institutions in order to diversify risk.

Cash with limited availability on the balance sheet date only exists in 

connection with the signing of the new syndicated loan (see page 163 

“syndicated loan” for more details). no cash was subject to limited avail-

ability in 2012.

in € millions dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2013

Cash-on-hand 0.1 0.1

Cash and bank balances 244.2 434.9

Cash with limited availability – 6.1

Total 244.3 441.1

NOTes TO THe grOup bALANCe sHeeT: 
eQuiTy AND LiAbiLiTies

16 equity

Changes in equity including changes without effect on profit or loss are 

presented in the Consolidated statement of Changes in equity 

and in the statement of Comprehensive income.

For more information on equity see the notes in the management report 

under “disclosure as per section 315 (4) of the german Commercial 

Code, including accompanying explanation”.

17 subscribed capital

the total share capital of kUka aktiengesellschaft amounts to 

€ 88,180,120.60 and is subclassified into 33,915,431 no-par value bearer 

shares outstanding. each share is equal to one vote. 

18 Capital reserve

the capital reserve applies to kUka aktiengesellschaft. the change com-

pared to december 31, 2012 resulted from the issue of the convertible 

bond in February and July 2013.
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19 revenue reserves

the revenue reserves include:

•  the accumulated retained earnings of kUka aktiengesellschaft and 

its consolidated subsidiaries

• Consolidation and exchange rate effects

•  actuarial gains and losses included in provisions for pensions and 

the associated deferred taxes

• Components from the employee share program for kUka employees

deferred taxes totaling € -2.5 million (2012: € -4.5 million) from trans-

actions not recognized in profit or loss are included in equity. these 

are primarily attributable to actuarial gains and losses from pensions. 

20 minority interests

this item primarily concerns the minority stake held by third parties 

in kUka enco werkzeugbau spol. s. r. o., dubnica, slovakia and in hls 

vietnam Co. ltd., ho Chi minh City, vietnam. the stake in hls vietnam 

Co. ltd was increased from 75.1 percent to 95.0 percent in 2012.

21 management of capital

the primary goal of managing capital for kUka group is to support 

ongoing business operations by providing adequate financial resources 

and to increase shareholder value.

this requires sufficient equity (equity ratio), liquidity (net liquidity), 

and a sufficient return on capital employed (roCe). management and 

controlling of the business divisions therefore also takes place based 

on these key indicators.

2012 2013

equity € millions 297.5 379.1

/ total equity € millions 1,137.4 1,377.1

Equity ratio % 26.2 27.5

eBit € millions 109.8 120.4

/ Capital employed € millions 339.8 326.2

ROCE % 32.3 36.9

Cash and cash equivalents € millions 244.3 441.1

non-current finance liabilities € millions -194.9 -288.1

Current finance liabilities € millions -6.6 -6.5

Net liquidity / net debt € millions 42.8 146.5

22  pension provisions and similar obligations

provisions for pensions developed as follows in the financial year 2013:

in € millions status as of 
Jan. 1

Currency 
 exchange 
 difference

Consumption additions actuarial gains
(–) and losses (+)

(directly in equity)

 Status as of
Dec. 31 

2012 70.4 – 5.6 3.7 13.5 82.0

2013 82.0 0.1 5.4 3.0 -6.3 73.4

pension provisions include liabilities from vested benefits and from cur-

rent benefits paid to vested and former employees of kUka group as 

well as their surviving dependents. depending on the legal, economic 

and tax situation in each of the countries concerned, various retirement 

benefit systems are in place that are as a rule based on employees’ 

length of service and compensation.
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defined benefit plans in the kUka group primarily concern plans in 

germany and the United states. the country-specific characteristics 

and legal regulations are presented in the following. 

germany: obligations in germany arise from agreements on company 

pension schemes concluded with various insurance institutions. the 

prerequisites regarding the type and amount of the claim depend on 

the worker’s age and number of years with the company. the benefits 

include the components old-age pension, disability pension, widow’s 

pension, death benefits and emergency assistance.

Usa: kUka assembly and test Corp., michigan, Usa offers its employ-

ees pension payments after retirement. employees who entered the 

worker’s union before september 14, 2004 are eligible to participate in 

the pension plan. the benefits are calculated using the rate applicable at 

the time of entering retirement, which is based on the years of service 

credited to the employee.

eligible employees are also provided with medical care. 

owing to their benefit character, the obligations of the Us group com-

pany kUka assembly and test Corp., michigan, Usa for post-employ-

ment medical benefits are also disclosed under pension provisions 

according to ias 19. these post-employment benefit provisions represent 

€ 0.6 million  (2012: € 0.8 million ) of the total provisions and accruals. 

the employee retirement income security act (erisa) in the United 

states provides the legal and regulatory framework for these plans.

Company retirement benefit coverage in the group is provided through 

both defined contribution and defined benefit plans.

For the defined contribution plans, the company pays contributions to 

a public or private pension insurance carrier. Upon payment of the con-

tributions, the company has no further obligations. total payments for 

pensions under defined contribution plans in the amount of € 26.7 mil-

lion compared to € 22.7 million in 2012 are disclosed as expenses.

Under defined benefit plans, the company incurs an obligation to pro-

vide the benefits promised by the plan to current and former employees. 

the only remaining funded benefit plans in effect are in the United 

states.

Disclosures on actuarial assumptions
the amount of pension obligations (defined benefit obligation) was 

calculated by actuarial methods for which estimates are unavoidable. 

in addition to assumptions related to life expectancy, this involves 

assumptions detailed below, which are dependent on the economic 

environment for each country in question:

germany Usa other

in € millions 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013

demographic assumptions Rt 2005 g Rt 2005 g Rp 2000 Rp 2000
ips55 (i);  

tv88 / 90 (F)
ips55 (i);  

tv88 / 90 (F)

discount factor 3.00% 3.55% 3.90% 4.80% 3.25% 3.40%

expected rate of return on assets n / A n / A 7.60% 4.80% n / A n / A

wage dynamics 0.00 – 2.50% 0.00 – 2.50% n / A n / A 0.00 – 2.00% 0.00 – 2.00%

pension dynamics 1.75 – 2.50% 1.75 – 2.50% n / A n / A 0.00 – 2.00% 0.00 – 2.00%

Changes in cost of medical services n / a n / A 5.00% – 7.00% 5.00% – 7.00% n / A n / A

the discounting factor is determined based on the returns from high-

quality, fixed-rate corporate bonds.

wage dynamics encompass future increases in wages and salaries that 

are estimated annually by reference to factors such as inflation and 

economic conditions, among others.

the expected returns are derived from consensus forecasts for the 

respective asset classes as well as bank discussions. the forecasts are 

based on experience, economic data, interest forecasts and stock market 

expectations.
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For funded plans, the pension obligations are reduced by an amount 

equal to the fund assets. if the fund assets exceed the defined benefit 

obligation, an asset is recognized according to ias 19 and disclosed 

under other assets. if the fund assets do not cover the commitment, 

the net obligation is recognized as a liability under pension provisions.

increases or decreases in either the present value of the defined benefit 

obligation or the fair value of the plan assets may give rise to actu-

arial gains or losses. this may be caused by factors such as changes in 

actuarial parameters, changes to estimates for the risk profile of the 

pension obligations and differences between the actual and expected 

returns on the fund assets. 

the sensitivity analysis illustrates the extent to which changes in actu-

arial assumptions would impact defined benefit obligations recognized 

as of december 31, 2013: 

 

nature of and degree of change  
in actuarial assumptions

in € millions

present 
value 
of the 

defined 
benefit 

obligation 
prior to 
change

present 
value 
of the 

defined 
benefit 

obligation 
after 

change

Change

increase in the discount rate 
decrease in the discount rate

by 0.25% 
by 0.25%

78.3
75.8
80.1

-2.5
+1.8

pension increase
pension reduction

by 0.25% 
by 0.25%

78.3
79.7
76.6

+1.4
-1.7

increase in life expectancy
reduction in life expectancy

by 1 year
by 1 year

78.3
81.9
74.5

+3.6
-3.8

no sensitivity analyses were calculated for the parameters “wage 

dynamics” and “retirement age” owing to the very small number of 

candidates who are still active.

the changes in the assumptions for the discount factor and pensions 

have no linear impact on the calculation of the present value of the 

defined benefit obligation due to specific effects such as compound 

interest.

Changing multiple assumptions simultaneously does not always cor-

respond to the cumulative effect because there are interdependencies 

between factors. a new calculation of the defined benefit obligation 

must be made for each case. 

actuarial gains and losses are recognized directly in equity and offset 

against revenue reserves in the year in which they occur.

Funding status of defined benefit pension obligations

germany Usa  other total

in € millions 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013

present value of pension benefits covered  
by provisions 78.0 70.8 0.8 0.6 0.9 1.0 79.7 72.4

present value of funded pension benefits – – 6.7 5.9 – – 6.7 5.9

defined benefit obligation 78.0 70.8 7.5 6.5 0.9 1.0 86.4 78.3

Fair value of plan assets 4.4 4.9 4.4 4.9

Net�obligation�as�of�Dec.�31 78.0 70.8 3.1 1.6 0.9 1.0 82.0 73.4
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Reconciliation / Changes in the defined benefit 
 obligation
the reconciliation of the obligation for key items from January 1, 2013 

to the end of the financial year breaks down as follows:

germany Usa other total

in € millions 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013

net obligations as of Jan. 1 67.1 78.0 6.6 7.5 0.6 0.9 74.3 86.4

Current service costs 0.3 0.4 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.6 0.7

interest expense 3.1 2.3 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 3.4 2.6

acturial gains (–) / and losses (+) 12.7 -4.9 0.9 -0.8 0.1 0.0 13.7 -5.7

past service cost – 0.0 – -0.1 – 0.0 – -0.1

payments made -5.2 -5.0 -0.3 -0.3 0.0 0.0 -5.5 -5.3

Currency translation – – -0.1 -0.3 0.0 0.0 -0.1 -0.3

Net obligations as of Dec. 31 78.0 70.8 7.5 6.5 0.9 1.0 86.4 78.3

of which funded in a separate fund – – (6.7) (5.9) – – (6.7) (5.9)

of which funded by provisions (78.0) (70.8) (0.8) (0.6) (0.9) (1.0) (79.7) (72.4)

Current service costs and interest expenses totaling € 3.3 million (2012: 

€ 4.0 million) compare to benefit payments of € 5.3 million during the 

financial year (2012: € 5.5 million). the reduction of the defined benefit 

obligation results mainly from actuarial gains of € 5.7 million (2012: 

actuarial losses of 13.7 million) during the financial year.

Reconciliation / Development of plan assets
the reconciliation of plan assets and asset classes at the close of the 

financial year breaks down as follows:

in € millions total 2012 Total 2013

Jan. 1 3.9 4.4

Fair value as of Jan. 1 0.3 0.2

acturial gains / losses 0.2 0.6

employer contributions 0.3 0.2

payments -0.2 -0.3

Currency translation -0.1 -0.2

Fair�value�as�of�Dec.�31 4.4 4.9

of which fixed-interest securities and cash 1.0 0.8

of which investments in equity funds 3.4 4.1

Investment and risk strategy
the allocation of plan assets to the various asset classes is determined 

taking potential returns and risks into account. ratings and forecasts 

from specialists are used as the basis for selecting high-quality stocks 

and bonds. an optimal portfolio is achieved by ensuring a good balance 

of risky and risk-free investments. the financing principles for defined 

benefit plans covered by assets are part of kUka’s commitment to sound 

financial management, which also includes ongoing analysis of the 

structure of obligations from defined benefit plans. the company has 

identified the deterioration of the funded status due to the unfavorable 

development of plan assets and / or defined benefit obligations as a 

main risk. kUka monitors its financial assets and defined benefit obliga-

tions to identify this risk. a risk limit at the group level provides the basis 

for determining the company’s investment strategy, i. e. the strategic 

asset structure in plan assets for key plans and the scope of interest 

rate risk hedging. Both the risk limit and the investment strategy are 

regularly reviewed with the help of external experts to ensure a holistic 

view of plan assets and guarantee that benefit obligations are met 

(asset / liability matching). 
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Maturity profile of defined benefit obligations
the following table provides an overview of the expected benefit pay-

ments over the next ten years:

in € millions germany Usa other Total

not later than one year 5.1 0.3 0.0 5.4

later than one year and not
later than five years 19.0 1.3 0.1 20.4

later than five years and not 
later than ten years 21.2 2.0 0.1 23.3

23 other provisions

in € millions  status as of
Jan. 1, 2013 

exchange rate
differences

Comsumption reversals additions  Status as of
Dec. 31, 2013

warranty commitments and risks from pending
transactions 37.9 -0.2 12.2 1.3 25.4 49.6

other provisions 42.3 -1.2 18.9 3.3 26.2 45.1

Total 80.2 -1.4 31.1 4.6 51.6 94.7

other provisions for warranty commitments and risks from pending 

transactions include provisions for impending losses from pending 

transactions of € 13.5 million (2012: € 10.5 million) and warranty risk 

of € 36.1 million (2012: € 27.4 million). 

of the other provisions, € 19.5 million (2012: € 15.2 million) relates 

among other items to costs still to be incurred for orders already 

invoiced and litigation risk of € 1.5 million (2012: € 0.8 million).

the expected remaining term of the other provisions is up to one year.

24 liabilities

01 remaining maturity

in € millions up to one 
year

of more
than five 

years

Dec. 31,
2013 total

liabilities due to banks 3.5 0.1 3.6

Bond 1.9 154.9 156.8

Convertible bond 1.1 133.1 134.2

Financial liabilities 6.5 288.1 294.6

trade payables 171.7 – 171.7

advances received 52.3 – 52.3

liabilities from construction contracts 132.7 – 132.7

accounts payable to affiliated 
companies 0.1 – 0.1

income tax payables 7.1 – 7.1

other liabilities and deferred income 132.2 14.7 146.9

(of that for other taxes) (22.6) – (22.6)

(of that for social security 
 payments) (8.7) – (8.7)

(of that liabilities relating to 
personnel) (75.1) (8.6) (83.7)

(of that for leases) (0.1) (0.2) (0.3)

(of that derivates) (2.2) – (2.2)

Total 502.6 302.8 805.4
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01 remaining maturity

in € millions up to one 
year

of more
than five 

years

Dec. 31,
2012 total

liabilities due to banks 4.2 0.0 4.2

Bond 2.4 194.9 197.3

Convertible bond – – –

Financial liabilities 6.6 194.9 201.5

trade payables 136.2 – 136.2

advances received 86.5 – 86.5

liabilities from construction contracts 95.5 – 95.5

accounts payable to affiliated
companies 0.1 – 0.1

income tax payables 9.2 0.0 9.2

other liabilities and deferred income 109.1 13.4 122.5

(of that for other taxes) (19.0) – (19.0)

(of that for social security  
payments) (3.4) – (3.4)

(of that liabilities relating to 
personnel) (65.3) (8.0) (73.3)

(of that for leases) (0.0) – (0.0)

(of that derivates) (4.9) – (4.9)

Total 443.2 208.3 651.5

25 Financial liabilities / financing

the existing financial liabilities mainly represent the bond issued in 

november 2010 and the convertible bond issued in two tranches in 

2013.

Fixed interest rate agreements

net carrying amount Fair value

in € millions 2012 2013 2012 2013  original maturity  nominal  
interest rate 

Bond 197.3 156.8 229.8 176.6 2010 – 2017  8.75% p. a.

Convertible bond – 134.2 – 172.8 2013 – 2018 2.00% p. a.

the market value of the bond and the convertible bond was determined 

using the xetra closing price of the deutsche Börse Frankfurt on the last 

trading day of the respective year.

Variable interest rate liabilities to banks:

Financial instrument / 
in millions

net carrying amount avg. 
 nominal

interest rate

year of
latest maturity

liabilities due to banks
as of dec. 31, 2012 298.4 inR € 4.2 12.0% p. a. 2013

liabilities due to banks 
as of dec. 31, 2013 287.9 inR € 3.4 11.3% p. a. 2014

the nominal interest rates correspond to those interest rates which were 

payable on outstanding amounts at year end in the respective currency. 

Bond
in november 2010, kUka aktiengesellschaft placed a bond with a face 

value of € 202.0 million. the issue price was 99.3605 percent, which 

corresponds to a cash inflow of € 200.7 million. the bond was issued in 

denominations of € 50,000.00 and carries an interest coupon of 8.75 

percent p.a. interest payments are made on may 15 and november 15 

every year. 

the bond matures at the latest on november 15, 2017 and will be 

redeemed by payment equal to the face value plus interest accrued 

up until that time. the issuer has the right to cancel the bond before 

maturity. the first possible call date is november 15, 2014. the fixed 

redemption price at this call date is 104.375 percent.

to adjust the financing portfolio, shares worth € 42.6 million were 

bought back during the reporting year at market prices ranging between 

110.89 and 112.55. the outstanding notional amount is thus now only 

€ 159.4 million.
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the bond is listed on the luxembourg stock exchange (isin 

de000a1e8x87 / wkn a1e8x8). the last price quoted for the bond on 

the Frankfurt stock exchange in 2013 was 110.75 percent versus 113.75 

as of december 31, 2012.

on initial recognition the bond was carried at fair value less transaction 

costs totaling € 8.0 million. the difference between the amount paid 

out (less transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognized 

in the interest result for the term of the loan using the effective inter-

est method. the effective interest rate at the balance sheet date is 

9.63 percent.

Convertible bond
last February, kUka aktiengesellschaft issued a convertible bond with a 

nominal value of € 58.8 million maturing in February 2018 (tranche 1), 

and increased the size by € 91.2 million in July 2013 (tranche 2). the 

convertible bond thus now has a total nominal value of € 150.0 million. 

the bond was issued in denominations of € 100,000. the initial conver-

sion price is € 36.8067 per share, which means the conversion ratio is 

2,716.8967 shares per each € 100,000 unit. in total, the bond entitles 

holders to convert their holdings into up to 4,075,344 new bearer shares 

of kUka aktiengesellschaft (of which 1,597,535 are for the tranche in 

February 2013 and 2,477,809 for the tranche in July 2013). the conver-

sion rights are valid for the entire term of the convertible bond. the 

bond carries an interest coupon of 2.0 percent p.a. interest payments 

are made twice a year, on February 12 and august 12; the first payment 

is on august 12, 2013. 

the convertible bond is listed on the open market of the Frankfurt stock 

exchange (isin de0006204407 / wkn a1r09v). the last price quoted 

for the convertible bond on the Frankfurt stock exchange in 2013 was 

115.26 percent.

on the balance sheet, the convertible bond is broken down into an 

equity and a debt component. the market value of the debt component 

including issue costs is € 131.7 million, of which € 50.2 million applies 

to the first tranche and € 81.5 million to the second. as a result of the 

attractive market interest rate from a risk perspective, the company 

also issued a fixed-interest bond with no conversion rights at the same 

time it issued each of the convertible instruments (5.03 percent for 

tranche 1 and 4.80 percent for tranche 2). the resulting value of the 

equity component is € 27.0 million (tranche 1: € 7.5 million; tranche 2: 

€ 19.5 million including a premium of € 10.5 million). it is recognized as 

part of the capital reserve in consideration of deferred taxes and will 

not be changed until the due date or conversion. the interest expense 

recognized for the bond in the 2013 was € 4.1 million.

Syndicated loan
given the significant improvements in the company’s financial situa-

tion, kUka refinanced the secured syndicated loan it had concluded in 

2010 prematurely at considerably better conditions in december 2013. 

the number of underwriters fell from seven to five. Joint bookrunners 

and mandated lead arrangers are Commerzbank and deutsche Bank. 

UniCredit and lBBw also function as mandated lead arrangers. the 

major French bank Bnp paribas is a lead arranger and a new member 

of the syndicate. the syndicated senior Facilities agreement concluded 

in december 2013 has a volume of € 160.0 million (€ 50.0 million as a 

cash credit line and € 110.0 million as a guarantee line) and a five-year 

term. the cash credit line can also be used as a guarantee facility. the 

new syndicated loan is unsecured and contains only the customary 

equal treatment clauses and negative pledges.

the syndicated senior Facilities agreement includes financial and non-

financial covenants. the key financial covenants relate to minimums 

for the interest coverage ratio (ratio of earnings before interest, taxes, 

depreciation and amortization [eBitda] to net interest expense), to 

upper limits for leverage (ratio of net financial liabilities to eBitda) and 

to gearing (ratio of net financial liabilities to equity). the headroom to 

the respective limit values was more than 50 percent for all covenants. 

the utilization of the guarantee facility as of the key date totaled 

€ 53.9 million (2012: € 109.4 million); the existing working capital line 

of credit was utilized in the amount of € 3.4 million (2012: € 4.2 million).

due to the changes in the consortium of banks from the old to the new 

syndicated senior Facilities agreement, the guarantee volumes made 

available by the exiting banks had to be returned. this was achieved 

through cash collateralization of the open guarantees from these banks 

on pledged bank accounts, which took place on december 31, 2013 in 

the amount of € 6.1 million. kUka will have access to these funds only 

after the underlying guarantees expire or after these are returned. the 

corresponding amounts are therefore reported as restricted cash.
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Guarantee facilities from banks and surety companies
the guarantee facilities promised by banks and surety companies out-

side the syndicated senior Facilities agreement total € 72.8 million 

(2012: € 62.0 million) as of december 31, 2013, and can be utilized in 

full. in the previous year, utilization was still restricted to a maximum 

of € 45.0 million due to the provisions of the old syndicated loan. at 

the end of the reporting year, the company had utilized € 50.4 million 

versus € 39.5 million on december 31, 2012. Beyond these contractually 

agreed lines, kUka group has commitments from an existing surety 

company for line increases, so that the frame of € 100.0 million set by 

the new syndicated senior Facilities agreement will be fully exhausted 

by contracted lines.

Asset-backed securities program
kUka group issued an asset-backed securities (aBs) program in decem-

ber 2006 and again in June 2011. Under this program, trade receivables 

of kUka roboter gmbh can be sold in regular tranches to a special 

purpose vehicle (spv) of BayernlB or landesbank Baden-württemberg. 

the spv finances the purchase of the receivables by issuing securities 

on the capital market or through utilization of a special credit line 

provided by the respective bank. Covenants analogous to those of the 

syndicated senior Facilities agreement are also in place for this financ-

ing program. the aBs program from 2006 was terminated by kUka in 

June 2013, effective at the end of 2013, and fully repaid.

the key components of the aBs programs are included in the follow-

ing table:

aBs program 
2006

aBs program 2011 total

in € millions 2012 2012 2013 2012 2013

volume 25.0 25.0 25.0 50.0 25.0

Utilization 4.2 9.6 4.1 13.8 4.1

expires  June 30, 2018

retained credit risk (in %) 1.15 1.15 1.15 1.15 1.15

Continuing involvement 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.4 0.2

value adjustment of continuing involvement 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.4 0.2

default guarantees from credit insurers ensure adequate credit worthi-

ness of the receivables sold. kUka roboter gmbh assumes the first 1.15 

percent of credit risk from the sale of receivables and as a further secu-

rity provides a cash deposit each time, which is reported under other 

assets. kUka roboter gmbh manages and processes the receivables 

that are sold. as in the previous year, no claims to be recognized in the 

income statement resulted from this in 2013.

26  other non-current / current liabilities and 
deferred income

the other liabilities for other taxes are primarily from sales, wage and 

church tax. 

other liabilities in the personnel area are mostly related to obligations 

from vacation entitlements (€ 6.7 million; prior year: € 8.3 million), 

flex-time credits (€ 15.1 million; prior year: € 12.9 million), variable 

compensation elements (€ 44.4 million; prior year: € 35.8 million) and 

pre-retirement (altersteilzeit) (€ 7.6 million; prior year: € 7.0 million). 

pre-retirement obligations have been reduced by the fair value of the 

corresponding fund assets (€ 7.4 million; prior year: € 8.0 million). the 

present value of entitlements from pre-retirement obligations (dBo) 

before offsetting was € 15.0 million, which was the same as last year.

 

also reported under this item are, among other things, special pay-

ments, inventor’s compensation, long-service awards and trade asso-

ciation fees.

liabilities arising from finance leases are recognized at the present value 

of future lease payments and disclosed as other liabilities.
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27  Financial risk management and financial 
derivatives

a) Principles of risk management
as part of its general business activities, kUka group is exposed to 

various financial risks, in particular from movements in exchange rates 

and interest rates as well as counterparty risk and liquidity risk. the 

purpose of financial risk management is to identify, assess and man-

age these risks. the aim is to limit the potential negative impact on 

the financial position. 

derivatives may be a part of financial risk management depending on 

the risk assessment. derivatives are exclusively used as hedging instru-

ments with reference to an underlying transaction and are thus not 

held for trading or other speculative purposes. to reduce the credit risk, 

hedging transactions are only concluded with financial institutions with 

an excellent credit rating.

the fundamentals of the group’s financial policy are established by the 

executive Board and implemented by group treasury in close coopera-

tion with group companies. Certain transactions require the approval 

of the CFo, who is regularly briefed on the current risk exposures and 

how these are being managed.

b) Currency risk
risks arising from fluctuations in exchange rates that may affect the 

group’s cash flow – for example from investments, financing and already 

fixed or planned incoming and outgoing operational payments in for-

eign currencies – are hedged as they arise or become known through 

the use of derivative financial instruments with banks or by offsetting 

opposing cash flows. hedging may also cover future planned transac-

tions such as planned purchases in foreign currencies, where hedging is 

used to cover exchange rate fluctuations congruent with the respective 

maturities and amounts. group treasury is principally responsible for 

the conclusion of hedging transactions with banks.

exchange rate risks that do not influence the group’s cash flows, e. g. 

risks resulting from translation of balance sheet and income statement 

items of foreign kUka companies into the group currency (translation 

risks), are generally not hedged. 

From the perspective of group companies, there were no material 

financial liabilities in foreign currencies at banks at the reporting date. 

all intra-group loans denominated in foreign currencies were hedged 

accordingly. kUka was not exposed to any significant exchange rate 

risk in the area of financing at the reporting date on account of these 

hedging activities.

the individual kUka companies handle their operating activities mainly 

in the relevant functional currency. however, some kUka companies are 

exposed to corresponding exchange rate risk in connection with planned 

payments outside their own functional currencies. such risks are hedged 

according to the policy outlined above. kUka was not exposed to any 

significant exchange rate risks from its operating activities at the report-

ing date on account of these hedging activities.

Currency risk as defined by iFrs 7 arises on account of financial instru-

ments that are denominated in a currency other than the functional cur-

rency and are of a monetary nature. differences resulting from the trans-

lation of financial statements into the group’s presentation currency 

are not taken into consideration. relevant risk variables are generally 

all non-functional currencies in which kUka has financial instruments.

For the presentation of market risks, iFrs 7 requires sensitivity analyses 

that show the effects of hypothetical changes of relevant risk variables 

(e. g. interest rates, exchange rates) on profit or loss and shareholders’ 

equity. the periodic effects are determined by relating the hypothetical 

changes in the risk variables to the balance of financial instruments at 

the reporting date. it is assumed that the balance at the reporting date 

is representative for the year as a whole.

Currency sensitivity analyses are based on the following assumptions:

•  major non-derivative monetary financial instruments (liquid assets, 

receivables, liabilities) are either directly denominated in the func-

tional currency or are transferred as far as possible into the functional 

currency through the use of derivatives. 

•  major interest income and interest expense from financial instru-

ments are also either recorded directly in the functional currency or 

transferred into the functional currency by using derivatives. For this 

reason, there can be no material effect on the variables considered 

in this connection.

owing to kUka group’s delivery and service structure and the relation-

ships with suppliers, the following currency scenarios arise at the bal-

ance sheet date for the main foreign currencies used by kUka group:

a ten percent gain of the euro against the Us-dollar would have a posi-

tive effect on group profits of plus € 2.5 million (2012: plus € 1.0 million). 

a ten percent decline of the euro against the Us-dollar would have a 

negative effect on group profits of minus € 3.0 million (2012: minus 

€ 1.2 million).

a ten percent gain of the euro against the Japanese yen would have 

a negative effect on group profits of minus € 2.0 million (2012: minus 

€ 3.3 million). a ten percent decline of the euro against the Japanese 

yen would have a positive effect on group profits of plus € 2.5 million 

(2012: plus € 4.0 million).
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a ten percent gain of the euro against the Chinese renminbi would 

have a positive effect on group profits of plus € 0.3 million (2012: plus 

€ 1.1 million). a ten percent decline of the euro against the Chinese ren-

minbi would have a negative effect on group profits of minus € 0.4 mil-

lion (2012: minus € 1.4 million).

a ten percent gain of the euro against the hungarian forint would have 

a negative effect on group profits of minus € 0.6 million (2012: minus 

€ 0.6 million). a ten percent decline of the euro against the hungarian 

forint would have a positive effect on group profits of plus € 0.7 million 

(2012: plus € 0.7 million).

a ten percent gain of the euro against the Brasilian real would have 

a negative effect on group profits of minus € 0.1 million (2012: plus 

€ 0.3 million). a ten percent decline of the euro against the Brasilian 

real would have a positive effect on group profits of plus € 0.1 million 

(2012: minus € 0.4 million). 

assumptions concerning the future cannot be derived from this presen-

tation of currency effects. however, this analysis shows that the positive 

and negative effects of appreciation or depreciation of the euro in the 

group are largely canceled out. this is due to the nearly balanced long 

and short positions with regard to the amounts involved.

c) Interest rate risk
risks from interest rate changes at kUka are essentially the result of 

short-term investments / borrowings in eUr (see note 25). these are 

not hedged at the reporting date.

interest rate risk is presented by way of sensitivity analyses in accord-

ance with iFrs 7. these show the effects of changes in market interest 

rates on interest payments, interest income and expense, other income 

components and shareholders’ equity. interest rate sensitivity analyses 

are based on the following assumptions:

•  Changes in the market interest rates of non-derivative financial 

instruments with fixed interest rates only affect income if these are 

measured at their fair value. as such, all financial instruments with 

fixed interest rates that are carried at amortized cost (e. g. the issued 

bond) are not subject to interest rate risk as defined in iFrs 7.

•  Changes in market interest rates affect the interest income or expense 

of non-derivative variable-interest financial instruments, the interest 

payments of which are not designated as hedged items of cash flow 

hedges against interest rate risks.

an increase in market interest rates by 100 basis points at december 31, 

2013 would have a positive effect on results of plus € 4.3 million (2012: 

plus € 2.4 million). a decrease in market interest rates by 100 basis 

points would have a negative effect on results of minus € 1.0 million 

(2012: minus € 0.4 million). this hypothetical effect results solely from 

the financial investments (borrowings) with variable interest rates total-

ing € 434.9 million (€ 3.4 million) at the balance sheet date.

d) Credit risk
kUka group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities and cer-

tain financing activities. a default can occur if individual business partners 

do not meet their contractual obligations and kUka group thus suffers a 

financial loss. with regard to financing activities, important transactions 

are only concluded with counterparties that have at least an investment 

grade credit rating.

at the level of operations, the outstanding debts are continuously moni-

tored in each area locally. there are regular business relations with major 

customers at multiple kUka group companies. the associated credit risks 

are subject to separate quarterly credit rating monitoring as part of the 

risk management system at the group’s executive Board level for early 

detection of an accumulation of individual risks. added to these measures 

are comprehensive routine checks implemented at the segment level as 

early as the order initiation process (submission of offers and the accept-

ance of orders) to verify the credit rating of potential business partners. 

Credit risk is accounted for accordingly through individual impairments.

the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying 

amounts of the financial assets that are carried in the balance sheet 

(including derivatives with positive market values). no agreements reduc-

ing the maximum exposure to credit risk had been concluded as of the 

reporting date.

e) Liquidity risk
one of kUka ag’s primary tasks is to coordinate and control the group’s 

financing requirements and to ensure the financial independence of 

kUka and its ability to pay on time. with this goal in mind, kUka group 

optimizes the group’s financing and limits its financial risks. the stand-

ardized, group-wide treasury reporting system implemented in 2007 is 

enhanced on a regular basis for this purpose. in addition, the group’s 

overall liquidity risk is reduced by closely monitoring group companies 

and their control of payment flows.
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as a first step to ensure the payment capability at all times and the 

financial flexibility of kUka group, a liquidity reserve is kept by kUka 

aktiengesellschaft in the form of credit lines and cash funds. moreover, 

kUka has issued a bond and a convertible bond, signed a syndicated 

senior Facilities agreement with a consortium of banks and arranged 

for surety companies and banks to commit guarantee lines. the funding 

and guarantee requirements for business operations are ensured to a 

large extent internally by transferring cash funds (intercompany loans) 

and guarantees. this ensures that group-wide liquidity management 

takes place at the individual company level, thereby further optimizing 

the group’s financing on the whole.

the following figures show the commitments for undiscounted interest 

and redemption repayments for the financial instruments subsumed 

under iFrs 7:

Dec. 1, 01
in € millions

Cash flows 
2014

Cash flows 
2015

Cash flows 
2016 – 2018

Cash flows 
2019 et seq.

non-current financial  
liabilities 16.9 17.0 345.0 –

Current financial liabilities 3.6 – – –

trade payables 171.7 – – –

liabilities from construction
contracts 132.7 – – –

accounts payable to affiliated
companies 0.1 – – –

other non-current lliabilities
and provisions – 0.2 0.1 0.0

(of that for leases) – (0.2) (0.1) (0.0)

other current liabilities and
provisions 66.1 – – –

(of that for leases) (0.1) – – –

Dec. 1, 01
in € millions

Cash flows 
2013

Cash flows 
2013

Cash flows 
2015 – 2017

Cash flows 
2018 et seq.

non-current financial  
liabilities 17.7 17.7 255.0 –

Current financial liabilities 4.2 – – –

trade payables 136.2 – – –

liabilities from construction
contracts 95.5 – – –

accounts payable to affiliated
companies 0.1 – – –

other non-current lliabilities
and provisions – 0.0 0.0 0.0

(of that for leases) – 0.0 0.0 0.0

other current liabilities and
provisions 56.2 – – –

(of that for leases) 0.0 – – –

all financial instruments are included which were held at the balance 

sheet dates and for which payments have already been contractually 

agreed. Foreign currency amounts are expressed at the spot rate on the 

key date. the variable interest payments from the financial instruments 

were determined on the basis of the interest rates last fixed prior to 

december 31, 2013, i. e. 2012. Financial liabilities repayable at any time 

are always allocated to the earliest period. 

f) Hedges
hedges are used by kUka group exclusively in the form of forward 

exchange transactions to secure existing balance sheet items as well as 

to hedge future payment flows. these are exclusively for the purpose of 

hedging currency risk.
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Other disclosures on financial instruments
the following shows the carrying amounts of the financial instruments 

by measurement category according to ias 39:

in € millions abbr. dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2013

available-for-sale Financial assets afs 0.2 0.2

held-to-maturity htm 0.0 35.0

loans and receivables lar 596.6 796.2

Financial assets held for trading Fahft 1.7 3.6

Financial liabilities measured at 
amortized Cost FlaC 389.1 530.3

Financial liabilities held for trading Flhft 4.9 2.2

the carrying amounts and the fair values are derived from the follow-

ing table:

Carrying amounts and fair values by measurement 
categories for 2013

in € millions ias 39 –
measurement

categories

net carrying 
amount /  

status as of  
dec. 31, 2013

of that: 
other  assets and 

 liabilities not 
 covered by iFrs 7

of that: other  
assets and 

 liabilities covered 
by ias 17

net carrying
amount of

the financial
instruments / 

status as of
dec. 31, 2013

 Fair value / 
Status as of

Dec. 31, 2013

Assets

Financial investments 0.2 – – 0.2 0.2

 (of that participations) afs (0.2) – – (0.2) (0.2)

long-term finance lease receivables n.a. 61.9 – 61.9 – 61.9

other long-term receivables and other assets 9.1 5.6 0.0 3.5 9.1

(of that derivatives without a hedging relationship) Fahft (0.0) – – (0.0) (0.0)

(of that trade receivables) lar (0.0) – – (0.0) (0.0)

(of that from the category lar) lar (3.5) – – (3.5) (3.5)

(of that other) n.a. (5.6) (5.6) – – (5.6)

trade receivables lar 167.5 – – 167.5 167.5

receivables from construction contracts lar 181.1 – – 181.1 181.1

Current finance lease receivables n.a. 5.3 – 5.3 – 5.3

other assets, prepaid expenses and deferred charges 61.1 19.5 0.0 41.6 61.1

(of that derivatives without a hedging relationship) Fahft (3.6) – – (3.6) (3.6)

(of that other from the category lar) lar (3.0) – – (3.0) (3.0)

(of that other from the category htm) htm (35.0) – – (35.0) (35.0)

(of that other) n.a. (19.5) (19.5) – – (19.5)

Cash and cash equivalents lar 441.1 – – 441.1 441.1

168 kUka aktiengesellsChaFt
annUal report 2013



in € millions ias 39 –
measurement

categories

net carrying 
amount /  

status as of  
dec. 31, 2013

of that: 
other  assets and 

 liabilities not 
 covered by iFrs 7

of that: other  
assets and 

 liabilities covered 
by ias 17

net carrying
amount of

the financial
instruments / 

status as of
dec. 31, 2013

 Fair value / 
Status as of

Dec. 31, 2013

Liabilities

non-current financial liabilities FlaC 288.1 – – 288.1 349.4

other non-current lliabilities and provisions 14.7 14.5 0.2 0.0 14.7

 (of that for leases) n.a. (0.2) – (0.2) – (0.2)

(of that derivatives without a hedging relation-
ship (held for sale)) Flhft (0.0) – – (0.0) (0.0)

 (of that other from the category FlaC) FlaC (0.0) – – (0.0) (0.0)

 (of that other) n.a. (14.5) (14.5) – – (14.5)

Current financial liabilities FlaC 6.5 – – 6.5 6.5

trade payables FlaC 171.7 – – 171.7 171.7

liabilities from construction contracts n.a. 132.7 132.7 – – 132.7

accounts payable to affiliated companies FlaC 0.1 – – 0.1 0.1

other current liabilities, prepaid expenses and 
deferred charges 132.2 66.0 0.1 66.1 132.2

(of that for leases) n.a. (0.1) – (0.1) – (0.1)

(of that derivatives without a hedging relation-
ship (held for sale)) Flhft (2.2) – – (2.2) (2.2)

(of that other from the category FlaC) FlaC (63.9) – – (63.9) (63.9)

(of that other) n.a. (66.0) (66.0) – – (66.0)
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Carrying amounts and fair values by measurement 
categories for 2012

in € millions ias 39 –
measurement

categories

net carrying 
amount /  

status as of  
dec. 31, 2012

of that: 
other  assets and 

 liabilities not 
 covered by iFrs 7

of that: other  
assets and 

 liabilities covered 
by ias 17

net carrying
amount of

the financial
instruments / 

status as of
dec. 31, 2012

 Fair value / 
Status as of

Dec. 31, 2012

Assets

Financial investments 0.2 – – 0.2 0.2

(of that participations) afs (0.2) – – (0.2) (0.2)

long-term finance lease receivables n.a. 70.2 – 70.2 – 70.2

other long-term receivables and other assets 9.6 4.1 0.0 5.5 9.6

(of that derivatives without a hedging relationship) Fahft (0.1) – – (0.1) (0.1)

 (of that from the category lar) lar (5.4) – – (5.4) (5.4)

 (of that other) n.a. (4.1) (4.1) – – (4.1)

trade receivables lar 141.7 – – 141.7 141.7

receivables from construction contracts lar 198.9 – – 198.9 198.9

Current finance lease receivables n.a. 5.0 – 5.0 5.0

other assets, prepaid expenses and deferred charges 26.9 19.0 0.0 7.9 26.9

(of that derivatives without a hedging relationship) Fahft (1.6) – – (1.6) 1.6

(of that other from the category lar) lar (6.3) – – (6.3) (6.3)

(of that other from the category htm) htm (0.0) – – (0.0) (0.0)

(of that other) n.a. (19.0) (19.0) – – (19.0)

Cash and cash equivalents lar 244.3 – – 244.3 244.3
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in € millions ias 39 –
measurement

categories

net carrying 
amount /  

status as of  
dec. 31, 2012

of that: 
other  assets and 

 liabilities not 
 covered by iFrs 7

of that: other  
assets and 

 liabilities covered 
by ias 17

net carrying
amount of

the financial
instruments / 

status as of
dec. 31, 2012

 Fair value / 
Status as of

Dec. 31, 2012

Liabilities

non-current financial liabilities FlaC 194.9 – – 194.9 229.8

other non-current lliabilities and provisions 13.4 13.4 0.0 0.0 13.4

(of that for leases) n.a. (0.0) – (0.0) – (0.0)

(of that derivatives without a hedging relation-
ship (held for sale)) Flhft (0.0) – – (0.0) (0.0)

(of that other from the category FlaC) FlaC (0.0) – – (0.0) (0.0)

(of that other) n.a. (13.4) (13.4) – – (13.4)

Current financial liabilities FlaC 6.6 – – 6.6 6.6

trade payables FlaC 136.2 – – 136.2 136.2

liabilities from construction contracts n.a. 95.5 95.5 – – 95.5

accounts payable to affiliated companies FlaC 0.1 – – 0.1 0.1

other current liabilities, prepaid expenses and
deferred charges 109.1 52.9 0.0 56.2 109.1

(of that for leases) n.a. (0.0) – (0.0) – (0.0)

(of that derivatives without a hedging relation-
ship (held for sale)) Flhft (4.9) – – (4.9) (4.9)

(of that other from the category FlaC) FlaC (51.3) – – (51.3) (51.3)

(of that other) n.a. (52.9) (52.9) – – (52.9)

with the exception of financial investments and leasing claims, most 

assets have short terms to maturity. their carrying amounts as of the 

financial reporting date therefore correspond approximately to the fair 

value. long-term interest-bearing receivables including finance lease 

receivables are measured and, if necessary, impaired based on different 

parameters such as interest rates and customer-specific credit ratings. 

thus, these carrying amounts also largely reflect the market values.

liabilities – with the exception of long-term financial liabilities and the 

other non-current liabilities – have regular, short terms to maturity. 

the values shown on the balance sheet approximately represent the 

fair values. the market value of the bond is based on the quoted prices 

as of the balance sheet date. 

the derivative financial instruments recognized at the balance sheet 

date have to do with forward exchange transactions to hedge exchange 

exposure. recognition in the balance sheet occurs at the market value 

determined using standardized financial mathematical methods, among 

other things, in relation to the foreign exchange rates.

net results listed according to valuation categories are represented 

as follows:

Net profit / loss by IAS 39 
measurement categories for 2013

in € millions net gains / 
losses

total interest
income / 
expenses

Commission
income / 
expenses

loans and receivables (lar) -13.8 1.8 0.0

available-for-sale Financial assets 
(afs) 0.0 – –

held-to-maturity (htm) – 0.2 –

Financial instruments held for 
trading (Fahft und Flhft) -3.0 – –

Financial liabilities measured
at amortized Cost (FlaC) 4.5 -31.5 -1.5

Total -12.3 -29.5 -1.5
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the reduction in liabilities from warranty agreements was primarily the 

result of the settlement of a long-term construction contract and the 

increased issuance of corporate guarantees for new contracts.

Other financial commitments

in € millions 2012 2013

purchase commitments (discounted notes) 2.4 42.2

rent / lease liabilities 36.0 68.3

other financial commitments 5.7

Other�financial�commitments 44.1 119.9

the increase in purchase order commitments relates mainly to the 

development and technology Center. the rise in rent and lease com-

mitments is largely related to Utica township and the new building 

in China.

Commitments in connection with leases for passenger cars, office and 

factory buildings primarily include liabilities from leases and rental 

agreements in connection with operating leases. these items break 

down as follows:

in € millions dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2013

due within one year 9.2 14.9

due between one and five years 13.2 30.0

due more than five years 13.6 23.4

Rental�and�lease�commitments 36.0 68.3

total rental expenses for the fiscal year were € 19.0 million compared 

to € 17.0 million in the prior year; rental income totaled € 0.3 million, 

which was the same as in 2012.

NOTes TO THe grOup  
CAsH fLOW sTATeMeNT

the cash flow statement reports cash flows separately for incoming 

and outgoing funds from operating, investing and financing activities 

in accordance with ias 7. the calculation of cash flows is derived from 

the consolidated financial statements of kUka aktiengesellschaft by 

using the indirect method.

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement comprise all 

cash and cash equivalents disclosed on the balance sheet, i. e. cash on 

hand, checks and cash with banks provided they are available within 

three months. Cash and cash equivalents in the amount of € 6.1 mil-

lion are subject to restrictions (see “syndicated loan” for more detailed 

information).

Net profit / loss by IAS 39 
measurement categories for 2012

in € millions net gains / 
losses

total interest
income / 
expenses

Commission
income / 
expenses

loans and receivables (lar) -4.2 2.2 0.0

available-for-sale Financial assets 
(afs) -1.1 – –

held-to-maturity (htm) – 0.0 –

Financial instruments held for 
trading (Fahft und Flhft) -2.5 – –

Financial liabilities measured
at amortized Cost (FlaC) 1.7 -24.3 -2.6

Total -6.1 -22.1 -2.6

as in the previous year, net losses from the category loans and receiva-

bles include for the most part exchange rate effects as well as results 

from additions and reversals of provisions for receivables and other 

assets. in addition to foreign currency effects, the net profits from 

Financial liabilities measured at amortized Cost also include income 

from writing off liabilities. 

interest income for financial instruments from the category loans and 

receivables comes from the investment of cash and cash equivalents. 

the interest result from financial liabilities from the category Financial 

liabilities measured at amortized Cost largely reflects interest expenses 

from the bond as well as from financial liabilities due to banks. in the 

previous year, this item also included interest expenses from the con-

vertible bond.

Commission expenses are recorded as the transaction costs for financial 

liabilities due to banks and fees for the provision of guarantees.

28  Contingent liabilities and other financial 
 commitments

the following contingent liabilities and other financial commitments 

existed as of the balance sheet date:

Contingent liabilities

in € millions 2012 2013

liabilities from guarantees 0.1 4.3

liabilities from warranty agreements 9.6 0.2

Contingent�liabilities 9.7 4.5
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Cash flow from operating activities is derived indirectly from the earnings 

after taxes on income.

Under the indirect method, the relevant changes to the balance sheet 

items associated with operating activities are adjusted for currency 

translation effects and changes to the scope of consolidation.

Cash inflows / outflows from operating activities also include the fol-

lowing items:

in € millions 2012 2013

interest paid -22.0 -32.7

interest received 8.6 8.5

income taxes paid -29.8 -26.5

income taxes refunded 1.4 1.4

NOTes TO THe grOup segMeNT 
repOrTiNg

the data for the individual annual financial statements has been seg-

mented by business field and region. the structure follows internal 

reporting (management approach). the segmentation is intended to 

create transparency with regard to the earning power and the prospects, 

as well as the risks and rewards for the various business fields within 

the group.

segment reporting is designed to accommodate the structure of kUka 

group. kUka group was engaged in the reporting year and 2012 in two 

major business segments:

kUka robotics

this segment offers customers from the automotive sector and gen-

eral industry – as well as those supported by comprehensive customer 

services – industrial robots, from small models to the titan robot now 

weighing in at 1,300 kg. the activities of kUka laboratories are also 

bundled in this segment.

kUka systems

this segment provides customers in the fields of automotive, aerospace 

and general industry with innovative solutions and services for auto-

mated production. applications range from welding, bonding, sealing, 

assembling and testing, to forming solutions tailored to meet the spe-

cific customer needs.

kUka aktiengesellschaft and other investments that are supplementary 

to the operating activities of kUka group are aggregated in a separate 

segment. Cross-divisional consolidation items are shown in a separate 

column. the allocation of group companies to the individual business 

segments is shown in the schedule of shareholdings.

the breakdown of sales revenues by region is based on the customer’s 

registered office / delivery location. non-current assets (tangible and 

intangible assets) are calculated by company location.

revenues acc. to
customer location

non-current assets
acc. to registered

office of the company

in € millions 2012 2013 2012 2013

germany 596.1 582.5 94.4 119.0

europe (excluding germany) 398.6 412.2 22.8 27.5

north america 427.3 492.2 54.2 65.9

asia / other regions 317.2 287.6 6.4 13.7

Total 1,739.2 1,774.5 177.8 226.1

in 2013 kUka group achieved more than ten percent of total sales from 

three (2012: four) customers. these sales are attributable to both the 

robotics segment and the systems segment.

total 2012 Total 2013

in € millions in €  
millions

in % in €  
millions

in % 

Customer a 250.7 14.4 274.5 15.5

Customer B 195.4 11.2 188.1 10.6

Customer C 213.6 12.3 184.0 10.4

other customers 1,079.5 62.1 1,127.9 63.5

Sales�revenues 1,739.2 100.0 1,774.5 100.0

the calculations for segment reporting rely on the following principles:

•  group external sales revenues show the divisions’ respective percent-

age of consolidated sales for the group as presented in the group 

income statement.

•  intra-group sales revenues are related sales transacted between seg-

ments. in principle, transfer prices for intra-group sales are deter-

mined based on the market.

•  sales revenues for the segments include revenues from sales to third 

parties as well as sales to other group segments.

•  eBit reflects operating earnings, i. e. the earnings from ordinary 

activities before financial results; eBit is adjusted for borrowing 

costs to be capitalized.

•  roCe (return on capital employed) is the ratio of eBit to average 

capital employed, which is largely non-interest bearing. to calculate 

roCe the capital employed is based on an average value.
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OTHer NOTes

related party disclosures

persons or companies that may be influenced by or have influence on 

the reporting company must be disclosed in accordance with ias 24, 

provided they have not already been included as consolidated compa-

nies in the financial statements.

parties related to kUka group include mainly members of the executive 

and supervisory Boards as well as non-consolidated and associated 

kUka group companies in which kUka aktiengesellschaft directly or 

indirectly holds more than 20 percent of the voting rights or companies 

that hold more than 20 percent of the share of voting rights in kUka 

aktiengesellschaft.

grenzebach maschinenbau gmbh, asbach-Bäumenheim , Bavaria, iden-

tified as a related party in 2012, announced on november 20, 2013 

that it had reduced its kUka ag holdings to under 20 percent and is 

therefore no longer reported as a related party (ias 24.9 in conjunction 

with ias 28.5). in the previous year, product and services-related busi-

ness activities transacted between companies included in kUka group 

consolidation and defined as related parties existed for the most part 

only between the grenzebach group. in this context, kUka group com-

panies performed services totaling € 21.7 million and received services 

worth € 36.0 million. 

services totaling € 5.1 million were performed and services worth 

€ 17.5 million were received in the financial year.”

the other related parties to be reported this year are Freadix Frytec 

gmbh, augsburg, iwk Unterstützungseinrichtung gmbh, karlsruhe 

and kUka Unterstützungskasse gmbh, augsburg. as in the previous 

year there were no receivables from these parties, while liabilities were 

again recognized at € 0.1 million (2012: € 0.1 million). 

intra-group purchases and sales are transacted under the “dealing at 

arm’s length” principle at transfer prices that correspond to market con-

ditions. no business subject to reporting rules was conducted between 

any kUka group companies and members of kUka aktiengesellschaft’s 

executive or supervisory Boards with the exception of the legal transac-

tions outlined in the compensation report.

the reconciliation of capital employed to segment assets and segment 

liabilities is shown in the following table:

in € millions 2012 2013

Capital employed

 intangible assets 82.9 92.5

+  tangible assets 94.9 133.6

+ non-current lease receivables 70.2 61.9

+ asset-side working capital 601.8 617.4

inventories 213.4 186.2

receivables from construction 
contracts 198.9 181.1

trade receivables 141.7 167.5

other receivables and assets 47.8 82.6

= asset items of capital employed 849.8 905.4

./.   other provisions, excluding major  
provisions for restructuring 80.2 94.7

./.  liabilities from construction contracts 95.5 132.7

./.  advances received 86.5 52.3

./.  trade payables 136.2 171.7

./.  other liabilities except for liabilities 
similar to bonds (incl. deferred income) 112.9 140.2

=  liabilities items of capital employed 
(= liability-side working capital) 511.3 591.6

= Capital employed 338.5 313.8

average capital employed 339.8 326.2

Segment assets

 asset items of capital employed 849.8 905.4

+ participations 0.2 0.2

= Segment assets 850.0 905.6

Segment liabilities

  liability items of capital employed  
(= liability-side working capital) 511.3 591.6

+  pension provisions and similar  
obligations 82.0 73.4

= Segment liabilities 593.3 665.0

working capital

 asset-side working capital 601.8 617.4

 liability-side working capital 511.3 591.6

Working�capital 90.5 25.8

additional elements of the segment reports are contained in the manage-

ment report on the operating business divisions robotics and systems, 

as well as in the tables at the beginning of the group notes.
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executive board and supervisory board 
 compensation

Compensation paid to the executive Board totaled € 3.1 million (2012: 

€ 4.0 million). altogether in the financial year 2013, the executive Board 

received a fixed salary including payments in kind of € 0.9 million (2012: 

€ 0.7 million€). target achievement and performance-based compensa-

tion amounted to € 1.7 million (2012: € 1.2 million). € 2.4 million (2012: 

€ 1.7 million) was deferred for compensation in accordance with the 

phantom share program.

with a few exceptions, former executive Board members have been 

granted benefits from the company pension scheme, which include 

old-age, vocational and employment disability, widow’s and orphan’s 

pensions. the amount of accruals included for this group of persons in 

2013 for current pensions and vested pension benefits totals € 9.8 mil-

lion (hgB) compared to € 10.0 million in 2012.

kUka aktiengesellschaft has no compensation agreements with the 

members of the executive Board or with employees that would come 

into effect in the event of a take-over bid.

in the 2013 financial year the members of the supervisory Board 

received a total of € 0.9 million (2012: € 0.8 million) for their activities 

as members of this body. 

please refer to the notes in the audited compensation report for further 

information and details about the compensation of individual execu-

tive Board and supervisory Board members. the compensation report 

is part of the corporate governance report and summarizes the basic 

principles used to establish the compensation of the executive and 

supervisory Boards of kUka aktiengesellschaft. the compensation report 

is an integral part of the management report.

appropriation of net income

the executive Board proposes to the annual general meeting that half of 

the net earnings of kUka aktiengesellschaft in the amount of € 66.2 mil-

lion, i. e. € 33.1 million, be appropriated to other revenue reserves. 

it is furthermore recommended that a dividend of € 0.30 per share, 

€ 10.2 million in total, be distributed from the remaining retained earn-

ings in the amount of € 34.6 million (including profits carried forward 

from the previous year of € 1.5 million), and the balance of € 24.4 million 

be carried forward.

audit fees

the fee for the auditor kpmg ag, wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 

munich, recognized as an expense in 2013 totals € 0.9 million. € 0.4 mil-

lion was recognized for financial statement auditing services. the audi-

tor performed other assurance services totaling € 0.1 million. € 0.4 mil-

lion was recognized as an expense for tax advisory services performed 

by the auditor. € 0.7 million was recognized as an expense for financial 

statement auditing services performed for foreign subsidiaries.

declaration regarding the Corporate governance 
Code

the identically worded declarations in accordance with section 161 

german Corporation act (aktg) that have been issued by the executive 

Board (February 3, 2014) and of the supervisory Board (February 12, 

2014) are available for inspection by any interested party on the com-

pany’s website (www.kuka-ag.de).

events after the balance sheet date

in an ad hoc release on december 13, 2013, kUka issued a declaration 

of intent outlining its tentative plans to invest in reis robotics. that 

same month the parties agreed that kUka would take a 51 percent 

share in reis group holding gmbh & Co. kg with profit-sharing rights 

starting on January 1, 2014 and would later have the option of increas-

ing its share in the company to 100 percent. the agreement reached 

in december 2013 was subject to anti-trust laws and fulfillment of the 

condition precedent regarding the repayment of the reis group’s financ-

ing obligations. Both conditions were met in January 2014, meaning 

that reis group will be fully integrated in kUka group’s consolidated 

financial statements in 2014. 

Beyond this, there were no other reportable events from the beginning 

of the new fiscal year to the date of this management report that had 

an impact on the financial position and performance of the company.

augsburg, February 26, 2014

kUka aktiengesellschaft

the executive Board

dr. till reuter  peter mohnen
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Dr. Walter Bickel 
grünwald

management Consultant 

• owner of the individual enterprise wB Consult

• managing partner of Bickel Jung verwaltungs gmbh

• limited partner of Bickel Jung & Company gmbh & Co. kg

Wilfried Eberhardt ***

aichach

•  executive vice president marketing & associations kUka roboter 

gmbh, augsburg

• authorized signatory of kUka roboter gmbh, augsburg

Dr. Uwe Ganzer (until June 5, 2013)
Bochum

graduate in Business management

• expert ag, langenhagen *

• Curanum ag, munich (Chairman of the supervisory Board) *

Siegfried Greulich ***

augsburg

• Chairman of the works Council of kUka systems gmbh, augsburg

Thomas Knabel ***

zwickau

•  2nd authorized representative of ig metall trade union,  

zwickau branch

Armin Kolb ***

augsburg

• Chairman of the works Council of kUka roboter gmbh, augsburg

Carola Leitmeir ***

großaitingen

• head of the works Council of kUka roboter gmbh, augsburg

Prof. Dr. Uwe Loos
stuttgart

industrial Consultant

• dorma holding gmbh +Co.kgaa, ennepetal *

• Bharat Forge ltd, pune, india **

• Cdp Bharat Forge gmbh, ennepetal **

• Bharat Forge aluminiumtechnik, Brand-erbisdorf **

• kenersys gmbh, münster **

• Fritz gmbh, Bietigheim Bissingen **

COrpOrATe bODies

supervisory Board

Bernd Minning
kaisheim

Chairman of the supervisory Board of kUka aktiengesellschaft

President & CEO

• grenzebach maschinenbau gmbh, asbach-Bäumenheim

• grenzebach Bsh gmbh, Bad hersfeld

• grenzebach shanghai gmbh, asbach-Bäumenheim

• grenzebach international gmbh, asbach-Bäumenheim

Board of Directors

• grenzebach machinery (Jiashan) ltd., China (Chairman) **

• grenzebach machinery (shanghai) ltd., China (Chairman) **

• grenzebach Corporation, newnan (georgia), Usa **

•  inos automation software, inc., Farmington hills (michigan), 

Usa **

• swisslog holding (switzerland) **

Michael Leppek *** (as at September 12, 2013)
munich

deputy Chairman of the supervisory Board (as at september 26, 2013)

• 1st authorized representative of ig metall trade union, augsburg 

• man diesel & turbo se *

• sgl Carbon se * 

• mtU aero engines ag * (until december 31, 2013)

•  nokia solutions and networks management gmbh *  

(until december 31, 2013)

Thomas Kalkbrenner *** (until August 29, 2013)
offenbach

deputy Chairman of the supervisory Board (until august 29, 2013)

• trade Union secretary of the ig metall executive Board, Frankfurt

Prof. Dr. Dirk Abel 
aachen

University professor

• director of the institute of automatic Control at rwth aachen

•  atC gmbh (aldenhoven testing Center of rwth aachen 

 University), aachen **
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Dr. Michael Proeller 
augsburg

Business administrator

• managing partner of erhardt + leimer gmbh, augsburg

•  managing director of erhardt + leimer elektroanlagen gmbh, 

augsburg

•  managing director of erhardt + leimer steuerungstechnik gmbh, 

augsburg 

• managing director of erhardt + leimer Corrugated gmbh, Bielefeld

• erhardt + leimer inc, duncan (south Carolina), Usa ** 

• erhardt + leimer, india pvt. ltd., ahmedabad, indien ** 

• erhardt + leimer s.r.l., Bergamo, italy ** 

• erhardt + leimer do Brasil ltda., guarulhos sao paulo, Brazil ** 

• erhardt + leimer limited, Burlington (ontario), Canada ** 

• erhardt + leimer Japan ltd., yokohama, Japan ** 

• erhardt + leimer France sarl, mulhouse, France ** 

• erhardt + leimer (hangzhou) Co., ltd., hangzhou, China ** 

• erhardt + leimer korea, ltd., seoul, south korea **

Fritz Seifert *** (until June 5, 2013)
schwarzenberg

•  member of the works Council of kUka systems gmbh, augsburg 

toolmaking division, schwarzenberg (until June 30, 2013)

• deputy Chairman of the group works Council (until march 25, 2013)

Guy Wyser-Pratte 
Bedford, new york, Usa

investment manager

•  president of wyser-pratte & Co., inc. (Finra Broker dealer),  

new york, ny, Usa

•  president of wyser-pratte management Co., inc. (ria),  

new york, ny, Usa

*  membership in other legally stipulated supervisory boards 

**   membership in comparable german and foreign controlling  

bodies of commercial enterprises 

***  employee representative in supervisory Board

 

executive board

Dr. Till Reuter 
pfäffikon, switzerland 

Chief executive officer

• rinvest ag, pfäffikon / switzerland *

• dr. steiner holding ag *

Peter Mohnen 
munich

Chief Financial officer
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name and registered office of the company Currency share of equity
in %

method of
consolidation

Germany

1 kUka roboter gmbh, augsburg * euR 100.00 k

2 kUka systems gmbh, augsburg * euR 100.00 k

3 kUka laboratories gmbh , augsburg * euR 100.00 k

4 hls ingenieurbüro gmbh, augsburg euR 100.00 k

5 kUka dienstleistungs gmbh, augsburg * euR 100.00 k

6 Bopp & reuther anlagen-verwaltungsgesellschaft mbh, augsburg euR 100.00 k

7 Freadix Frytec gmbh, augsburg euR 100.00 nk

8 iwk Unterstützungseinrichtung gmbh, karlsruhe euR 100.00 nk

9 kUka Unterstützungskasse gmbh, augsburg euR 100.00 nk

10 schmidt maschinentechnik gmbh i.l., niederstotzingen euR 100.00 nk

Other Europe

11 hls Czech s.r.o., mlada Boleslav / Czech republic CZk 100.00 k

12 kUka s-Base s.r.o. v likvidaci, roznov p.r. / Czech republic CZk 100.00 k

13 kUka automatisering + robots n.v., houthalen / Belgium euR 100.00 k

14 kUka automatisme + robotique s.a.s., villebon-sur-yvette / France euR 100.00 k

15 kUka automotive n.v., houthalen / Belgium euR 100.00 k

16 kUka enco werkzeugbau spol. s.r.o., dubnica nad váhom / slovakia euR 65.00 k

17 kUka nordic aB, västra Frölunda / sweden sek 100.00 k

18 kUka roboter Cee gmbh, linz / austria euR 100.00 k

19 kUka roboter italia s.p. a., rivoli / italy euR 100.00 k

20 kUka roboter schweiz ag, dietikon / switzerland ChF 100.00 k

21 kUka robotics hungária ipari kft., taksony / hungary euR 100.00 k

22 kUka robotics ooo, moskau / russia Rub 100.00 k

23 kUka robotics Uk ltd, wednesbury / great Britain gbp 100.00 k

24 kUka robots iBÉriCa, s.a., vilanova i la geltrú / spain euR 100.00 k

25 kUka sistemy ooo, togliatti / russia Rub 100.00 k

26 kUka systems France s.a., montigny / France euR 100.00 k

27 kUka systems srl , sibiu / rumania Ron 100.00 k

28 C.m.a-technology srl, sibiu / rumania Ron 100.00 k

29 metaalwarenfabriek 's-hertogenbosch B.v., 's-hertogenbosch / netherlands euR 100.00 nk

30 thompson Friction welding ltd., halesowen / great Britain gbp 100.00 k

North America

31 kUka U.s. holdings Company llC., shelby township, michigan / Usa usd 100.00 k

32 kUka systems north america llC., sterling heights, michigan / Usa usd 100.00 k

33 kUka assembly and test Corp., saginaw, michigan / Usa usd 100.00 k

sCHeDuLe Of sHAreHOLDiNgs Of KuKA AKTieNgeseLLsCHAfT
as at december 31, 2013
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name and registered office of the company Currency share of equity
in %

method of
consolidation

34 kUka systems de mexico, s. de r.l. de C.v., mexico City / mexico Mxn 100.00 k

35 kUka recursos, s. de r.l. de C.v., mexico City / mexico Mxn 100.00 k

36 kUka toledo production operations, llC., Clinton township, michigan / Usa usd 100.00 k

37 kUka robotics Corp., sterling heights, michigan / Usa usd 100.00 k

38 kUka robotics Canada ltd., saint John nB / Canada CAd 100.00 k

39 kUka de mexico s.de r.l.de C.v., mexico City / mexico Mxn 100.00 k

Latin America

40 kUka roboter do Brasil ltda., sao paulo / Brazil bRl 100.00 k

41 kUka systems do Brasil ltda., sao Bernardo do Campo sp / Brazil bRl 100.00 k

Asia and Australia

42 hls autotechnik (india) pvt. ltd., pune / india inR 100.00 k

43 hls vietnam Co., ltd., ho Chi minh City / vietnam vnd 95.00 k

44 kUka automation equipment (shanghai) Co., ltd., shanghai / China Cny 100.00 k

45 kUka Flexible manufacturing systems (shanghai) Co., ltd., shanghai / China Cny 100.00 k

46 kUka robot automation malaysia sdn Bhd, kuala lumpur / malaysia MyR 100.00 k

47 kUka robot automation taiwan Co. ltd., Chung-li City / taiwan tWd 99.90 k

48 kUka robotics australia pty. ltd., victoria / australia Aud 100.00 k

49 kUka robotics (China) Co. ltd., shanghai / China Cny 100.00 k

50 kUka robotics manufacturing China Co., ltd, shanghai City / China Cny 100.00 k

51 kUka robotics (india) pvt. ltd, haryana / india inR 100.00 k

52 kUka robotics Japan k.k., tokyo / Japan Jpy 100.00 k

53 kUka robotics korea Co., ltd., kyunggi-do / south korea kRW 100.00 k

54 kUka systems (india) pvt.ltd, pune / india inR 100.00 k

55 kUka systems (thailand) Co., ltd., Bangkok / thailand thb 100.00 k

* Companies that have made use of the exemption persuant to sec. 264 par. 3 or sec. 264 b of the german Commercial Code

Type of consolidation

c fully consolidated companies as of december 2013

ck non-consolidated companies as of december 2013
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respONsibiLiTy sTATeMeNT

“to the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable 

reporting principles, the consolidated financial statements give a true 

and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or 

loss of the group, and the management report of the group includes 

a fair review of the development and performance of the business and 

the position of the group, together with a description of the principal 

opportunities and risks associated with the expected development of 

the group.” 

augsburg, February 26, 2014

kUka aktiengesellschaft 

the executive Board 

dr. till reuter   peter mohnen 
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AuDiT OpiNiON

we have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by 

kUka aktiengesellschaft, augsburg, comprising the income statement, 

statement of comprehensive income, cash flow statement, balance 

sheet, statement of changes in equity, and the notes to the consolidated 

financial statements, together with the group management report for 

the business year from January 1, to december 31, 2012. the preparation 

of the consolidated financial statements and the group management 

report in accordance with iFrss as adopted by the eU and the additional 

requirements of german commercial law pursuant to section 315a para. 

1 hgB are the responsibility of the parent company’s executive Board. 

our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements and on the group management report based on our audit.

we conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with section 317 hgB and german generally accepted stand-

ards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the institut 

der wirtschaftsprüfer (idw – “institute of public auditors in germany”). 

those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that 

misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, 

financial position and results of operations in the consolidated finan-

cial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 

framework and in the group management report are detected with 

reasonable assurance. knowledge of the business activities and the 

economic and legal environment of the group and expectations as to 

possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of 

audit procedures. the effectiveness of the accounting-related internal 

control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the con-

solidated financial statements and the group management report are 

examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. 

the audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those 

entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be 

included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles 

used and significant estimates made by the company’s executive Board, 

as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated finan-

cial statements and the group management report. we believe that 

our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

our audit has not led to any reservations.

in our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated 

financial statements comply with iFrss as adopted by the eU, the addi-

tional requirements of german commercial law pursuant to section 

315a para. 1 hgB and give a true and fair view of the net assets, finan-

cial position and results of operations of the group in accordance with 

these requirements. the group management report is consistent with 

the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable 

view of the group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and 

risks of future development. 

munich, February 28, 2014

kpmg ag

wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

karl Braun  rainer rupprecht

(german public auditor) (german public auditor))
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EBIT
earnings before interest and taxes.

EBIT margin
eBit in relation to sales revenues.

Equity ratio
ratio of equity to total assets.

Earnings per share
earnings per share are calculated on the basis of group consolidated 

earnings after taxes and the average number of shares outstanding 

for the year.

Exposure
a key figure used to assess risk. this key figure includes all incoming 

payments in a 90-day period prior to the record date of the down pay-

ments, payments based on percentage of completion or compensation 

after acceptance of the work carried out. in addition, the key figure also 

comprises all customer payments made within 90 days and which have 

not yet been supplied with deliveries / services including the sum of 

unpaid invoices following delivery or service supplied to the customer, 

the poC receivables and any purchase commitments.

Free cash flow
Cash flow from operating activities plus cash flow from investing activi-

ties. Free cash flow shows the extent of the funds generated by the 

company in the business year.

Free float
shares of a public company owned by diverse shareholders.

GCGC
german Corporate governance Code: the german government Commis-

sion’s list of requirements for german companies (since 2002).

General industry
general industrial markets not including the automotive industry.

Gross margin
gross margin is determined by dividing gross profit by sales, expressed 

as a percentage. 

Gross profit
gross profit on sales is defined as total sales minus cost of goods sold. 

Cost of goods sold includes all direct costs associated with sales rev-

enues generated. other costs, such as research and development, mar-

keting and administration, are not included.

HGB
german Commercial Code.

gLOssAry

ABS
asset-backed securities. asset-backed securities are bonds or notes that 

are collateralized with assets (usually receivables). receivables of kUka 

roboter gmbh are purchased within the framework of an aBs program.

BRIC countries
term that refers to the combination of Brazil, russia, india and China.

Capital employed
Capital employed includes working capital as well as intangible assets 

and tangible fixed assets. Capital employed therefore represents the 

difference between operating assets and non-interest-bearing outside 

capital.

Cash earnings
Cash earnings are a measurement for the inflow or outflow of cash 

from the operating profits (eBit). they are the resulting balance from 

operating profits, interest, taxes, depreciation as well as other non-

payment-related expenses and income.

Corporate compliance
Corporate compliance means that all employees conform to the com-

pany’s legislative framework and internal guidelines and do not con-

travene any applicable laws. proactive risk minimization is also part of 

a company’s compliance management system.

Corporate governance
Common international term for responsible corporate management 

and control that aims at creating long-term value.

DAx
german stock index of blue chip companies. it includes the 30 largest 

german companies admitted to the prime standard in terms of market 

capitalization and volume of stocks traded.

Declaration of compliance
declaration of the executive Board and the supervisory Board in accord-

ance with section 161 of the german Corporation act (aktg) regarding 

the implementation of the recommendations of the government Com-

mission in the german Corporate governance Code.

Deferred taxes
temporary differences between calculated taxes on the commercial and 

tax balance sheets designed to disclose the tax expense in line with the 

financial accounting income.

Derivatives
Financial instruments whose value is largely derived from a specified 

price and the price fluctuations / expectations of an underlying base 

value, e. g., exchange rates.
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HUB Concept
the systems division has established regional hubs to act as geographic 

centers of expertise. the aim is to minimize the cost of procuring, assem-

bling and fabricating standard components and jigs / fixtures. in europe 

the hub is located in romania, in asia it is the Chinese subsidiary and 

in the americas it is the mexican subsidiary. engineering, design and 

project management for the regional centers are assigned to germany 

for europe, the United states for north and south america and China 

for asia. the hUB concept enables the company to conduct business 

flexibly and efficiently in the regions. rush orders can be cost-effectively 

handled internally.  

IAS
international accounting standards.

IFRIC / SIC
international financial reporting interpretation committee – interpreter 

of the international financial reporting standards ias and iFrs, formerly 

also siC. iFriC is the new name for the standing interpretations Com-

mittee adopted by the trustees of the iasC foundation in march 2002. 

siC was created in 1997 to improve the application and worldwide com-

parability of financial reports prepared in accordance with international 

accounting standards (ias). it outlines financial statement practices 

that may be subject to controversy.

IFRS
international Financial reporting standards: the iFrss ensure inter-

national comparability of consolidated financial statements and help 

guarantee a higher degree of transparency.

MAP
kUka aktiengesellschaft’s employee share program.

Market capitalization
the market value of a company listed on the stock exchange. this is 

calculated by taking the share price and multiplying it by the number 

of shares outstanding.

MDAx
this stock index comprises the 50 largest german companies (after 

those of the dax) according to market capitalization and volume of 

stocks traded.

Net liquidity / Net debt
net liquidity / net debt is a financial control parameter consisting of 

cash, cash equivalents and securities minus current and non-current 

financial liabilities.

Percentage of completion method (poc)
accounting method of sales and revenue recognition according to the 

stage of completion of an order. this method is used for customer-

specific construction contracts.

R&D expenses
expenditures related to research and development.

Rating
assessment of a company’s creditworthiness (solvency) determined by 

a rating agency based on analyses of the company. the individual rating 

agencies use different assessment levels.

Reis Group / Reis Robotics
reis group or reis robotics refers to reis group holding gmbh & Co. kg 

and its subsidiaries.

ROCE
return on capital employed (roCe) is the ratio of the operating 

profit / loss (eBit) to the capital employed (see Capital employed). to 

calculate roCe the capital employed is based on an average value.

SDAx
this stock index comprises 50 smaller german companies that in terms 

of order book turnover and market capitalization rank directly below 

the mdax shares.

Trade working capital
trade working capital is defined as current assets minus current lia-

bilities directly associated with everyday business operations; that is, 

inventories minus advance payments, trade receivables and receiva-

bles for manufacturing orders minus liabilities for trade receivables 

and manufacturing orders. 

Volatility
intensity of fluctuations in share prices and exchange rates or changes 

in prices for bulk goods compared to market developments.

Working capital
working capital consists of the inventories, trade receivables, other 

receivables and assets, accrued items and the balance of receivables 

and payables from affiliated companies, as far as these are not allocated 

to financial transactions, minus other provisions, trade payables, other 

payables with the exception of liabilities similar to bonds and deferred 

income.

WPHG
german securities trading act.
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May 7  ........  First quarter interim report

May 8  ...... annual general meeting, augsburg

this financial report was published on march 26, 2014 and is available in german

and english from kUka aktiengesellschaft ’s public / investor relations department.  

in the event of doubt, the german version applies.

August 6  .... annual report to midyear

November 5 . interim report for the first nine months
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Key figures 5-yeAr OVerVieW

in € millions 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Orders received

 robotics 324.3 486.2 654.4 803.1 793.5

systems 615.4 716.8 916.6 1,115.10 1,111.6

group 903.3 1,142.30 1,553.00 1,889.60 1,881.9

Sales revenues

 robotics 330.5 435.7 616.3 742.6 754.1

systems 605.5 695.3 850.7 1,025.30 1,045.9

group 902.1 1,078.60 1,435.60 1,739.20 1,774.5

Order backlog (Dec. 31) 543.5 630.5 724 909.4 991.6

EBIT

robotics -11.5 20.8 51 80.2 77.1

systems -28.8 20 33.7 47.7 60.8

group -52.6 24.8 72.6 109.8 120.4

EBIT in % of sales

robotics -3.5 4.8 8.3 10.8 10.2

systems -4.8 2.9 4 4.7 5.8

group -5.8 2.3 5.1 6.3 6.8

Earnings after taxes -75.8 -8.6 29.9 55.6 58.3

Financial situation

Free cash flow -22.2 -37.3 6.5 77.1 95.4

Capital employed (annual average) 317.5 312.5 332.9 339.8 326.2

roCe (eBit in % of capital employed) -16.6 7.9 21.8 32.3 36.9

Capital expenditure 27.2 15.4 30.3 42.8 74.7

employees (dec. 31) 5,744 5,990 6,589 7,264 7,990

Net worth

Balance sheet total 726.2 984.7 1,078.00 1,137.40 1,377.1

equity 160.8 198.1 252.4 297.5 379.1

in % of balance sheet total 22.1 20.1 23.4 26.2 27.6

net liquidity -48.5 -60.3 -32.6 42.8 146.5

Share

weighted average number of shares outstanding
(in millions of shares) 25.7 30.3 33.4 33.9 33.9

earnings per share (in €) -2.95 -0.28 0.89 1.64 1.72

dividend per share (in €) – – – 0.20 0.30 *

market capitalization (dec. 31) 350 548 472 938.4 1,154.8

* subject to approval by shareholders at the annual general meeting
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